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DRAWING ON THE EXCLUSIVE COOPERATION of an
extraordinary number of American military personnel,
including more than one hundred senior officers,
and access to more than thirty thousand pages of
official documents, many of them never before made
public, Thomas E. Ricks has written the definitive
account—explosive, shocking, and authoritative—of
the American military’s tragic experience in Iraq.

Previous books on the Iraq war have concluded in the
summer of 2003, not long after the spring invasion,
code-named Cobra II. And certainly understanding
the crippling strategic mistakes inherent in the build-
up and execution of this first phase of combat in Iraq
is essential, and Fiasco has much new to contribute to
our understanding of the failures of both the civilian
and military leadership to take even a minimally
adequate long view. But the heart of the story Fiasco
has to tell, which has never been told before, is that
of a military occupation whose leaders failed to see a
blooming insurgency for what it was and as a result led
their soldiers in such a way that the insurgency became
inevitable. If America’s top military commanders had
set out to create an Iraqi insurgency, they could hardly
have done a better job, not least by countenancing the
random arrest and imprisonment of wide swaths of
Iraqi men in the most humiliating of conditions. One
of this book’s many revelations is that “"Abu Ghraib” is
a misnomer because it suggests an isolated institution,
when in fact a much larger network of prisons, run
by poorly trained soldiers who frequently committed
appalling abuses, deeply antagonized Iraqi society and
drove men en masse into the insurgency.

There are a number of American heroes in Fiasco,
from wise commanders like generals Petracus and
Mattis and Col. McMaster, who didn’t need to be told
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to implement classic counterinsurgency strategies, to
the many heroic men and women on the ground who
sweated and bled to do the best they could after not
being prepared to fight the war they encountered.
In the course of chronicling the war to mid-2006,
Fiasco contains gripping accounts of battles such as
2nd Fallujah and Tall Afar, whose names should take
their place alongside Iwo Jima and Porkchop Hill on a
select list of honor. But effective tactics when harnessed
to bad strategy equals military disaster, and in the
end Fiasco's judgment that some of America’s most
powerful and honored civilian and military leaders were
derelict in their duty proves inescapable. Too many
American and Iraqi lives have been lost, and too much
of America’s might and influence has been squandered,
for these individuals to escape a fair reckoning. Fiasco

is that reckoning,
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is The Washington Post's senior Pentagon correspondent,
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For the war dead

Know your enemy, know yourself,

One hundred battles, one hundred victories.

SuN Tzu, ancient Chinese military strategist,
as quoted in Jeffrey Race’s War Comes to Long An
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Invasion opponents: Marine Gen. Anthony Zinni (above) oversaw the 1998 Desert Fox raids

on Iraq, which were far more effective in terminating Iraq’s weapons programs than was
understood at the time. Four years later he would go into opposition against invading Iraq.
Marine Lt. Gen. Gregory Newbold (below) would join him, resigning his position under the

Joint Chiefs of Staff over his worries.

ABOVE: The Washington Post/Frank Johnston 5 1 © Reuters/Corbis




Invasion supporters: Vice President
Dick Cheney (above) effectively declares
war, stating on August 2 02, that
there was “no doubt” that Iraq pos-
sessed weapons of mass destruction.

other leading hawk, Richard Perle

(right), was chairman of the Defense

Policy Board and a backer of lIragi

exile leader Ahmed Chalabi.

ABOVE & RIGHT: AP Images
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Colin Powell’s defining moment as
secretary of state was his presentation
(above) on Iragi weaponry to the United
Nations on February 5, 2003. It is now
known that much of his speech was
based on false information. CIA director
George Tenet (left) and U.S. ambassa-
dor to the UN, John Negroponte (right),
sit behind him. The media also tended
to play down contrary information:
The New York Post (left) graphically

depicted foreign skeptics as weasels.
ABOVE: AP Images

LEFT: Reprinted with permission of the
New York Post, 2006, © NYP Heldings, Inc.



Divisions within the Bush administration deepened during the run-up to war: Here Powell

(left) argued with Defense Secretary Donald Rumsfeld (right) outside the White House as

Condoleezza Rice, then national security adviser, watched.

The Washington Post/Rabert A. Reeder




Operation Iraqi Freedom

Rumsfeld (above, left), with Air Force Gen. Richard Myers, chairman of the Joint Chiefs of
Staff, presented an image of steely certititude in his briefings on the invasion of Iraq. But
behind the scenes, planning for the occupation was chaotic. Below is a confused slide from
an official Central Command briefing depicting how the United States intended to progress

from “military victory” to “strategic success.”

ABOVE: The Washington Post/Larry Morris ~ BELOW: U.S. Central Command, Department of Defense
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President Bush (above) flew to the USS Abraham Lincoln, an aircraft carrier, on May 1, 2003,
and under a banner asserting Mission AccovprisHeD declared the war in Iraq all but finished. In
fact, the war had hardly begun. Jay Garner (below), the first chief of the U.S. occupation in
Iraq, quickly ran into trouble as U.S. civilian and military leaders failed to grasp that the
country was on the edge of chaos.

ABOVE: AP Images ~ ,
s BELOW: © Reuters/Corbis




Above, L. Paul Bremer (left), who succeeded Garner as head of the occupation; Army Gen.
John Abizaid (middle), who as chief of Central Command oversaw U.S. military operations

in the Middle East; and Deputy Defense Secretary Paul Wolfowitz (right), a leading hawk,

appear before the House Armed Services Committee. Below, Maj. Gen. Raymond Odierno,

whose 4th Infantry Division, operating in the heart of the Sunni Triangle, was criti

other commanders for its harsh tactics and several instances of detainee abuse.

ABOVE: The Washington Post/Ray Lustig BELOW: AP Images




An early high point: Above, Army Lt. Gen. Ricardo Sanchez (leff), the top U.S. commander
on the ground in Iraq in 2003-4, and Paul Bremer announce the capture of Saddam Hussein
in December 2003. At the time, some officials thought the apprehension would be a turning
point in putting down the insurgency, but heavy-handed U.S. tactics already were beginning
to prove counterproductive and attacks on U.S. troops were escalating, especially with road-
side bombs (below).

ABOVE: AP Images BELOW: © Bruno Stevens/AURORA
g




Some of those hooded by U.S. troops were insurgents, as appears to be the case (above) with

this man caught with a cache of rocket-propelled grenades in Fallujah. But the majority of
detainees were deemed to be not guilty and were released. The use of dogs to terrorize pris-
oners at Abu Ghraib (below), plus other abuses, tainted the occupation and helped the insur-

gency gather support.

ABOVE: © Staff Sgt. Charles B. Johnson/USAF/Handout/Reuters/Corbis  BELOW: The Washington Post




RiIGHT: The survivor: Iraqi exile leader
Ahmed Chalabi stands behind First
Lady Laura Bush at the 2004 State of
the Union Address. Ten months earlier,

U.S. intelligence officers say, his organ-
ization had provided information on
U.S. troop movements to the Iranian
government. Five months later, U.S. and
Iraqi forces would raid his Baghdad

offices seeking data on the insurgency.

The Washington Post/Jonathan Newton

BELOW: A savage attack on four US.
security contractors in Fallujah on
March 31, 2004, changed the tone of
the war. Here two of their charred bod-
ies hang from a bridge over the
Euphrates River at the west end of town

as townspeople celebrate.

AP Images
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Two insightful generals who saw better
ways than most to operate in Iraq:
Marine Maj. Gen. James Mattis (above)
and Army Maj. Gen. David Petraeus
(below). After serving in Iraq, the two
would take charge of their services’

professional educational systems.
ABOVE: Department of Defense

BELOW: The Washington Post/Rick Atkinson



The 82nd Airborne Division, commanded by Maj. Gen.
Charles Swannack (top), shot into a crowd in Fallujah in
April 2003, spurring opposition to the U.S. presence.
Brig. Gen. Janis Karpinski (above) was blamed by Lt.
Gen. Ricardo Sanchez and others for the Abu Ghraib
detainee abuse scandal. Col. Teddy Spain (right) never
thought he had enough troops to secure Baghdad or

enough support from Lt. Gen. Sanchez, his commander.
TOP: AP Images
ABOVE: @ OLEG POPOV/Reuters/Cor

RIGHT: Graeme Robertson/Getty Images




aBove: President Bush bestows the Presidential
Medal of Freedom on Gen. Tommy Franks, who
retired as head of Central Command shortly
after the invasion of Iraq. Other recipients that
day were George Tenet and Paul Bremer. The
ceremony brought together four of those offi-

cials most responsible for the fiasco in Iraq.

AP Images

= Shiite cleric Moqtadr al-Sadr began as a
fierce opponent of the U.S. occupation, launch-

ing waves of attacks on U.S. forces in the spring

and summer of 2004, but ultimately may be one

of the major beneficiaries of the invasion as he
gathers much of the power the U.S. transferred

from Iraq’s Sunni population.

AP Images
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Rep. Ike Skelton, shown above on his back porch in Lexington, Missouri, as he discusses that
morning’s news of more U.S. casualties in [raq. Skelton, a conservative Democrat, issued a

series of warnings before the invasion about the difficulty of occupying Iraq but was
ignored. Below, a chart of enemy attacks in Iraq shows that despite persistent official opti-
mism from Bush administration officials, the insurgency remained robust in 2005.

il

ABOVE: Craig Sands for The Washington Post
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Col. H. R. McMaster (above, left, by children), commander of the 3rd Armored Cavalry

Regiment, seen here with Iraqi officials in downtown Tall Afar, led one of the most success-
ful U.S. units in Iraq in 2005—6. Even so, worries about the country’s disintegrating into civil

war or chaos mounted, as reflected in the “Get Your War On” cartoon below.

ABOVE: © Thomas E. Ricks  BELOW: “Get Your War On” © 2004 by David Rees, used with permission.

[c

The only fair thing
would be to let Paul
Wolfowitz name it.

In a civil war, who gets naming
rights? Will the Kurds and Sunnis
have different names for it? I'm

If Iraq descends into a
ivil war, will Bush get to
count it as one of his?

probably gonna root for the Kurds,
so | guess I'll go with their name.

After all, it's his baby
whether he owns up
1o it or not.




American soldiers were among those who paid for the mistakes of top officials. Most troops

tried to do their best under difficult circumstances, coming to Iraq untrained to wage a
counterinsurgency campaign and under uncertain strategic leadership. And every summer
brought the stunning heat, like a humid Death Valley, as here with a 3rd Infantry Division

soldier resting against a wall in Taji.

© 2005 Ryan A. Boas



PART 1

|—

CONTAINMENT






1.

A BAD ENDING

SPRING 1991

resident George W. Bush’s decision to invade Iraq in 2003 ultimately may
Pcome to be seen as one of the most profligate actions in the history of Amer-
ican foreign policy. The consequences of his choice won’t be clear for decades, but
it already is abundantly apparent in mid-2006 that the U.S. government went to
war in Iraq with scant solid international support and on the basis of incorrect
information—about weapons of mass destruction and a supposed nexus be-
tween Saddam Hussein and al Qaeda’s terrorism—and then occupied the coun-
try negligently. Thousands of U.S. troops and an untold number of Iraqis have
died. Hundreds of billions of dollars have been spent, many of them squandered.
Democracy may yet come to Iraq and the region, but so too may civil war or a re-
gional conflagration, which in turn could lead to spiraling oil prices and a global
economic shock.

This book’s subtitle terms the U.S. effort in Iraq an adventure in the critical
sense of adventurism—that is, with the view that the U.S.-led invasion was
launched recklessly, with a flawed plan for war and a worse approach to occupa-
tion. Spooked by its own false conclusions about the threat, the Bush administra-

tion hurried its diplomacy, short-circuited its war planning, and assembled an
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agonizingly incompetent occupation. None of this was inevitable. It was made
possible only through the intellectual acrobatics of simultaneously “worst-casing”
the threat presented by Iraq while “best-casing” the subsequent cost and difficulty
of occupying the country.

How the U.S. government could launch a preemptive war based on false
premises is the subject of the first, relatively short part of this book. Blame must
lie foremost with President Bush himself, but his incompetence and arrogance
are only part of the story. It takes more than one person to make a mess as big as
Iraq. That is, Bush could only take such a careless action because of a series of sys-
temic failures in the American system. Major lapses occurred within the national
security bureaucracy, from a weak National Security Council (NSC) to an over-
weening Pentagon and a confused intelligence apparatus. Larger failures of over-
sight also occurred in the political system, most notably in Congress, and in the
inability of the media to find and present alternate sources of information about
Iraq and the threat it did or didn’t present to the United States. It is a tragedy in
which every major player contributed to the errors, but in which the heroes tend
to be anonymous and relatively powerless—the front-line American soldier do-
ing his best in a difficult situation, the Iraqi civilian trying to care for a family
amid chaos and violence. They are the people who pay every day with blood and
tears for the failures of high officials and powerful institutions.

The run-up to the war is particularly significant because it also laid the shaky
foundation for the derelict occupation that followed, and that constitutes the ma-
jor subject of this book. While the Bush administration—and especially Donald
Rumsfeld, Paul Wolfowitz, and L. Paul Bremer I1l—bear much of the responsibil-
ity for the mishandling of the occupation in 2003 and early 2004, blame also must
rest with the leadership of the U.S. military, who didn’t prepare the U.S. Army for
the challenge it faced, and then wasted a year by using counterproductive tactics
that were employed in unprofessional ignorance of the basic tenets of counter-

insurgency warfare.

The undefeated Saddam Hussein of 1991

The 2003 U.S. invasion and occupation of Iraq can’t be viewed in isolation.
The chain of events began more than a decade earlier with the botched close of
the 1991 Gulf War and then it continued in the U.S. effort to contain Saddam
Hussein in the years that followed. “I don’t think you can understand how OIF”—
the abbreviation for Operation Iragi Freedom, the U.S. military’s term for the
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2003 invasion and occupation of Irag—“without understanding the end of the
’91 war, especially the distrust of Americans” that resulted, said Army Reserve
Maj. Michael Eisenstadt, an intelligence officer who in civilian life is an expert on
Middle Eastern security issues.

The seeds of the second president Bush’s decision to invade were planted by
the unfinished nature of the 1991 war, in which the U.S. military expelled Iraq
from Kuwait but ended the fighting prematurely and sloppily, without due con-
sideration by the first president Bush and his advisers of what end state they
wished to achieve. In February 1991, President Bush gave speeches that encour-
aged Iraqis “to take matters into their own hands and force Saddam Hussein
the dictator to step aside.” U.S. Air Force aircraft dropped leaflets on fielded
Iraqi units urging them to rebel. On March 1, Iraqi army units in Basra began to
do just that.

But when the Shiites of cities in the south rose up, U.S. forces stood by, their
guns silent. It was Saddam Hussein who continued to fight. He didn’t feel de-
feated, and in a sense, really wasn’t. Rather, in the face of the U.S. counterattack
into Kuwait, Saddam simply had withdrawn from that front to launch fierce in-
ternal offensives against the Shiites in the south of Iraq in early March and then,
a few weeks later, against the Kurds in the north when they also rose up. An esti-
mated twenty thousand Shiites died in the aborted uprising. Tens of thousands of
Kurds fled their homes and crossed into the mountains of Turkey, where they be-
gan to die of exposure.

The U.S. government made three key mistakes in handling the end of the 1991
war. It encouraged the Shiites and Kurds to rebel, but didn’t support them. Gen.
H. Norman Schwarzkopf, in the euphoria of the war’s end, approved an exception
to the no-fly rule to permit Iraqi helicopter flights—and Iraqi military helicop-
ters were promptly used to shoot up the streets of the southern cities. Army Capt.
Brian McNerney commanded an artillery battery during the 1991 war. “When the
Iraqi helicopters started coming out, firing on the Iraqis, that’s when we knew it
was bullshit,” he recalled fifteen years later, when he was serving as a lieutenant
colonel in Balad, Iraq. “It was very painful. I was thinking, ‘Something is really
wrong. We were sitting in a swamp and it began to feel lousy.”

Second, the U.S. government assumed that Saddam’s regime was so damaged
that his fall was inevitable. “We were disappointed that Saddam’s defeat did not
break his hold on power, as . . . we had come to expect,” the first president Bush
and his national security adviser, Brent Scowcroft, wrote in their 1998 joint mem-
oir, A World Transformed.
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Third, the U.S. military didn’t undercut the core of Saddam Hussein’s power.
Much of his army, especially elite Republican Guard units, were allowed to leave
Kuwait relatively untouched. Army Col. Douglas Macgregor, who fought in one
of the 1991 conflict’s crucial battles, later called the outcome a “hollow” victory.
“Despite the overwhelming force President George H. W. Bush provided, Desert
Storm’s most important objective, the destruction of the Republican Guard
corps, was not accomplished,” he wrote years later. “Instead, perhaps as many as
80,000 Iraqi Republican Guards, along with hundreds of tanks, armored fighting
vehicles, and armed helicopters escaped to mercilessly crush uprisings across Iraq
with a ruthlessness not seen since Stalin.”

Having incited a rebellion against Saddam Hussein, the U.S. government
stood by while the rebels were slaughtered. This failure would haunt the U.S. oc-
cupation twelve years later, when U.S. commanders were met not with cordial
welcomes in the south but with cold distrust. In retrospect, Macgregor concluded,
the 1991 war amounted to a “strategic defeat” for the United States.

Wolfowitz objects

The most senior official in the first Bush administration urging that more be
done in the spring of 1991 to help the rebellious Shiites was Paul Wolfowitz, then
the under secretary of defense for policy. Defense Secretary Dick Cheney, Joint
Chiefs chairman Colin Powell, and National Security Adviser Brent Scowcroft
disagreed—and so thousands of Shiites were killed as U.S. troops sat not many
miles away. This is one reason that many neoconservatives would later view Pow-
ell not as the moral paragon many Americans do but rather as someone willing to
sit on his hands as Iraqis (and later, Bosnians) were killed on his watch.

Back then Powell was more often than not an ally of Cheney, who then was an
unquestioned member of the hard-nosed realist school of foreign policy. “I was
not an enthusiast about getting U.S. forces and going into Irag,” Cheney later said.
“We were there in the southern part of Iraq to the extent we needed to be there to
defeat his forces and to get him out of Kuwait, but the idea of going into Baghdad,
for example, or trying to topple the regime wasn’t anything I was enthusiastic
about. I felt there was a real danger here that you would get bogged down in a
long drawn-out conflict, that this was a dangerous, difficult part of the world.”
Sounding like a determined foreign policy pragmatist, Cheney said that Ameri-

cans needed to accept that “Saddam is just one more irritant, but there’s a long list
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of irritants in that part of the world” To actually invade Iraq, he said, “I don’t
think it would have been worth it.”

Likewise, Schwarzkopf would write in his 1992 autobiography, “I am certain
that had we taken all of Iraq, we would have been like the dinosaur in the tar pit—
we would still be there, and we, not the United Nations, would be bearing the
costs of that occupation.”

Wolfowitz, for his part, penned an essay on the 1991 war two years later that
listed the errors committed in its termination. “With hindsight it does seem like a
mistake to have announced, even before the war was over, that we would not go
to Baghdad, or to give Saddam the reassurance of the dignified cease-fire cere-
mony at Safwan,” he wrote in 1993. “Even at the time it seemed unwise to allow
Iraq to fly its helicopters, and all the more so to continue allowing them to do so
when it became clear that their main objective was to slaughter Kurds in the
North and Shia in the South.” He pointed the finger at unnamed members of that
Bush administration—“some U.S. government officials at the time”—who seemed
to believe that a Shia-dominated Iraq would be an unacceptable outcome. And,
he added, it was “clearly a mistake” not to have created a demilitarized zone in the
south that would have been off-limits to Saddam’s forces and maintained steady
pressure on him. Finally, he cast some ominous aspersions on the motivations of
unnamed senior U.S. military leaders—presumably Powell and Schwarzkopf. The
failure to better protect the Kurds and Shiites, he charged, “in no small part re-
flected a miscalculation by some of our military commanders that a rapid disen-
gagement was essential to preserve the luster of victory, and to avoid getting stuck
with postwar objectives that would prevent us from ever disengaging.”

Wolfowitz seemed at this point to be determined that if he ever again got the
chance to deal with Iraq policy, he would not defer to such military judgments
about the perceived need to avoid getting stuck in Iraq. A decade later he would
play a crucial role in the second Bush administration’s drive to war, and this book
will return repeatedly to examine his statements and actions. It is unusual for so
much attention to be focused on a second-level official of subcabinet rank, but
Wolfowitz was destined to play an unusually central role on Iraq policy. Andrew
Bacevich, a Boston University foreign policy expert, is better placed than most to
understand Wolfowitz, having first served a full career in the Army, and then taught
at Johns Hopkins University’s school of international affairs while Wolfowitz was
its dean. “More than any of the other dramatis personae in contemporary Wash-

ington, Wolfowitz embodies the central convictions to which the United States in
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the age of Bush subscribes,” Bacevich wrote in 2005. He singled out “in particu-
lar, an extraordinary certainty in the righteousness of American actions married

to an extraordinary confidence in the efficacy of American arms.”

Operation Provide Comfort

There was one bright point for Wolfowitz in the muddled outcome of the
1991 war: the U.S.-led relief operation in northern Iraq. As it celebrated its swift
triumph, the Bush administration grew increasingly embarrassed at seeing Sad-
dam Hussein’s relentless assault on the Kurds drive hordes of refugees into the
snowy mountains along the Turkish-Iraqi border. The United States responded
with a hastily improvised relief operation that gradually grew into a major effort,
bringing tens of thousands of Kurds down from the mountains, and at first feed-
ing and sheltering them, and later bringing them home. Largely conducted out of
public view, Operation Provide Comfort was historically significant in several
ways. It was the U.S. military’s first major humanitarian relief operation after the
Cold War, and it brought home the point that with the Soviet rivalry gone, it
would be far easier to use U.S. forces overseas, even in sensitive areas on or near
former Eastern Bloc territory. It involved moving some Marine Corps forces hun-
dreds of miles inland in the Mideast, far from their traditional coastal areas of
operation—a precursor of the way the Marines would be used in Afghanistan a
decade later. It employed unmanned aerial vehicles to gather intelligence. In an-
other wave of the future for the U.S. military establishment, it was extremely
joint—that is, involving the Army, Marine Corps, Air Force, Navy, Special Oper-
ations troops, and allied forces. But most significantly, it was the first major long-
term U.S. military operation on Iraqi soil. And in that way it would come to
provide Wolfowitz with a notion of how U.S. policy in Iraq might be redeemed
after the messy end of the 1991 war. In retrospect, Provide Comfort also becomes
striking because it brought together so many American military men who later
would play a role in the U.S. occupation of Iraq in 2003.

Provide Comfort began somewhat haphazardly, without clear strategic goals.
It was initiated as an effort simply to keep Iragi Kurds alive in the mountains, and
so at first was seen just as a matter of air-dropping supplies for about ten days to
stranded refugees. Next came a plan to build tent camps to house those people.
But United Nations officials counseled strongly against setting up refugee camps
in Turkey for fear they would become like the Palestinian camps in Lebanon that

never went away. So U.S. forces first tried to create a space back in Iraq where the
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refugees could go, and ultimately decided simply to push back the Iraqi military
sufficiently to permit the Kurds to return to their homes.

“And we carved out that area in the north,” recalled Anthony Zinni, then a
Marine brigadier general who was chief of staff of Provide Comfort. Once that
last step had been taken, he said, it became clear that “we were saddling ourselves

with an open-ended commitment to protect them in that environment.”

Wolfowitz meets Zinni

Wolfowitz flew out to northern Iraq to see the operation. “We were push-
ing the Iraqis real hard,” then Army Lt. Gen. Jay Garner, the commander of the
operation, would recall. The leading edge of the U.S. push was a light infantry
battalion commanded by an unusual Arabic-speaking lieutenant colonel named
John Abizaid, who in mid-2003 would become the commander of U.S. military
operations in the Mideast. Abizaid was fighting what he would later call a
“dynamic ‘war’ of maneuver.” He was operating aggressively but generally with-
out shooting to carve out a safe area for the Kurds by moving around Iraqi army
outposts. He also had the advantage of having U.S. Air Force warplanes circling
overhead, ready to attack. Wary of having American troops behind them, with
routes of retreat cut off by the planes overhead, the Iraqi forces would then fall
back and yield control of territory. “We moved our ground and air forces around
the Iragis in such a way that they could fight or leave—and they left,” Abizaid
said later.

American troops were pushing farther and farther south into Iraq. Alarms
went off in Washington when officials at the State Department and National
Security Council learned just how far south U.S. forces had thrust. In the words
of the Army’s official history of Provide Comfort, “They expressed concern that
the operation was getting out of hand” In the words of Gen. Garner, looking
back, “The State Department went berserk.” Orders soon arrived from the Penta-
gon to pull Abizaid’s battalion back to the town of Dahuk.

Zinni recalled that Wolfowitz was interested in seeing how this nervy mission
was being conducted. With Garner, the two met briefly at an airfield built for
Saddam Hussein at Sirsenk in far northern Iraq. How was the U.S. military oper-
ating? Wolfowitz asked. Well, Zinni explained, this Lt. Col. Abizaid is pushing out
the Iraqi forces, and we’ve got more and more space here inside Iraq for the
Kurds, and we’ve kind of created a “security zone,” or enclave, of some thirty-six

hundred square miles.
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“I started giving the brief and he really, really got into it,” recalled Zinni. “This
was capturing him in some way, this was turning some lights on in his head. He
was very interested in it. He was very excited about what we were doing there, in
a way that I didn’t quite understand.” Zinni was puzzled. He had thought of the
effort as a humanitarian mission—worth doing but without much political
meaning. Wolfowitz saw it differently. “It struck me that he saw more in this than
was there,” Zinni said. Carving out parts of Iraq for anti-Saddam Iraqis would be-
come a pet idea of Wolfowitz’s in the coming years.

That meeting in Sirsenk would be one of the few times that Zinni and
Wolfowitz would meet. But over the next fourteen years the two men would be-
come the yin and yang of American policy on Iraq, with one working near the top
of the U.S. military establishment while the other would be a sharp critic of the
policy the first was implementing. Wolfowitz departed the Pentagon not long af-
ter his review of Provide Comfort, when the first Bush administration left office,
and returned to academia.

Zinni went fairly quickly from being chief of staff in northern Iraq to deputy
commander at Central Command, and then to the top job in that headquarters,
overseeing U.S. military operations in Iraq and the surrounding region, from the
Horn of Africa to Central Asia. In his command his main task was overseeing the
containment of Iraq. In that capacity, he would be “kind of a groundbreaker for
Marine four stars,” showing that a Marine could handle the job of being a “CinC”
(commander in chief), or regional military commander, an Air Force general re-
called. Other Marines had held those top slots, but until Zinni none had really
distinguished himself in handling strategic issues.

Wolfowitz, by contrast, spent the 1990s in opposition. His path intertwined
briefly with Zinni’s in the 2000 presidential election campaign, when both en-
dorsed the Bush-Cheney ticket, though for very different reasons. After a year,
Zinni would go into opposition against the Bush administration’s drive toward
war with Iraq, while Wolfowitz would became one of the architects of that war.

They are very different men: Zinni is a Marine’s Marine who still speaks in the
accents of working-class Philadelphia, while Wolfowitz is a soft-spoken Ivy League
political scientist, the son of an Ivy League mathematician. Yet both men are
bright and articulate and utterly sincere. Retired Col. Gary Anderson, who knew
Zinni in the Marines and later consulted with Wolfowitz on Iraq policy, said it
was this very similarity between the two men that so divided them. “They both
believe in their bones what they are saying,” he observed. “Neither one is in any

way disingenuous.”
y
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Former deputy secretary of state Richard Armitage, who has worked closely
with both and who has been an ideological ally of Wolfowitz but a close friend of
Zinni, when asked to compare the two, said, “They have more similarities than
differences.” Both are smart and tenacious, and both have strong interests in the
Muslim world, from the Mideast to Indonesia—the latter a country in which
both have done some work. “The main difference,” Armitage continued, “is that
Tony Zinni has been to war, and he’s been to war a lot. So he understands what it
is to ask a man to lose a limb for his country”

Wolfowitz later would say that “realists” such as Zinni did not understand that
their policies were prodding the Mideast toward terrorism. If you liked 9/11, he
would say after that event, just keep up policies such as the containment of Iraq.
Zinni, for his part, would come to view Wolfowitz as a dangerous idealist who
knew little about Iraq and had spent no real time on the ground there. Zinni
would warn that Wolfowitz’s advocacy of toppling Saddam Hussein through sup-
porting Iraqi rebels was a dangerous and naive approach whose consequences
hadn’t been adequately considered. Largely unnoticed by most Americans during
the 1990s, these contrasting views amounted to a prototype of the debate that
would later occur over the 2003 invasion and occupation of Iraq.



2.

CONTAINMENT AND
ITS DISCONTENTS

1992-2001

or over a decade after the 1991 war, it was the policy associated with Gen.

Zinni that prevailed, even through the first year of the presidency of George
W. Bush. The aim of the U.S. government, generally in its words and certainly in
its actions, was containment of Iraq: ringing Saddam Hussein with military
forces, building up ground facilities in Kuwait, running intelligence operations in
Kurdish areas, flying warplanes over much of his territory, and periodically pum-
meling Iraqi military and intelligence facilities with missiles and bombs. The Sad-
dam Must Go school associated with Paul Wolfowitz was a dissident minority

voice, generally disdained by those holding power in the U.S. government.

The coming of containment

Had all the steps that became part of the containment policy over the course
of 1991 and 1992 been taken at once, they might have delivered a culminating
blow to Saddam’s regime, especially if combined with a few other moves, such as
seizing southern Iraqs oil fields and turning them over to rebel forces, or making

them part of larger demilitarized zones. Rather, seemingly as a result of inatten-



CONTAINMENT AND ITS DISCONTENTS 13

tion at the top of the U.S. government, a series of more limited steps were taken,
like slowly heating a warm bath, and Saddam Hussein’s regime found ways to live
with them. In April 1991 a no-fly zone was created in the north to protect the
Kurds through a U.S. declaration that Iraqi aircraft couldn’t operate in the area.
Some sixteen months later a similar zone was established to aid the battered Shi-
ites of the south, with U.S. warplanes flying out of Saudi Arabia and from carri-
ers in the Persian Gulf. None of the other possible steps was taken.

Looking back, Zinni said, “We were piecemealing things without the coher-
ence of a strategy. I'm not saying that the piecemealing things when it came about
weren't necessary or didn’t make sense, but they needed to be reviewed, and we
needed some sort of strategic context back here to put them all inside of.” It was
a problem he would try to address when he became chief of Central Command
in 1997.

But overall, he thought, the policy worked. “We contained Saddam,” he said.
“We watched his military shrink to less than half its size from the beginning of the
Gulf War until the time I left command, not only shrinking in size, but dealing
with obsolete equipment, ill-trained troops, dissatisfaction in the ranks, a lot
of absenteeism. We didn’t see the Iraqis as a formidable force. We saw them as a

decaying force.”

The containment life

Operation Northern Watch, the northern no-fly zone, was typical of U.S.
military operations in and around Iraq after the 1991 war: It was small-scale,
open-ended, and largely ignored by the American people. U.S. aircraft were occa-
sionally bombing a foreign country, but that was hardly mentioned in the 2000
presidential campaign. Iraqis occasionally were killed by U.S. attacks, but not U.S.
pilots.

Northern Watch was based at Incirlik Air Base, an old Cold War NATO base in
south-central Turkey originally picked for its proximity to the underbelly of the
Soviet Union, but now convenient for its nearness to the Middle East. A typical
day at the base late in 2000 began with four F-15C fighter jets taking off, each
bristling with weaponry: heat-seeking Aim-9 Sidewinder missiles near the
wingtips, bigger radar-guided Aim-7 Sparrows on pylons closer in, and four even
bigger AMRAAM missiles under each fuselage. Each taxied to the arming area,
where their missiles were activated, and screamed down the runway, the engines

sounding like giant pieces of paper being ripped.
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The fighters were followed by an RC-135 Rivet Joint reconnaissance jet, a
Boeing 707 laden with surveillance gear. Next came two Navy EA-6B electronic
jammers, then some of the Alabama Air National Guard F-16s carrying missiles
to home in on Iraqi radar. A total of eight F-16s were in the twenty-aircraft pack-
age. The final plane to take off was a big KC-10 tanker, a flying gas station that
joined three others already airborne, as was an AWACS command-and-control
aircraft. The package flew east toward northern Iraq, the Syrian border just
twenty miles to the right of their cockpits. It took just over an hour for the Amer-
ican planes to travel four hundred miles to the ROZ, the restricted operating
zone, over eastern Turkey, where the pilots got an aerial refueling and then turned
south into Iraqi airspace.

Most patrols lasted four to eight hours, with the fighters and jammers flying
over Iraq and then darting back to the ROZ to refuel two or three times, and the
refuelers and command-and-control aircraft flying lazy circles over the brown
mountains of southeastern Turkey, where Xenophon’s force of Greek mercenar-
ies had retreated under fire from central Iraq in 400 B.C., the epic march that be-
came the core of the classic ancient military memoir, Anabasis. Even nowadays
some of the villages amid the deep canyons and escarpments carved by the head-
waters of the Tigris River are so remote that they have no roads leading to them,
just narrow pathways up the ridges.

When the day’s mission was over, the pilots gave the planes back to the me-
chanics, turned in their 9 millimeter pistols, and attended a debriefing. Most avi-
ators preferred operating in the southern no-fly zone, which was three times as
large as the cramped northern one. Also, the northern zone was bounded in part
by Syria and Iran, unfriendly airspace in which to wander. But the ground crews
preferred the northern no-fly operation, where the weather was cooler. In Saudi
Arabia, recalled Chief Master Sgt. Dennis Krebs, a veteran of six no-fly tours
there, “in the summer the surface temperatures on the aircraft get to 150 degrees,
and you have to wear gloves” just to touch an aircraft. Also, in Turkey, unlike in
Saudi Arabia, the troops were allowed off base.

By the late 1990s, containment was accepted by the U.S. military as part of the
operating environment. “The key thing was how normal it got,” remembered one
Air Force general. “There were bumps. But it got to be a kind of steady white noise
in the background. It really was just background noise. . . . It was almost like our
presence in the Cold War, in Germany, in the early days, when we’d fly the Berlin
Corridor, and occasionally the Russians would do something to intimidate us,
just like Saddam would try to do something.”
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Out in the Persian Gulf, Cmdr. Jeff Huber, the operations officer aboard the
aircraft carrier USS Theodore Roosevelt, thought through his doubts about the
no-fly mission. “Given that no-fly zones don’t make any sense in any traditional
airpower context, how can we determine whether one is succeeding?” he asked. It
was impossible to tally “Kurds/Shia Moslems not bombed,” he noted. He wound
up giving the mission a tepid approval. “Many look at the no-fly zone this way:
Yeah, it’s pretty stupid, but it beats letting international scumbags get away with
anything they want and doing nothing about it.”

The overall cost of the two no-fly zones was roughly $1 billion a year. Other
U.S. military operations, such as exercises in Kuwait, added another $500 million
to the bill. That total of $1.5 billion a year was a bit more than what one week of
occupying Iraq would cost the U.S. government in 2003-4, when the burn rate
was about $60 billion a year, increasing slightly to about $70 billion in 2005.

In retrospect, one of the astonishments of the no-fly zones was that in twelve
years not a single piloted U.S. aircraft was lost. Among some reflective military
intelligence officers that raises the question of why not. Saddam Hussein clearly
had some military capability, they noted, even if it wasn’t anywhere near what the
second Bush administration later would claim he had. In retrospect, said one senior
military specialist in Middle Eastern intelligence issues who is still on active duty,
it appears that Saddam Hussein really didn’t want to shoot down any American
aircraft. Rather, he walked a fine line in his behavior. “To my mind, it was carefully
calibrated to show defiance, but not to provoke us,” this officer said. “He was do-
ing enough to show his people he was confronting the mighty United States, but
not more than that. It was all about internal consumption. If they had wanted to
be more serious, even with their weakened military, they could have”

In that sense, Saddam’s ambiguous stance on the no-fly zones paralleled what
we now know to be his handling of weapons of mass destruction. He got rid of his
chemical and biological stocks, but wouldn’t let international inspectors prove
that he had done so, probably in order to intimidate his neighbors and citizens.
Likewise, with the no-fly zones, his words were more threatening than his actions,

but the U.S. government didn’t pick up that signal.

Wolfowitz out of power

One day in 1996, Paul Wolfowitz toured Gettysburg with a group of special-
ists in military strategy from Johns Hopkins University’s school of international

studies, where he became dean after his service under Cheney at the Pentagon.
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Late in the afternoon, as the sun dipped toward Seminary Ridge, Wolfowitz stood
at the center of the battlefield, near the spot where the soldiers of Pickett’s charge
had hit the Federal line and were thrown back by point-blank cannon blasts.
Pointedly, Eliot Cohen, the Johns Hopkins professor running the tour, had
Wolfowitz read aloud to the group the angry telegram that President Lincoln
had drafted but never sent to the new commander of the Army of the Potomac,
Gen. George Meade. Why, Lincoln wanted to ask his general, do you stop, and not
pursue your enemy when you have him on the run?

Wolfowitz came to believe that the policy of containment was profoundly im-
moral, like standing by and trying to contain Hitler’s Germany. It was a compar-
ison to which he would often return. It carried particular weight coming from
him, as he had lost most of his Polish extended family in the Holocaust. His line
survived because his father had left Poland in 1920.

He talked about the Holocaust more in terms of policy than of personal history,
most notably in giving him a profound wariness of policies of containment. He
told the New York Times’s Eric Schmitt that “that sense of what happened in Europe
in World War II has shaped a lot of my views.” What if the West had tried to “con-
tain” Hitler? This orientation toward Nazism would prove central to his thinking
on Iraq. Again and again, he would describe Saddam Hussein and his security forces
as the modern equivalent of the Gestapo—it was almost a verbal tic with him.

Some observers of Wolfowitz speculate that another lesson he took from the
Holocaust is that the American people need to be pushed to do the right thing,
because by the time the United States entered World War II it had been too late
for millions of Jews and other victims of the Nazis. Asked about this in an inter-
view before the war, Wolfowitz agreed, and expanded on the thought—and him-
self linked it to Iraq: “I think the world in general has a tendency to say, if
somebody evil like Saddam is killing his own people, “That’s too bad, but that’s
really not my business.” That’s dangerous, he continued, because Hussein was “in
a class with very few others—Stalin, Hitler, Kim Jong IL. . . . People of that order
of evil . . . tend not to keep evil at home, they tend to export it in various ways and
eventually it bites us.” The analogy to Nazism gave Wolfowitz a tactical advantage
in that it instantly put critics on the defensive. If one was convinced that Saddam
Hussein was the modern equivalent of Hitler, and his secret police the contem-
porary version of the Gestapo, then it was easy to see—and portray—anyone
opposing his aggressive policies as the moral equivalent of Neville Chamberlain:
fools at best, knaves at worst. So for years Wolfowitz prodded the American peo-

ple toward war with Iraq.
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After teaching political science at Yale, Wolfowitz as a diplomat helped bring
democracy to South Korea and the Philippines in the 1970s and 1980s. He took away
from those experiences a belief that every country is capable of becoming
democratic—and that their becoming so aids the American cause. “I think dem-
ocracy is a universal idea,” he would say. “And I think letting people rule them-
selves happens to be something that serves Americans and America’s interests.”

Wolfowitz’s bookish background also gave him an academic manner that can
be disarming. There is in Wolfowitz little of the blustery Princeton frat boy towel-
snapping banter on which Defense Secretary Donald Rumsfeld seems to thrive.
His soft voice and mild manner frequently surprise those who have braced them-
selves for the encounter. “I actually was surprised to find, the first time I met him,
that he was pretty likeable, which surprised me, because I hate him,” said Paul
Arcangeli, who served as an Army officer in Iraq before being medically retired.
(His loathing, he explained, is a policy matter: “I blame him for all this shit in
Irag. Even more than Rumsfeld, I blame him.” His bottom line on Wolfowitz:
“Dangerously idealistic. And crack-smoking stupid.”)

But Wolfowitz’s low-key manner cloaked a tough-minded determination that
ran far deeper than is common in compromise-minded Washington. One of the
most important lessons of the Cold War, he wrote in the spring of 2000, was “dem-
onstrating that your friends will be protected and taken care of, that your enemies
will be punished, and that those who refuse to support you will live to regret hav-

ing done so.”

Saddam must go

In January 1998, the Project for the New American Century, an advocacy group
for an interventionist Republican foreign policy, issued a letter urging President
Clinton to take “regime change” in Iraq seriously. Among the eighteen signers of
the letter were Wolfowitz, Rumsfeld, Armitage, future UN ambassador John Bolton,
and several others who would move back into government three years later. “The
policy of ‘containment’ of Saddam Hussein has been steadily eroding over the
past several months,” they wrote. “Diplomacy is clearly failing . . . [and] remov-
ing Saddam Hussein and his regime from power . . . needs to become the aim of
American foreign policy” The alternative, they concluded, would be “a course of
weakness and drift.”

“Containment was a very costly strategy,” Wolfowitz said years later. “It cost us

billions of dollars—estimates are around $30 billion. It cost us American lives. We
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lost American lives in Khobar Towers”—a huge 1996 bombing in Saudi Arabia
that killed 19 service members and wounded 372 others. But he also saw other
costs. “In some ways the real price is much higher than that. The real price was
giving Osama bin Laden his principal talking point. If you go back and read his
notorious fatwah from 1998, where he called for the first time for killing Ameri-
cans, his big complaint is that we have American troops on the holy soil of Saudi
Arabia and that we’re bombing Iraq. That was his big recruiting device, his big
claim against us.”

Wolfowitz also saw another cost, one that most Americans hadn’t noticed much:
“Finally, containment did nothing for the Iraqi people.” Large parts of the Iraqi
population suffered hugely under a contained Saddam, and the Marsh Arabs of
southern Iraq were on the route to being wiped out, he noted. “That’s what con-
tainment did for them. For those people, liberation came barely in time.”

Zinni too was growing uncomfortable with the price containment was inflict-
ing on the Iraqi people, but from his perspective, the solution was to refine what
was being done, not topple Saddam. He thought that international sanctions
could be narrowed to focus more on keeping weapons components and other
militarily useful items out of Iraq, while dropping economic sanctions that im-
posed unnecessary suffering on Iraqis. This was a theme that his old friend Colin
Powell would take up a few years later, in 2001, when he became secretary of state
under President George W. Bush. But Zinni recalled that he didn’t get much of a
response in his attempts to interest Clinton administration officials in refining
the containment strategy.

As he made the rounds of Middle Eastern capitals, Zinni found himself cross-
ing paths with Dick Cheney, then an ex-defense secretary who was CEO of Hal-
liburton, the oil services and logistics company that did much business in that
part of the world. “I'd be traveling around out there and I’d run into him all the
time,” he said. “At Halliburton he was always going into the tent to see the emir or
the king.” The two men weren’t close, but Zinni felt he had a good enough sense
of Cheney to know that he was “a realist in terms of what happens on the ground,
how to get things done. Very much someone who wanted to work through the
United Nations and through building coalitions, masterful at it.”

The Desert Fox strikes

The climax of Zinni’s time as commander in the Mideast was the four-day-

long Desert Fox bombing campaign. There had been military movements in 1994
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and 1996, but the 1998 raids would be the biggest U.S. military strikes in Iraq
since the end of the 1991 war. This turned out to be the most intense enforcement
of the containment policy that occurred in the entire twelve-year period between
the 1991 war and the 2003 invasion.

Launched in reaction to a standoff with Saddam Hussein over weapons
inspections, the attacks began on December 16, 1998, with a volley of over 200
cruise missiles from Navy ships and Air Force B-52 bombers. The next day
another 100 cruise missiles were fired. On the third night of air strikes, B-1 swing-
wing supersonic bombers made their first ever appearance in combat. After a
fourth night, the raids ended. A total of 415 cruise missiles had been used,
more than the 317 employed during the entire 1991 Gulf War. They and 600
bombs hit a total of 97 sites, the major ones being facilities for the production
and storage of chemical weapons and those associated with missiles that could
deliver such munitions. In part because U.S. intelligence was able to locate
only a limited number of sites associated with weaponry, the strikes also hit
government command-and-control facilities, such as intelligence and secret-
police headquarters.

Some congressional Republicans were deeply suspicious of President Clinton
and suggested that the strikes were simply a ploy to undercut the impending im-
peachment proceedings against him. As the bombing began, Sen. Trent Lott, then
the Senate majority leader, issued a statement declaring, “I cannot support this
military action in the Persian Gulf at this time. Both the timing and the policy are
subject to question.” Rep. Dana Rohrbacher, a California Republican, called the
military action “an insult to the American people.”

Yet the raids proved surprisingly effective. “Desert Fox actually exceeded expec-
tations,” wrote Kenneth Pollack in The Threatening Storm: The Case for Invading
Irag, his influential 2002 book. “Saddam panicked during the strikes. Fearing that
his control was threatened, he ordered large-scale arrests and executions, which
backfired and destabilized his regime for months afterward.”

Zinni was amazed when Western intelligence assets in Baghdad reported that
Desert Fox nearly knocked off Saddam Hussein’s regime. His conclusion: Con-
tainment is clearly working, and Saddam Hussein was on the ropes. A U.S. mili-
tary intelligence official, looking back at Desert Fox years later, confirmed that
account. “There were a lot of good reports coming out afterward on how he
changed his command and control, very quickly. It was especially clear in areas
involving internal control.” Interceptions of communications among Iragi gener-

als indicated “palpable fear that he was going to lose control.”
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Arab allies of the United States were hearing the same reports, and that led
them to go to Gen. Zinni with an urgent question: If you do indeed topple Sad-
dam Hussein, what will come next? “This is what I heard from our Arab friends
out there—you almost caused an implosion,” Zinni recalled. “And that worried
them. An implosion is going to cause chaos. You're going to have to go in after an
implosion. The question was, do you guys have a plan?” The Arab leaders espe-
cially wanted to know what was going to be done to stem the possibility of a massive
exodus of refugees into their countries, along with major economic dislocations.
Also, they wanted to know, if Iraq disintegrates, what is going to be the Arab
world’s bulwark against the age-old threat of Iran? “You tip this guy over, you
could create a bigger problem for us than we have now,” Arab officials said to
Zinni. “So, what are you going to do about it?”

Zinni realized that he didn’t have good answers to those questions. So in June
1999 he had Booz Allen, the consulting firm, hold a classified war game on what
such an aftermath might look like—what problems it would present, and how the
U.S. government might respond. He asked that representatives not just of the
military but of the State Department and the Agency for International Develop-
ment also participate. “It brought out all the problems that have surfaced now,”
he said later. “It shocked the hell out of me.” In the wake of the war game, Zinni
ordered Central Command to begin planning in case humanitarian relief opera-
tions in Iraq became necessary. But he wasn’t able to interest other parts of the

government in participating in that preparatory work.

Two conclusions from Desert Fox

Back in the United States, Desert Fox looked different to some. At the time it
was fashionable to dismiss the operations as more avoidance by the Clinton ad-
ministration, as simply throwing cruise missiles at a problem that required more
than that. “Desert Fox was a sham,” Danielle Pletka, a national security analyst at
the American Enterprise Institute, said in a 2004 interview. “They were so casualty
averse. They did nothing but bomb empty buildings.” The quotable Pletka put it
more pungently than many, but this was not an uncommon view.

“The Clinton administration was totally risk averse” on Iraq, Richard Perle, a
leading Iraq hawk, would argue later. “They allowed Saddam over eight years to
grow in strength. He was far stronger at the end of Clinton’s tenure than at the be-
ginning.” Perle made those assertions in July 2003, just about the time they were

becoming laughable to those who understood the situation on the ground in Iraq.
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David Kay, a more sober observer, also was skeptical at the time about the ef-
fects of Desert Fox. It was only years later, after his Iraqi Survey Group, the U.S.
government’s postwar effort to find Iraq’s supposed stockpiles of weapons of
mass destruction, had interviewed and interrogated two hundred officials from
Iraqi weapons programs, that he realized that the four-day campaign had indeed
had a devastating effect, far more than had been appreciated back in Washington.
His postinvasion survey found to his surprise that after 1998 the Iraqi weapons
programs, with the exception of missile building, “withered away, and never got
momentum again.” In a series of in-depth postwar interrogations, a score of vet-
erans of Iraqi weapons programs told Kay’s group that the Desert Fox raids had
left Iraqi weaponeers demoralized and despairing. “They realized that theyd
never be able to reestablish the type of industrial facility they were aiming at,” he
said in an interview. “They’d spent years, lots of money, and lots of energy on it,
years and years. And they realized that as long as Saddam was in power, they’d
never be able to reestablish production.” In short, they had given up. The other
point that Desert Fox made to Iraqis was that visible elements of weaponry, such
as missile programs, which require a large, easily observed infrastructure such as
engine test stands, could be hammered at any time.

Kay added that he was taken aback to hear their accounts. “For me, it was a bit
of an eye-opener, because I'd always denigrated Desert Fox. What I failed to un-
derstand was that it was cumulative, coming on top of eight years of sanctions.”
More than the physical damage, it was the devastating psychological effect that
had really counted, and that was what U.S. intelligence assessments had missed in
examining Iraq during the run-up to the war, he decided.

In the spring of 2003, Army Col. Alan King, who was the chief civil affairs of-
ficer attached to the invading 3rd Infantry Division, would come to the same conclu-
sion about the powerful effect of the Desert Fox raids. “The chairman of the Iraqi
atomic industry surrendered to me, and I found out that our reason for invading
pretty much went away in 1998,” he recalled. Most of it was destroyed by Saddam
Hussein in the two years before then, when he was fearful of the revelations made
by his son-in-law, Hussein Kamel, the principal director of the Iragi weapons pro-
grams, who temporarily defected to Jordan in 1995 along with other relatives, only
to return to Iraq early the following year. The manufacturing capability remained
and was largely finished off by Desert Fox. King also was told in interrogations
that when the head of an Iraqi delegation to Russia returned to Baghdad in the late
nineties with news that he might be able to obtain a nuclear warhead, Saddam

Hussein had him executed for fear that the U.S. government might catch wind of it.
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But there also was an unexpected disadvantage to the success of Desert Fox. As
Saddam reacted by tightening his internal controls, Iraqis inside the country in
contact with U.S. intelligence grew far more wary. The Senate Intelligence Com-
mittee, in a 2004 autopsy of the intelligence failures made in handling Iraq, would
report that after the raids the U.S. intelligence community “did not have a single
HUMINT [human intelligence] source collecting against Iraq’s weapons of mass
destruction programs.”

“That was the big cutoff point in intel,” agreed a U.S. military intelligence of-
ficial specializing in Middle Eastern affairs. After that “there was a real ditference
in the quality and verifiability of the information.” A catastrophic side effect of
this new lack of information was that it led to a data vacuum in which the basis
for the United States going to war five years later would be created: All sorts of
wild claims could be made about Saddam’s armaments programs in 2002 that
later would be proven wrong but at the time couldn’t be refuted.

Zinni’s conclusion was that U.S. policy on Iraq succeeded in the late nineties.
“Containment worked. Look at Saddam—what did he have?” Zinni asked later.
“He didn’t threaten anyone in the region. He was contained. It was a pain in the
ass, but he was contained. He had a deteriorated military. He wasn’t a threat to the
region.” What’s more, he said, it wasn’t a particularly costly effort. “We contained,
day-to-day, with fewer troops than go to work every day at the Pentagon.” It was
sometimes messy, and it could have been done better, especially if sanctions had
been dropped. But it had worked.

Wolfowitz and his fellow neoconservatives—essentially idealistic interven-
tionists who believed in using American power to spread democracy—drew the
opposite conclusion: If the regime is so weak, it would be easy to remove it, per-
haps by having the United States arm and train Iraqi rebels. In his writings Wolf-
owitz began to construct the mirage that ultimately would become the Bush
administration’s version of Irag—a land saturated both with weapons of mass de-

struction and a yearning to be liberated by American troops.

Zinni vs. Wolfowitz

Even before Desert Fox, Wolfowitz and Zinni clashed publicly over the issue of
arming Iraqi rebels to try to overthrow Saddam. At a congressional hearing Zinni
pointedly dismissed that as a “Bay of Goats” approach destined to fail, as the CIA-
sponsored Bay of Pigs attack on Castro had in 1961. “I think a weakened, frag-

mented, chaotic Iraq, which could happen if this isn’t done carefully, is more
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dangerous in the long run than a contained Saddam is now,” he told a group of
defense reporters in October 1998. “I don’t think these questions have been thought
through or answered.” He also took direct aim at the Iraqi exiles: “I don’t see that
there is a viable opposition.” Arming them, he said, would likely be a waste of money.

Wolfowitz took a pop at Zinni in his published critique of the Clinton admin-
istration’s Iraq policy. “Toppling Saddam is the only outcome that can satisfy the
vital U.S. interest in a stable and secure Gulf region,” he wrote in the New Republic
magazine in December 1998. “The administration has continued to display para-
lyzing ambivalence. . . . Marine Gen. Anthony Zinni, commander of U.S. Gulf
forces, was even authorized to express the view that a ‘weak, fragmented, chaotic
Iraq’ would be more dangerous than Saddam’s continuation in power and to
complain that the opposition isn’t ‘viable.” Wolfowitz saw such “realism” as both
immoral and wrongheaded. In 1999, he wrote that “the United States should be
prepared to commit ground forces to protect a sanctuary in southern Iraq where
the opposition could safely mobilize.”

Zinni made it clear that he believed Wolfowitz and his ally Ahmed Chalabi,
the Iraqi exile leader who later would become a Pentagon favorite, were danger-
ous naifs who knew little about the reality of war. “This is where they jumped on
Chalabi’s idea—‘create an enclave, give me some special forces and air support
and I'll go in and topple the guy over,” Zinni remembered. “And 1 said, ‘This is
ridiculous, won’t happen. This is going to generate another one of our defeats
there where we get a bunch of people slaughtered.”

As a senior U.S. commander, Zinni also was offended by their presumption. A
retired Special Operations general, “Wayne Downing, was up there with Danny
Pletka and her husband [Pletka, then an aide to Sen. Jesse Helms, was married to
another congressional staffer], scheming. They had this scheme for arming Chalabi.
It upset me, ’cause I'm the CinC, these are my forces. [ got staffers in Congress

1

and retired generals working war plans!” In addition to the potential for a small
anti-Saddam force being massacred, he worried that their plan could wind up
dragging the United States into war. “The second issue is, they lead us into a mess,
they piecemeal us into a fight,” he said. “Okay, it’s Special Forces, it’s small units,

create an enclave, it’s air support. But what do they [then] drag us into?”

Wolfowitz’s alleged “fantasy”

Perhaps the low point for the Wolfowitz view was a biting article in Foreign

Affairs magazine that appeared during winter 1998-99. Siding with Zinni, it mocked
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the idea of having Iraqi exiles seize territory, supported by U.S. airpower. Essen-
tially, the three authors, each from a mainstream national security institution—
the Rand Corporation, the National Defense University, and the Council on
Foreign Relations—argued that only people who know nothing about military
affairs could think that a small force of Iraqi rebels could topple Saddam easily.
The article cited a few proponents of what it disparaged as the “Rollback Fantasy,”
but singled out Wolfowitz, quoting him disapprovingly, and then stated that he
was wrong, and that, in fact, “for the United States to try moving from contain-
ment to rollback in Iraq would be a terrible mistake that could easily lead to thou-
sands of unnecessary deaths.” Given the background of the authors and the venue
carrying their words, it was almost as if Wolfowitz were being taken to the wood-
shed by the foreign policy establishment.

The article deeply angered Wolfowitz. “I thought it misrepresented and cari-
catured a serious position and even dismissed it as politically motivated,” he said
later. But the letter he coauthored in response to the article was restrained in tone.
Among other points, it stated that the Bay of Pigs analogy was misleading, and
that the better parallel was Operation Provide Comfort, in which “the Iraqi army
surrendered the northern third of the country to a small U.S. ground force and
lightly armed Kurdish guerrillas because they had lost the stomach to fight.” It
also warned that if or when containment collapsed, “the United States will face a

Saddam who has new nuclear, biological and chemical weapons.”

The Bush campaign vows military restraint

Neither Iraq nor terrorism were issues in the 2000 presidential campaign, and
in fact were hardly mentioned by the candidates of either party. Everything
George W. Bush and Dick Cheney said during the campaign indicated that they
thought Bill Clinton had used the military too much in his foreign policy, not too
little. They outlined a stance of maintaining the policy of containment while be-
ing more selective about the use of force. Bush also argued against using the
military in noncombat missions, hitting the issue hard in both debates of the pres-
idential candidates. “He believes in nation building,” Bush said of Democratic can-
didate Al Gore at their first debate, on October 3, 2000. “I would be very careful
about using our troops as nation builders. I believe the role of the military is to
fight and win war and therefore prevent war from happening in the first place”
As a result of wanton Clinton administration policies, he added, “I believe we’re

overextended in too many places.”
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Bush emphasized this admonition at the next debate. “I don’t think our troops
ought to be used for what’s called nation building,” he said on October 11. “I
think our troops ought to be used to fight and win war. I think our troops ought
to be used to help overthrow a dictator . . . when it’s in our best interests.”

During the campaign, vice presidential candidate Cheney also defended the
decision during the 1991 war to not attack Baghdad. The United States, he said
during an interview on NBC’s Meet the Press, should not act as though “we were
an imperialist power, willy-nilly moving into capitals in that part of the world,
taking down governments.” Cheney appeared to endorse the Clinton administra-
tion’s containment policy, saying that “we want to maintain our current posture

vis-a-vis Iraq.”

Cheney: “Help is on the way” for the U.S. military

Instead, the prime national security issue in the campaign was the state of the
U.S. military, which Bush and Cheney argued was parlous. The Clinton administra-
tion had eroded the armed forces, used them haphazardly, and neglected their
health. The Republican candidates vowed to use the military more wisely, not send-
ing it all over the world, and instead would restore military trust in political leaders.

This is how Cheney put it on August 2, 2000, in accepting the Republican vice

presidential nomination at the party convention in Philadelphia:

For eight years, Clinton and Gore have extended our military commitments while
depleting our military power. Rarely has so much been demanded of our armed
forces and so little given to them in return. George W. Bush and I are going to
change that, too. I have seen our military at its finest, with the best equipment, the
best training, and the best leadership. I am proud of them. I have had the respon-
sibility for their well-being. And I can promise them now, help is on the way. Soon,
our men and women in uniform will once again have a commander in chief they
can respect, a commander in chief who understands their mission and restores

their morale.

Many in the military quietly reciprocated Bush’s support. One Army colonel on
active duty boasted that he had helped polish a Bush campaign speech on Repub-
lican national security policy. Zinni and dozens of other retired generals en-
dorsed Bush. Zinni was wary of Wolfowitz’s presence as a Bush foreign policy

adviser but was reassured by the balancing presence of realists such as his old



26 FIASCO

friend Richard Armitage, who also was, and remains, one of Powell’s closest
friends. Zinni later said he supported Bush because of Powell’s role in the cam-
paign, while Wolfowitz appears to have supported Bush somewhat despite it.

Bush vs. Iraq—or Bush vs. China?

After just a month in office, the Bush administration launched air strikes
against five sites in the Iraqi antiaircraft network—three big radar systems and
two command-and-control facilities. The attacks were neither well managed nor
particularly successful. The February 2001 attack was the biggest in more than
two years, since Desert Fox. But Bush and his national security adviser, Con-
doleezza Rice, who were on a short trip to Mexico, were to some extent blindsided
by them. Because of poor communications with Rumsfeld’s Pentagon, Bush had
been led to expect that the strikes would occur after he left Mexico. But at the last
minute, they were moved up by six hours. It was the kind of slip that can occur in
any new administration, but it wound up overshadowing the first foreign trip of
a president with notably little overseas experience.

“A routine mission was conducted to enforce the no-fly zone,” Bush said that
day in San Cristobal, Mexico. “And it is a mission about which I was informed,
and I authorized. But I repeat, it’s a routine mission, and we will continue to en-
force the no-fly zone until the world is told otherwise.”

The U.S. military deemed the strikes essential because the Iraqis were in-
stalling a fiber optic communications network in their air defense system that
would have greatly increased the threat to U.S. pilots operating in the southern no-
fly zone. Antiaircraft batteries in southern Iraq once had used their own radars to
track U.S. and British jets, but radar-seeking missiles launched against those sys-
tems had proven so lethal that Iragi troops had turned them off. Instead, the
Iraqis were taking the innovative step of using powerful radars near Baghdad—
and outside the no-fly zone—to track aircraft, and then planned to transmit the
targeting data to the missile batteries in the south. Chinese workers were in-
stalling the network that would link up this new system.

The strikes had an unusually delicate setup. The weaponry would reach across
the 33rd parallel, the northern limit of the southern no-fly zone, twenty miles
south of Baghdad. It was the first time this had been done since Desert Fox, but
the aircraft launching those long-range bombs and missiles would turn away be-
fore crossing the line. Even more unusual was the timing of the strikes. They were

to be executed on a Friday, the Muslim sabbath, in order not to hit the Chinese
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workers involved in the construction, who presumably would be at rest that day.
In the end, the air strikes didn’t do much damage, because many of the bombs
used—of a relatively new type called the AGM-154A joint standoff weapon,
delivered by Navy jets flying from the USS Harry S. Truman in the Persian Gulf—
veered left of where they were supposed to hit and missed most of their targets.

The raid had the odd and unexpected side effect of focusing the new admin-
istration less on Iraq and more on China. “We’re concerned about the apparent
involvement of the Chinese with fiber optics” in the Iraqi system, Condoleezza
Rice said. “Under the sanctions regime, there appears to be a problem.” Powell
took up the matter with the new Chinese ambassador when he arrived to present
his credentials, and Bush vowed in his first White House press conference that
“we’re going to send a message” to China over its aid to Iraq’s military.

Iraq was almost an afterthought at that conference, with Bush saying he would
conduct a review of Iraq policy in order “to make the sanctions work.” Indeed,
that was the task that Powell took on during his first tour of the Mideast as secre-
tary of state. Containment and sanctions, he said, “have worked,” and Saddam
Hussein wasn’t a threat. “He has not developed any significant capability with re-
spect to weapons of mass destruction. He is unable to project conventional power
against his neighbors. So, in effect, our policies have strengthened the security of
the neighbors of Iraq, and these are the policies that we are going to keep in
place.” Powell would himself take almost the opposite position two years later at
the United Nations. But as he toured the Middle East in February 2001, he found
general agreement with his procontainment view. “Everyone I spoke to said, you've
got to go down this track” of improving sanctions, Powell told reporters during
the trip.

Wolfowitz didn’t agree with that policy, but he was in a minority even inside
the Bush administration. As Powell traveled, Wolfowitz appeared before the Sen-
ate Armed Services Committee, which was weighing his nomination to be Rums-
feld’s deputy. Wolfowitz candidly said that he favored toppling Saddam Hussein.
“I think there’s no question that the whole region would be a safer place, Iraq would
be a much more successful country, and the American national interest would
benefit greatly if there were a change of regime in Iraq,” he testified. “If there’s a
real option to do that, I would certainly think it’s still worthwhile.”

There really wasn’t a “war party” inside the Bush administration before 9/11,
said Patrick Clawson, a Middle East expert who moved in Washington’s neocon-
servative circles. Rather, he said, there really was just Wolfowitz, pleading for

more attention to Iraq, and Wolfowitz’s former Pentagon aide, I. Lewis “Scooter”
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Libby, Cheney’s chief of staff in the new administration, listening supportively.
Clawson dismissed the allegation made later by former treasury secretary Paul
O’Neill and others that the Bush administration came into office determined to
invade Iraq. “What O’Neill doesn’t notice is that those who wanted to go to war
lost, and those who supported ‘smart sanctions’ won,” he said. In the spring of
2001, he added, Rice, the new president’s national security adviser, made it “ex-
tremely clear” to colleagues that they weren’t going to do anything in Iraq.

Wolfowitz and his few allies—mainly Libby and a few others in the office of
the new vice president, traditionally not a powerful political base from which to
operate—were stymied by Powell, who talked not about regime change but about
improving containment by imposing smart sanctions. This was essentially an at-
tempt to breathe new life into containment by paring the list of items being
watched, focusing more energy on controls related to weapons of mass destruc-
tion, and loosening oversight of food imports and other civilian goods.

In the summer of 2001, it looked like Powell was winning the internal argu-
ments that would shape the foreign policy of the new and inexperienced presi-
dent. “Powell’s influence had been steadily growing,” the New York Times’s Bill
Keller wrote later that year. Powell had negotiated a successful end to the confron-
tation with the Chinese, smoothed relations with Russia, and gotten the president
engaged on Mideast peace negotiations. “In all of this, the president was follow-
ing the instincts of his secretary of state,” Keller wrote.

Powell’s deputy, Richard Armitage, agreed with that assessment. “Prior to 9/11
we certainly were prevailing” on the Iraq argument, he said in an interview in 2005.

As William Kristol and Lawrence Kaplan, two Iraq hawks, wrote in a 2003
prowar monograph, “far from transforming containment into rollback, the
White House proceeded to water down even the demands that the Clinton team
had imposed on Iraq.”

The Washington Post’s Jim Hoagland, one of the most hawkish columnists on
Iraq, captured the unhappiness of those who wanted a more aggressive stance on
Iraq. At the end of the 1991 Gulf War, he argued in April, the U.S. government
had been headed for victory in Iraq but instead found a way to snatch “stalemate
from the jaws of victory.” The new administration’s open-minded review of Iraq
policy, he warned, “risks becoming a way of letting the mistakes of Bush 41 be-
come the mistakes of Bush 43.” Hoagland returned to the subject of the Iraq pol-
icy review in the summer of 2001, warning, “By September Bush needs to show
that he knows where he is going on Iraq and the Middle East, and that he knows
how he intends to get there.”



THIS CHANGES EVERYTHING:
THE AFTERMATH OF 9/11

n the bright blue morning of September 11, 2001, Col. Paul Hughes was in

his office in the Pentagon’s D Ring, in Army staff space—not the high-rent
outer ring, where top civilians and higher ranking generals had their offices, fac-
ing the Potomac River or Arlington National Cemetery. Despite its airshaftlike
view, the office of the National Security Policy Division, G-3 was a decent place to
work, one of the hundreds of such small but vital wheels and cogs within the ma-
chinery of national defense.

Hughes and his office workers had gathered to watch CNN’s reporting on the
two aircraft that had hit the World Trade Center. A civilian contractor turned to
Hughes. “What the hell is happening?” the man asked. “I don’t understand it.”

It was 9:37 A.M. Hughes was beginning to respond when the room exploded.
Plaques and a clock shot off the walls, and bookshelves pitched forward. Hughes
looked out the window and saw, above the Pentagon’s roof, a huge fireball. “I am
going to die today,” he thought. He looked around and wondered why everyone
and everything was silent, not realizing that the explosion of American Airlines
Flight 77 hitting underneath his office at 530 miles per hour had temporarily
robbed him of much of his hearing.

He and his coworkers made their way through the acrid smoke to the Pentagon’s
courtyard, a football field of space with a hot dog stand in the middle. Security
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officers announced that a fourth plane was heading toward Washington, so the
crowd moved out to the Pentagon’s sprawling south parking lot. After waiting
awhile he realized that it would be a long time before he got back into his office.
So without briefcase or Army beret, he walked the four miles to his sister’s house
in Alexandria. As he did, he dwelled on another American defeat. “I thought to
myself, This is what a Union officer must have felt like in July of 1861, walking
back from Bull Run”—the first big battle of the Civil War, which ended with Fed-
eral troops streaming back 25 miles to Washington. His bottom line on the day:
“We got our ass kicked” So began a path that two years later would have Col.
Hughes working on the strategy of the U.S. occupation in Irag, and then moving
into opposition to U.S. policy there.

The opening

The explosion at the Pentagon of Flight 77 and the day’s three other hijack at-
tacks provided the political opening that Paul Wolfowitz, Richard Perle, and oth-
ers needed. Perle and Wolfowitz quickly began to make the case that 9/11 was
precipitated by a myopic and false realism that wrongly had sought accommoda-
tion with evil. “The idea that we could live with another 20 years of stagnation in
the Middle East that breeds this radicalism and breeds terrorism is, I think, just
unacceptable—especially after September 11th,” Wolfowitz later told the Jerusalem
Post. In a talk in New York, he added, “We cannot go back to business as usual. We
cannot think that this problem of Islamic extremist-based terrorism is going to
leave us alone.”

Four days after the attacks, the president and his national security team met at
Camp David to discuss the response to 9/11. The briefing materials that Rumsfeld
and Wolfowitz brought offered three targets in the war on terrorism: al Qaeda,
Afghanistan’s Taliban and Iraq. But only Wolfowitz pressed the case that day for
attacking Iraq.

Wolfowitz’s advocacy of attacking Iraq in response to 9/11 stemmed from the
same views that later led him to underestimate the strength of the Iraqi insur-
gency, said a person who reviewed those Pentagon briefing materials. “In both
cases, you have this know-it-all who won’t believe the intelligence community,
and won’t believe that nonstate actors can do this much damage,” he observed. Yet
this person came away, as many critics do, finding himself oddly sympathetic to
Wolfowitz. “There are two types of villains in Washington, hacks and fools,” he
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concluded. “He isn’t a hack. He’s deeply misguided, he’s impervious to evidence—
and he’s a serious, thoughtful guy.”

Wolfowitz’s own account of the discussion at Camp David that day softens the
differences that were aired and instead depicts them as related to tactics and strat-
egy. “There was a long discussion during the day about what place if any Iraq
should have in a counterterrorist strategy,” he said later. His account turns some-
what fuzzy: “There seemed to be a kind of agreement that yes it should be, but the
disagreement was whether it should be in the immediate response or whether
you should concentrate simply on Afghanistan first. There was a sort of undertow
in that discussion. I think that was, the real issue was whether Iraq should be part
of the strategy at all.” He came away thinking, he said, that the president had de-
cided tactically on an Afghanistan first approach but strategically on the objective
of ousting governments that supported terrorism. Wolfowitz left still determined,
sending follow-up memos to Rumsfeld on September 17 and September 18 that
continued to make the case for attacking Iraq.

On September 20, Ahmed Chalabi went to the Pentagon to speak to the De-
fense Policy Board, an advisory group headed by Richard Perle. The first speaker
at the meeting in Rumsfeld’s conference room was Bernard Lewis, a historian
of the Middle East whose pessimistic writings on Islam and terrorism had grown
deeply influential within the Bush administration. The second speaker was Chalabi,
an Iraqi exile leader. It was around this time, a senior military intelligence official
recalled, that Perle’s old subordinate Douglas Feith, who had become the Penta-
gon policy chief, put out the word to his aides to focus on Iraq.

But the same day, President Bush met with British Prime Minister Tony Blair
and delivered a very different message. “When Blair asked about Irag,” the 9/11
Commission reported, quoting from an NSC summary of the two leaders’ con-
versation, “the president replied that Iraq was not the immediate problem. Some
members of his administration, he commented, had expressed a different view,
but he was the one responsible for making the decisions.”

Powell usually was an astute judge of Washington politics, but in the fall of
2001 his judgment seemed off. He no longer had the upper hand, but he didn’t
seem to recognize it, at least in his public comments. “Iraq isn’t going anywhere,”
he told Bill Keller of the New York Times in his trademark, “everybody calm
down” mode. “It’s in a fairly weakened state. It’s doing some things we don’t like.
We’ll continue to contain it.”

But the tide already was shifting. By seeming to catch the intelligence commu-
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nity asleep, the 9/11 attacks had created a new opportunity for those arguing that
the professional intelligence analysts were underestimating the threat presented
by Iraq, and especially the likelihood of its possessing chemical or biological
weapons or its willingness to share them with anti-American terrorists. If you
missed the warning signs on 9/11, the argument went at the time, what else are
you missing now about Iraq?

The new doubts about intelligence, along with the caution of top military of-
ficers, combined to deeply frustrate Rumsfeld, recalled one covert operations spe-
cialist who worked for the defense secretary during this period. “What I saw from
9/11 forward was Don Rumsfeld’s shock and disillusion with intelligence. He had
been working for decades with an intelligence community that was focused on
one question: the Soviet order of battle. But when the intelligence community
had to move down the scale to low-intensity conflict, well . . .” His voice trailed
off in the quiet disapproval of the disappointed professional.

“The first shock was on September 25, 2001, when Rumsfeld met with Charlie
Holland,” the Air Force general who then headed the U.S. Special Operations
Command, which had been thrust into the limelight as one of the military com-
mands most needed in response to al Qaeda’s attack. “Holland laid out a bunch
of targets,” including a terrorist training camp in northwest Africa, an arms ship-
ment point on the Somali coast, and a camp in the Philippines. “Rumsfeld’s mouth
was watering. ‘When do we go?” And Holland said, ‘Well, we can’t because we lack
actionable intelligence.”

Rumsfeld was perturbed by that phrase, and seized on it. “What is ‘actionable
intelligence’?” the defense secretary began asking. “Is there such a type of intelligence
that is ‘inactionable’?” In the following weeks, Rumsfeld would take steps to substan-

tially increase the role his office played in gathering and analyzing intelligence.

The Iraq war planning begins

Formal Pentagon consideration of how to attack Iraq began in November 2001,
just after the fall of Kabul. By early December, Army Gen. Tommy R. Franks, the ca-
reer artilleryman who had succeeded Zinni as head of the Central Command, was
shuttling between his headquarters, located in Tampa, Florida, and Washington,
D.C., reviewing planning for an invasion of Iraq. “There was a sense of urgency
to get a conceptual plan in front of the president,” recalled Air Force Maj. Gen. Vic-
tor Renuart, who held the key job of director of operations for the Central Com-

mand, and who accompanied Franks to most of his Washington meetings.
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From the outset, there was tension between the uniformed military and the
office of the secretary of defense (OSD) over two related issues: whether to attack
Iraq, and if so, how many troops to use. Gen. Jack Keane, the Army’s number-two
officer, told colleagues that he thought that the United States should put aside the
Iraq question and keep its eye on the ball. He recommended keeping two Army
divisions—perhaps twenty-five thousand troops—on the Afghan-Pakistani bor-
der until bin Laden was captured and his organization there destroyed.

Caught between the Army’s caution and Rumsfeld’s impatience was the Cen-
tral Command, commanded by Franks. Officials who served in that headquarters
offer conflicting accounts of the role it played in the debate over the war plan, but
there is general agreement that Franks became the fulcrum in the planning for
the war. He could go either way—he was a career Army officer—but with the pas-
sage of time he sided with the Rumsfeld view. Franks was a cunning man, but not
a deep thinker. He ran an extremely unhappy headquarters. He tended to berate
subordinates, frequently shouting and cursing at them. Morale was poor, and
people were tired, having worked nonstop since 9/11. “Central Command is two
thousand indentured servants whose life is consumed by the whims of Tommy
Franks,” said one officer who worked closely with him. “Staff officers are condi-
tioned like Pavlovian dogs. You can only resist for so long. It’s like a prisoner-of-
war camp—after a while, you break.”

It wasn’t just a matter of low spirits among staffers, this officer added. Franks’s
abusive style tended to distort the information that flowed upward to him. “I am
convinced that much of the information that came out of Central Command is
unreliable because he demands it instantly, so people pull it out of their hats. It’s
all SWAGs [scientific wild-assed guesses]. Also, everything has to be good news
stuff. . . . You would find out you can’t tell the truth.”

All military staffs feel burdened on the eve of war, but Centcom was in the un-
usual position of planning the invasion of Iraq just a few months after carrying
out the invasion of Afghanistan. It wasn’t a good way to go into a war, especially
under a commander perceived by some as unreceptive to contrary views. The ex-
treme fatigue and low morale at his headquarters may explain in part why Franks
and his staff would spend over a year figuring out how to take down a reeling,
hollow regime, and give almost no serious thought to how to replace it. They
would focus almost all their energies on the easier of the two tasks, with disas-
trous consequences for the U.S. position in postwar Iraq.

Many senior Army staff officers had worked at Centcom during the 1990s,
and so were familiar with the series of war plans refined there during that decade.
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Others had rotated through Kuwait. As a group, they were comfortable with the
work that Zinni had left behind calling for a big invasion force of about 350,000
troops. But the world had changed, Renuart argued in an interview, so there was
no longer a need for an invasion force of that size. “We had many more precision
weapons,” said the veteran pilot, who had commanded a fighter squadron in the
1991 Gulf War and later led units in both the northern and southern no-fly zones.
“We’d been flying over Iraq for twelve years and had substantially degraded their
air defenses. We had good ISR [intelligence, surveillance, and reconnaissance],
and so good situational awareness of their ground forces.”

The conclusions of Desert Crossing, Zinni’s post-Desert Fox study, were
taken into consideration but weren’t a shaping factor, Renuart said. That plan en-
visioned attacking Iraq with three heavy armored divisions. “It wasn’t discarded—
it just didn’t fit the planning constraints we were given,” he said. Among those
were to make the force smaller and faster than either the 1991 invasion force or Zinni’s
Desert Crossing force package. Ultimately, Gen. Franks would employ a plan that
used just one heavy division to spearhead the attack, backed by the helicopter-
rich 101st Airborne, as well as lighter elements—part of the 82nd Airborne and
some Marine and British units.

Zinni said he heard a rather different account of why his plan was discarded
late in 2002, which essentially was that Rumsfeld and his aides simply vetoed his
work. “When the military guys, the Joint Staff [officers working on the staff of the
Joint Chiefs of Staff] brought it up, the civilian leadership said, ‘No, its assump-
tions are too pessimistic,” he said.

Col. John Agoglia, who was the deputy chief of planning at Central Command,
said that the quality of planning done under Zinni may have improved in Zinni’s
memory with the passage of time. “There wasn’t as much as Zinni claimed there was,”
he said. “Desert Crossing? I don’t remember that specific name,” he added, in an in-
terview. “But we looked at everything that was on the shelf” This casual dismissal of
years of planning overseen by a highly regarded general isn’t credible, but it illuminates
the intellectually shoddy atmosphere that characterized war planning under Franks.

Indeed, contrary to Agoglia’s account, another Centcom official, Gregory
Hooker, the command’s top intelligence analyst for Iraq, recalled that Zinni’s
Desert Crossing plan had been refined for years, even after Franks took over from
him, and that it eventually was made the peace operations part of 1003-98, the
standing Centcom war plan for the invasion of Iraq. Had it been heeded, the U.S.
occupation might have had a smoother course.

Meanwhile, other powerful institutions were adding to the pressure to go to war.
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Miller’s tale

“An Iraqi defector who described himself as a civil engineer said he personally
worked on renovations of secret facilities for biological, chemical and nuclear
weapons,” began a story carried by the New York Times under the byline of Judith
Miller on December 20, 2001. The article featured the sort of piquant, unex-
pected details that bolstered its verisimilitude. For example, not only had Adnan
Thsan Saeed al-Haideri “personally visited at least 20 different sites” that he believed
were part of Iraq’s weapons programs, he also had installed Saddam Hussein’s
“first whirlpool bath.”

It was a blockbuster for Miller, a Pulitzer Prize winner renowned for her sharp
journalistic elbows. There was just one major problem with the story: It wasn’t
true, not one bit of it. As the Columbia Journalism Review noted in the summer of
2004, long after the invasion, “None of the weapons sites—which al-Haideri
claimed were located beneath hospitals and behind palaces—have ever been
located”

No one knew it at the time, but with that story Miller began one of the more
dismal chapters in modern American journalism. She had lit the fuse of a run-
ning story about the Iraqi arsenal that eventually would blow up in her face, tar-
nishing not just her own career but also one of the proudest names in American
journalism. The New York Times, the “paper of record,” would carry more than its

share of misinformed articles that helped drive the nation toward war in Iraq.

“That was a declaration of war”

Rep. Ike Skelton, the senior Democrat on the House Armed Services Commit-
tee, was alarmed as he listened to President Bush point to Iraq, Iran, and North
Korea as threatening adversaries in his 2002 State of the Union address. “States
like these and their terrorist allies constitute an axis of evil, arming to threaten the
peace of the world,” Bush warned. “We’ll be deliberate; yet time is not on our side.
I will not wait on events while dangers gather. I will not stand by as peril draws
closer and closer. The United States of America will not permit the world’s most
dangerous regimes to threaten us with the world’s most destructive weapons.”

When the speech ended that January night, Skelton walked back across the Hill
to his congressional office and glumly told his staff, “That was a declaration of war.”

Skelton was a classic conservative Democrat from the heart of the heart of the

country, representing a swath of twenty-five rural Missouri counties running from
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the edge of the Ozark Mountains north to the soybean fields along Interstate 70.
His dream of attending West Point died when he was stricken with polio as a
teenager, but he never lost his interest in the military, and especially in military
education. He is so deeply read in military affairs that he once released a national
security book list, a compilation of fifty volumes he considered key to under-
standing the armed forces. It is a thorough offering, heavy on American and British
campaigns, but ranging from biographies of Alexander the Great and Hannibal
to Grant’s memoirs and strategic thinker Eliot Cohen’s Supreme Command.

The more Skelton heard the Bush administration talk, the more he worried.
The last of the Truman Democrats sensed he was about to be run over by the first
of the twenty-first-century Republicans. For George W. Bush was a bit of a revo-
lutionary, having much more in common with the freewheeling 1960s than did
Isaac Newton Skelton, a restrained son of the middle border. In the following
months Skelton would begin asking questions—including, why did there appear
to be no plans for postwar Iraq?—and got few answers. For the next several years
his unhappy role would be that of a congressional Cassandra, his foresight accu-
rate but disregarded.

The next month Wolfowitz trekked to Munich for the Wehrkunde meetings,
an annual conference on security issues that brought together scores of top Euro-
pean and American defense officials and politicians. There he confronted the con-
temptuous Germans. “Countries must make a choice,” he told them, about whether
they would join the United States as it sought to preempt the threats it perceived
in Iraq, Iran, and North Korea. He and Joseph Lieberman, the conservative Con-
necticut Democrat whose mother-in-law had been held in the Dachau concen-
tration camp just a few miles away, received moralistic responses from German
and French politicians. Another member of the congressional delegation, Sen.
John McCain, the Arizona Republican, stood up at the end of the meeting to
voice his support for Lieberman and Wolfowitz. The unified U.S. front seemed to
make it clear: The United States had Iraq in its sights.

And it was going to be easy, some added. Rumsfeld’s onetime assistant, Ken
Adelman, sought to argue away worries about invading Iraq. “I believe demolish-
ing Hussein’s military power and liberating Iraq would be a cakewalk,” he wrote
for the Washington Post’s op-ed page in memorably provocative language. “Let
me give simple, responsible reasons: 1. it was a cakewalk last time; 2. they’ve
become much weaker; 3. we’ve become much stronger; and 4. now we’re playing
for keeps.” What’s more, he wrote, there was a clear and present danger. “Hussein

constitutes the number one threat against American security and civilization. Un-
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like Osama bin Laden, he has billions in government funds, scores of government
research labs working feverishly on weapons of mass destruction—and just as
deep a hatred of America and civilized free societies.” It was rash, over the top,
and characteristic of the debate at the time. And, as subsequent investigation by
the U.S. government determined, it was wildly wrong in its feverish assertion
about those scores of Iraqi laboratories.

While Wolfowitz was in Munich, Central Command’s rough draft of a plan
for the invasion of Iraq began circulating quietly in parts of the Pentagon. “The
initial timetable was 1 October”’—just over half a year away—recalled one plan-
ning officer who was handed the document in an office of the Joint Staff one Feb-
ruary afternoon. The plan led to a series of war games titled Prominent Hammer
that sought, among other things, to judge the regional impact of a war in Iraq, as
well as the strain that a war would impose on the U.S. military. Each game—a
tabletop exercise in which likely second- and third-order consequences were
gauged—took three or four days to play out, and each was followed by an in-
depth staff analysis that kept parts of the Joint Staff working days stretching from
6:00 A.M. to 10:00 .M.

In the first part of May, the conclusions of the first two games were sent across
the Potomac to the White House to brief President Bush. Essentially, the briefing
concluded that October would be too soon to invade Iraq. There were two major
reasons offered. First, the planning officer recalled, “you’ve got to set the condi-
tions” to lower the political risks of going to war, by conducting an intense round
of preparatory diplomacy. Also, there was a shortage of precision-guided weapons:
“We’d just dropped a bunch of PGMs in Afghanistan [over the previous six
months], and based on the combatant commander’s statement, it would take sev-
eral months to get back up” to the level needed to go to war. In the wake of that
briefing the military had a sense that it had won some breathing room in the de-
bate. The sense that an invasion of Iraq was imminent was undercut.

The officers on the Joint Staff also thought they had given Franks the analyti-
cal results he needed to persuade Rumsfeld to go with a larger number of troops.
“Rumsfeld is a great bureaucratic infighter,” recalled the planner. “He’s also not as
doctrinal as people think.” In this officer’s account, Rumsfeld put on the table
Gen. Downing’s plan for invading Iraq with just ten thousand troops as a bar-
gaining move, done in the knowledge that the existing Central Command inva-
sion plan, written under Gen. Zinni, called for an invasion force of at least three
hundred thousand. What’s more, Rumsfeld almost certainly knew that the inva-

sion force ultimately chosen would be closer in size to Zinni’s than to Downing’s.
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But he was going to make the military fight for every incremental increase in the
size of the force. “A lot of folks say the military rolled over” for Rumsfeld, this
officer concluded. “We didn’t. We did the best we could.”

Gen. Franks sometimes makes assertions that are wildly inaccurate, but he of-
fers them with great certitude. One such occasion was May 21, 2002, when he was
asked at a press conference about the size of the force that would be required to
invade Iraq. At this point planning for the mission had been under way for sev-
eral months. There already had been two major Commanders’ Conferences in-
side the military to consider the course of action, and the president had already
been briefed four times on the plan. At least one of those presidential discussions
was quite thorough, recalled Col. Agoglia. Franks could have deflected the ques-
tion by saying that he didn’t respond to hypotheticals, or he could have been
blunt and said that he didn’t discuss planning for possible future operations. Or
he could have evaded it as Bush sometimes did, by saying he didn’t have a plan
“on his desk.” But instead he quibbled. “That’s a great question, and one for which
I don’t have an answer,” he said, “because my boss has not yet asked me to put to-
gether a plan for that”

Nor did he leave the issue there. Instead, he elaborated on his untruth:
“Beyond speculation that I read much about in the press, my bosses have not
asked me to put together anything yet, and so they have not asked me for those
kinds of numbers. And I guess I would tell you, if there comes a time when my boss
asks me that, then I’d rather provide those sorts of assessments to him. But thanks
for the question.” (In his autobiography, Franks would weakly claim that “it was

the truth. In May 2002, we were offering the president options, not a plan.”)

The birth of preemption

In June 2002 Bush traveled to West Point to drop the other shoe. There, at the
most identifiably Army post in the nation, the U.S. Military Academy, he made
preemption the national strategy—an astonishing departure from decades of
practice and two centuries of tradition. Henceforth, the United States was pre-
pared to attack before threats became full-fledged. “We must take the battle to the
enemy, disrupt his plans, and confront the worst threats before they emerge,”
Bush told the cadets assembled on West Point’s football field. “If we wait for
threats to fully materialize, we will have waited too long.” Between the State of the
Union address and the West Point speech, Bush had shown the political route
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toward attacking Iraq. The first speech had done the targeting—that is, stated the
goal. The West Point speech provided the doctrinal, or intellectual, rationale for
doing it.

It was that month that Renuart, sitting in the hot seat of operations director at
Central Command, began to believe that the war plan he was working on for Iraq was
going to be executed. But his discussions were extremely “close hold,” he recalled,
really involving just Rumsfeld and Franks, with Bush and Cheney briefed on occa-
sion. “Franks was told to keep a very tight control on decisionmaking, with it [just
a matter of | Rumsfeld to Franks, and a lot of decisions pushed up to Franks” that
usually would have been handled by lower ranking officials, but who in this case
were not included in the planning. One unfortunate side effect of this narrowing
seems to have been to limit consideration both of dissenting views and of longer
term issues—two problems that Franks already had experienced in his handling
of the war in Afghanistan, which insiders said had been extremely messy.

Those who could read the Bush administration best saw that war was coming,
even before there had been much public debate. Two very different meetings
bring this home—one among top British officials in London, the other among
Marine commanders near San Diego. In midsummer, Sir Richard Dearlove, the
head of MIS6, the British intelligence agency, came to Washington for meetings at
the CIA and with other officials. When he returned to London, he met with the
top officials in the British national security establishment. “There was a percepti-
ble shift in attitude” in the Bush administration, he told his colleagues on July 23,
according to a memo summarizing the talk that subsequently was leaked. “Mili-
tary action was now seen as inevitable. Bush wanted to remove Saddam, through
military action, justified by the conjunction of terrorism and WMD. But the in-
telligence and facts were being fixed around the policy. . . . There was little discus-
sion in Washington of the aftermath after military action.”

A few weeks later, on August 3, 2002, Maj. Gen. James Mattis, one of the more
perceptive senior officers in the U.S. military, took over as commander of the 1st
Marine Division. That afternoon, at his first staff meeting, he called in his com-
manders, his senior sergeants, and his top staff officers. “It became immediately
obvious that he had gathered them for a single purpose: To give them a warning
order for the invasion of Iraq,” the draft of the official Marine history of the divi-
sion reports. Mattis wasn’t operating on any secret information, just an under-
standing of how the world worked, he said later. “The commander’s job is to be a

sentinel for his unit, and focus it,” he explained.
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Persistent doubts at the Pentagon

But much of the top brass wasn’t persuaded of the wisdom of invading Iraq.
Especially in the Army, there were profound doubts both about invading Iraq and
about adopting a policy of preemption. Even one of the few military men Rums-
feld listened to, a retired four-star general, said at the time that containment was
the way to go: He argued that what the U.S. government wanted was a secular,
unified Iraq led by someone kinder and gentler than Saddam—and that was what
it was getting closer to every day, as Saddam aged and weakened.

That summer many generals had three major concerns about invading Iraq:
the possibility of Saddam’s using weapons of mass destruction, the danger of be-
coming enmeshed in urban warfare, and the worry that a postwar occupation
could be costly, especially if the United States had to put in thousands of troops
to hold the country together. “I can’t tell you how many senior officers said to me,
‘What in the hell are we doing?”” recalled Marine Lt. Gen. Gregory Newbold, who
had been the J-3, or director of operations on the Joint Staff, since October 2000.
In that key job he oversaw the daily employment of U.S. forces around the globe,
and so was the link between the Pentagon and senior American commanders in
the field. Those top officers and their staffs were coming back to Newbold. “They
just didn’t understand,” he recalled. ““Why Iraq? Why now?’” They were especially
worried about undercutting the counteroffensive against al Qaeda: “All of us un-
derstood the fight was against the terrorists, and we were willing to do anything
in that regard—so, ‘Why are we diverting assets and attention?””

Yet for all those doubts, only one top officer really deeply objected to the en-
tire war plan. That was Newbold, who as the Joint Staff’s director of operations
was aware of almost everything of significance going on in the U.S. military, and
to the classified information it was receiving. “I had virtual access to every bit of
intelligence other than the presidential daily briefings,” he said in subsequent
congressional testimony. “I think I had one hundred percent other than that. And
I participated in all the planning ... of operations for Afghanistan and all the
planning for operations for Iraq.”

Many other senior officers weren’t as opposed as Newbold but still were wor-
ried about the particulars of the plan. Despite Franks’s determined efforts to keep
them from reviewing it, some began to get glimpses. One officer spent a summer
weekend studying Annex Bravo, the intelligence section of the war plan. He came
away deeply puzzled by a major discrepancy in its treatment of weapons of mass
destruction. “The target list didn’t match the text,” he said. “The text was full of
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‘we’re not sure, we don’t know this.” But then, when he turned to the target list,
it offered, as if certain of its information, “about one hundred ‘confirmed or pos-
itive’ weapons of mass destruction sites.” Nor did the plan assess the impact on
the region: “It was completely stovepiped on Irag—nothing about terrorism, or
the impact on Saudi Arabia.” This was just incomplete work, in his view. He sent
his comments along, but never received a response.

Also on the Joint Staff was Army Brig. Gen. Mark Hertling, the J-7, or direc-
tor for operational plans, who also had concerns. “Hertling goes to the director of
the Joint Staff, and said he was so worried about the errors,” said an administra-
tion official involved in defense policy. Hertling’s military specialty was war plan-
ning, this official noted.

“As the J-7 I was involved in several things concerning the planning of both
the conflict and the postconflict operations, and there were some interesting things
going on then,” Hertling explained in 2004. “And I did approach a few folks con-
cerning what I saw as some shortcomings that later came to fruition.” Asked later
to elaborate on those inadequacies, Hertling declined, saying, “Because of classi-
fication levels, 'm not going to clarify any part of that conversation. Suffice it to
say that there were several issues discussed in that meeting, some involved the
plan, some involved my thoughts about how it would be executed based on my
knowledge of training and capabilities, some explorations of alternative courses
of action, and some other things that I believed were not being properly consid-
ered by those who were supervising the plan and the sourcing of the plan.”

There were two basic points of friction between the military and senior Pen-
tagon civilians over the war planning for Iraq. The first was the role that those
civilians would play in formulating the plan. The second was the number of
troops that those civilians thought were needed. “They were into precision target-
ing, use of proxy forces, and minimizing the ground forces,” said an officer famil-
iar with the exchanges that went on at that time. In fighting in Afghanistan in
2001 and 2002, Rumsfeld’s office achieved that minimization by having Gen. Franks
impose a “force cap” that sharply limited the number of troops in the country.
This cap caused much angst among commanders, because it required them to
leave behind parts of their units, which in turn forced them to violate the U.S.
military maxim of fighting as you train, especially fighting alongside those with
whom you train. This became controversial at the battle of the Shahikot Valley in
March 2002 when the Army, executing Operation Anaconda, lacked artillery
pieces to hit al Qaeda forces who had heavy machine guns dug in under over-

hanging cliffs, cleverly creating positions that couldn’t be struck from the air.
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Even with that experience, the emphasis on keeping a ceiling on the number
of ground forces would become a key aspect of the planning for the invasion of
Iraq. “There was always pressure from OSD—could we do it smaller?” recalled
Col. Agoglia, the Central Command planner.

The military concerns bubbled under the surface but never rose to the level of
confrontation, said a senior officer on the Joint Staff: “All this dissent—the truth
of it is, there were lots of concerns, anxieties, and private conversations, but it
never went public, or into a formal dissent.”

When Rumsfeld was asked about the worries being expressed inside the
military—and specifically about a Washington Post article that summarized those
concerns using mainly unnamed sources—his response was both disingenuous
and dismissive. “You know, the Pentagon’s a big place—hundreds and hundreds
of thousands of military personnel, hundreds of thousands of civilian personnel,”
he said at a press conference at the headquarters of the Joint Forces Command in Suf-
folk, Virginia. “Any reporter who wants to can go find one or more thatll have a po-
sition on any issue, all the way across the spectrum. Then what they do is, they write
stories that seem to fit what they feel might make a good story. And they go around
and ask questions until they find people that say those things, and then they print.

“Now, I don’t know,” he continued. “They don’t say who those people are. So
I can’t go and say, ‘Gee, have you got a better idea?” Can’t seem to do that. Who
they are, no one knows. It’s a big mystery, and life’s like that”

The officers who were talking to the Post and other news outlets, Rumsfeld
concluded, were ill informed. The defense secretary said he talked to senior mili-
tary officers all the time and didn’t hear such concerns. “They all have every op-
portunity in the world to express their views, to discuss things. And they do, and
they do it intelligently, and they do it constructively, and they don’t do it to the
press. Now, if they’re not doing it to the press, somebody else is doing it to the
press, and it’s obviously somebody who knows a heck of a lot less than they do.”
Thus, in Rumsfeld’s formulation, military dissent about Iraq had to be consid-
ered the result of ignorance.

To some at Central Command’s headquarters in Tampa, the view was less
mysterious. Hooker, the command’s lead intelligence analyst for Iraq, later would
blame Rumsfeld squarely for undermining the formulation of the war plan. From
the outset, he said, the disagreements between Rumsfeld’s office and the
military—about whether to invade Iraq, and if so, how many troops to use—were
rooted in conflicting assessments of the threat Iraq presented and the difficulties

that would result from invading and occupying the country. But instead of exam-
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ining and reconciling the differences, Hooker wrote, Rumsfeld and Franks let
them fester for months as Rumsfeld pushed for a smaller invasion force. “There
was no authoritative, systematic review and consolidation of viewpoints between
intelligence producers and senior policymakers,” Hooker concluded in a postwar
analysis of intelligence problems in the war plan. Rather than determine which
point of view was correct, the planners simply split the difference, he wrote.

It appears likely that Rumsfeld’s intervention, especially his demand that three
successive versions of the invasion plan be produced, didn’t improve planning
and, in fact, weakened it. “The continual production of new operational concepts
had a cost—it contributed to the inadequate development” of the final plan,
Hooker wrote. “The iterative approach, with its greater involvement of the OSD
in the process of deliberate military planning, injected numerous ideas into the

dialogue, many of which were amateurish and unrealistic.”

The strains of containment

It was one thing to enforce the containment policy before 9/11, but after it,
Afghanistan and other smaller actions were keeping parts of the Air Force—air
lift, AWAC command-and-control aircraft, and refuelers—extremely busy. By
late 2001, parts of the U.S. military felt badly stretched by enforcing the policy of
containment. An average of thirty-four thousand sorties—that is, one mission by
one airplane—were flown a year in the no-fly zones, which, as Michael Knights later
noted, amounted to the equivalent of flying the 1991 Gulf War every three years.

One of the best places to see the effects of this pace was Prince Sultan Air Base,
an isolated facility on the edge of Saudi Arabia’s Empty Quarter that was home to
the Air Force planes and pilots who patrolled the big southern no-fly zone over Iraq.
With swimming pools, tennis courts, and movies, all inside a big chain-link fence
with guard towers, it was half prison, half spa. It was a miragelike place that would
exist for just six years, having been created in 1997 following the Khobar Towers
bombing and then shut down shortly after the U.S. military took Baghdad in 2003.

The hermetically sealed enclave of low buildings, guard towers, and check-
points stretched across the flat, gravelly wasteland 70 miles southeast of Riyadh,
the Saudi capital. On the southern side of the base, there was nothing on the hori-
zon but horizon—maps indicated that for several hundred miles there lay only
one road. Air Force Brig. Gen. Dale “Muddy” Waters, commander of the base’s
363rd Air Expeditionary Wing, described the outpost as “a tract of 250 square miles,

literally in the middle of nowhere.”
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Capt. Shawn Coco, an F-15 pilot from Baton Rouge, Lousiana, described his
typical workday, which revolved around five-hour missions into the Container, as
pilots called the no-fly zone over southern Iraq: “Forty-five minutes to Iraq, hit
the tanker [for refueling], go into the Container, then go back to the tanker, go
back in, and you’re done.” At night he played sports, watched movies, and studied
for his master’s degree. Except for missions in the air, he had never been off the
base. In fact, U.S. policy was that no one could leave the base to go elsewhere in
Saudi Arabia, except on official business, and even then only with approval from
headquarters.

When they finished their duties for the day—or for the night, when no-fly-
zone missions often were conducted—the four thousand U.S. personnel sta-
tioned on PSAB, as they acronymized it, would ride several miles across the red
sands to the big rectangular compound where they lived, itself sealed off from the
rest of the base by multiple checkpoints and barbed-wire fences.

“It’s not too different from a college dorm,” Maj. Chuck Anthony, a spokes-
man for the base, said hopefully.

But officials knew what it looked like, with its two-story, sand-colored living
quarters surrounded by a ring of tall guard towers. “The fact of the matter is that
people at Prince Sultan are actually living in a prison,” Gen. Chuck Wald, a former
commander of U.S. air forces in the region, once said at an Air Force gathering.

Inside the fence was an odd little American wonderland that felt as if it were
run by a particularly watchful but benevolent correctional authority. On one
Sunday in January 2003, lunch at Camel Lot, one of the facility’s three whimsi-
cally named mess halls (the other two were the Mirage and the Rolling Sands),
was beef stroganoff or baked chicken, along with sandwiches, soup, and a salad
bar, all served under a large-screen TV playing CNN. Across the way four forget-
table but distracting movies were showing under a large rubberized tent—The
Sum of All Fears, Mr. Deeds, Insomnia, and The Bourne Identity. Nearby was a li-
brary and a pool, the latter closed during the brief Arabian winter when it was too
cool to swim comfortably but a welcome relief when summer temperatures
reached 120 degrees. A jogging track encircled the entire facility.

Despite the amenities, troops seemed eager to head home. At Boot Hill, a
mock graveyard built in the desert behind an aviation fuel storage area, a picket
fence encircled more than two hundred pairs of boots slung over the pretend
grave sites. A sign warned that Air Force personnel should not look back after
burying their boots or they would be doomed to return for another tour of duty

here. For many of the troops there, it was a curse that had come true many times.
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Capt. John Rhone, a weapons control officer in AWACs planes, said that in his
seven and a half years in the Air Force he had done seven rotations at Prince Sul-
tan. He was growing tired of this life. “I think I'm ready for a break,” he said.

Lt. Col. Matt Molloy, an animated young F-15 squadron commander, noted
that in 2002 alone his men and women had flown out of nine countries—Saudi
Arabia, Turkey, Malaysia, Thailand, Australia, South Korea, Japan, Iceland, and
the United States. “We need to put this thing to the north to rest,” he said, point-
ing across the room in the direction of Iraq. “My airframes are cracking. We are
doing too much with what we’ve got.”

“We’re running back-to-back marathons,” added Capt. Scovill Currin, a
tanker pilot from Charleston, South Carolina. “The airplanes may not be able to
take it, and more importantly, the people may not. At some point you've got to

say, I love my country, but I can’t stay away from my family for eight years.”
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AUGUST 2002

n August 2002 the tone of the Bush administration’s rhetoric changed sharply.

That was the month, said Greg Thielmann, then director of proliferation issues
in the State Department’s intelligence bureau, when “the administration started
speaking about Iraq in much shriller tones.” It no longer was just a concern that
needed watching; it became “an imminent security threat that has to be dealt with
right away.”

It also was the time when the administration’s public statements about Iraq’s
weapons grew more distant from the intelligence on which they were supposedly
based, said Thielmann, who a month later retired from his job at the State De-
partment, not in protest but privately disturbed by what he later called the ad-

3, «

ministration’s “sustained campaign of misrepresenting the intelligence on Iraq”

Scowcroft says no to war

The debate on invading Iraq effectively began with two days of hearings held
by the Senate Foreign Relations Committee on July 31 and August 1. These dis-

cussions with eighteen experts on national security and the Middle East spurred
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widespread discussion, most notably by sending Brent Scowcroft into public
opposition to Bush administration policy on Iraq.

So-called Republican realists, no fans of the neoconservatives, were alarmed
by the shift they saw in the administration’s posture. This group, which included
many veterans of the first Bush administration, saw Colin Powell as its primary
ally inside the government. Scowcroft, national security adviser to the first presi-
dent Bush, staked out the realist position on CBS’s Face the Nation, where he warned
that a U.S. invasion of Iraq “could turn the whole region into a cauldron, and thus
destroy the war on terrorism.” A few days later he made a more comprehensive ar-
gument on the editorial page of the Wall Street Journal—a significant location be-
cause the Journal’s conservative editorial page sometimes acts like an internal
bulletin board for Republican policy making. Scowcroft’s article appeared in the
newspaper’s edition of August 15,2002, under the headline pON’T ATTACK SADDAM.

“We will all be better off when he is gone,” the retired general and Bush fam-
ily confidant began. But he wanted to know what the case was for doing so at the
moment. There was “scant evidence to tie Saddam to terrorist organizations, and
even less to the Sept. 11 attacks.” What’s more, there “is little evidence to indicate
that the United States itself is an object of his aggression.” So, Scowcroft method-
ically proceeded, attacking Iraq would undercut the U.S. counteroffensive against
terrorism.

Some of his secondary points were prescient, such as his prediction that a
“military campaign very likely would have to be followed by a large-scale, long-
term military occupation” Others were less so, such as his concern that a
cornered Saddam would hit Israel with weapons of mass destruction, possibly
provoking a nuclear response. Scowcroft was most worried by the regional ef-
fects. His bottom line: “If we reject a comprehensive perspective, however, we put
at risk our campaign against terrorism as well as stability and security in a vital
region of the world.”

That heavy, Latinate, noble-sounding sentence captures the essence of Scow-
croft’s problem, because it reflects his misreading of the thinking of the Bush ad-
ministration after 9/11. Wolfowitz and Cheney had split with the wisdom of the
first Bush administration that stability was the lodestar of American foreign pol-
icy. The first Bush had been shaped by World War II. The second Bush was a
product of the 1960s, at times more in sync with the attitudes of sixties radical
Jerry Rubin than with those of Winston Churchill. Efforts by the so-called realists
such as Scowcroft and James Baker to produce stability had led to decrepit

regimes, sallow economies, and growing terrorism, the new president’s men said.
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If you liked 9/11, they said quietly, just keep it up. “Stability” wasn’t their goal, it
was their target. They saw it as synonymous with stagnation. They wanted radical
change in the Mideast. They were determined to drain the swamp—that is, to al-
ter the political climate of the region so that it would no longer be so hospitable
to the terrorists inhabiting it. A less charitable way of putting it was that they were
willing, a bit like Jerry Rubin, to take a chance and then groove on the ensuing
rubble.

In the following days, Republican mandarins Henry Kissinger and James Baker
issued their own warnings to President Bush. A spate of cautionary articles echo-
ing Scowcroft’s concerns also appeared in the following weeks in publications aimed
at military professionals. Retired Army Gen. Frederick Kroesen, a former com-
mander of the U.S. Army in Europe, asked in an article in Army magazine if the
invasion plan rested on incorrect assumptions. Army Special Forces Maj. Roger
Carstens argued in Proceedings, the professional journal of the Navy, that the
Bush administration needed to clearly state its long-term goals for Iraq. In Army
Times, an independent newspaper, retired Army Lt. Col. Ralf Zimmerman said it
was time for the American people to think through the issue. “Maybe we should
have an open public debate over war vs. containment as the proper option when
dealing with Irag,” he cautioned. The messages reflected concerns among many
senior officers: This was not a military straining to go to war.

Like nighttime clouds illuminated by flashes of distant artillery fire, the pub-
lic discussion reflected dimly the fight inside the Bush administration. Powell—
who was not only the secretary of state, but a retired four-star general who
maintained ties to the top brass—launched a final effort to stop the run-up to
war. Bob Woodward relates in his book Plan of Attack how Powell sat down with
Bush on the evening of August 5, first over dinner and then in the president’s of-
fice in his residence. “You are going to be the proud owner of twenty-five million
people,” Powell said, according to Woodward. “You will own all their hopes, aspi-
rations, and problems. . . . It’s going to suck the oxygen out of everything. ...
This will become the first term.”

But Condi Rice, who knew Bush better, read the situation differently. Rather
than trying to stop the move toward war, she was constructing the bureaucratic
machinery to coordinate the execution of the war. On August 14, according to
Woodward, she chaired a principals’ meeting on a draft of a strategy for Iraq. She
also took a major bureaucratic step toward war, taking control of an interagency
group then being run by the staff of the Joint Chiefs at the Pentagon and putting

one of her own NSC subordinates, Franklin Miller, in charge. Renamed the Exec-
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utive Steering Group, and including representatives from the State Department,
the CIA, the White House, the Joint Chiefs, and the Pentagon’s policy operation,
this body was charged with coordinating about one hundred government actions
leading up to the invasion, such as securing the use of bases in the region, im-
proving them so they could support U.S. military operations, and getting over-

flight permission from other countries.

Cheney says “no doubt” on Iraqgi WMD

Vice President Cheney empbhatically shut down the nascent debate on August 26
when he asserted, “There is no doubt” that Iraq possessed weapons of mass de-
struction, or WMD. In a speech to the national convention of the Veterans of
Foreign Wars at the Opryland Hotel in Nashville, Cheney flatly called for war,
proclaiming that Iraq was a clear and present danger to the United States. After a
few preliminary niceties, the vice president struck his theme: “The president and
I never for a moment forget our number-one responsibility: To protect the Amer-
ican people against further attack and to win the war that began last September
eleventh.” Despite various measures like creating a Department of Homeland Se-
curity, he said, “We realize that wars are never won on the defensive. We must take
the battle to the enemy.”

In retrospect, the speech is even more stunning than it appeared to be then,
because it has become clear with the passage of time that it constructed a case that
was largely false. Containment may have worked in the Cold War, Cheney said,
but is “not possible when dictators obtain weapons of mass destruction and are
prepared to share them with terrorists who intend to inflict catastrophic casual-
ties on the United States.” It was time to be “candid,” he said. “The Iraqi regime
has in fact been very busy enhancing its capabilities in the field of chemical and
biological agents, and they continue to pursue the nuclear program they began so
many years ago. . . . Many of us are convinced that Saddam Hussein will acquire
nuclear weapons fairly soon.” Nothing the U.S. government had tried in the pre-
vious decade had stopped Saddam, Cheney warned—not inspections, not the
revelations of defectors, not Desert Fox. “Simply stated, there is no doubt that
Saddam Hussein now has weapons of mass destruction,” he said, as flatly as pos-
sible. “There is no doubt that he is amassing them to use against our friends,
against our allies, and against us.”

Not only that, but the situation was getting worse. “Time is not on our side,”

Cheney added. “The risks of inaction are far greater than the risks of action.”
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Zinni goes into opposition

Anthony Zinni, recently retired from the Marine Corps, sat behind Cheney on
the stage that day as the speech was delivered. Zinni was there to receive the VFW’s
Dwight D. Eisenhower Distinguished Service Award in recognition of his thirty-
five years as a Marine. He had been a Bush-Cheney supporter in the 2000 cam-
paign. But as he listened to the vice president in Nashville he nearly fell off his
chair. “In my time at Centcom, I watched the intelligence and never—not once—
did it say, ‘He has WMD.” Since retiring he had retained all his top-secret clear-
ances, he was still consulting with the CIA on Iraq, he had reviewed all the current
intelligence—and he had seen nothing to support Cheney’s certitude. “It was
never there, never there,” he said later. These guys are going to war without the ev-
idence to back them up, he thought to himself that day. His second chilling
thought, he recalled, was that they didn’t understand what they were getting into.

For his part, he couldn’t figure out the change in Cheney. In Zinni’s experi-
ence, the vice president was a realist, a hardheaded man who demanded the hard
facts. From their encounters in Arab capitals in the 1990s, he had said, he had
come to think of Cheney as very practical. But that wasn’t what he was seeing that
August day in Nashville. “When he sort of got tied up and embraced all this, it
seemed to be out of character, it really confused me.” What he didn’t know then
was that Cheney had changed—perhaps because he knew the Bush administra-
tion hadn’t performed well in heeding warnings before 9/11, or perhaps because
of his heart ailments, which can alter a person’s personality.

Like many Marines, Zinni doesn’t shy away from a fight. He is an engaging
conversationalist, even an intellectual at times. But he also steps easily into con-
frontation, verbal or physical. When two men tried once a few years ago to mug him
at a rest stop on I-95, he slugged one and, pretending he had a gun, chased the other
away. And so he went into opposition. Zinni would feel at times that no one was
really listening to him, but his principles made him persist. Just as Wolfowitz’s out-
look was shaped to a surprising degree by the Holocaust, Zinni’s was formed on
a cold day in November 1970, when he lay on a monsoon-soaked hillside west of
Danang, his lifeblood seeping into the dirt from three North Vietnamese AK-47
rounds in his side and back. In subsequent operations, one third of his back mus-
cle was removed. While recuperating, he vowed that if he ever had a chance to stop
a situation like this from happening again to another young soldier, he would.

After watching Cheney in Nashville, Zinni stewed for some time. One day that

fall, he went fishing with a close friend, retired Marine Lt. Gen. Paul Van Riper.
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“Rip, there are no weapons of mass destruction programs in Iraq,” Zinni told Van
Riper. “There may be some isolated weapons, though I doubt even that, but no
programs as you and I would think of them.”

In early October, Zinni went public with his doubts. “I'm not convinced we
need to do this now,” he told a meeting of the Middle East Institute. Of Saddam,
he said, “Ibelieve he is . . . containable at this moment.” There were other priorities
in U.S. foreign policy. “My personal view is, I think this isn’t number one—it’s
maybe sixth or seventh.”

But Zinni’s cause was already lost. Inside the Bush administration, Cheney’s
speech hit like a preemptive strike. Bush himself had been at his ranch in Craw-
ford, Texas, when it was delivered. “My understanding was that the president
himself was very surprised at that speech, because it was kind of constraining his
options,” said a former senior Bush administration official. “It had the effect of
somewhat limiting the president’s options, in my view.”

Cheney’s speech had a powerful effect elsewhere in the government. His hard-
line no debate stance was adopted by others in the administration. “We know they
have weapons of mass destruction,” Rumsfeld would assert a month later at a Penta-
gon briefing, “We know they have active programs. There isn’t any debate about it.”

Cheney’s certitude also dampened skepticism in the intelligence community.
“When the vice president stood up and said ‘We are sure—well, who are we to ar-
gue?” said the senior military intelligence official. “With all the compartmental-
ization, there’s a good chance that a guy that senior has seen stuff you haven’t”
Some analysts figured Cheney must have been told about a piece of highly classi-
fied “crown jewel” information to which lower ranking officials lacked access.

In fact, Cheney played that insider’s card himself, dismissively telling Tim
Russert in an appearance on Meet the Press on September 8, 2002, that those who
doubted his assertions about the threat presented by Iraq haven’t “seen all the in-
telligence that we have seen.”

Outside the government, Cheney’s certainty framed the debate in a way that
powerfully helped the administration. He had put the opposition on the defen-
sive, effectively saying, If you think I'm wrong, prove it. After this point the Bush
administration’s statements about Iraq were not so much part of a debate about
whether to go to war, they were part of a campaign to sell it—from Bush’s appear-
ance at the United Nations to the congressional vote, and ultimately to Powell’s
appearance at the UN six months later. Most important, the administration itself
fell into line. In the following weeks, first Condoleezza Rice and then Bush him-

self would adopt the alarmist tone that Cheney had struck that day in Nashville.
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A flawed NIE does the trick

In September 2002 the U.S. intelligence community prepared a comprehen-
sive summary, called a National Intelligence Estimate, or NIE, of what it knew
about “Irag’s Continuing Programs for Weapons of Mass Destruction”—the title
of the ninety-two-page classified version of the report. It was prepared at the re-
quest of members of Congress who expected to vote on going to war with Iraq
and wanted something on which to base their vote. Written by a group of senior
intelligence officers and then approved by the leaders of the U.S. intelligence
community, the estimate pulled together in one place the core data of the Bush
administration’s argument for going to war. It reported that Iraq possessed
chemical and biological weapons, was making advances in developing ways to
weaponize and deliver biological weapons, and was “reconstituting its nuclear
program.” The report appeared more certain on all fronts than previous intelli-
gence assessments, but the finding on the nuclear program was especially surpris-
ing, because it was a shift from a series of previous conclusions by the intelligence
community. In fact, the estimate amounted to a serious misrepresentation of
views in the intelligence community, maximizing alarming findings while mini-
mizing internal doubts about them. It effectively presented opinion as fact.

The effect of this NIE can’t be underestimated, said one general who talked
frequently to Rumsfeld during this time. During the summer of 2002, he said, both
Bush and Rumsfeld had been on the fence. “Cheney, Wolfowitz, and Armitage
were the hawks,” he remembered. Each argued that “we had to get rid of this guy,
that time isn’t on our side, and that there will be no better time to get rid of him.”
On the other side of the argument were Colin Powell and some lesser figures in
the administration. They “thought it was time to leverage the international com-
munity, especially since we’d scared the hell out of everybody.”

But then came the NIE, which had been pushed out unusually quickly, in just
a few weeks. Bush’s view became that CIA director George Tenet says they have
WMD, and Cheney says don’t get caught napping again like we did on 9/11, this
general recalled. “The president became convinced” by that document and by
Tenet’s interpretation of it, “that [going to war] was the right thing to do.”

Over a year later, when the Senate Intelligence Committee reviewed the NIE
in light of evidence that became available after the war, it came to the conclusion
that the collective wisdom of the U.S. intelligence community, as represented in
the estimate, had been stunningly wrong. “Most of the major key judgments [in
the NIE] either overstated, or were not supported by, the underlying intelligence
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reporting,” it would find. “A series of failures, particularly in analytic trade craft,
led to the mischaracterization of the intelligence.” Moreover, the errors and exag-
gerations weren’t random, but all pushed in the same direction, toward making
the argument that Iraq presented a growing threat. As a political document that
made the case for war the NIE of October 2002 succeeded brilliantly. As a profes-
sional intelligence product it was shameful. But it did its job, which wasn’t really
to assess Iraqi weapons programs but to sell a war. There was only one way to dis-
prove its assertions: invade Iraq, which is what the Bush administration wanted
to do. Responsibility for this low point in the history of U.S. intelligence must rest
on the shoulders of George Tenet.

Redefining the intelligence

Richard Perle’s influence in the events leading up to war likely has been over-
stated. At the time the chairman of the Defense Policy Board, he also seems to
have wielded some influence with the office of Vice President Cheney. Perle’s
main role, at least in public, seems to have been the one willing to be quoted in
the media, saying in public what his more discreet allies in the Bush administra-
tion, such as I. Lewis “Scooter” Libby, Cheney’s chief of staff, would say to re-
porters only on background.

Perle resembles Wolfowitz in his approach—bright, incisive, and somewhat
academic in tone, with an air of deliberation and precision. Yet while Wolfowitz
seeks to persuade, Perle attacks, often seeming eager to pounce on his opponents’
capabilities and to cast doubt on their integrity or intelligence. He also has a habit
of making doubtful assertions as though they were generally accepted facts—
such as his belief, now known to be wildly off base, that Saddam Hussein “was far
stronger at the end of Clinton’s tenure than at the beginning.”

Perle would later explain how, at the Pentagon, analysts working for Feith, his
old subordinate who had become under secretary of defense for policy, produced
their alarming interpretation of the murky intelligence about Saddam Hussein,
WMD, and terrorism. “Within a very short period of time, they began to find links
that nobody else had previously understood or recorded in a useful way,” he said
of those analysts. “They [noticed] things that nobody else had noticed. It was there
all along, it simply hadn’t been noticed.” This key information had been overlooked
“because the CIA and DIA [Defense Intelligence Agency] were not looking.”

The way he described it, all that was needed was the fresh, unbiased eye
of competent analysts—which in his view was provided by Feith’s office at the
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Pentagon. “The whinging, the complaints from the intelligence establishment
who had overlooked this material, [are] really quite pathetic.” Perle’s argument,
ultimately, was that he and his allies simply were better at parsing the data than
were their opponents in the intelligence community: “Let me be blunt about this:
The level of competence on past performance of the Central Intelligence Agency,
in this area, is appalling.”

It was at this point that the Bush administration’s views diverged from that of
the intelligence community. “There wasn’t anyone in the intelligence community
who was saying what” the Pentagon analysts around Feith were saying, a senior
military intelligence official recalled. “There were a few stray analysts who con-
nected some of those dots, but no one in the mainstream.” The NIE, and espe-
cially its doubt-free summary version, offered only a dim and distorted reflection
of their views.

This particular official is more sympathetic than most of his peers to the Bush
administration, but still emphatically rejects the administration’s ex post facto
defense that everybody got it wrong. The core conclusion of the best intelligence
analysts was, he said, that “we were looking for evidence, but we weren’t finding
it” But the failure to stop 9/11 had tarnished the credibility of the intelligence
professionals, and lessened the deference that others might give them. On top of
that, relative amateurs working for Feith and Cheney felt free to seize on existing
bits of data and push them as hard as they could, this official added. “They would
take individual factoids, build them into long lists, and then think because of the
length of the list, it was credible.” When the lists were rejected by intelligence pro-
fessionals, they would be leaked to friendly journalists.

Yet even with that sort of pressure from Feith’s office, he concluded, “There
was never a bow wave in the intelligence community for this case.” That is, the
appearance of consensus that the NIE gave was a false one, especially because it
underplayed the lack of solid information about what had happened to Irag’s
weapons programs since Desert Fox. Also, there was a long-range worry. Intelli-
gence analysts calculated that if current trends continued, sooner or later, Sad-
dam Hussein definitely again would obtain those munitions of mass death. “In the
back of our minds, at the fringes of the discussion, was: If we don’t do something
now, then he would eventually dupe the UN, get the sanctions lifted, and we lose
containment. Then he has money and new power, and he opens up his plants,
and he is back in business.”

Others lower in the intelligence hierarchy are less forgiving of themselves and

of the Bush administration. Basically, said Greg Thielmann, the State Department
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proliferation expert, the administration was looking for evidence to support con-
clusions it already had reached. “They were convinced that Saddam was develop-
ing nuclear weapons, that he was reconstituting his program, and I'm afraid that’s
where they started,” he said. “They were cherry-picking the information that we
provided to use whatever pieces of it that fit their overall interpretation. Worse
than that, they were dropping qualifiers and distorting some of the information
that we provided to make it seem even more alarmist and dangerous than the in-
formation that we were giving them.” The impulse to push the conclusions was
especially worrisome, he added, because the intelligence community, not wanting
to be caught napping, already tends “to overwarn, rather than underwarn.”

“What I saw was that a lot of analysts, of low-level people, had it about right,”
said a senior military intelligence official specializing in Middle Eastern affairs
who is still involved in this area and so couldn’t speak on the record without en-
dangering his security clearances. But as the intelligence moved up the chain of
command rather than have its level of certainty diluted, as is generally the case
when information is passed upward, in this case it was treated as more definite.
This was especially true in the National Intelligence Estimate on Iraq. “By the
time you get to the executive summary level, it didn’t look a lot like the analysts’
views,” he said. “And by the time you get to the unclassified public portion, all the
mushiness and doubts were washed out.”

Feith and his subordinates, especially Bill Luti, a former Navy officer who be-
came a factotum for administration hawks, “were essentially an extra-governmental
organization, because many of their sources of information and much of their
work were in the shadows,” said Gregory Newbold, the Marine general who was
then the Joint Staff’s operations director. “It was also my sense that they cherry-
picked obscure, unconfirmed information to reinforce their own philosophies

and ideologies.”

The Times goes nuclear

Also fouling the intelligence process were certain breaking newspaper stories,
especially Judith Miller’s in the New York Times. In September she peeled off a string
of articles based on the accounts of defectors. Most notable was one she coauthored
with Michael Gordon, the Times’s respected senior military correspondent. U.s.
SAYS HUSSEIN INTENSIFIES QUEST FOR A-BOMB PARTS, it reported on page one of the
edition of Sunday, September 8. “The closer Saddam Hussein gets to a nuclear

weapon, the harder he will be to deal with,” it quoted a senior administration
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official as warning. It related that hardliners were saying that the first irrefutable
evidence “may be a mushroom cloud.”

Such stories had an insidious effect on intelligence estimates, said the senior
military intelligence officer: “The media has far more effect on intelligence analy-
sis than you probably realize.” It would only emerge later—and long after the war
began—that the Times story had been flat wrong,.

The combination of hyped newspaper stories and selective use of intelligence
data had a powerful effect, said Rand Beers, who served on the staff of the Na-
tional Security Council during the run-up to the war. “As they embellished what
the intelligence community was prepared to say, and as the press reported that in-

formation, it began to acquire its own sense of truth and reality,” he said.

Chalabi’s distorting effect

Ahmed Chalabi, a clever, secular Shiite who spent the 1990s rallying support
for a U.S. effort to depose Saddam Hussein, had two major means by which to in-
fluence the deliberations of the U.S. government. The first was indirect, through
the media. Discussing his methods later, Chalabi told an interviewer from Front-
line, the PBS documentary series, about how in 2001 his organization consciously
took a source, Adnan Thsan Saeed al-Haideri, first to the New York Times, which pub-
lished a story in December 2001, and then to the U.S. government. Most notably,
al-Haideri told his questioners that three hundred secret weapons facilities had
been reactivated since the withdrawal of UN inspectors. Chalabi’s organization
later provided this information to the Washington Post, which carried an account in
a July 2002 summary of what was thought to be known about Iragi WMD programs.

“He told us, we told Judy Miller, she interviewed him, then we give him to the
U.S. government,” Chalabi said. “The thinking is that if we believed him to be
credible, we wanted his story out, because we knew that if the U.S. took him, we
would never see him again.”

Chalabi also was able to introduce misinformation directly into the system.
One senior military intelligence officer recalled being awed by Chalabi’s ability to
inject himself into the internal deliberations of the U.S. government. “He always
got access” during 2002 and 2003. “His views always got where he wanted them to
go.” At first, senior Defense Intelligence Agency officials working in Middle East-
ern affairs tried to prevent that, but it became clear that Douglas Feith and other
senior Pentagon officials disliked those efforts. So, this officer recalled, by the
spring of 2003 “we stopped complaining about him.”
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A Defense Intelligence Agency official said Feith and Luti made it clear that
“Chalabi was liked.” They weren’t particularly interested in hearing arguments
against him.

Chalabi had powerful allies. On March 17, 2002, Wolfowitz lunched with
Christopher Meyer, the British ambassador to the United States. “It was true that
Chalabi was not the easiest person to work with,” Wolfowitz told Meyer, accord-
ing to a memorandum the envoy sent the next day to the office of British Prime
Minister Tony Blair. “But he had a good record in bringing high-grade defectors
out of Iraq.”

“The arguments about Chalabi have been without substance,” Richard Perle
intoned in July 2003. “He is far and away the most effective individual that we
could have hoped would emerge in Iraq. . . . In my view, the person most likely to
give us reliable advice is Ahmed Chalabi.”

The intelligence community, by contrast, had no agents sending reliable re-
ports from inside Iraq. That left a vacuum—and gave Chalabi an opening that he
exploited adeptly. He described his allies in the U.S. government as being from
the office of “the vice president” and “the office of the secretary of defense,” the
latter a broad term covering not just Rumsfeld’s immediate aides but the offices
of Wolfowitz and Feith and hundreds of people working for them.

Views of Chalabi tended to be shaped, pro or con, by where one stood in a di-
vided administration. His reports became just one more issue in a running feud.
“CIA and State were against Chalabi,” said one intelligence veteran who during
this period was working at the Pentagon. “So at DoD, any challenge to Chalabi
was seen as just CIA or State attacks. And DoD’s attitude was, Don’t you call my
baby ugly.”

Sometimes all these forces would converge, as in an October 2, 2002, article
by Judith Miller that quoted Richard Perle criticizing the CIA for not heeding
tips from Chalabi’s organization, the Iragi National Congress. “The INC has been
without question the single most important source of intelligence about Saddam
Hussein,” Perle asserted. This was a sad moment in American journalism and
governance. The U.S. government during this period was paying Chalabi’s organ-

ization substantial amounts, totaling more than $36 million from 2000 to 2003.
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THE RUN-UP

y the time the public really focused on it, the decision to go to war had been

made, though more through drift than through any one meeting. In Septem-
ber 2002 word began to circulate inside the military that an invasion of Iraq was
inevitable, and the march to war began.

At the heart of this part of the run-up to the war from the late summer of
2002 is the tale of how two contradictory delusions were pursued and sold by the
Bush administration. To make the case for war, administration officials tended to
look at the worst-case scenarios for weapons of mass destruction, dismissing con-
trary evidence, asserting that Saddam Hussein possessed chemical and biological
munitions and was on the road to getting nuclear weapons, and emphasizing the
frightening possibility of his sharing them with terrorists to use against the
United States. On September 7, Bush, speaking at Camp David with Prime Minis-
ter Tony Blair at his side, flatly asserted that Saddam Hussein possessed weapons
of mass destruction. “The problem here is that there will always be some uncer-
tainty about how quickly he can acquire nuclear weapons,” Condoleezza Rice said
on CNN on September 8, echoing that morning’s New York Times story. “But we
don’t want the smoking gun to be a mushroom cloud.”

Yet at the same time, the administration’s consideration of postwar issues

took a leap of faith in the opposite direction, emphasizing best-case scenarios
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that assumed that Iraqis generally would greet the U.S. presence warmly and that
a successor Iraqi government could be established quickly, permitting the swift
homeward movement of most U.S. troops. In order to make this case, more pes-
simistic views repeatedly had to be rejected and ignored, even if they came from
area experts.

Both the pessimism of the threat assessment and the optimism of the postwar
assessment helped pave the way to war. By overstating the threat of Iraq, the for-
mer made war seem more necessary. By understating the difficulty of remaking

Iraq, the latter made it seem easier and less expensive than it would prove to be.

Bush beats the drums of war

On the morning of September 4, 2002, Rep. Ike Skelton and a group of seven-
teen other congressional leaders met with President Bush at the White House to
discuss Iraq. At the meeting’s end, Skelton said later, he and Bush had a quick pri-
vate exchange.

“What are you going to do once you get it?” Skelton asked the president.

“We’ve been giving some thought to it,” Bush responded

So had Skelton, who that afternoon wrote and sent to Bush a letter laying out
his questions about the costs and duration of a U.S. occupation of Iraq. In typical
Skeltonian fashion, he quoted the Prussian military theorist Karl von Clausewitz,
to remind the White House of the requirement in war “not to take the first step
without considering the last.” He also invoked the other great philosopher of
strategy, Sun Tzu, who had observed, “To win victory is easy; to preserve its fruits,
difficult”

The official Bush administration line later would become that no one really
foresaw the difficulties of postwar Iraq. But Skelton certainly was pointing out the
direction, as were a host of experts on the Mideast and some strategic thinkers in-
side the Army. “I have no doubt that our military would decisively defeat Irag’s
forces and remove Saddam,” Skelton stated in his letter. “But like the proverbial dog
chasing the car down the road, we must consider what we would do after we caught
it” He was especially worried, he told Bush, about the “extreme difficulty of occu-
pying Iraq with its history of autocratic rule, its balkanized ethnic tensions, and
its isolated economic system.” So he asked to see “detailed advanced occupation
planning,” and to know more about “the form of a replacement regime . . . and the
possibility that this regime might be rejected by the Iraqi people, leading to civil

unrest and even anarchy.” Before invading Iraq, he concluded, the president
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should tell the American people what they were getting into. “The American peo-
ple must be clear about the amount of money and the number of soldiers that
will have to be devoted to this effort for many years to come.” He added: “We need
to ensure that in taking out Saddam, we don’t win the battle and lose the war.”

There was no White House response. But in a meeting a White House con-
gressional liaison official named Daniel Keniry told him, Skelton recalled, “Well,
Congressman, we really don’t need your vote. We’ve got the votes.” Nor was there
much reaction from his congressional colleagues. One of the reasons for this is
that Skelton is a bit of an outrider in his own party, well to the right of most of
Democratic congressional representatives. But it also was because most of the
senators who had led their party on defense issues during the Cold War had moved
on and hadn’t been replaced, noted Kurt Campbell, a veteran of the Clinton Penta-
gon. Also, party politics had shifted away from supporting such figures. “The de-
fense intellectuals tended to be centrists, and in the last decade, you've seen a
hollowing out of the center,” noted Campbell.

The drumbeat steadily intensified. On September 9, Franks briefed the Joint
Chiefs of Staff on the state of the war plan. The military was beginning to move,
laying the groundwork by expanding the ramp space at airports in the Persian
Gulf and upgrading key gear, such as Special Operations helicopters.

Two days later, on the first anniversary of 9/11, more than three dozen sena-
tors were invited to the Pentagon for a briefing by Rumsfeld on weapons of mass
destruction. One of those attending, Sen. Max Cleland of Georgia, was surprised
to find Vice President Cheney and CIA director Tenet also waiting there. “It was
pretty clear that Rumsfeld and Cheney are ready to go to war,” Cleland wrote later
that day in a note to himself. “They have already made the decision to go to war
and to them that is the only option.” Cleland had lost three limbs as a 1st Cavalry
Division soldier in Vietnam in 1968, and was worried about Iraq becoming a sim-
ilar mess. His note concluded, “Our country is divided at this point and God
knows what will happen.”

The next day President Bush addressed the UN General Assembly for twenty-
six minutes, most of them devoted to a description of Iraq as “a grave and gath-
ering danger.” He explained his feeling of urgency: “With every step the Iraqi
regime takes toward gaining and deploying the most terrible weapons, our own
options to confront that regime will narrow.” And if anyone didn’t get the point,
the administration also issued a document titled “The National Security Strategy
of the United States of America” that formalized the preemption doctrine out-

lined by the president at West Point in June. “We cannot let our enemies strike first,”
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it stated. “The overlap between states that sponsor terror and those that pursue
WMD compels us to action. . .. To forestall or prevent such hostile acts by our
adversaries, the United States will, if necessary act preemptively.”

Culminating the campaign that had begun with Cheney’s VFW speech six
weeks earlier, Bush traveled to Cincinnati in early October to make his case to the
American people: The decades-old policy of containment of Iraq hadn’t worked,
even when executed aggressively, Bush argued. “The end result is that Saddam
Hussein still has chemical and biological weapons and is increasing his capabili-
ties to make more,” Bush stated, in the first of a series of assertions in the speech
that were presented as fact and are now known to be incorrect. “And he is moving
ever closer to developing a nuclear weapon.”

Bush didn’t quite maintain that Iraq was an imminent threat to the United
States, but he came close, saying, “The Iraqi dictator must not be permitted to
threaten America and the world with horrible poisons and diseases and gases and
atomic weapons.” Nor could we afford to wait for more evidence, he warned.
“America must not ignore the threat gathering against us. Facing clear evidence
of peril, we cannot wait for the final proof, the smoking gun that could come in

the form of a mushroom cloud.”

Congress goes along

Congress wasn’t looking for a fight with the president.

The National Intelligence Estimate, in its full, ninety-two-page classified
form, contained a host of doubts, caveats, and disagreements with Bush’s asser-
tions. Copies of that long form of the NIE were sent to Capitol Hill, where they
sat in two vaults, under armed guard. Yet only a handful of members of Congress
ever read more than its five-page executive summary. Delving into the dissent in
the intelligence community would only have gotten a politician on the wrong
side of the issue with the president. (Many months later, after the U.S. military in-
vaded Iraq, White House officials would disclose that neither Bush nor Rice had
read the entire NIE.)

The congressional vote itself, authorizing President Bush to attack Iraq, was
anticlimactic. When the House debate began there was just one reporter in the
press gallery. At their most intense points, the debates in both the House and the
Senate attracted fewer than 10 percent of each body’s members. “Usually, when
there are few people around, it means that they don’t like what’s happening but
don’t feel they can do anything about it,” observed one Capitol Hill veteran.
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The exchanges on the Senate floor offered little of the memorable commen-
tary seen in the two other most recent congressional debates on whether to go
to war, in 1991 and in 1964, regarding the Gulf of Tonkin resolution. “The
outcome—Ilopsided support for Bush’s resolution—was preordained,” wrote
the Washington Post’s Dana Milbank. Republicans were going to support the pres-
ident and their party, and Democrats wanted to move on to other issues that
would help them more in the midterm elections that at that point were just three
weeks away.

“With Democrats, the longest shadow was cast not by Karl Rove but by Sam
Nunn,” said Kurt Campbell, now head of the International Security Program at
the Center for Strategic and International Studies. A decade earlier, nearly three
quarters of the congressional Democrats had balked at attacking Saddam Hussein’s
troops in Kuwait, led in this opposition by Sen. Sam Nunn, the Georgia Demo-
crat they trusted to protect their flank on military affairs. Nunn, in turn, appeared
to have been persuaded to go slow by Colin Powell and other generals with whom
he had had private conversations. But Democrats felt abused by that outcome,
because after that war was concluded, their party looked less capable of handling
national security issues. For the next three presidential election cycles, no Demo-
crat who had been in his party’s majority opposing the 1991 war was able to make
headway in presidential politics. Those who appeared on the next three Demo-
cratic tickets—Bill Clinton, Al Gore, and Joseph Lieberman—had all been Gulf
War hawks, in their party’s minority.

The Democrats weren’t going to make that mistake again. This time they were
going to stay well out of the way of President Bush. In fact, said Sen. Robert Byrd,
a West Virginia Democrat, the Democratic caucus decided on September 19 to
get the vote out of the way as soon as possible, so they didn’t have it hanging over
them on election day. “Members were intimidated,” Byrd said later.

Like an old-time Southern mossback obstructionist confronting the New
Deal, Byrd stood astride the train tracks of history, knowing he wasn’t going to
change the course of events but protesting nonetheless. “The Senate is rushing to
vote on whether to declare war on Iraq without pausing to ask why;” he said in a
Senate speech at the time. “Why is war being dealt with not as a last resort but as
a first resort?” But he was seen by many in Congress as a blowhard, given to long-
winded talks bristling with allusions to the Bible, ancient history, and the Consti-
tution. He would remind his fellow senators of Croesus’s comment to Cyrus the
Great, and quote to them from the Roman orator Cicero and from the Roman

historian Livy, whom he correctly but pedantically referred to as Titus Livius. At
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a time when many senators, elected through carefully massaged television com-
mercials, arrive in Washington seemingly unable to speak well spontaneously, the
white-maned Byrd was capable of churning out eloquence at great and some-
times numbing length. He had little influence even in his own party, and was
mocked by some Republicans, who were fond of remembering that as a young man
Byrd had belonged to the Ku Klux Klan, and in fact had been the exalted cyclops
of his local chapter in West Virginia.

Ultimately, 77 of 100 senators and 296 of 435 House members voted to au-
thorize the president to “use the armed forces of the United States as he deter-
mines to be necessary and appropriate in order to defend the national security of
the United States against the continuing threat posed by Iraq.” The majority of
House Democrats voted against the war, but in the Senate, 29 Democrats backed
the Bush administration’s stance while 21 voted against it.

One of those voting for it was a successor to Sam Nunn as a Georgia Democrat:
Max Cleland, who was in a tight campaign for reelection in which his challenger,
Saxby Chambliss, was running commercials that showed images of Osama bin
Laden and Saddam Hussein and implied that Cleland wasn’t standing up to them.
Despite his misgivings, Cleland felt under intense political pressure to go with the
administration. “It was obvious that if I voted against the resolution that I would
be dead meat in the race, just handing them a victory,” he said in 2005. Even so,
he now considers his prowar choice “the worst vote I cast.”

Waiting to vote, Cleland looked over and saw Byrd, who had been in the Senate
for forty-four years. “I knew he had been through the Gulf of Tonkin resolution.
I knew he wanted me to show some political courage.”

Cleland’s name was called. “Aye,” he said. He glanced again at Byrd, who, he
recalled, “got up and walked away.”

Despite his vote for war, the next month Cleland lost his Senate race by a mar-
gin of 53 percent to 46 percent, in part because of a statewide controversy over
the Confederate battle flag that helped get out the rural white vote. He said he
took it harder than being blown up by a hand grenade in Vietnam. “I went
down—pbhysically, mentally, emotionally—down into the deepest, darkest hole of
my life,” he recalled. “I had several moments when I just didn’t want to live.”

He began attending group therapy sessions every Tuesday afternoon at Walter
Reed Army Medical Center in northwest Washington, D.C., where he had been
medically retired from the military on Christmas Eve 1968. “I wound up back at
Walter Reed! I look down the hall, and it’s like Salvador Dali is painting my life.

Thirty-seven years later, and I have another president creating a Vietnam. Kids
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are dying, getting blown up—that’s me.” Sitting in his office overlooking Farragut
Square in downtown Washington long after the start of the war, he propped him-
self sideways in his armchair, pushing the stump of his right arm into the side of
the chair. “I see these young Iraq veterans, missing legs and arms and eyes. They
are so brave. They have no idea what is down the road for them.”

Lingering doubts

In October, the Atlantic Monthly, which would do an exemplary job in posing
the right questions about Iraq both before and after the invasion, carried a clar-
ion call by James Fallows titled “The Fifty-first State?” Fallows began by explicitly
rejecting the analogy to the 1930s on which Wolfowitz so relied. “Nazi and Holo-
caust analogies have a trumping power in many arguments, and their effect in
Washington was to make doubters seem weak—Neville Chamberlains, versus the
Winston Churchills who were ready to face the truth,” he wrote. But “I ended up
thinking that the Nazi analogy paralyzes the debate about Iraq rather than clari-
fying it.” Yes, Saddam was brutal. But Iraq was hardly a great power. It had few
allies, no industrial base, and was split internally by religious and ethnic differ-
ences. Also, the U.S. military had been confronting it and containing it success-
fully for over a decade. So, Fallows said, a more apt parallel was an earlier war. “If
we had to choose a single analogy to govern our thinking about Irag, my candi-
date would be World War 1.” This wasn’t just because Iraq was created by that
conflict, but also because that war is “relevant as a powerful example of the limits
of human imagination,” especially about the long-term consequences of an ac-
tion. He then proceeded to analyze the likely problems a U.S. occupation would
encounter, from manning an occupation force to standing up an Iragi govern-
ment to keeping Iraq in one piece. It was a powerful call to debate, a reminder of
the urgent necessity of parsing the issues. What exactly was the job the United
States was taking on? How long would it last? What were the chances of success?
And what were the likely costs?

Similar questions were being raised in some meetings in Washington. In one
particularly revealing exchange at a meeting at the American Enterprise Institute,
Michael O’Hanlon, a defense analyst at the Brookings Institution, predicted the
course of the American occupation of Iraq. “We have got to go in and win this war
quickly, and then be prepared to help stabilize Iraq over an indefinite period, five
to ten years, at a minimum, I believe, using a large fraction of American forces.

This is a major undertaking,” he said, that likely would require a total of 150,000
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troops and “could stay above 100,000 for several years, based on the precedents
and models that I've seen.”

That prediction, which time has proven impressively accurate, was promptly
slapped down by Richard Perle. “I don’t believe that anything like a long-term
commitment of 150,000 Americans would be necessary.” There would be no one
fighting for Saddam Hussein once he was gone, Perle said, so “it seems to me ironic
that Michael envisions 150,000 Americans to police a post-Saddam Iraq.”

Two days later, the Washington Institute for Near East Policy held a three-day
seminar at a plush conference center in Leesburg, Virginia, on the western edge of
the Washington suburbs. Attendees, including officials from the Pentagon policy
office, the Defense Intelligence Agency, and the staff of the National Security Coun-
cil, were told by a panel of experts that there was a gaping discrepancy between
the Bush administration’s ambitious rhetoric and its limited commitment: Either it
should plan to be in Iraq for years, the speakers warned, or it should scale back its
goal of transforming Iraq and the Middle East. “It is overly optimistic to think that
we can take a country that has emerged from under a totalitarian regime with its
institutions of civil society and create a beacon of democracy within five years,”
cautioned Patrick Clawson, the Washington Institute’s deputy director. “We could
run into serious trouble if we operate under that notion.” He advised against the
United States overstaying its welcome: Get in, get out, and don’t try to plant a new
type of politics. “If we try to transform Iraq into a democracy, we will need more
and more troops over time because we will have to quell nationalistic revolts.”

“I am not clear that we have a clear idea of where we want to be the morning
after an invasion,” said Alina Romanowski, a former Pentagon official who at the
time of the conference was on the staff of the National Defense University. “The
U.S. military will be stepping into a morass. Iraq presents as unpromising a
breeding ground for democracy as any in the world. It has never really known
democracy or even legitimate, centralized rule for any great duration.” Given the
ethnic divisions and the “brutally violent” politics of the country, she said, it
should be considered that a “small U.S. force sufficient to bring about Saddam’s
demise might not be sufficient to stop the subsequent bloodletting.”

Amatzia Baram, a University of Haifa expert on Iraq and Middle Eastern his-
tory, added that he was “a little more pessimistic” than his fellow panelists. A U.S.
occupation would need to show that it could improve conditions in Iraq rapidly,
or risk alienating the Iraqi population. “You will need to win Baghdadis quickly.”
Someone should tell the president, he said, that U.S. forces would need to be in

Iraq for two to five years, “and they will not have an easy time there.”
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The meeting amounted to an anti-Wolfowitz gala, a broadside at all the opti-
mistic assumptions that the deputy defense secretary was offering to persuade a
doubtful military and a wary Congress. But administration insiders were dismis-
sive, seeing these conferences and reports not as genuine criticisms but more as

underhanded ways of opposing the invasion.

A message from the Joint Staff

Rather than refute the skeptics, the Pentagon’s leaders followed Cheney’s
example and simply decided that the time for debate was past. Such an assertion
might not affect civilians outside the government, but inside the military estab-
lishment it could be issued with the force of an order. The Joint Staff effectively
stated that view in the form of a Strategic Guidance for Combatant Comman-
ders. In mid-October a draft of this guidance was sent out to planning officers on
the staffs of the senior U.S. military commanders around the world, often called
the CinCs. The message was simple: We are preparing to order that a war with
Iraq be considered part of the war on terror.

That was an unusual order, and smacked of a politicized military leadership.
It provoked a series of swift responses, some of them quite blunt. “How the hell did
a war on Iraq become part of the war on terrorism?” was how one officer on the
Joint Staff summarized the reaction of four of those commanders’ staffers. The
draft didn’t seem consistent with a Pentagon directive exactly a year earlier that had
laid out five clear lines of attack in a global counteroffensive against terrorism, all
focused on hitting terrorist groups with global reach, and their state sponsors.
“There is no link between Saddam Hussein and 9/11,” one of the responses argued.
“Don’t mix the two. This is going to work hell with the allies. What is going on?”

One of the officers who was caught in the middle of this went to Army Lt. Gen.
George Casey, then the J-5—the chief of strategic plans and policy on the staff of
the Joint Chiefs—and reported these puzzled, angry comments from the field. Casey,
who in 2004 was to become the top U.S. officer in Iraq, laid down the law. The dis-
cussion was over. “Look, this is part of the war on terror,” this officer remembered
Casey instructing him. “Iraq is one of those state supporters, and it is a state that
has used weapons of mass destruction.” That was the message that went back out
to the CinC'’s staffs near the end of 2002, in the form of a highly classified five-
paragraph order. In a bureaucratic maneuver, in order to keep Feith from trying to
edit it word by word and comma by comma—an excruciating process that the Joint
Staff had come to dread—it was sent out as a change to an existing strategic guid-
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ance rather than as a new statement. Its third paragraph said that should it become
necessary to conduct combat operations against Iraq, this activity was to be thought
of as part of the wider war against terrorism. (Casey said through a spokesman
that he didn’t remember the conversation or the wording of the strategic guidance,
but added, “I did and do believe that operations against Iraq, designated by our
government as a state sponsor of terror, were and are part of the war on terror.”)

As that message was being finalized, Lt. Gen. Newbold quietly retired from his
job on the Joint Staff and left the military. It had been common knowledge on the
staff that he opposed the invasion of Iraq, but he managed to keep that from leak-
ing out. His is the only known departure from the senior ranks of the military over
the looming Iraq war. Publicly, Newbold was discreet, saying he was leaving because
he felt he owed it to his family and to younger officers, so they could move up. At any
rate, he said, the job of operations director “is a square hole, and I am a round peg.”

In the intelligence community, analysts and their bosses began to shut up in
the fall of 2002. No one had to tell them to do so. “The feeling was, our job is to
do what we’re told, and this thing is going to happen,” said the senior military in-
telligence official. “The feeling was, it wasn’t our place to raise a ruckus.”

Indeed, by this point the war already was beginning in quiet ways. Officers in
the Gulf were told to be ready for war in spring. Army Lt. Gen. David McKiernan,
the commander of the ground invasion force, said in an official Army debriefing
interview in the summer of 2003 that “I think from last fall we knew it was a ques-
tion of just when, not if”

Likewise, in September, a senior U.S. intelligence official in Bahrain told col-
leagues, “You'll see all this diplomatic stuff, but it’s clear we’re going to war.”

Wars don’t always commence with a bang. In the Gulf, the information cam-
paign began with the sound of paper rustling, as millions of leaflets were dropped
on Iraqi troops. “In September we really began to ratchet that up, because we had
more assets to drop leaflets and transmit radio messages,” recalled Maj. Gen. Renuart,
the operations chief at Central Command, referring to specialized aircraft that
were being moved into the Gulf region. Among these were EC-130 Commando
Solo planes that could transmit television and radio broadcasts, and EC-130H
Compass Call planes that could jam enemy communications. This was, in some
ways, a quiet beginning of the war. “The fuse was long and slow burning, and we
could cut it off at any point,” Renuart said. “The design was to explore if you
could topple the regime without having to take action. Maybe as the pressure
stepped up, as the UN took action, maybe somebody in Iraq would move against
Saddam.”
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An unbappy Army plans for war

Running through planning of the war was unresolved friction between Rums-
feld and the Army, whose relationship had begun badly and deteriorated further
with time. In hindsight, many Army officers would remember the situation sim-
ply as being that Gen. Eric Shinseki, the chief of staff of the Army, was right, and
OSD—the civilian leadership of the military—as being wrong. But it is a more
complex story than that.

The Army that went into Iraq wasn’t a happy institution at its top levels. Of all
the services, it was the one most at odds with Rumsfeld and other senior Penta-
gon civilians, distrusting their views, and believing they were interfering on mat-
ters in which they were professionally uninformed. The Army also would be the
service shouldering most of the burden in Iraq. People around Rumsfeld, in turn,
saw the Army as unresponsive, unimaginative, and risk averse. “The secretary is
asking the Army to do things it is unable to do—like think innovatively,” cracked
one of Rumsfeld’s aides.

“Rumsfeld doesn’t hate the Army,” said another civilian Pentagon official, who
attended meetings with the secretary about the service. “He is frustrated with ten-
dencies he sees in the Army to be impervious to change.”

Tension between senior civilians and Army generals unresponsive to their
concerns had been escalating for some time, and predated Rumsfeld’s arrival. In
June 1999, Deputy Defense Secretary John Hamre, a low-key, soft-spoken sort,
had fired a shot across the service’s bow. “If the Army only holds onto nostalgic
versions of its grand past, it is going to atrophy and die,” he had warned in a pub-
lic speech.

The Army wasn’t inclined to spend too much time worrying about such
warnings from civilians. On the battlefield it considered itself the best in the
world. At home it had intimidated the Clinton administration. Army Lt. Gen.
Joseph Kellogg, Jr., recalled advising Shinseki during the 2000 campaign to take
seriously the Republican presidential candidate’s speech promising to cancel the
Army’s new mobile artillery system, called the Crusader. “Shinseki said, ‘Not
gonna happen,” Kellogg recalled. “There was a kind of arrogance there, like these
guys are just temporary help.”

Kellogg also remembered running into a three-star Army general after church
one Sunday and commiserating about some of Rumsfeld’s moves. “Oh, we’ll wait
these guys out, we always do,” this general told him. The military is very good at

“slow rolling” initiatives from its civilian overseers. The top brass won’t directly



THE RUN-UP 69

disobey an order, but they can be ingenious at finding ways to vitiate and delay
implementing it. After all, the military rationale goes, in a few years the civilians
will all be gone from this Pentagon—but those in uniform will still be in those
uniforms, and perhaps burdened by the poor decisions of long-gone former
bosses.

But the new crowd wielded sharper elbows than the Army had experienced
since Dick Cheney had stepped down as defense secretary eight years earlier. In
August 2001, when the administration had been in office just a few months,
Rumsfeld’s subordinates were hinting to the Army that it might need to be cut
from ten active-duty divisions to eight, recalled retired Lt. Gen. Johnny Riggs.
Shinseki came in from summer leave to argue against the move, which was put on
hold. Interestingly, Wolfowitz sided with the Army and against Rumsfeld on the
issue of cutting the service. The impasse continued until the September 11 at-
tacks, which would result in a flood of funding for all the services. Wolfowitz re-
called that after those attacks, he said to Rumsfeld, “Aren’t you glad now that we
didn’t cut Army force structure?”

The Afghanistan campaign that followed those attacks produced additional
bad blood, with profound unhappiness in the Army with both Rumsfeld and
Franks over the handling of the war there, with some officers reporting that
Franks didn’t address key strategic questions and instead meddled in tactical is-
sues, where he often disregarded the views of subordinates. Then, in April 2002,
Rumsfeld’s aides let it be known that he had decided to name Gen. Jack Keane,
the Army’s vice chief of staff, as its next chief. This was some fifteen months be-
fore Shinseki was scheduled to retire. The leak made Shinseki a lame duck and
undercut his ambitious transformation agenda to make the Army more agile
and deployable, a plan he had set forth in 1999, well before Rumsfeld was defense
secretary.

Next, Rumsfeld killed the Army’s Crusader artillery program because he saw
it as too heavy to deploy to distant battlefields and not “transformational” enough
to be relevant in future wars. Army leaders had coveted the Crusader for years as
a weapon that would finally make the Army second to none in artillery firepower.
They were particularly steamed at how Rumsfeld and Wolfowitz killed the system,
keeping the Army in the dark about what was happening until Congress was ready
to vote on the fiscal 2003 budget. Wolfowitz, for his part, felt that the Army had
been untruthful in producing information about the system.

After this, Shinseki became almost sullen in his dealings with Rumsfeld. “There

was a meeting at Fort McNair on transformation,” said one general. “The CinCs
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were there. All the service chiefs were there—but one. Shinseki didn’t go. And a
wall built up between the Army and OSD.” Likewise, when an advisory panel told
Rumsfeld that the Army needed to think more about peacekeeping and other
postwar stabilization missions, Shinseki strongly objected, recalled a retired four-
star general. This was a tragic situation for generals such as Shinseki, who had begun
their careers as the lieutenants of the Vietnam era and spent much of their careers
rebuilding the Army. Now, at the culmination of decades of service, Shinseki and
his peers were facing a quagmirish scenario of the very sort they had vowed for
decades to avoid.

In the summer and fall of 2002, a series of warnings were issued inside the
military establishment about the right and wrong ways to approach Iraq. Most of
these appear to have been ignored, mainly because the Bush administration
tended not to listen to people outside a small circle of insiders. On August 26—the
same day that Cheney effectively launched the march to war with his “no doubts”
speech to the VFW—a group of Army commanders and other top service officials
met at the Army War College’s bucolic campus on the outskirts of Carlisle, Penn-
sylvania, to review, among other things, the Central Command’s middling per-
formance in the Afghan campaign. The meeting concluded that major errors had
been committed in the conduct of that offensive, especially in the handling of the
larger, strategic issues. This conclusion was meant to be descriptive of what had
happened in the previous year, but it would also prove accurate in predicting
what would go wrong in the handling of the Iraq war.

The first major criticism on which the participants agreed was that the Afghan
situation had been marred by the excessively short-term approach of top defense
leaders. This problem of a “tactical focus that ignores long-term objectives” was
especially notable at Central Command, said an internal Army memo that sum-
marized the meeting’s conclusions and that has never been released. As Sean
Naylor of the Army Times later pointed out, Franks failed to grasp in waging
the Afghan war that taking the enemy’s capital wasn’t the same as winning the
war, a conceptual error he would repeat in Iraq. But the problem extended be-
yond that—and thus those meeting at the Army War College laid it at the feet of
Rumsfeld and the new chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, Air Force Gen.
Richard Myers, who took over just before the Afghan war began. “All participants
at the conference from all commands complained about the problems caused by
a lack of clear higher direction,” the summary emphasized.

A more specific grievance was the insistence of the Pentagon on not using es-

tablished deployment plans for units, and instead sending them out piecemeal.
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“Headquarters have had to utilize scores of individual Requests For Forces (RFF)
to build organization in key theaters instead of formal TPFDL,” another Army re-
port on the meeting stated. Back then this complaint about messing with the
painstakingly developed TPFDL—an awkward acronym that military types pro-
nounce “tip-fiddle” and which stands for Time-Phased Force Deployment List—
seemed minor, even obscure, but it would grow into an angry chorus in the Army
during the invasion and occupation of Iraq, as it caused endless turmoil and con-
fusion. “The pernicious effect of these grab-bag augmentations is to create head-
quarters staffs with little experience or cohesion,” this second report stated. “One
conference participant described the situation as ‘playing the Super Bowl with a
pick-up team.” Most ominously, the report warned that by overburdening under-
trained staffs, the resulting turmoil especially undercut the military’s ability to
develop effective long-range plans.

In November, Maj. Gen. James Mattis, the commander of the 1st Marine Di-
vision, which would spend much of the next two years in Irag, invited Gen. Zinni
to be the speaker at the division’s Marine Corps birthday dinner, the most impor-
tant day of the year for the Corps. On the afternoon before the dinner, Mattis had
Zinni speak to all his senior commanders. “If you guys don’t go through the enemy
in six weeks, we’ll disown you,” Zinni said, according to Mattis. “But then the hard
work begins. . . . We have lit a fuse, and we don’t know what’s at the other end—
a nuke, a hand grenade, or a dud?”

Zinni’s message to the assembled Marine commanders that afternoon was:
You are about to get into something that is going to be tougher and more chaotic
than you might think. “I was worried that we didn’t understand the importance
of maintaining order, that we had to come in with sufficient forces to freeze the
situation, to understand that when we’re ripping the guts out of an authoritarian
regime, you've got responsibility for security, services, everything else. You have
to be prepared to handle all that.”

He also warned the Marines that in such situations the U.S. government tends
to look to the military for solutions. “The other caution I gave them was don’t
count on it when somebody tells you ‘Well, the State Department’s got that, or
‘OSD’s planning for that” Don’t believe them. You're going to get stuck with it. So,
have a plan. This is the Desert Crossing philosophy: You're going to end up being
the ‘stuckee’ on this”

A week later seventy national security experts and Mideast scholars met for two
days at the National Defense University, one of the military’s premier educational

institutions, located in Washington, to discuss “Iraq: Looking Beyond Saddam’s
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Role.” They concluded that occupying Iraq “will be the most daunting and com-
plex task the U.S. and the international community will have undertaken since
the end of World War II”—a sweeping statement that placed a war with Iraq in
the class of the Vietnam War and the containment of the Soviet Union. The
group’s first finding, both underlined and italicized in its report, was that the pri-
mary postinvasion task of the U.S. military “must be on establishing and main-
taining a secure environment.” It also strongly recommended against a swift,
uncoordinated dissolution of the Iragi military. “There should be a phased down-
sizing to avoid dumping 1.4 million men into a shattered economy.”

Col. Paul Hughes sent a copy of the conference report to Douglas Feith’s office
in the Pentagon, but “never heard back from him or anyone else” over there, he
recalled. “I cannot tell you if it had any impact at all.” Both its recommendations
quoted here would be effectively ignored in the following months by military
planners and by the civilian occupation authority.

On December 10 and 11, the Army staff at the Pentagon convened about two
dozen military experts, Middle East area specialists, diplomats, and intelligence
officials, at the Army War College to look at the missions that the service likely
would face in postwar Iraq. On the morning of the second day of meetings,
remembered Conrad Crane, the Army historian running the study, “We were
struck by a massive ice storm” that forced the cancellation of many commercial
passenger flights in the mid-Atlantic region. It was an unexpected boon in that it
delayed some planned departures and permitted the group to dig a bit deeper
than expected.

Read now, with the benefit of hindsight, the report the group produced clearly
is stunning in its prescience. “The possibility of the United States winning the war
and losing the peace is real and serious,” they wrote in a lapel-grabbing tone that
was an unusual departure for government experts giving their bosses unwelcome
advice. “Thinking about the war now and the occupation later is not an accept-
able solution.” That was what the Army War College group had seen happen with
Afghanistan—and some members of that group were hearing from friends at
Central Command that the same screwup was happening again.

They also delivered a clear warning about the fragile state of the Iraqi
economy—something that Bush administration officials would insist after the
invasion had been a rude surprise. Iraq had been strained by decades of misrule,
wars, and sanctions, they observed. “If the United States assumes control of Iraq, it
will therefore assume control of a badly battered economy.” The writers repeatedly

emphasized that Iraq was going to be tougher than the administration thought, or
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at least was admitting publicly. “Successful occupation will not occur unless the
special circumstances of this unusual country” are heeded, they warned.

They specifically advised against the two major steps that Ambassador L. Paul
Bremer I1I would pursue in 2003 after being named to run the U.S. occupation.
The Iragi army should be kept intact because it could serve as a unifying force in
a country that could fall apart under U.S. control: “In a highly diverse and frag-
mented society like Iraq, the military . . . is one of the few national institutions that
stresses national unity as an important principle. To tear apart the army in the
war’s aftermath could lead to the destruction of one of the only forces for unity
within the society.” They likewise were explicit in warning against the sort of top-
down “de-Baathification” that Bremer would mandate. Rather, they recommended
following the example of the U.S. authorities in post~World War II Germany who
used a bottom-up approach by having anti-Nazi Germans in every town review
detailed questionnaires filled out by every adult German, and then determining,
one by one, who would have their political and economic activities curtailed.

The report received an enthusiastic response from the Army, Crane said later.
He believes it also influenced the thinking of some Army generals preparing for
the invasion of Iraq. But all that was preaching to the converted. The group heard
very little from the office of the secretary of defense or from Central Command.
“It was not clear to us until much later how unsuccessful General Shinseki and his
staff had been in shaping the final plans,” Crane said later. Then, in mid-2003,
after the occupation had gotten off to a fumbled start and Franks had left Central
Command and retired from the Army, Crane was told that John Abizaid, the new
commander, was handing the report to everyone he met and telling them to read

it. It was small consolation.

What is remarkable is that again and again during the crucial months before the
invasion, such warnings from experts weren’t heeded—or even welcomed. Almost
no Middle Eastern experts inside the military were consulted on the war plan, in
part because the plan was produced on a very close hold basis that involved few
people, and even then only parts of it were shown to most of those involved.
Shinseki and his aides were seeing many of the warnings. In the fall of 2002,
when Rumsfeld met with the Joint Chiefs to discuss the planning for Iraq, Shin-
seki brought up his concerns. Centcom’s Renuart, who attended the session,
recalled the Army chief arguing that “the mission was huge, that you needed a lot

of troops to secure all the borders and do all the tasks you needed to do.” Franks’s
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response at the time, Renuart added, was that it wasn’t known how many Iraqi
troops would capitulate and work for the Americans, so it wasn’t clear that tens of
thousands of additional U.S. soldiers would be required. This essentially was
best-case planning, which is as much an error as is planning only for the worst
outcome.

Then, as winter approached, Shinseki and the other members of the Joint
Chiefs met with the president. Gen. Franks, who joined them, recalled the meet-
ing in an interview as “a very, very positive session.” Franks recalled Shinseki as
not so much expressing concern about the overall war plan, but rather pointing
out that “the lines of communication and supportability were long. . . . I took it,
and I think everyone in the room took it, [to mean that] this isn’t going to be a
cakewalk”

Franks also heard concern from Powell about the war plan. “I’ve got problems
with force size and support of that force, given such long lines of communica-
tion,” the former chairman of the Joint Chiefs said in a telephone call, according
to Franks’s autobiography. It was a difficult position for Powell to put Franks in,
because Franks had to report to Rumsfeld, not to Powell, and the two secretaries
were like old bulls facing each other down. So Franks essentially thanked Powell

for his interest and reported the conversation to Rumsfeld.

Ground commanders vs. Franks

Franks also was being squeezed from below. In 1991, Gen. Schwarzkopf had
made himself both the overall commander and the commander of land forces for
the attack into Kuwait. Some in the Army thought that he had been overwhelmed
by both tasks—one reason that the Army wasn’t able to adjust its operations
when the Marines moved into Kuwait faster than expected, and couldn’t close
the door on the Iragi army before it escaped northward. Franks took a different
course, creating the Coalition Forces Land Component Command. That was the
awkward name for the ground forces—the Army, the Marine Corps, and the
British army, along with a handful of Poles and other troops—who would ulti-
mately invade Iraq. The CFLCC (which the military took to pronouncing “sif-lik”)
was another element of the war plan that amounted to a repudiation of Schwarzkopf’s
handling of the 1991 war: This time they were going to go to Baghdad and do it
right.

Not all was well at CFLCC. Its senior officers had worked for months to get
Franks to stand up to Rumsfeld and the Pentagon. Maj. Gen. James Thurman was
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CFLCC’s director for operations, arguably the second most important post in the
organization. Neither he nor his commander, Army Lt. Gen. David McKiernan,
was happy with the war plans Franks was bringing back from his meetings with
Rumsfeld. The initial plan put on the table had in their view been ridiculous. It
called for a tiny force, consisting of one enhanced brigade from the 3rd Infantry
Division and a Marine Expeditionary Unit—all in all, fewer than ten thousand
combat troops. It was little more than an update of the notions that had been
kicked around during the nineties by Iraqi exiles, and that Zinni had nixed as a
potential Bay of Goats. Over the course of 2002 the planned size of the force got
larger, but hadn’t quite reached what McKiernan saw as the minimum.

Rumsfeld had come out of the Afghan war believing that speed could be sub-
stituted for mass in military operations. Franks had bought into this, summariz-
ing it in the oft-repeated maxim “Speed kills.” McKiernan and Thurman weren’t
at all sure of that, and disliked the prospect of being Rumsfeld’s guinea pigs.

On December 8, 2002, in what Thurman would remember as “a key point in
the planning,” McKiernan and Thurman flew to Franks’s headquarters in Qatar
and put their doubts in front of him. McKiernan “laid out to the CinC and showed
him that we needed more combat power for the basic stance,” Thurman later told
an official Army historian. The first troop deployment order had just been issued.
The two generals pushed their commander for more, and got some, but never
got quite enough, in their view. Even four months later, as the invasion began,
Thurman later said, “We wanted more combat power on the ground.”

McKiernan had another, smaller but nagging, issue: He couldn’t get Franks to
issue clear orders that stated explicitly what he wanted done, how he wanted to do
it, and why. Rather, Franks passed along PowerPoint briefing slides that he had
shown to Rumsfeld. “It’s quite frustrating the way this works, but the way we do
things nowadays is combatant commanders brief their products in PowerPoint
up in Washington to OSD and Secretary of Defense. . . . In lieu of an order, or a
frag [fragmentary] order, or plan, you get a set of PowerPoint slides. . . . [T]hat is
frustrating, because nobody wants to plan against PowerPoint slides.”

That reliance on slides rather than formal written orders seemed to some mil-
itary professionals to capture the essence of Rumsfeld’s amateurish approach to
war planning. “Here may be the clearest manifestation of OSD’s contempt for the
accumulated wisdom of the military profession and of the assumption among
forward thinkers that technology—above all information technology—has rendered
obsolete the conventions traditionally governing the preparation and conduct
of war,” commented retired Army Col. Andrew Bacevich, a former commander
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of an armored cavalry regiment. “To imagine that PowerPoint slides can substi-
tute for such means is really the height of recklessness.” It was like telling an auto-
mobile mechanic to use a manufacturer’s glossy sales brochure to figure out how

to repair an engine.

The “black hole” of Feith’s policy office

At the Pentagon, the policy shop run by Douglas Feith was the organization
that was in many ways the civilian parallel of Franks’s Central Command in for-
mulating the American stance on going to war in Iraq. Centcom was responsible
for handling the war, while Feith’s office was supposed to oversee the policies
guiding the war and its aftermath.

Both Franks’s headquarters and Feith’s policy office had notably low morale,
but a major difference was that Feith’s office was managed worse. While Franks
was at least effective in getting what he wanted from underlings, the owlish Feith
was a management disaster who served as a bottleneck on decision making. “He
basically was a glorified gofer for Rumsfeld,” said Gary Schmitt, who was hardly
an ideological foe—he was the executive director of the Project for a New Amer-
ican Century, a small neoconservative advocacy group that pushed hard for the
invasion of Iraq. “He can’t manage anything, and he doesn’t trust anyone else’s
judgment.”

People working for Feith complained that he would spend hours tweaking
their memos, carefully mulling minor points of grammar. A Joint Staff officer re-
called angrily that at one point troops sat on a runway for hours, waiting to leave
the United States on a mission, while he quibbled about commas in the deploy-
ment order. “Policy was a black hole,” recalled one four-star general about Feith’s
operation. “It dropped the ball again and again.”

In the summer of 2001, Feith had been confronted on his management flaws
by top aides at a large meeting. Lisa Bronson, a veteran specialist on weapons pro-
liferation, stood and said, “This is the worst-run policy office I've ever seen.”
Another Feith aide agreed, saying later that the decision-making process in Feith’s
office was the most tangled he’d seen in twenty years of government work.

Feith stood his ground, explaining to subordinates that “I don’t treat you any
differently than Rumsfeld treats me.” He said his fussiness over memos reflected
the importance he and Rumsfeld placed on precision in thinking and writing.

Feith amounted to a less impressive version of Wolfowitz, filling the post the
older man had held during the 1991 Gulf War. A 1975 graduate of Harvard, he
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was similar to Wolfowitz in his academic approach. To the military way of think-
ing, which tends to like orderly discussions that march toward clear decisions, he
appeared far too woolly. For Feith, as for Wolfowitz, the Holocaust—and the mis-
takes the West made appeasing Hitler in the 1930s, rather than stopping him—
became a keystone in thinking about policy. Like Wolfowitz, Feith came from a
family devastated by the Holocaust. His father lost both parents, three brothers,
and four sisters to the Nazis. “My family got wiped out by Hitler, and . . . all this
stuff about working things out—well, talking to Hitler to resolve the problem
didn’t make any sense to me,” Feith later told Jeffrey Goldberg of the New Yorker
in discussing how World War II had shaped his views. “The kind of people who
put bumper stickers on their car that declare that ‘War is not the answer, are
they making a serious comment? What’s the answer to Pearl Harbor? What’s the
answer to the Holocaust?”

“Doug’s very smart, almost too smart,” said a Bush administration official
who has known Feith for decades and generally is sympathetic to his views. “He’s
a very impressive conceptual thinker, a rapid-fire genius. But. But. Not everyone
else is so smart. And once in a while, something very hard comes along, some-
thing that requires a lot of deliberate thought.” And in such cases, Feith’s rapid-
fire approach becomes dangerous.

“Doug is a first-generation American, and the son of a Holocaust survivor,” a
background that has shaped Feith’s views and approach. “And the fact that they
are minoritarian views, shared by only a few people, makes him believe it all the
more. He takes almost as axiomatic some of his views—for example, that weak-
ness invites aggression. Or invoke diplomacy only when you have your adversary
cornered.”

The personal histories of key players in the Bush administration may have
made for an unusual and volatile mix. It was an unusual and powerful combina-
tion: The men at the White House were risk takers, while their subordinates and
ideological allies at the Pentagon were men counseling that it was unwise to wait
to act against evil, no matter what the conventional wisdom was. Add them up,
said this unhappy Bush administration official, and you get an unusual mix:
“These people are brinksmen.”

Rumsfeld, who rarely seems to go out of his way to praise his subordinates,
did so with Feith, later defending him as “without question one of the most bril-
liant individuals in government . . . just a rare talent. And from my standpoint,
working with him is always interesting. He’s been one of the really intellectual

leaders in the administration in defense policy aspects of our work here.”
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Not everyone was so impressed. Senior military officers especially seemed to
be rubbed the wrong way by him. Franks, the Central Command chief, called
Feith “the dumbest fucking guy on the planet.” Jay Garner, the retired Army lieu-
tenant general who reported to Feith for five months as the Bush administration’s
first head of the postwar mission in Iraq, came to a similar conclusion. “I think
he’s incredibly dangerous,” Garner said later. “He’s a very smart guy whose elec-
trons aren’t connected, so he arc lights all the time. He can’t organize anything.”
Remarkably, Feith was the person in charge of day-to-day postwar Iraq policy in
Washington—the official that Franks was told would handle the postwar end of
things. A man who couldn’t run his own office very well, by many accounts, was
going to oversee the rebuilding of an occupied nation on the other side of the
planet.

Incoberent planning for the aftermath

The U.S. invasion of Iraq, Army Lt. Col. James Scudieri wrote later, “may be
the most planned operation since D-Day on 6 June 1944 and Desert Storm in
19917 The irony is that in eighteen months of planning, the key question was left
substantially unaddressed: What to do after getting to Baghdad. Franks, Rums-
feld, Wolfowitz, Feith, and other top officials spent well over a year preparing to
attack Iraq, but treated almost casually what would come after that. “I think peo-
ple are overly pessimistic about the aftermath,” Wolfowitz flatly stated in an inter-
view in December 2002.

At first, in the summer of 2002, the ball was tossed to the exhausted planning
staff at Central Command, which had just finished invading Afghanistan and
then written two versions of a plan to invade Iraq. “End of July, we’ve just finished
the second plan, and we get an order from Joint Staff saying, ‘You're in charge of
the postwar plan,” recalled Col. John Agoglia. They were flabbergasted. At that
point they thought the invasion would be launched in just six months. “We said,
‘Oh, shit, did a mission analysis, and focused on humanitarian issues,” such as
minimizing the displacement of people, stockpiling food to stave off famine, and
protecting the infrastructure of the oil fields, he said.

The decision to place the Defense Department—whether at the Pentagon or
at the Central Command headquarters—in charge of postwar Iraq may have
doomed the American effort from the start. As a subsequent Rand Corporation
study put it, “Overall, this approach worked poorly, because the Defense Depart-
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ment lacked the experience, expertise, funding authority, local knowledge, and
established contacts with other potential organizations needed to establish, staff,
support and oversee a large multiagency civilian mission.”

It wasn’t that there was no planning. To the contrary, there was a lot, with at
least three groups inside the military and one at the State Department working
on postwar issues and producing thousands of pages of documents. But much of
the planning was shoddy, there was no one really in charge of it, and there was lit-
tle coordination between the various groups. Gen. Franks appeared to believe
that planning for the end of the war was someone else’s job. The message he sent
to Rumsfeld’s subordinates, he wrote in his autobiography, was: “You pay atten-
tion to the day after and I'll pay to attention to the day of” The result would be
that while there was much discussion, and endless PowerPoint briefings, there
wouldn’t be a real plan for postwar Iraq that could be implemented by com-
manders and soldiers on the ground.

To handle the stepped-up load of planning for postwar Iraq, Franks created a
new office, Joint Task Force IV, under Brig. Gen. Steve Hawkins, an Army engi-
neer. For months Hawkins had scores of staff planners working on Phase [V—
that is, the phase that followed Phase III’s major combat operations—but failed
to produce much. “We were told that JTF-IV would be a standing task force,”
recalled Agoglia. “We thought that it would be the core of planning for a post-
conflict headquarters. Instead, it was Steve Hawkins and fifty-five yahoos with
shareware who were clueless.”

Despite months of work, “they didn’t produce a plan,” Army Lt. Gen. Joseph
Kellogg said. “They may have war-gamed it, but planned it? Nope.” That may seem
a harsh verdict, but it is borne out by a look at the classified PowerPoint briefings
JTE-IV produced. It is fashionable to criticize the U.S. military’s heavy reliance on
PowerPoint, but the thirty-two slides in the JTF-IV summary of planning for
postwar Iraq are extreme in their incoherence, with unexplained distinctions be-
tween “military success” in Phase III and “strategic success” under “civilian lead”
in Phase IV. (Interestingly, another briefing, on reconstruction issues, noted in an
aside that the Army experience in Bosnia and Kosovo indicated that the postwar
situation in Iraq would require around 470,000 troops, more than triple the
number that actually would be deployed.)

Maj. Eisenstadt, an intelligence officer in Central Command’s headquarters in
2001-2, said that most of Hawkins’s work was discarded for reasons that were
never clear to him. Another military expert who reviewed the product of the task
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force said its work was so mediocre that insiders just began ignoring it. “It was a
very pedestrian product, and it looked like a war college exercise,” he said. “They
were not reaching out to real-world people and information.”

A 'V Corps planner agreed with that account. “Centcom set up a cell to do
Phase IV planning before the war, but it never produced anything,” he said. “It
just got tied up in scenarios—like what happens if there are large refugee flows?”
It never actually produced a usable blueprint for running postwar Iraq.

But no one appears to have informed other military planners about the flim-
siness of Centcom’s Phase IV work. A classified prewar briefing by the next lower
headquarters, the Coalition Forces Land Component Command (CFLCC), on its
own Phase IV plans breezily noted that it was “Working with CJTF-4 to ensure

seamless transition.”

Calling Gen. Garner

By late December, it was clear both at Central Command and at the Pentagon
that the JTF-IV effort to plan for postwar Iraq was faltering. “If there was some-
thing that as a planner we didn’t do so well, it was that we didn’t prepare Franks
so well for the reconstruction and stabilization piece,” Agoglia said. “We didn’t do
as good a job as we should of walking him through the postconflict piece.” And
“in January 03 we realized that JTF-IV wouldn’t work. It was broken.”

In mid-January, just eight weeks before the invasion, the lead in planning for
the postwar situation was taken away from Central Command and moved to the
Pentagon. Retired Army Lt. Gen. Jay Garner, who had led the relief effort in
northern Iraq in 1991, was eating in a restaurant in New York when he received a
call from Feith’s office. Rumsfeld wanted him once more to lead postwar opera-
tions in Irag—a task that was expected to be mainly humanitarian work, likely
focused on aiding refugees and perhaps the civilian victims of Iraqi chemical or
biological weapons. Garner initially refused, but agreed to go see Rumsfeld. “He
can be pretty persuasive, and I said I'd do it if my company agreed and if my wife
agreed,” he recalled.

Garner told Rumsfeld that he would need some retired generals, senior offi-
cers who understood the military and the management of a large organization.
“Rumsfeld said, ‘OK, anybody but Zinni,” he recalled. Garner interpreted this not
as a personal grudge on the part of the defense secretary, but rather an assessment
that the White House saw Zinni as an adversary. “It came across to me that we

wouldn’t be able to sell Zinni, because he already was against the war.” Indeed,
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Garner soon would run into trouble on several lower profile staff members he
proposed, especially from the State Department’s own planning project, called
the Future of Iraq.

On January 20, the White House issued a classified National Security Presi-
dential Directive that established the Pentagon postwar planning office, the Of-
fice of Reconstruction and Humanitarian Assistance. But the creation of this new
office hardly cleared the way for more effective postwar planning. “ORHA stands
up, and it’s a second ad hoc organization,” said Agoglia. “We thought they worked
for Franks, they said they worked for Sec Def, and that began some pissing
contests. . . . They didn’t listen to anyone, because they were a bunch of friggin’
know-it-alls.”

Conrad Crane, the Army historian who later studied the record of the plan-
ning for the war, concluded that the establishment of ORHA just two months be-
fore the beginning of fighting simply came too late to be helpful. “It created much
more confusion than coherence,” he said, because it cut off Centcom’s work.
“Everybody said, T'm working with ORHA now.”

A bad feeling inside the Army

Watching the moves toward war, the Army community fretted, no one more
so than Norman Schwarzkopf. Retired generals play a shadowy but important
role in the U.S. military establishment, and especially in the Army. They are part
Greek chorus and part shadow board of directors, watching and commenting on
their successors’ work. They tend to be well informed about current operations,
because some are hired as consultants and mentors in war games and war college
seminars, and others maintain friendships with former subordinates who have
risen to the top.

Within the retired community, four-star generals play a particularly weighty
role. Within that tiny group, none are more influential than four stars who
have commanded combat operations. After Colin Powell—who was necessarily
muted in his military commentary because of his struggles with Rumsfeld and
Wolfowitz—the retired four-star general with the most public influence during
this period likely was Schwarzkopf. As if that weren’t enough, he also was allied
with the Bush family. He had hunted with the first president Bush and had cam-
paigned for the second, speaking on military issues at the 2000 GOP convention
in Philadelphia and later stumping in Florida with Cheney, his secretary of de-
fense during the 1991 war.
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In the months before the invasion of Iraq, Schwarzkopf was worried. In Janu-
ary 2003 he made it clear in a lengthy interview that he hadn’t seen enough evi-
dence to persuade him that his old comrades from twelve years earlier—Cheney,
Powell, and Wolfowitz—were correct in moving toward a new war. He thought
UN inspections were still the proper course to follow. He also worried about the
cockiness of the U.S. war plan, and even more about the potential human and fi-
nancial costs of occupying Iraq. “The thought of Saddam Hussein with a sophis-
ticated nuclear capability is a frightening thought, okay?” he said, sitting in his
office in Tampa, overlooking a bland skyline of hotels, bank headquarters, and
glass-sheathed office buildings. “Now, having said that, I don’t know what intelli-
gence the U.S. government has. And before I can just stand up and say, ‘Beyond
a shadow of a doubt, we need to invade Iraq, I guess I would like to have better
information.”

He hadn’t seen that evidence yet, and so—in sharp contrast to the Bush
administration—he supported letting the UN weapons inspectors drive the
timetable: “I think it is very important for us to wait and see what the inspectors
come up with, and hopefully they come up with something conclusive.” He had
a far less Manichaean view of the Middle East than Bush and Cheney had devel-
oped after the September 11 attacks. “It’s obviously not a black-and-white situa-
tion over there. I would just think that whatever path we take, we have to take it
with a bit of prudence” Had he seen sufficient prudence in the actions of his
old friends in the Bush administration? He didn’t want to touch that question.
“I don’t think I can give you an honest answer on that,” he said. He also was
unhappy with what he was hearing out of the Army about Rumsfeld. “Candidly,
I have gotten somewhat nervous at some of the pronouncements Rumsfeld
has made.”

Schwarzkopf was a true son of the Army, where he served from 1956 to 1991,
and some of his comments reflected the deepening estrangement between that
service and the defense secretary. “The Rumsfeld thing . . . that’s what comes up,”
when he calls old Army friends in the Pentagon, he said. “When he makes his
comments, it appears that he disregards the Army. He gives the perception when
he’s on TV that he is the guy driving the train and everybody else better fall in line
behind him—or else”

That dismissive posture bothered Schwarzkopf because he thought, like many
in the Army, that Rumsfeld, Wolfowitz, Feith, and their subordinates lacked the
experience or knowledge to make sound military judgments by themselves and

were ignoring the better informed advice of senior generals. He said he preferred
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the way Cheney had operated during the Gulf War. “He didn’t put himself in the
position of being the decision maker as far as tactics were concerned, as far as
troop deployments, as far as missions were concerned.”

Rumsfeld, by contrast, worried him. “It’s scary, okay?” he said. “Let’s face it:
There are guys at the Pentagon who have been involved in operational planning for
their entire lives, okay? . . . And for this wisdom, acquired during many operations,
wars, schools, for that just to be ignored, and in its place have somebody who
doesn’t have any of that training, is of concern.”

So, said Schwarzkopf, he doubted that an invasion of Iraq would be as fast and
simple as some seemed to think. “I have picked up vibes that . . . you're going to
have this massive strike with massed weaponry, and basically that’s going to be it,
and we just clean up the battlefield after that” Like many in the Army, he ex-
pressed even more concern about the task the U.S. military might face after a vic-
tory. “What is postwar Iraq going to look like, with the Kurds and the Sunnis and
the Shiites? That’s a huge question, to my mind. It really should be part of the
overall campaign plan.”

The administration may have been discussing the issue behind closed doors,
but he hadn’t seen it explained to the world, especially its assessment of the time,
people, and money needed. “I would hope that we have in place the adequate re-
sources to become an army of occupation,” he warned, “because you're going to
walk into chaos.”

Col. Spain’s prewar gutting

The first time that Col. Teddy Spain got a bad feeling about the Iraq war was
two months before it actually started. In late January the military police com-
mander participated in Victory Scrimmage, a big preparatory exercise for the war
held at Grafenwoehr, Germany, at the U.S. training base there, in the cold hills
near the Czech border. At one point during the exercise, after some notional
troops had been “killed,” Spain, who would lead an MP brigade into Iraq, turned
to some Army chaplains sitting nearby and ordered them to plan a memorial
service. They thought he was joking, he recalled. “No, this is serious business,” he
emphatically responded.

Even as the exercise was held, the size of the U.S.-led invasion force was being
whittled down. “First AD and First Cav were there,” he said, referring to two of
the Army’s big armored divisions, the 1st Armored Division and the 1st Cavalry
Division. “Then they got knocked out of the plan.” He chuckled, years later, at the
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memory. “They call themselves ‘America’s First Team,” referring to the 1st Cav-
alry’s motto, “and we said, ‘Yeah, the first team to go home.”

But it was less amusing when the planners then turned to Spain and informed
him that his brigade was being kept in the plan, but with a major reduction in its
troop numbers. “They just gutted my assets.” Rather than lead twenty companies
into Iraq, he was told, he would begin the war with less than three. It was a deci-
sion that Spain, a tall, drawling southerner with a passing resemblance to television
journalist Tom Brokaw, would think back on repeatedly in the coming months
and years, as he dwelled on how he could have done better securing Baghdad in
the spring and summer of 2003. He could have done it, he believed, if only he'd
had those missing companies of MPs.

Others felt the same way. Van Riper, the retired Marine general who was an
old friend of Zinni’s, had seen the war plan in October 2002, and noted that it in-
cluded a division west of the 3rd Infantry Division to control much of Anbar
Province. But in January 2003, he was told, that division was dropped from the
plan. Instead, Anbar would be treated as an “economy of force” area, with a rela-
tively small number of Special Forces sent in, with the mission of preventing Scud
missile launches westward against Israel. This last-minute change was crucial, be-
cause it left open the door northwest of Baghdad for Baathists and intelligence of-
ficials to flee to the sanctuary of Syria, taking money, weapons, and records with
them with which to establish a safe headquarters for the insurgency that would
emerge that summer. (Some of this movement occurred before the war began,
when, according to retired Air Force Lt. Gen. James Clapper, the head of the U.S.
National Imagery and Mapping Agency, satellite imagery showed a heavy flow of
traffic from Iraq into Syria.) The Army division deleted from the plan “would

have blocked much of the movement to the Syrian border,” Van Riper said.
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THE SILENCE OF
THE LAMBS

JANUARY-MARCH 2003

n previous wars, Congress had been populated by hawks and doves. But as
Iwar in Iraq loomed it seemed to consist mainly of lambs who hardly made a
peep. There were many failures in the American system that led to the war, but
the failures in Congress were at once perhaps the most important and the least
noticed.

One of the rules of thumb in military operations is that disasters occur not
when one or perhaps two things go wrong—which almost any competent leader
can handle—but when three or four go wrong at once. Overcoming such a com-
bination of negative events is a true test of command. Similarly, the Iraq fiasco
occurred not just because the Bush administration engaged in sustained self-
deception over the threat presented by Iraq and the difficulty of occupying the
country, but also because of other major lapses in several major American insti-
tutions, from the military establishment and the intelligence community to the
media. In each arena, the problems generally were sins of commission—bad
planning, bad leadership, bad analysis, or in the case of journalism, bad reporting
and editing. The role of Congress in this systemic failure was different, because its

mistakes were mainly sins of omission. In the months of the run-up to war,
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Congress asked very few questions, and didn’t offer any challenge to the adminis-
tration on the lack of postwar planning.

Congress takes no for an answer

The last chance was offered by hearings on Iraq held in February 2003, but
this was not an opportunity that Congress would take. It had made its choice the
previous October when it gave the president a blank check to go to war. As a body
it was willing to ask questions, but that was little more than a pose, because it
didn’t object when it didn’t get responses that spoke to the issue. It was a Congress
that would take no, or something close to it, for an answer.

Douglas Feith’s appearance before the Senate Foreign Relations Committee at
its major prewar hearing on Iraq was a memorable demonstration of testimony
as tap dancing. He couldn’t say how many troops might be required, or what
a war might cost, or even what other countries might join the U.S.-led effort.
“Senator, it’s hard to answer a lot of these what-ifs because a lot depends on, you
know, future events that we don’t know,” Feith told Sen. Joseph Biden, the
Delaware Democrat who was the ranking minority member on the panel. “There
are enormous uncertainties.” As for the key question of the duration of the occu-
pation, Feith deferred answering. “I don’t think I want to venture into the predic-
tion business,” he parried.

The senators knew they weren’t getting straight answers. “There’s a kind of
disconnect between the rhetoric we’re hearing and all the rosy scenarios,” noted
Sen. Lincoln Chafee of Rhode Island. “Why aren’t we hearing some more about a
worse case, and what are we prepared for in that instance?”

Sen. Russell Feingold also expressed puzzlement. “Why do we give the president
a blank check to go ahead with this before we had the answers to these questions?”
he asked.

“You’re not giving us much,” added Sen. Barbara Boxer, the California Dem-
ocrat. And that was pretty much it—a hearing with many questions and few
answers.

“The American people have no notion of what we are about to undertake,”
Biden concluded that day. It was an important observation about a democracy
about to launch a war in a distant land, alien culture, and hostile region. But it
was made in a tone of passive resignation.

Zinni, waiting to testify, sat in the room and grew increasingly uneasy as he lis-
tened to Feith and other administration officials. “They were nowhere near capa-
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ble” of transforming first Iraq and then the Middle East, he thought to himself.
They didn’t know what they were getting into. They were unprepared. His private
conclusion that day, listening to Feith and the other administration witnesses
was, “These guys don’t have a clue”

When it came his turn to move to the witness chair, Zinni came close to lec-
turing the Foreign Relations Committee on how they might better have handled
the administration’s witnesses. First of all, he said, you all need to abandon the
idea of an “exit strategy,” because there isn’t going to be one: “There’s things in
this part of the world that are too important for us to think that this is a °go in, do
the job as best we can, and pull out.” Also, you could have pinned them down on
their goals. Is it really “a magnificent democracy” they’re aiming for? he asked.
“I mean, is it truly this transformed Iraq that we’ve heard about, or are we just
going to get rid of Saddam Hussein and hope for the best? . . . What is it that you
want?”

Zinni decided that day that the neoconservatives in the administration really
were consciously rolling the dice. “I think—and this is just my opinion—that the
neocons didn’t really give a shit what happened in Iraq and the aftermath,” he said
much later. “I don’t think they thought it would be this bad. But they said: Look,
if it works out, let’s say we get Chalabi in, he’s our boy, great. We don’t and maybe
there’s some half-ass government in there, maybe some strongman emerges, it
fractures, and there’s basically a loose federation and there’s really a Kurdish state.
Who cares? There’s some bloodshed, and it’s messy. Who cares? I mean, we’ve
taken out Saddam. We’ve asserted our strength in the Middle East. We’re chang-
ing the dynamic. We’re now off the peace process as the centerpiece and we’re not
putting any pressure on Israel.”

After the hearings, Zinni asked an old comrade at Centcom what he thought
of Desert Crossing, the plans he had drawn up after Desert Fox for dealing
with the end of Saddam Hussein’s regime. What do you guys think of it, and was
it useful, and how have you changed it? This senior officer looked at Zinni
blankly: Desert What? He had never heard of it. Years of in-depth planning had
been discarded.

In the following weeks, as he listened to Wolfowitz and other administration
officials talk about Iraq, Zinni became ever more convinced that interventionist
neoconservative ideologues were plunging the nation into a war in a part of the
world they didn’t understand. “The more I saw, the more I thought that this was
the product of the neocons who didn’t understand the region and were going to

create havoc there. These were dilettantes from Washington think tanks who
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never had an idea that worked on the ground.” He dwelled on the fact that U.S.
soldiers would wind up paying for the mistakes of Washington policy makers.
And that took him back to that bloody day in the sodden Que Son mountains
of Vietnam. That war remained painful for him. “I only went to the Wall once,
and it was very difficult,” he said, talking about his sole visit to the Vietnam Vet-
erans Memorial, the black V-shaped slab that cuts into the Mall in downtown
Washington. “I was just walking down past the names of my men. My buddies,
my troops—just walking down that Wall was hard, and I couldn’t go back.”

As one national security official in the Bush administration put it, the passiv-
ity of Congress during this period made it far easier to go to war: “Rumsfeld and
Wolfowitz are saying, ‘We can’t tell you how long it will take, or what it will cost,
that’s unknowable. Why did Congress accept that?”

Sen. Byrd took to the Senate floor five weeks before the war began and puzzled
over why Congress had gone AWOL. “This chamber is, for the most part, silent—
ominously, dreadfully silent,” he admonished his colleagues. “There is no debate,
no discussion, no attempt to lay out for the nation the pros and cons of this par-
ticular war. There is nothing. We stand passively mute in the United States Senate,
paralyzed by our own uncertainty, seemingly stunned by the sheer turmoil of
events.” It was just one in a series of speeches Byrd gave on the prospect of war in
Iraq, and like the others it had no perceptible effect on his colleagues. “What is
happening to this country?” he would ask in a plaintive speech the day before war
began. “War appears inevitable.”

Congress as a whole became unusually unimportant during this period, espe-
cially the Senate and House Armed Services committees, the two panels that over-
see the military establishment and so held the keys to airing Pentagon dissent and
other concerns about going to war in Iraq. The Republicans didn’t want to ques-
tion the Bush administration. The Democrats couldn’t or wouldn’t, so Congress
didn’t produce the witnesses who in hearings would give voice and structure to
opposition. Lacking hearings to write about, and the data such sessions would
yield, the media didn’t delve deeply enough into the issues surrounding the war,
most notably whether the administration was correctly assessing the threat pre-
sented by Iraq and the cost of occupying and remaking the country.

The House, the Senate, and the executive branch were in Republican hands.
Bush was the first Republican president since the 1920s to hold office while both
houses of Congress were in the long-term control of his party, and his fellow
Republicans weren’t inclined to ask many probing questions. The Democrats
in 1994 lost control of the House of Representatives for the first time in forty
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years, and essentially lost control of the Senate in the same year, except for a brief
interruption several years later. By 20023 they were cowed by the post—9/11 at-
mosphere, in which almost any measure to fight terror seemed to some to be jus-
tified. And they still hadn’t learned how to operate effectively in the minority
position—and a minority that didn’t have an executive branch to lean on and
help it with research and responses, as the Republican minority frequently had
over the previous four decades. So Democrats generally clammed up, especially
when faced by an administration that resolutely stuck by its story. “The Congress
didn’t do it, because the Republicans weren’t going to confront their own presi-
dent, and the Democrats were enfeebled,” said one mournful Democratic veteran
of Capitol Hill. “The media didn’t stand up because they had no one to quote. So,
in combination, the two institutions didn’t work.”

On top of that, fewer members of Congress had military experience, or, lack-
ing any time in uniform, had spent time studying the military, as Ike Skelton had
done. There was little political incentive to do so. “They don’t know what ques-
tions to ask, and they’re afraid to show their ignorance by asking what to ask,”
said one dismayed congressional staffer.

Nor did Congress have a separate opening with the military—the old back
channel that Sam Nunn, when he was chairman of the Senate Armed Services
Committee, used to talk to the generals to help him monitor the Pentagon’s civil-
ian leadership. Instead, Congress faced an unusually strong secretary of defense
and an unusually weak chairman of the Joint Chiefs. Air Force Gen. Richard
Myers, the nation’s top military officer in 2002, seemed an incurious man, and
certainly not one to cross a superior. He had ascended to the chairmanship some-
what by accident, having been selected to be the number-two officer on the Joint
Chiefs by people who later said they never envisioned him to go on to the top slot.
Myers’s term as chairman of the Joint Chiefs was characterized by an extraordi-
nary deference to Rumsfeld. He let himself being overruled on issues such as
picking his own staffers for the Joint Staff. Inside the military, he was widely re-
garded as the best kind of uniformed yes-man—smart, hard-working, but wary
of independent thought. The vice chairman, Marine Gen. Peter Pace, was seen as
even more pliable, especially by fellow Marines. “The most damaging sort of mis-
takes that Rumsfeld has made have been on senior officer selection,” said one
Bush administration official involved in defense issues. “You wind up with smil-
ing Pete Pace and smiling Richard Myers.”

Myers is said to have told colleagues that he was doing the best job he could
with this secretary of defense. “General Myers believed that in order to have an
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effect, you had to avoid being confrontational, but get the most you could from

the man,” said another senior officer on the Joint Staff.

Powell pitches a curveball

The first casualty of the Iraq war may have been the reputation of one of My-
ers’s predecessors, Secretary of State Colin Powell. In February 2003 Powell went
to the United Nations and staked his personal credibility on going to war. It was
the old general’s ultimate sacrifice as a good soldier, throwing his good name be-
hind the administration’s campaign and using it to clear out some of the remain-
ing opposition to going to war.

“My colleagues, every statement I make today is backed up by sources, solid
sources,” Powell said early in the speech, as the CIA’s Tenet sat behind him, as if
literally backing him up. “These are not assertions. What we are giving you are
facts and conclusions based on solid intelligence.” Indeed, Powell appeared to lift
the veil on highly classified intelligence sources and methods, sharing crown jewel
information such as intercepted Iraqi military communications. “We have first-
hand descriptions of biological weapons factories on wheels and on rails. Our
conservative estimate is that Iraq today has a stockpile of between one hundred
and five hundred tons of chemical weapons agent. . . . He remains determined to
acquire nuclear weapons. . .. What I want to bring to your attention today is
the potentially much more sinister nexus between Iraq and the al Qaeda terrorist
network.”

Powell didn’t know it, but his bravura performance was a huge house of cards.
It is now known that almost all of what he said that day wasn’t solid, that much of
it was deemed doubtful even at the time inside the intelligence community, and
that some of it was flatly false. The official, bipartisan conclusion of the Senate
Select Committee on Intelligence’s review of the prewar handling of intelligence
was, “Much of the information provided or cleared by the Central Intelligence
Agency for inclusion in Secretary Powell’s speech was overstated, misleading, or
incorrect.” The assertion about chemical weapons would be proven flat wrong.
The assertion about the nuclear program was based heavily on the belief that Iraq
was seeking aluminum tubes for centrifuge to enrich uranium for a nuclear pro-
gram. The key question was whether the tubes were of a lower quality alloy suit-
able for military rockets, or more finely made for nuclear work. “It strikes me as
quite odd that these tubes are manufactured to a tolerance that far exceeds U.S.

requirements for comparable rockets,” Powell said. But the State Department’s
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own intelligence office had contradicted that very assertion two days earlier in its
critique of a draft of Powell’s speech. It objected to that statement about manu-
facture. “In fact,” it stated in a memorandum, “the most comparable U.S. system
is a tactical rocket—the U.S. Mark-66 air-launched 70 mm rocket—that uses the
same, high-grade (7075-T6) aluminum, and that has specifications with similar
tolerances.” Worst of all, the assertion about biological weapons was based largely
on the statements of one defector, codenamed Curveball, whose testimony al-
ready had been discredited. There was a second source for the statements about
biological efforts—and that source had been formally declared a fabricator ten
months earlier by the Defense Intelligence Agency, which was handling him, but
no one had told Powell about that.

The saga of the informant codenamed Curveball underscores the shoddiness
of the case for going to war. Curveball wasn’t actually under U.S. control and hadn’t
been interviewed by any U.S. officials—he was in the hands of German intelligence,
which didn’t permit U.S. officials to see him before the war. After the war, it was
learned that he was the brother of a top aide of Ahmed Chalabi, the Los Angeles
Times reported. (Chalabi would deny this, without explanation.) Investigators in
Iraq also would learn that Curveball hadn’t even been in Iraq for some of the time
during which he claimed to have witnessed key events. In May 2004 the CIA and
DIA would issue a classified report that recanted everything Curveball had
asserted—which had been distributed in 101 separate intelligence agency reports.

Some of the doubts about Curveball already were known when Powell headed
to New York. David Kay, who would later head the Iraq Survey Group, said that
even before the National Intelligence Estimate was published in the fall of 2002,
the Germans had warned the CIA that Curveball was a questionable source. The
day before Powell delivered the UN speech, a Defense Department employee
working at the CIA sent an apprehensive e-mail to the deputy chief of the CIA’s
Iraq task force. Reviewing a draft of Powell’s speech, he was alarmed to see that it
leaned heavily on Curveball’s assertions. But the deputy chief of the CIA task
force was dismissive of such concerns, because, he responded, he saw war with
Iraq as inevitable. “Let’s keep in mind the fact that this war’s going to happen re-
gardless of what Curveball said or didn’t say, and that the Powers That Be proba-
bly aren’t terribly interested in whether Curveball knows what he’s talking about,”
the intelligence officer wrote in the note, which was quoted in the Senate Intelli-
gence Committee report.

When asked by committee investigators why he thought the war was inevit-

able, the intelligence officer said, “My source of information was the Washington
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Post”—an indication of the significant role the media played in paving the road
to the Iraq war, and especially in influencing the views of intelligence operatives.

Powell believed what he said. Richard Armitage, who had gone out to the
CIA’s headquarters in Langley, Virginia, to help prepare Powell for the speech, re-
called the effort that the secretary of state put into it. “He worked for three days,
and parts of all those nights,” Armitage recalled. “He called me up and said, ‘Can
you come with me tomorrow? I need your help.’ And I went up there, and was
there all day. And he went through each point in the speech, every single one, and
looked at everybody in the room, and nobody dissented. Are we sure of the infor-
mation? Are we sure of the sourcing? Is there anything wrong with the sourcing?
And I don’t know what more he could have done.” George Tenet, the CIA director,
was also there as Powell prepared, and kept coming in and out of the room,
ordering his station chiefs to go back and check individual bits of information,
Armitage recalled. “George would go out of the room, ‘Call this country, he’d

3%

say. ... ‘Call that country.

“They’re in the room, and they’re nodding, ‘Everything’s fine,” Armitage re-
called. “What are you going to do? What is he to do? I don’t know.” Armitage’s
conclusion, two years later, was that “the agency let him down big time. . . . The
speech clearly didn’t turn out to hold water.”

In military intelligence circles the speech provoked head shaking at the time.
“After Colin Powell’s address at the UN, my boss and I looked at each other and
said, ‘What is going on here?”” recalled a senior military intelligence officer.
“There was no doubt in my mind how weak the intel was.”

An officer on the Joint Staff, steeped in the war planning, was similarly both-
ered. As he watched the speech, he thought to himself that the Bush administra-
tion, determined to go to war with Irag, had constructed a trap in which any
evidence or lack of it led to the same outcome. “If we find weapons, that means
Saddam is cheating and that means we go to war.” Conversely, “if we don’t find
weapons, that means Saddam is cheating, because he is hiding them.” Yet this
officer’s faith in Powell was such that watching the speech persuaded him to put
aside such doubts. “If he believes it, I believe it, because I put a lot of stock in what
he says,” he recalled thinking after the UN speech. “And I figured that people
above me had information I didn’t have access to.”

In fact, the opposite was the case: The people above this officer weren’t getting
a complete account of the doubts within the intelligence community. As the Sen-

ate Intelligence Committee report showed seventeen months later, much of Pow-
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ell’s speech was based on the National Intelligence Estimate of October 2002, and
that document had been mistaken in all its major findings.

Powell had done the job. His performance had the desired effect of calming
doubts in two camps of notable skeptics—the U.S. military and the pundits of
journalism. The Bush administration’s approach to selling a war in Iraq was to
say, “Trust us,” and Powell was one of the nation’s most trusted figures, especially
among moderates and liberals. So liberal columnists such as Mary McGrory and
William Raspberry, who would be highly skeptical of assertions by Cheney and
Wolfowitz, were more willing to listen to someone like Powell. What persuaded
them more than anything was Powell’s personal credibility and the certitude of
his style. Indeed, little that Powell said that day in New York was even particularly
new. “Almost all of the information in the speech was from intelligence that had
previously been in IC [intelligence community] finished intelligence documents,
in particular from the 2002 NIE on Iraq’s Continuing Programs for Weapons of
Mass Destruction,” the Senate Intelligence Committee noted. “Several of the IC
judgments in the NIE were not substantiated by intelligence source reporting.”
Nonetheless, “he persuaded me,” the Post’s Mary McGrory wrote immediately af-
ter Powell’s speech. “Powell took his seat in the United Nations and put his shoul-
der to the wheel,” she wrote. “He was to talk for almost an hour and a half. His
voice was strong and unwavering. He made his case without histrionics of any
kind, with no verbal embellishments.”

From around the country, other editorials were even more glowing. “Impres-
sive,” said the San Francisco Chronicle. “Masterful,” said the Hartford Courant.
“Overwhelming,” added the Taumpa Tribune. To the Portland Oregonian it was
“devastating.” “Marshal Dillon facing down a gunslinger in Dodge City,” gushed
the Denver Post.

New York Times columnists were more skeptical. While the Washington Post’s
news columns were dubious of war and its editorial page was hawkish, the Times
was the opposite: Its news coverage had beat the WMD drums for months, espe-
cially under the byline of Judith Miller, but those who wrote for its opinion pages
generally were not persuaded. To be sure, Bill Keller, not yet the editor of the
Times, wrote of becoming a member of the “I-Can’t-Believe-’'m-a-Hawk Club.”
But Maureen Dowd was perceptively critical. “The case was less persuasive than
the presenter,” she discerned. “And it was not clear why the presenter had jumped
to the warlike side.” (A few weeks later, she was even sharper: “They stretched and
obscured the truth. First, they hyped CIA intelligence to fit their contention that
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Saddam and Al Qaeda were linked. Then they sent Colin Powell out with hyped
evidence about Iraq’s weapons of mass destruction.”)

Voices presenting other dissenting views—and ones that it is now clear had a
better factual basis—were drowned out by Powell’s performance. In February,
Mohammed ElBaradei, director of the International Atomic Energy Agency, a
nuclear watchdog office, reported to the United Nations, “We have found to date
no evidence of ongoing prohibited nuclear or nuclear-related activities in Iraq.”
Three weeks later, he returned and stated even more emphatically that Iraq’s
weapons capabilities had deteriorated badly since the time of the Desert Fox raid.
“During the past four years,” he told the security council, “at the majority of Iraqi
sites industrial capacity has deteriorated substantially due to the departure of for-
eign support that often was present in the late eighties, the departure of large
numbers of skilled Iragi personnel in the past decade and the lack of consistent

maintenance by Iraq of sophisticated equipment.” He was all but ignored.

Rumsfeld says diplomacy is ending

A few days later Rumsfeld flew to the annual Wehrkunde security conference
in Munich, where he was even more confrontational than Wolfowitz had been at
the previous year’s meeting, delivering a bellicose speech and then going head-to-
head in an on-stage discussion with German foreign minister Joschka Fischer.
His message was that the train was leaving the station, and that the occasion for
argument was over, at least among reasonable people. Rumsfeld insisted he had a
coalition behind him. “A large number of nations have already said they will be
with us in a coalition of the willing—and more are stepping up each day,” he told
hundreds of European and American defense and foreign policy officials crowded
into a hotel ballroom. “Clearly, momentum is building.” We are right and you are
both wrong and ignorant about the threat presented by Iraq, Rumsfeld asserted.
Secretary of State Powell’s UN speech, he declared, “presented not opinions, not
conjecture, but facts.” So, Rumsfeld said, “It is difficult to believe there still could
be question in the minds of reasonable people open to the facts before them.”

The Bush administration’s patience was wearing thin. If the UN didn’t back
the United States against Iraq, he continued, it would be on “a path of ridicule”—
a path, he pointedly noted, that led to the graveyard where the League of Nations
had wound up, “discredited.” In a lengthy question-and-answer session afterward
with the audience, Rumsfeld parried adroitly. Saddam Hussein “wasn’t ‘in the

box.’ ... He has not been contained,” and has been able to obtain pretty much
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whatever weapons he wanted. “Their programs are maturing every day. ...
Diplomacy has been exhausted, almost.”

Foreign Minister Fischer, whose impassioned speech immediately followed
Rumsfeld’s, seemed taken aback by the relentlessness of the U.S. defense secre-
tary’s criticism. On the question of attacking Iraq, Fischer asked several times:
“Why now? . . . Are we in a situation where we should resort to violence now?” At
one point Fischer faced the U.S. delegation to the conference and, switching from
German to English, pointedly said, “Excuse me, I am not convinced.”

Fischer also warned the United States against biting off more than it could
chew in Afghanistan and the Middle East. “You’re going to have to occupy Iraq for
years and years,” he said. “The idea that democracy will suddenly blossom is

something that I can’t share. . . . Are Americans ready for this?”

Wolfowitz says “salaam”

“Salaam alikum,” Paul Wolfowitz said later that month, on a wintry Sunday in
Dearborn, Michigan. The Arabic phrase means “peace be with you,” but he was
attending a war party, meeting with about three hundred Iraqi exiles living in the
Detroit area. “Surely God does not change the condition of the people until they
change their condition,” Wolfowitz said, attributing the quotation to the Koran.
The crowd was a rare one, more hawkish than even Wolfowitz, and it greeted him
with a standing ovation. Waiting for the speech under a banner that read “Sad-
dam Must Go,” Ghazi Shaffo, a native of Baghdad, said, “Every Iraqi wants to
change the regime, everyone.”

“They should do it soon,” added Atheer Karmo, a dentist, also formerly of
Baghdad.

Even among this overwhelmingly friendly crowd, there were discordant notes
of Shiite distrust. One exile rose to give a passionate summary of recent Iraqi
history. Considering that the U.S. government had supported Saddam in the
1980s, he asked, considering that the U.S. had abandoned the Shiites to massacre
in 1991, “why should we here, with all due respect, trust or believe” your new
promises?

Wolfowitz knew well that the Shiites had been wronged in 1991. “I know
there’s a lot of history,” he said. “This is a time not to look to the past but to the
future.” And that future, he said, was “one of the most powerful military forces
ever assembled” now on the borders of Iraq. “If we commit those forces, we’re not

going to commit them for anything less than a free and democratic Iraq.” The



96 FIASCO

U.S. government would not settle for removing Saddam Hussein only to put in
office someone similar, Wolfowitz reassured his listeners. “It’s not going to be
handed over to some junior Saddam Hussein. We’re not interested in replacing
one dictator with another dictator.”

The same day, Wolfowitz was interviewed by the Detroit News. “Our principal
target is the psychological one, to convince the Iraqi people that they no longer
have to be afraid of Saddam,” he said. “And once that happens I think what you're
going to find, and this is very important, you're going to find Iraqis out cheering
American troops.” He was dismissive of the notion that a U.S. intervention might
unleash fighting among Sunnis, Shiites, and Kurds. “I think the ethnic differences

in Iraq are there but they’re exaggerated,” he said.

Shinseki breaks ranks

Gen. Shinseki was less optimistic. Worried by the possibility of “a major influx
of Islamic fighters” from elsewhere in the Middle East, former Army secretary
Thomas White said later, Shinseki concluded that it would be necessary “to size
the postwar force bigger than the wartime force.”

The Army chief of staff prepared carefully for the Capitol Hill appearance at
which he would unveil that thought and effectively go into public opposition
against the war plan being devised under Rumsfeld’s supervision. A series of war
games over the previous year had strengthened his sense that the U.S. military
would need a larger force than Rumsfeld was contemplating. Shinseki had served
in Bosnia, and thought the U.S. military would need at least the per capita represen-
tation of troops it had deployed there. In Bosnia, said former defense secretary
William Perry, the Pentagon had used a formula of one soldier for every fifty Bosni-
ans, which would indicate a force for Iraq of about 300,000, once the relatively
peaceful Kurdish area in the north was subtracted. “Shinseki knew there would be
a tough Phase IV, and who won that would win the second Gulf War,” said Johnny
Riggs, who is now retired but at the time was a lieutenant general at the Army’s
headquarters. “He knew, from his experience, that you need to dominate and
control the environment. If you're so thin and small that you're predictable in
your movements, then you are just treating the symptoms.”

Before heading to Capitol Hill on February 25, 2003, the Army chief asked his-
torians on the Army’s staff to research the number of peacekeepers used in Ger-
many and Japan after World War II and after other conflicts. The data came back
from the Army’s Center of Military History: In Iraq the postwar peacekeeping
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force should probably number about 260,000, the researchers told him. That was
the number in the back of his mind when he went to Capitol Hill and was pinned
down on the issue. “Gen. Shinseki, could you give us some idea as to the magni-
tude of the Army’s force requirement for an occupation of Iraq following a suc-
cessful completion of the war?” asked Sen. Carl Levin, the senior Democrat on the
Senate Armed Services Committee.

“In specific numbers, I would have to rely on the combatant commander’s ex-
act requirements,” Shinseki replied, obeying the military protocol of deferring to
the responsible commander—in this case, Gen. Franks. “But I think—”

“How about a range?” Levin interrupted.

“I would say that what’s been mobilized to this point, something on the order
of several hundred thousand soldiers, are probably, you know, a figure that would
be required.” His reasoning, he added, was that Iraq was a large country with mul-
tiple ethnic tensions, “so it takes significant ground force presence to maintain a
safe and secure environment to ensure that people are fed, that water is distrib-
uted, all the normal responsibilities that go along with administering a situation
like this.”

Shinseki didn’t know it, but that exchange—virtually the only discussion of
Iraq in a hearing that focused more on mundane issues of military force struc-
tures and budgets—would be the most remembered public moment of his four
years as chief of staff of the U.S. Army. His comments were not greeted warmly by
his civilian overseers at the Pentagon. White, the Army secretary, recalled being
told by Wolfowitz that Shinseki had been out of line. “He was not happy that we
had taken a position that was opposed to what his thinking on the subject was.”

Wolfowitz told senior Army officers around this time that he thought that
within a few months of the invasion the U.S. troop level in Iraq would be thirty-
four thousand, recalled Riggs, the Army general then at Army headquarters. Like-
wise, another three-star general, still on active duty, remembers being told to plan
to have the U.S. occupation force reduced to thirty thousand troops by August
2003. An Army briefing a year later also noted that that number was the goal “by
the end of the summer of 2003.”

When Wolfowitz was on the Hill two days later he slapped down Shinseki’s es-
timate. “There has been a good deal of comment—some of it quite outlandish—
about what our postwar requirements might be in Iraq,” he told the House Budget
Committee. “Some of the higher end predictions that we have been hearing re-
cently, such as the notion that it will take several hundred thousand U.S. troops
to provide stability in post-Saddam Iraq, are wildly off the mark.” His reasoning,
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he explained, was that “it is hard to conceive that it would take more forces to pro-
vide stability in post-Saddam Iraq than it would take to conduct the war itself
and to secure the surrender of Saddam’s security forces and his army—hard to
imagine.”

In an intellectually snide aside, he also said that “one should at least pay atten-
tion to past experience.” Bosnia, Wolfowitz maintained, wasn’t the proper prece-
dent to study. “There has been none of the record in Iraq of ethnic militias fighting
one another that produced so much bloodshed and permanent scars in Bosnia,”
he said. Rather, one should look to the far more benign environment of Opera-
tion Provide Comfort in northern Iraq. At any rate, Wolfowitz said, he had met
with Iragi Americans in Detroit a week earlier. Based on what he had heard about
Iraq from them, he said, “I am reasonably certain that they will greet us as libera-
tors, and that will help us keep requirements down.” So, he concluded, “we don’t
know what the requirements will be. But we can say with reasonable confidence
that the notion of hundreds of thousands of American troops is way off the mark.”

In keeping with this extraordinarily optimistic assessment, Wolfowitz also
would assert that same day that oil exports likely would pay for much of Iraq’s
postwar reconstruction. “It’s got already, I believe, on the order of $15 billion to
$20 billion a year in oil exports, which can finally—might finally be—turned to a
good use instead of building Saddam’s palaces,” he told the House Budget Com-
mittee. “There is a lot of money there.” He repeated the point a month later to
another congressional committee, saying that Iraq “can really finance its own re-
construction.” As for an administration official who had told the Washington Post
that the war and its aftermath could cost as much as $95 billion, Wolfowitz said,
“I don’t think he or she knows what he is talking about.” (By mid 2006, the cost of
the war, counting the expenditures in Iraq of all parts of the federal government,
would be close to triple that.)

The Army wasn’t buying the optimism. Retired Army Maj. Gen. William
Nash, who had led the U.S. peacekeeping forces into Bosnia, forecast that spring
that the occupation would take 200,000 troops—almost exactly the troop total in
much of 2004-5, if to the 150,000 U.S. personnel there are added 20,000 private
security contractors and 30,000 allied soldiers.

The debate was far more than a technical squabble about troop numbers.
Andrew Bacevich observed that Shinseki’s comments amounted to a broad attack
on Wolfowitz’s entire approach to the Middle East. “Given that the requisite ad-
ditional troops simply did not exist, Shinseki was implicitly arguing that the U.S.

armed services were inadequate for the enterprise,” Bacevich wrote in the Ameri-
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can Conservative. “Further, he was implying that invasion was likely to produce
something other than a crisp, tidy decision. . .. ‘Liberation’ would leave loose
ends. Unexpected and costly complications would abound. In effect, Shinseki was
offering a last-ditch defense of the military tradition that Wolfowitz was intent on
destroying, a tradition that saw armies as fragile, that sought to husband military
power, and that classified force as an option of last resort. The risks of action,
Shinseki was suggesting, were far, far greater than the advocates for war had let on.”

That subtext about the nature of military force and the wisdom of using it
in Iraq may have been one reason the effects of the exchange between Shinseki
and Wolfowitz were so far reaching. The message the top brass received in re-
turn was that the Bush administration wasn’t interested in hearing about their
worries about Iraq. “There were concerns both before we crossed the line of de-
parture and after,” said one four-star general, looking back much later. “There was
a conscious cutting off of advice and concerns, so that the guy who ultimately
had to make the decision, the president, didn’t get the advice. Well before the
troops crossed the line of departure”—that is, invaded Iraq on March 20, 2003—
“concern was raised about what would happen in the postwar period, how you
would deal with this decapitated country. It was blown off. Concern about a long-
term occupation—that was discounted. The people around the president were so,
frankly, intellectually arrogant,” this general continued. “They knew that postwar
Iraq would be easy and would be a catalyst for change in the Middle East. They
were making simplistic assumptions and refused to put them to the test. It’s the
vice president, and the secretary of defense, with the knowledge of the chairman
of the Joint Chiefs and the vice chairman. They did it because they already had
the answer, and they wouldn’t subject their hypothesis to examination. These are
educated men, they are smart men. But they are not wise men.”

This senior general said he had come to believe that this disinclination to lis-
ten to the doubters would go on to help create the insurgency. By refusing to con-
sider worst-case scenarios, the Pentagon’s civilian leaders didn’t develop answers
to questions about how to conduct an occupation or what to do with the Iraqi
army if it were dissolved. “It’s almost as if, unintentionally, we were working with
Zarqawi to create the maximum amount of chaos possible,” he said, referring to
Abu Musab al-Zarqawi, the Jordanian terrorist who operated in Iraq and affiliated
himself with al Qaeda.

At the time Pentagon officials publicly played down Shinseki’s comments,
claiming he had been mousetrapped into making them. But a month later, when

the Army chief was again on Capitol Hill, he was asked about them again. Yes, he
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told the House Defense Appropriations Subcommittee, he stood by his estimate
of the occupation force that could be necessary in postwar Iraq. “It could be as high
as several hundred thousand,” Shinseki said. “We all hope it is something less.”

Wolfowitz’s slapdown of Shinseki echoed for months across the military,
said Sen. Jack Reed, a member of the Senate Armed Services Committee, who as
a young man had served in the 82nd Airborne. “Not only was he honest, but he
turned out to be right,” Reed, a Rhode Island Democrat, noted two years later.
“He was treated very poorly. I think it’s had a chilling effect, very destructive,
corrosive.”

Inside the uniformed military, officers kept quiet, at least publicly. But their
private unhappiness ran deep. A few weeks before the war began, one civilian
deeply involved in Army affairs meditated on this sad situation. “There is so
much disdain in the services right now for OSD that it has just been reduced to,
‘Fuck you, whatever you want, we don’t’ If OSD ordered the Navy to build an-
other carrier, the Navy would say it wanted sail power.” It was not a healthy state

for a military establishment to be in on the eve of war.

Myers: Iraqis will lead us to the WMD

In early March, not long before the war began, Myers, the chairman of the
Joint Chiefs, met with reporters for a breakfast in a plush meeting room in a
downtown Washington hotel a few blocks from the White House. Like Cheney,
Myers played the secret intelligence card. Some of the inside information about
Irag’s WMD had been revealed by Powell in his United Nations speech, Myers
said, “but there are things you can’t reveal because then your sources and meth-
ods are compromised, and in some cases, people get hurt.”

No, he conceded in response to a reporter’s question, we don’t know where
the WMD are. But he wasn’t worried, he added, because he was confident the
Iragis would lead American troops to the weapons stockpiles soon after the war
began. “They’re playing a giant shell game right now. That shell game, with forces
on the ground, would come to a halt” At that point, “people will come forward
and say, ‘Here’s where this is, here’s where that is””

That, the nation’s top military officer said, was what the war would be all about.
“The ultimate objective isn’t Saddam Hussein,” he explained. “The ultimate ob-
jective is to ensure that Iraq doesn’t have chemical or biological weapons.”

Rumsfeld was similarly emphatic when interviewed by Al Jazeera, the Arabic

satellite television news channel. “I would like to put it to you straight away,” be-
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gan Al Jazeera’s Jamil Azer. “The issue between you, the Bush administration, and
Iraq is not weapons of mass destruction. It is for you, how to get rid of Saddam
Hussein and his regime.”

The defense secretary could not have been clearer in his response. “Well, wrong,”
he said. “It is about weapons of mass destruction. It is unquestionably about that.”

And on that issue, the Bush administration would go to war with rock-hard
certainty. The last word on the issue on the eve of hostilities would be the presi-
dent’s: “Intelligence gathered by this and other governments leaves no doubt that
the Iraq regime continues to possess and conceal some of the most lethal weapons

ever devised.”

The planning for postwar Iraq stumbles

On February 21 and 22, 2003, Garner convened experts from across the U.S.
government to discuss postwar Iraq. The session was notable because, according
to participants, it was the sole occasion before the war when all the warring fac-
tions within the U.S. government met. The official attendance list carries 154
names, but attendees remember many more. “This was the only time the inter-
agency really sat down at the operator level with policy presence and discussed in
detail the activities each of the pillar teams had planned,” recalled Col. Hughes,
now retired but then on active duty. “Folks were seated on windowsills and stand-
ing in the aisles.”

Among those present, according to the official attendance list, were Bill Luti and
Abram Shulsky from Feith’s policy office in the Pentagon, Elliot Abrams from the
National Security Council, Eric Edelman and others from Cheney’s office, and, in
the Central Command contingent, Brig. Gen. Steve Hawkins, the chief of Phase IV
planning for that headquarters. There also were representatives from the CIA and
DIA, the Treasury and Justice departments, and the British and Australian govern-
ments. At twenty-five members, the group from State was nearly the equal of the
Pentagon delegation, which came from a variety of civilian and military offices.

The problems were clear. The group had been set up “far too late,” according
to exhaustive notes taken by one official at the meeting. There weren’t enough troops
in the war plan “for the first step of securing all the major urban areas, let alone
for providing an interim police function.” Without sufficient troops “we risk letting
much of the country descend into civil unrest, chaos whose magnitude may defeat
our national strategy of a stable new Iraq, and more immediately, we place our

own troops, fully engaged in the forward fight, in greater jeopardy.” The meeting
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concluded that security “is far and away the greatest challenge, and the greatest
shortfall. If we do not get it right, we may change the regime, but our national
strategy likely will fall apart.” This issue of having sufficient troops to meet mini-
mum requirements had been brought to Rumsfeld, “who has yet to be convinced.”

What’s more, the note taker wrote, “The humanitarian, reconstruction and
civil affairs efforts will be tremendously expensive.” That conclusion stood in di-
rect contrast to the public statements of the Bush administration.

Of all those speaking those two days, one person in particular caught Garner’s
attention. Scrambling to catch up with the best thinking, Garner was looking for
someone who had assembled the facts and who knew all the players in the U.S.
government, the Iraqi exile community, and international organizations, and had
considered the second- and third-order consequences of possible actions. While
everyone else was fumbling for the facts, this man had a dozen binders, tabbed
and indexed, on every aspect of Iraqi society, from how electricity was generated
to how the port of Basra operated, recalled another participant.

“They had better stuff in those binders than the ‘eyes only’ stuff I eventually
got from CIA,” said a military expert who attended.

“There was this one guy who knew everything, everybody, and he kept on
talking,” Garner recalled. At lunch, Garner took him aside. Who are you? the old
general asked. Tom Warrick, the man answered.

“How come you know all this?” Garner asked.

“I’ve been working on it for a year,” Warrick said. He said he was at the State
Department, where he headed a project called the Future of Iraq, a sprawling ef-
fort that relied heavily on the expertise of Iraqi exiles.

“Come to work for me on Monday,” Garner said. Warrick did.

But it wouldn’t be as easy to keep him. Garner, a straightforward old soldier,
didn’t realize that he had walked into the middle of a running feud between the
State Department and the Defense Department. There were multiple points of
friction. Powell and Rumsfeld didn’t seem to get along, or even be able to address
their differences. There were deep disagreements between them over Iraq, and
those ran down into their departments. Richard Armitage, the deputy secretary
of state, came to believe that one reason Rumsfeld’s office wanted to invade Iraq
with a relatively small force was “because they wanted to disavow the Powell doc-
trine” of using overwhelming or decisive force in military operations.

Aides at each department used the media to take potshots at the other.
“A country that has its own major agencies at war is not going to fight a war

well,” said Dov Zakheim, who was a Vulcan—one of Bush’s advisers on national
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security policy during the 2000 presidential campaign—and later the Pentagon’s
top financial officer. “And State and Defense were at war—don’t let anyone tell
you different. Within policy circles, it was knee-jerk venom, on both sides. Nei-
ther side was prepared to give the other a break. It began in 2001, got exacerbated
during the buildup to Iraq, and stayed on.” The split began at the top, but ex-
tended down to the “working level,” Zakheim said, of “people who had to work
with, and trust, each other—and they didn’t.”

So while the task and stakes facing Garner were huge—certainly the future of
Iraq, possibly the future of the Mideast, perhaps that of U.S. foreign policy in the
region, perhaps the future of the Bush administration—he found himself fo-
cused instead on sniping inside the Bush administration, at Warrick and others
he was recruiting. Apparently there was some sort of ideological test they had
failed, but it was all very mysterious to Garner, even to the extent of exactly who
was administering the exam.

A few days later Garner briefed Rumsfeld on the state of his planning. The
briefing slide on the Iraqi army stated that it would be “necessary to keep Iragi
army intact for a specified period of time. Serves as ready resource pool for labor-
intensive civil works projects.” As the meeting was breaking up and aides were
leaving, Rumsfeld took Garner aside and said he had an issue he needed to discuss
privately. He walked over to his desk and took out some notes, which he reviewed
for a moment, Garner recalled. He then looked up and said, according to Garner,
“You've got two people working for you—Warrick and [Meghan] O’Sullivan—
that you need to get rid of.”

“I can’t, they are smart, really good, knowledgeable,” Garner protested.

Rumsfeld said it was out of his hands. “This comes from such a level that I
can’t do anything about it,” he said, according to Garner. That could mean only
one thing: The purge had been ordered by someone at the White House, and not
just from some underling on the staff of the National Security Council. Garner
felt his group, just getting off the ground, was being hamstrung. Worried and up-
set, he went to see Stephen Hadley, the low-key deputy to Condoleeza Rice at the
NSC. Again he was faced with a senior official telling him it was out of his hands.
“I can’t do anything about it,” Hadley told Garner.

Garner then had one of his staffers call around national security circles in the
government to find out what was going on. “He was told the word had come from
Cheney,” he recalled.

When Powell got word of the ouster of Warrick and O’Sullivan, he called
Rumsfeld and asked, “What the hell is going on?” Rumsfeld responded that the
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work of postwar planning had to be done by people devoted to the task who sup-
ported the policy.

The tug-of-war over Garner’s personnel picks never really ended. “Anybody
that knows anything” was removed, Armitage said later. “They didn’t like Warrick
and Meghan [O’Sullivan], because they were both inconvenient—you know,
wanted the facts to get into the equation. These were not people who stood up for
the party line, that we’d be welcomed with garlands. We bitched about it, and all
Rumsfeld said was, ‘I got the higher authority’ And he didn’t say whom. Well, not
many higher”

Garner to Feith: “Shut the fuck up or fire me”

On March 11, Garner met the media at the Pentagon for a backgrounder, which
meant he spoke under ground rules that allowed reporters to identify him at the
time only as a senior defense official. Among the principles he laid down for post-
war Iraq was that an obtrusive U.S. role would be short and the Iraqi army would
continue to exist. “We intend to immediately start turning some things over, and
every day, we'll turn over more things,” Garner said. “I believe that’s our plan.”
As for the Iraqi military, “a good portion” would be useful to work in the recon-
struction of the country. “We’d continue to pay them. Using army allows us not
to demobilize it immediately and put a lot of unemployed people on the street.”
The overall duration of the U.S. presence, he said, would be short. “I'll probably
come back to hate this answer, but I'm talking months.”

Each and every one of these statements was destined to be reversed just eight
weeks later, when Garner would be succeeded in mid-May by Ambassador L. Paul
Bremer. But the comment that got Garner in trouble that day in the Pentagon
wasn’t any of those. Rather, it was his repeated denial of any intention to give a
role to Ahmed Chalabi’s Iraqi National Congress. When specifically asked about
working with the group the Iraqi exile had formed as the putative core of a new
government, Garner was dismissive. “I think you’re going to see a lot of people
putting forth groups,” he said. Nor, he said, was he seeking to hire INC members
for his humanitarian operations.

The undersecretary of defense for policy was livid with him afterward for his
attitude toward Chalabi, Garner recalled. “Feith loved him.” One day during plan-
ning sessions, “Feith spent an afternoon extolling the virtues of Ahmed Chalabi.
He said, trying to show how good Chalabi was, ‘You know, Jay, when you get

»

there, we could just make Chalabi president”” (Many in the uniformed military
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had a different view of Chalabi. “I never liked him, and none of my analysts ever
trusted him,” said a military intelligence official.)

After the briefing Feith summoned Garner and shouted at him over the disre-
spect shown Chalabi. “You’ve ruined everything, how could you say this?” Feith
said, according to Garner.

“Doug, you've got two choices,” Garner remembers responding. “You can shut
the fuck up, or you can fire me.” Garner thought afterward that Feith had settled
for the first of the two options. But he also was told that he wasn’t allowed to
speak to the media, even on background. One result was that over the next several
weeks, relations between his group and a frustrated press corps worsened notably.
And then, by mid-May, he would find out that Feith and others at the Pentagon
essentially had settled on option two.

The next day Garner took his whole staff out to Fort Meade, a sprawling Army
base in the Maryland suburbs of Washington, for training in the use of pistols,
maps, and other military basics. Two days later, as the training was ending, Rums-
feld called and asked for a final briefing. It was a Friday, and the Garner group was
leaving for Kuwait on Sunday.

Garner went down to the Pentagon on Saturday, March 15. “What are you
going to do for de-Baathification?” Rumsfeld asked, according to Garner.

Garner saw two possibilities. Either the locals will have killed the most offen-
sive Baathists, or over time, the locals will point them out. So, Garner said, his
plan was to remove just two people in each ministry and major government
office—the top Baathist and the chief personnel officer. “Well, that sounds fine
with me until we get you a policy,” Rumsfeld responded.

Garner also reviewed with the defense secretary his plans for dealing with
famines, epidemics, and oil fires—the problems he expected to face upon arrival
in Iraq. At the end, Rumsfeld appeared uneasy, Garner recalled. “I'm very uncom-
fortable with this,” the defense secretary told Garner.

Garner was almost speechless. “This is a hell of a time to tell me,” he said.
“I'm leaving tomorrow.”

No, said Rumsfeld, I’'m not objecting to your perspective on the likely prob-
lems. “It’s not the plans, it’s the people,” he said, according to Garner. There were
too many outsiders, too many State Department types. “I think we should have
Defense Department people.”

Rumsfeld was replicating in microcosm with Garner nit-picking he had done
with Franks over the war plan. There the numbers had been tens of thousands,

but here the issue was just a few dozen people. Garner said it was simply too late
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to rejigger the staff. Instead, Rumsfeld exacted a promise that on the long airplane
ride to Kuwait, Garner would review his roster and see if any last-minute substi-
tutions could be made.

Even then, Feith and his aides didn’t give up. A week later, Garner recalls, one
of them, Ryan Henry, called him in Kuwait with a list of Defense Department
picks for Garner’s staff. “When are they gonna be here?” Garner asked. Henry, an
assistant in Feith’s policy office, said he didn’t know. Well, said Garner, I'm going
to be in Baghdad in a couple of weeks.

Three days later, Henry called him again. “There’s a little glitch in that list,”
he said.

“The whole goddamn list is a glitch,” snarled Garner.

“Well, the White House wants to put in some of their own people,” Henry
said, according to Garner. The result, he said, was that some staff members didn’t
appear in Baghdad until the end of May—an absence that may have helped under-
cut the U.S. presence during the crucial transitional period.

Meanwhile, he said, the continued squabbling between Defense and State
made Garner’s staff feel unsupported, even beleaguered, as it prepared for its mis-
sion. “That DoD fighting with the State Department—that caused all sorts of de-
spair on the team,” Garner said.

One day while Garner and his team were still waiting in Kuwait to head into
Iraq, Col. Hughes was told to go out to the airport to pick up Lawrence Di Rita,
a brash ex-Navy officer who was one of Rumsfeld’s closest aides, and who was be-
ing sent out to Iraq more or less as the personal emissary of the defense secretary.
For Hughes, who was working on long-term strategy for Garner, it was an oppor-
tunity to get the inside skinny from someone familiar with the thinking at the
top. So as they were driving on the broad freeway back down into Kuwait City,
heading toward the Kuwait Hilton, Hughes brought up the subject. 'm putting
together a strategy paper for postwar Iraq, and would welcome your input, he said.

Don’t bother, he recalled Di Rita responding. “Within 120 days, we’ll win this
war and get all U.S. troops out of the country, except 30,000, Di Rita said, Hughes
recalled. Di Rita also told him that the office of the secretary of defense “viewed
Haiti, Kosovo, Bosnia, and even Afghanistan as failures, and this wasn’t going to
be their failure.”

The next morning they had breakfast together. “Look,” Hughes said, “this is
the good, the bad, and the ugly.” The good was the hard work Garner’s group had
done. The bad was that there was going to be a war. “But the ugly is the shenani-
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gans that are going on inside the Beltway between State and Defense.” Di Rita just
stared down into his eggs and didn’t respond, Hughes recalled.

“That was the last real conversation I ever had with him,” Hughes added.

Di Rita, for his part, remembered the conversations differently. First he flatly
denied that the conversation had occurred. “I never said anything approaching what
he says I said,” he insisted in a telephone interview. “It is false.” Later, in a face-to-
face interview, he said that before arriving in Kuwait he visited Centcom’s head-
quarters in Qatar, where he had heard much discussion of quick troop reductions.
“I may have repeated some of that thinking when I got to Kuwait,” he said.

The Unified Mission Plan drawn up by Garner and his staff during that pe-
riod in Kuwait was surprisingly clear-eyed. It began with the statement, “History
will judge the war against Iraq not by the brilliance of its military execution, but
by the effectiveness of the post-hostilities activities.” Nor did it expect a free ride:
“The potential for instability is likely to exist for some time after the war is over.
The most probable threat will come from residual pockets of fanatics, secession-
ist groups, terrorists and those who would seek to exploit ethnic, religious, and
tribal fault lines.”

Yet at the same time, Garner had a short-term conception of his task that
seems to have led him to underestimate it. He seemed to think he faced simply a
larger version of Provide Comfort, the 1991 relief operation in the north, said a
U.S. government official who was involved both in that earlier effort and in the
U.S. occupation in 2003. “That was a big mistake—it was not going to be a big
Provide Comfort,” this nonmilitary official said. When Garner was told that he
needed a large and well-designed information management system, he would re-
spond, “If it’s not useful in two weeks, we don’t want it; our time is short, and this

job’s going to be over quick.”

Experts’ prewar concerns about postwar Iraq

In the messy aftermath of the invasion, the Bush administration tended to
dismiss critics as “Monday morning quarterbacks.” That phrase conveniently dis-
regarded the fact that many of the critics had expressed their worries before the
war even began, in part because of the accounts they were hearing from insiders
at the Pentagon and in Garner’s organization.

“I don’t see a lot of operational risks in the front end,” Frank Hoffman, a con-

sultant to the Marine Corps who is steeped in military history, said on March 12.
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“I think the larger risks are the length and costs of post-Iraq stability operations
and the opportunity costs we will be incurring.”

Likewise, retired Col. John Warden, one of the Air Force’s brightest strategists
since the Vietnam War, wrote the same day in an e-mail, “Biggest risk by far is
strategic and is in the post-war period. When the British took over after WWI
from the Ottomans, they found themselves being assassinated from almost the
first day and saw the whole area in open rebellion within a year. . . . What do we
do when small bands of fanatic Muslims start creeping across the border from
Iraq, Syria, or Saudi Arabia?” The bottom line, he added, was that the United
States faced a “very high risk from the strategic side with years of difficult and
very expensive occupation.”

“What will be the reaction in this country when/if nothing much is discovered
regarding WMD?” asked Daniel Kuehl, a professor at the National Defense Uni-
versity, in an e-mail on March 10. Also, said Kuehl, an airpower expert who had
been a planner in the 1991 war, “I think the course of the war itself will be meas-
ured in a few weeks, but the Reconstruction (upper case intended, as a compari-
son to our own 1865-76) will last years. It won’t be a physical reconstruction so
much as a political one.”

Yet where the critics went off course was in predicting that domestic political
effect of prolonged fighting in Iraq, the first sustained ground combat involving
U.S. forces since the Vietnam War. Most of those who correctly envisaged a diffi-
cult occupation also wrongly foresaw that Bush’s presidency would be severely
hampered by that outcome, rather than sailing to reelection even as the Iraqi in-
surgents launched a fierce offensive. Nor were Bush’s fortunes much damaged by
the failure to find stockpiles of chemical or biological weapons. It may be that the
Bush administration’s misjudgment of the outcome in Iraq was balanced by its
more accurate sense of the mood of the post-9/11 American public, which had
suffered three thousand dead that day, and in the years that followed would prove
more tolerant of military casualties and less sensitive about the reasons for going
to war in Iraq than many experts expected.

On March 18, Rep. Ike Skelton sent a second letter to Bush. He still felt that he
didr’t understand what the president had in mind. Among other things, he was
worried about “a ragged ending to a war as we deal with the aftermath.” This time
the White House sent two National Security Council staffers, Eliott Abrams and
Stephen Hadley, to Capitol Hill to reassure Skelton. “They told me, ‘It’s going to
be all right, Ike,” he recalled, shaking his head slowly.

The Bush administration’s official line of empty optimism would reach
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its nadir a few weeks later when Andrew Natsios, head of the U.S. Agency for In-
ternational Development, assured Ted Koppel on Nightline that the U.S. govern-
ment’s contribution to rebuilding Iraq would be just $1.7 billion. Koppel,
incredulous, asked him if he was really suggesting that that number would be the
total tab.

“Well, in terms of the American taxpayers’ contribution, I do, this is it for the
U.S.,” Natsios responded. Other countries would chip in. “But the American part
of this will be $1.7 billion.”

Koppel later returned to this question: It’s going to be that number no matter
how long it takes? Absolutely, said Natsios. “That is our plan and that is our inten-
tion,” he said. Then, characteristically of the Bush administration at this time, he
attacked those who said it would cost more. “These figures, outlandish figures I've
seen, I have to say, there’s a little bit of hoopla involved in this.” (Oddly, six
months later, Rumsfeld said he doubted that Natsios ever had said this: “He is ad-
ministrator of AID, and he has to know that the total cost, to use your phrase, of
reconstruction in Iraq is not 1.7, and I just can’t believe he said that,” the defense
secretary said at a Pentagon press conference.)

Since then, the American taxpayer has paid more than ten times Natsios’s pre-
dicted figure, with no end in sight, to rebuild in Iraq. And that is before the cost
of the continuing war—as of the middle of 2006, a total of about $250 billion, ac-
cording to the Congressional Research Service, which includes expenditures by

both the Pentagon and the State Department.

Heading north without a plan

As war was about to begin, everything was ready except for one thing: a real
war plan. The official view at the Pentagon is that solid planning was done. “The
idea that the U.S. government had no plan for the aftermath of war is false,”
Wolfowitz insisted in July 2003. It was just, he said, that “every plan requires ad-
justment once conflict begins.”

But many other participants disagree, as—increasingly—do military histori-
ans who have examined the record. Lt. Gen. Kellogg was one of the senior mem-
bers of the staff of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, overseeing systems for the command
and control of forces. “I was there for all the planning, all the execution” of the
Iraq war plan, and then later served in Iraq. “I saw it all.” But what he never saw
was a real plan for Phase IV—that is, what to do after toppling Saddam Hussein’s
regime. “There was no real plan,” Kellogg said. “The thought was, you didn’t need
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it. The assumption was that everything would be fine after the war, that they’d be
happy they got rid of Saddam.”

Despite the many studies and briefings done, wrote Maj. Isaiah Wilson, who
served as an official Army historian during the spring 2003 invasion and later as
a strategic planner in Iraq, “there was no Phase IV plan” for occupying Iraq after
the combat phase. While various offices had produced studies, he said in a paper
later delivered at Cornell University, there was “no single plan as of 1 May 2004
that described an executable approach to achieving the stated strategic endstate
for the war.”

Marine Col. Nicholas Reynolds, an official Corps historian, agreed that he
found nothing worthy of being considered a plan: “Nowhere in Centcom or
CFLCC had there been a plan for Phase IV that was like the plan for Phase III, let
alone all of the preparations that accompanied it, including the cross talk during
its development, the many rehearsals of concept drills, and the exchange of liai-
son officers.”

The reason for this omission, said Army Col. Gregory Gardner, who served on
the Joint Staff and then was assigned to the Coalition Provisional Authority
(CPA), the U.S. occupation headquarters, as his last post before retiring, was that
it was seen as unnecessary. “Politically, we'd made a decision that we’d turn it
over to the Iraqis in June” of 2003, recalled Gardner. “So why have a Phase IV
plan?”

Eclipse II, as the Army’s plan for Phase IV operations was code-named, was
founded on three basic assumptions, all of which ultimately would prove false.
These were, according to an internal Army War College summary:

+ That there would be large numbers of Iraqi security forces willing and
able to support the occupation. Or, as the War College’s Strategic Stud-
ies Institute put it in PowerPointese, “Availability of significant numbers
of Iraqi military and police who switched sides.”

+ That the international community would pick up the slack from the U.S.
military—that is, “significant support from other nations, international
organization, and nongovernmental organizations.” It isn’t clear what
this assumption was based on, given the widespread and building oppo-
sition to the U.S.-led invasion.

« That an Iragi government would quickly spring into being, permitting a
“quick handoff to Iraqi interim administration with UN mandate.”
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A Rand Corp. study written in 2005 after a review of the classified record
noted in a matter-of-fact manner, “Post-conflict stabilization and reconstruction
were addressed only very generally, largely because of the prevailing view that the
task would not be difficult” It recommended that in future, to remedy such
shortsighted thinking, “some process for exposing senior officials to possibilities
other than those being assumed in their planning also needs to be introduced.”

When assumptions are wrong, everything built on them is undermined. Be-
cause the Pentagon assumed that U.S. troops would be greeted as liberators and
that an Iraqi government would be stood up quickly, it didn’t plan seriously for
less rosy scenarios. Because it so underestimated the task at hand, it didn’t send
a well-trained, coherent team of professionals, but rather an odd collection
of youthful Republican campaign workers and other novices. Nor did it send
enough people. In part because of the poor quality and sheer lack of CPA person-
nel, the U.S. occupation authorities would prove unable to adjust their stance
quickly when assumptions proved wrong. Because of that incompetence, the CPA
would be unable to provide basic services such as electricity, clean water, and se-
curity to the Iraqi population, and so in the fall of 2003 it would begin to lose the
lukewarm support it had enjoyed.

But on March 19, 2003, that unfortunate chain of consequences still lay hid-
den in the future. “I hope this thing goes down as fast as everyone thinks,” Capt.
Lesley Kipling, an Army communications officer on the staff of Col. Teddy Spain,
the MP commander, wrote that night to her boyfriend, an Army captain back in
Germany. But just in case, the small brown-haired female officer wrote as she sat
in her tent near the Iraqi border, please put in the mail a new leg holster to hold

her 9 millimeter pistol.
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istory will record that America’s strategy for fighting terrorism was a good
Hstrategy, that the plan for Operation Iraqi Freedom was a good plan—and
that the execution of that plan by our young men and women in uniform was un-
equalled in its excellence by anything in the annals of war,” Gen. Franks asserted
in his memoir, American Soldier.

It now seems more likely that history’s judgment will be that the U.S. invasion
of Iraq in the spring of 2003 was based on perhaps the worst war plan in Ameri-
can history. It was a campaign plan for a few battles, not a plan to prevail and se-
cure victory. Its incompleteness helped create the conditions for the difficult
occupation that followed. The invasion is of interest now mainly for its role in
creating those problems.

In the spring of 2003 the U.S. military fought the battle it wanted to fight, mis-
takenly believing it would be the only battle it faced. This was a failure of think-
ing, and planning, and the first of several strategic missteps that would place the
U.S. occupation of Iraq on a foundation of sand. “I like Rumsfeld,” said one Air
Force general. “I appreciate him. But he should have said to Franks sometime in
2002 that there was an error of omission” in the failure of the plan to consider
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how to consolidate the victory. “Looking back on it, it was the absolute wrong
thing to do” to go to war with a half-baked plan, he said. “Once they made the de-
cision that there would be a separate plan for the postwar, that was the mistake.”

Others blame Franks for devising a plan that didn’t link actions on the ground
to the ultimate goal of the war. “It was a horrible war plan,” said Washington
Institute for Near East Policy’s Patrick Clawson, “because everybody was saying
that you need to fight the war in such a way that you stand up a new authority
afterward—and the war plan didn’t have a depth of thinking about that.” In mil-
itary terms, there was a disconnect between the stated strategic goal of transform-
ing the politics of Iraq and the Mideast and the plan’s focus on the far more
limited aim of simply removing Saddam Hussein’s regime.

COBRA II, the ground component of the classified U.S. war plan, began by
flatly stating the intention of the nation in going to war: “The purpose of this op-
eration is to force the collapse of the Iraqi regime and deny it the use of WMD to
threaten its neighbors and U.S. interests in regions.” The plan that follows that
statement of intent is designed to achieve that relatively narrow goal. “The end-
state for this operation is regime change,” COBRA I states a few paragraphs later.

But the United States wasn’t invading Iraq just to knock off a regime. “If the
intent of operations in Iraq in 2003 was merely ‘regime destruction, which it was
not, then the short, decisive warfighting operation of March and April 2003
might in itself have constituted success,” Maj. Gen. Jonathan Bailey noted shortly
after retiring from the British army in 2005. “In all other respects it might have

been counterproductive.”

A false start

Fittingly, a war justified by false premises began on false information.

Combat commenced on March 20, 2003, in Irag—it was still the evening
of March 19 in Washington, D.C.—with a volley of cruise missiles and bunker-
penetrating bombs against Doura Farms, a group of houses sometimes used by
Saddam Hussein located in a palm grove on the western bank of the Tigris in the
southern outskirts of Baghdad. After the CIA received hot intelligence indicating
that Saddam was there, Tenet rushed with the information to the White House,
and the decision was made to accelerate the invasion plan. At the time, it was
thought the air strike might have killed or wounded Saddam, but in fact he seems
to have been nowhere in the area. The activity in the tree line that had excited the
CIA that day likely was just the security guards and farmhands from Doura
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Farms. Sajad Hassan, a guard at the main gate, said in an interview that everyone
knew war was coming and that the U.S. bombing would target Saddam’s palaces,
so they had moved their families and most valuable possessions into the groves
nearly a mile outside the walls of the compound. “We were damned sure the pres-
idential palaces would be bombed,” he said.

Richard Perle later concluded that the U.S. government had been fooled.
“There is reason to believe that we were sucked into an initial attack aimed at Sad-
dam himself by double agents planted by the regime,” he would tell the House
Armed Services Committee in April 2005. “This was, I believe, a successful intel-
ligence operation by Saddam Hussein in which we were led to believe that he was
in a certain location, and he wasn’t there.”

What followed on the U.S. side was a very conventional campaign designed as
an attack by one state’s military on another’s, Maj. Isaiah Wilson later concluded.
“It was a war focused operationally on the destruction of the Iraqi army—
the state’s warfighting capability—and destruction of the Hussein state appara-
tus,” he wrote. In this sense, he added, it was effectively “a continuation” of the
1991 war.

The ground attack began at dawn on March 21, when it was still March 20
back in Washington, the reason some accounts differ on the date. The total U.S.-
led invasion force consisted of fewer than three Army divisions, plus a big Marine
division and a British division. Underscoring the relatively small size of the force,
there were just 247 Army tanks in the force driving into Iraq from Kuwait, and
about an equal number of Bradley fighting vehicles. The entire ground invasion
force amounted to about 145,000 troops, including the British contribution—
that is, well under half the size of the force that Gen. Zinni had called for in his
Desert Crossing invasion plan. In March 2003 there was just one heavy Army di-
vision, the 3rd Infantry Division, plus a helicopter-rich light division, the 101st
Airborne, and two infantry brigades (from the 82nd Airborne and a freestanding
unit, the 173rd Airborne Brigade) plus some Special Operations units, for a total
of about 65,000 troops. The Marine contingent added another 60,000, and the
British 1st Armored Division some 20,000. They were attacking a weakened Iraqi
military that was one-third the size it had been in 1991, but which still fielded
about 400,000 troops and 4,000 tanks and other amored vehicles. More signifi-
cantly, it would develop, the Iraqis also had in waiting tens of thousands of irreg-
ular fighters called fedayeen.

The 3rd Infantry Division—despite its name, it is a unit heavy in tanks and

other armored vehicles—sprinted about 90 miles from the Kuwaiti border across
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the desert to An Nasiriyah, where it seized a key airfield and, even more impor-
tantly, some bridges over the Euphrates. After turning those key spans over to the
Marines, the division turned left and charged northward along the western bank
of the Euphrates, toward Karbala. The Marines secured the southern oil fields,
then moved north and began crossing the Euphrates around Nasiriyah and at-
tacking up into the land between the rivers. British armored forces, meanwhile,
peeled to the right from Kuwait to besiege Basrah, Iraq’s second biggest city.
Much smaller numbers of Special Operations troops swarmed into the far west,
where their mission was to prevent Scud missile launches against Israel, and into
the north, where they linked up with Kurdish fighters.

It didn’t take long for the Iraqi side to begin operating unconventionally. The
first taste of what lay in store for the Americans in Iraq for the next several years
came just over one day into the war, early on March 22, when Sgt. 1st Class An-
thony Broadhead, a platoon sergeant in the Crazy Horse troop of the 3rd Infantry
Division’s cavalry unit, the spearhead of the division, was looking out of a tank
heading toward a bridge in As Samawah, a town 60 miles past Nasiriyah on the
invasion route. He waved at a group of Iraqis. Instead of waving back, they began
attacking with AK-47 rifles, rocket-propelled grenades, and mortars, riding at the
American tanks in pickup trucks. “For the first, but not the last time, well-armed
paramilitary forces, indistinguishable, except for their weapons, from civilians—
attacked,” recorded the Army’s official history of the invasion. Another taste of
the difficult future waiting for the United States in Iraq came several days later,
when four U.S. soldiers were killed in Najaf in the first suicide car bombing of
the war.

The expectation that Iraqi commanders in the south would surrender and
even bring their forces over to the side of the Americans by the thousands proved
wrong: not one commander did so. “We were absolutely convinced, in a lot of
ways, that this guy was going to capitulate with all these southern forces,” Gen.
Thurman, the operations director for the ground invasion, said later. “We were
told that by the CIA. We were told that by . . . intel reports, in the assessment. And
that isn’t what happened. We had to fight our way through every town.”

Public debate over troop strength

In the following days the long-running debate about whether there were
enough troops in the invasion force, which mainly had occurred behind closed

doors, burst into the open. It would continue to be argued for years.
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The issue was driven into public view by the Jessica Lynch debacle, in which a
poorly trained and led support unit got lost in Iraq in part because of a lack of
troops to direct convoy traffic at key points. Early on the morning of March 23,
Lynch’s unit, the 507th Maintenance Company, was at the tail end of a slow-
moving six-hundred-vehicle convoy when it missed a turn and drove into
Nasiriyah, where it ran into a series of ambushes. Of thirty-three soldiers in the
lost section, eleven were killed, nine were wounded, and seven captured. The unit
“was not trained to be in the situation they were in, was not equipped to be there,
no GPS [Global Positioning System, a satellite-guided navigation system], no ra-
dios, no training on crew-served weapons, only one crew-served weapon in there,
no night vision” gear, was the harsh but accurate judgment later delivered by Gen.
Peter Schoomaker after he became Army chief of staff.

That night brought another ugly surprise, when the 11th Attack Helicopter
Regiment was hammered when it carried out an attack deep behind the front lines.
Its mission was to destroy the armored vehicles and artillery pieces of the Medina
Division northeast of Karbala before they reached the front. But the helicopters
never really engaged the enemy unit, and instead turned back after running into a
storm of rifle fire. One helicopter was lost and its two crewmen captured. Of thirty-
two aircraft that returned to base, thirty-one had been hit by enemy fire. One air-
craft alone had twenty-nine bullet holes, according to the Army’s history. It was a
shock to Army aviators who liked to think of their AH-64 Apaches as flying tanks.
The defeat would reverberate through the Army for years. Early in 2006, the Army
quietly disclosed that it had concluded that the Apache was so vulnerable to rifle
fire that it would no longer have a major role in attacks deep behind enemy lines.

The two setbacks combined to sharpen questions among defense experts about
the wisdom of going to war with the force Rumsfeld had dictated to the military.
Most notably, Army Gen. Barry McCaffrey, commander of the 24th Infantry Di-
vision in the 1991 war, was sharply critical at the time. “In my judgment, there
should have been a minimum of two heavy divisions and an armored cavalry reg-
iment on the ground—that’s how our doctrine reads,” said the hard-bitten sol-
dier, who to the irritation of the Pentagon had become a frequent commentator
on television. “They chose to go into battle with a ground combat capability that
was inadequate, unless their assumptions proved out.”

Another Gulf War commander agreed. “It is my position that we would be
much better off if we had another heavy division on the ground, and an armored
cavalry regiment to deal with this mission in the rear,” said retired Army Lt. Gen.
Thomas Rhame, who had led the 1st Infantry Division in 1991.
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A third Gulf War veteran, the retired Army Maj. Gen. William Nash, said that
he was especially worried that the lack of troops could undercut the postwar oc-
cupation. “The stability of the liberated areas is clearly an issue,” he said. “The
postwar transition has to begin immediately in the wake of the attacking forces,
and they seem to be short of forces for those important missions at this time.”

The chorus of criticism got under Myers’s skin; he was in the difficult position
of being a career pilot and Air Force officer responding to the views of men who
had been senior commanders in ground combat. He responded with uncharac-
teristic ferocity in a Pentagon briefing. “My view of those reports—and since I don’t
know who you're quoting, who the individuals are—is that they’re bogus,” began
the usually bland Myers. “I don’t know how they get started, and I don’t know
how they’ve been perpetuated, but it’s not been by responsible members of the
team that put this all together. They either weren’t there, or they don’t know, or
they’re working another agenda, and I don’t know what that agenda might be.”

He then went on to hint that such criticism was unpatriotic, coming during
wartime. “It is not helpful to have those kind of comments come out when we’ve
got troops in combat, because first of all, they’re false, they’re absolutely wrong,
they bear no resemblance to the truth, and it’s just, it’s just harmful to our troops

that are out there fighting very bravely, very courageously,” Myers said.

Additional troop cuts

One likely reason for the antagonism in Myers’s comments was that there
were intense discussions under way at the Pentagon of just that issue, of how
many more troops to send to Iraq. “That week was bad juju,” recalled a planner
on the Joint Staff who participated in a series of briefings to Rumsfeld that be-
came a running discussion of whether all the additional troops on the deploy-
ment list were really needed. The military overwhelmingly believed that all the
troops on the list should be sent. This officer recalled one briefing that came not
long after the Jessica Lynch mess in which Abizaid, speaking in a secure video tele-
conference, said to Army Lt. Gen. Walter “Skip” Sharp, the J-5, or director of plans
and strategy, for the Joint Chiefs of Staff, “Hey, Skip, I think we’re going to need
the whole force package.” A few weeks later, when planners at Combined Joint Task
Force-7 did a formal troop to task analysis, they concluded that they needed a force
of 250,000 to 300,000—almost double what they had on hand at the time.

The war plans called for additional forces to be sent after the fall of Baghdad,
noted Conrad Crane. But the two top civilians at the Pentagon remained skepti-
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cal. “I don’t see why it would take more troops to occupy the country than to take
down the regime,” Wolfowitz said in one meeting, recalled the officer involved
in Pentagon planning. Rumsfeld had similar reservations about whether the
1st Cavalry Division was really needed, the officer said. It and the 1st Armored
Division had been in the plan as insurance in case some of the lead forces in the
invasion were hit with chemical or biological weapons, said Agoglia. With the
passage of time, when it became less likely that the U.S. invasion force was going
to be attacked, pressure increased from the Pentagon civilians to stop moving
those two follow-on divisions.

At one point, the war planner spoke up to urge that the military “fly in the 2nd
ACR now—at least one squadron, and the whole regiment, if you can.” The point
he remembered making to Rumsfeld was that the invasion force needed to do a
better job of protecting its lines of communication, and that the regiment would
be ideal for operating independently, securing key intersections, and reconnoiter-
ing routes. Even with the 2nd Armored Cavalry Regiment in the pipeline, senior
military officials in both Washington and on the ground in Iraq worried as Bagh-
dad was about to fall that the force lacked combat depth. Wolfowitz remained
strongly opposed to sending the two heavy divisions, the 1st Armored and the
1st Cavalry.

After one meeting, the senior officers involved in the discussion trudged
downstairs to the offices of the Joint Staff. Casey, who by that point had been pro-
moted to the important job of director of the Joint Staff, looked at his two key
subordinates—Sharp, the J-5, and Air Force Lt. Gen. Norton Schwartz, the J-3,
or head of operations—and said, “I think we just lost the 1st Cav.” Casey indi-
cated that he thought the running argument was eroding relations with Rumsfeld
and Wolfowitz and so needed to be brought to an end, another Joint Staff officer
recalled.

Top officers feared that if the discussions dragged on, Rumsfeld would decide
that the 1st Armored Division really wasn’t needed either. So they made the argu-
ment to Rumsfeld that it was essential to send it, and to keep the 1st Cav on hold,
possibly for sending in midsummer. The defense secretary ultimately agreed to
that hedge plan. But there was an edge of bitterness to that session: “As we’re
walking out the door of the office, the secretary is behind his desk and he looks
up and says, ‘Goddamit, I wonder how long it’s going to take this to get in the
newspaper.” Years later, this officer remained unhappy with his role in those dis-
cussions. “They did not take best military advice,” he said. He felt that he had suc-

cumbed to a process in which he had compromised his judgment, making bids
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and agreeing when Rumsfeld okayed just half of what he believed was truly nec-
essary. “There’s a bargaining that goes on,” he said. “To this day I feel I let people
down, because we bargained. . . . I failed.” More than two years later, he added,
“I have angst every day about that. We didn’t get it right, and fifteen hundred
troopers”—the number of U.S. dead in Iraq at the time he was speaking—“have
paid a price for that”

In all these weeks of arguments over troop deployments, the voice that he
thought was missing was that of Gen. Franks. “The military could have gotten it
if the combatant commander had come down on it firmly and said, ‘I want the
whole force package.”

Col. Kevin Benson, the chief planner at CFLCC, the headquarters for the
ground invasion force, would later argue that the decision not to send additional
troops was the tipping point that led to the subsequent insurgency. “You know,
“there was probably a moment”—and now this is Benson’s personal opinion—
“there was a moment where some of my Arab friends told me that if we’d have
kept the lid on, we probably wouldn’t have had these problems. OK, conjecture.
How do we keep the lid on? Well, we continue the force flow. We don’t stop. We
leave everyone in place.”

Another, more insidious effect of these endless arguments with Rumsfeld and
Wolfowitz was its opportunity cost, said Agoglia. “Every friggin’ request, they
wanted to see the numbers, they wanted to know how many reservists,” he re-
called. “It delayed every move, and sucked energy out of Centcom staff. It was
ridiculous. There is only so much capacity a staff has, and this was bullshit. It
sucked the energy out of long-term thinking.”

If anything, commanders on the ground were even more deeply concerned
than the Joint Staff about their thinness. Gen. Thurman expressed his regret a few
months later to an official Army historian over the small size of the force on hand.
Despite pushing from him and his superior, McKiernan, the ground force com-
mander, the 1st Cavalry Division had been dropped at the last moment. “It’s
turning out right now that we need these forces,” Thurman said in mid-2003.

McKiernan, in his own official debriefing later that June, sounded almost
wistful. “I think everybody’s going to come to the conclusion that we came to
early on”: He needed more troops than he had. “While we might not have needed
them to remove the top part of the regime, and to get into Baghdad, we needed
{them] for everything after that.” Dropping the 1st Cavalry Division hadn’t been
his idea, he noted elsewhere in the interview. “It would have been nice to have an-

other heavy division,” he said. “Well, it would have been more than nice—it would
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have been very, very effective to have another heavy division fresh going into
the fight”

Some feared that lines of communication would be cut. That worry landed
square on Col. Teddy Spain, the commander of military police in the operation. In
combat operations, one of the major missions of MPs is to make sure those lines
are kept open and free from attack. But Spain was sorely missing the troops that had
been knocked out of the plan months earlier. Had he retained all twenty compa-
nies of troops that he originally had in the war plan, he said later, “I could have
guarded those MSRs [main supply routes]. I don’t think Jessica Lynch and the
507th Maintenance Company would have happened. I truly believe that had I had
those assets, I would have had troops right behind the 3rd ID, securing the route.”

Chalabi’s worrisome chums

Another disquieting note was that as the U.S. military invaded Iraq, U.S. intel-
ligence picked up indications that Ahmed Chalabi’s organization was conveying
information about U.S. troop movements to the government of Iran. “I don’t
want to say what the source was, but there was some evidence that there was an
operational relationship” between Chalabi and Tehran, said a senior U.S. military
intelligence officer. It was during the first ten days of the war, “about the same
time that we saw solid evidence that Iran had a plan—operators in the south,
people moving back and forth.” The difference between Tommy Franks and
Tehran, he said grimly, was that “the Iranians had a good Phase IV plan.”

A Central Command official had a less malevolent interpretation of the com-
munications between Chalabi’s organization and the Iranian government during
the invasion. “It pissed me off that they were talking to the Iranians,” he said. But,
he continued, it was hardly a shock, in part because the U.S. government also was
in touch with Tehran through the British government. The Iranians had signaled,
for example, that if a U.S. pilot went down in their territory that they wouldn’t
fire on U.S. combat search and rescue aircraft sent to fetch him or her. Also, he
said, it was important to convey the message to Tehran that the U.S. government
wasn't interested in widening the war, and had no plans to take “a right turn” on
the way to Baghdad. “So,” he concluded, “it wasn’t necessarily a bad thing” for
Chalabi to tell the Iranian government about U.S. troop locations.

Asked much later about his relations with the Iranian government, Chalabi
said, not completely clearly, “I did not pass any information to Iran that compro-

mised any national security information of the United States.”
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Despite these tremors, Chalabi still looked like the Pentagon’s choice to lead
postwar Iraq. In early April, the U.S. Air Force flew a few hundred members of
Chalabi’s militia to southern Iraq. The vice chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff,
Marine Gen. Peter Pace, envisioned a major role for them. “These are Iraqi citi-
zens who want to fight for a free Iraq who are, who will become basically the core
of the new Iraqi army once Iraq is free,” said Pace, the nation’s number-two mili-
tary officer. “They are the beginning of the free Iraqi army.”

A statement issued by the Iraqi National Congress in Chalabi’s name said that
the number of fighters “is expected to increase quickly.” As it happened, the force
actually proved ineffective and did little. The official history produced by the
Army Special Operations Command blamed its stallout partly on internal divi-
sions in the U.S. government. “The U.S. Defense Department championed Chalabi
and the FIF [Free Iraqi Fighters], and saw them as a transitional force to be used
in lieu of the police,” it reported. “The State Department, on the other hand, saw
the FIF as nothing more than the military arm of the INC.” That assessment,
while accurate, is incomplete. Another more important division, one within the
military establishment, actually crippled this force. Pentagon civilians, most no-
tably Wolfowitz and Feith, supported the training of Iraqi forces, while Central
Command dragged its feet. Chalabi later maintained that Abizaid, then one of
Franks’s two deputies, had told him not to fly to southern Iraq. “I did it anyway,
and he was very angry,” he said.

It isn’t clear why Rumsfeld and his subordinates were unable to make Central
Command more responsive to civilian control. In principle, the training of Iragis
was exactly the right course—and ultimately the one that the U.S. military would
settle on as the exit strategy for Iraq. But in the spring of 2003 the U.S. military
wasn’t yet interested. Retired Marine Lt. Gen. Michael DeLong, Franks’s other
deputy, called the training effort “a waste of time and energy for us.” He reported
of Chalabi’s militia, “While some of them were helpful in small battles, we re-
ceived many reports of their looting and thievery in Baghdad”

The sandstorm pause

The charge northward from Kuwait to the outskirts of Baghdad generally went
swiftly but was sufficiently troubled, with long and vulnerable lines of supply,
that just one week into the invasion some U.S. commanders began issuing warn-
ings. “The enemy we’re fighting is different from the one we’d war-gamed against,”



WINNING A BATTLE 125

Lt. Gen. William S. Wallace, commander of V Corps and a candid man, told re-
porters. That remark briefly became hugely controversial.

On top of that, a huge sandstorm and rainstorm descended on Iraq on March
24 and lasted for three days, grounding the invasion force’s helicopters and mir-
ing many troops. “It was like a tornado of mud,” Maj. Gen. David Petraeus, com-
mander of the 101st Airborne Division, said a few weeks later.

But even then, the U.S. military was able to use sophisticated radars and other
sensors to peer through, with devastating effect. Late one night during the tem-
pest, a Republican Guard missile unit concealed its FROG-7 launcher vehicles
deep in a palm grove in the Sabaa Abkar, or Seven Virgins, area on the northern
suburbs of Baghdad. They were off the road, cloaked by the trees, by the darkness,
and by the dirt-laden winds of the storm. Even so, they were hit by two enormous
bombs, and then by a spray of flesh-shredding cluster bomblets.

Omar Khalidi, a Republican Guard captain, said that this aerial attack demor-
alized his men enormously. “They were hiding and thought nobody could find
them,” he said. “Some soldiers left their positions and ran away. When the big bombs
hit their target, some of the vehicles just melted. And the effect of the cluster
bombs was even greater, because they covered a larger area.” The only way their
concealed vehicles could have been detected, Khalidi wrongly calculated, was by
betrayal—a powerfully damaging conclusion for troops under fire to reach. “Most
of the commanders were sure it was through spies, because it was impossible to
find through satellite or aircraft. Even if you drove by it, you couldn’t find it”

Likewise, when Qusay Hussein ordered three elite Republican Guard divisions
to move southwest of Baghdad to confront the American offensive, American
bombers destroyed them before they could even get near the U.S. forces. “This
affected the morale of the troops,” an Iraqi general staff officer later told the
Washington Post’s William Branigin. “The Iraqi will to fight was broken outside
Baghdad.”

“Thunder runs”

On April 3, the 3rd Infantry Division took Saddam International Airport, on
the western fringe of Baghdad. Two days later it launched the first of two “thun-
der runs”—monstrous charges of tanks and other armored vehicles—into the
capital. These probes showed the U.S. Army at its best, taking tactical risks that
paid off handsomely. Most notably, they led to an abandonment of the U.S. plan
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to cordon off the city and move in slowly. Rather, the two thunder runs led to the
swift collapse of the regime.

The opposition to these audacious forays was fierce. When the 3rd Infantry
Division’s 2nd Brigade, commanded by Col. David Perkins, drove into the city for
the first time just after dawn on the morning of April 5, it was slammed repeat-
edly with rocket-propelled grenades (RPG) and rifle fire “at effectively point-blank
range along nearly its entire route,” according to an Army War College report.
“Every single vehicle in the column was hit at least once by Iraqi RPGs, and many
took multiple hits.”

Lt. Col. Stephen Twitty, one of Perkins’s battalion commanders, later de-
scribed their first run into the city as “eight hours of continuous fighting” At one
point, one unit at a key intersection appeared in danger of running out of ammu-

nition and being overrun.

The first attack consisted of an armored column built around twenty-nine tanks
that swung up a major highway, Route 8, that cut into the southwestern part of
Baghdad, a mix of industrial areas and square, two-story, adobe-style houses, and
then veered out to catch the arrow-straight four-lane expressway to the sprawling
international airport west of the city. In these battles, Franks’s maxim that “speed
kills” did indeed apply. Perkins observed that the Iraqi defenders were only pre-
pared to fight in one direction, so a fast move through their lines tended to dis-
orient their response. “If I could push through, and get in behind them, and then
reattack out from the center, what I was doing was reattacking from a direction
that they weren’t used to defending from, and it was very hard for them to turn
around and redefend,” he recalled later.

The tanks and Bradley fighting vehicles arriving at the airport at the end of
the first run appeared to be in flames because the intense shooting had set fire
to the backpacks and other gear that U.S. armored soldiers carry on the outside of
their vehicles. The 3rd Infantry Division estimated that it killed two thousand en-
emy fighters during this mission. Its official history offers no figure for the number
of civilians killed, but Iraqis said there were many. “I was emotionally spent,” said
Lt. Col. Eric Schwartz, who commanded an armored battalion in the first attack.
“One of my tank commanders had been killed. I had a soldier shot in the eye, shot
in the forehead, shot in the shoulder, shot in the back, shot in the face. . . . I just
needed time for myself. One of the other battalion commanders from 1st Brigade

came over and . . . asked me, ‘Are you okay?’ And I said, ‘T don’t know.”
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On April 7, the second foray cut through to Saddam’s palace complex in the
center of Baghdad, on the left bank of the Tigris, and decided to stay. The Amer-
ican military believed it had taken Baghdad.

Franks flunks strategy

To understand that mistaken conclusion, it is necessary to step back and ex-
amine Gen. Tommy Franks, the senior U.S. commander in the war, and particu-
larly his misunderstanding of strategy. That is a grand-sounding word, and it is
frequently misused by laymen as a synonym for tactics. In fact, strategy has a very
different and quite simple meaning that flows from just one short set of ques-
tions: Who are we, and what are we ultimately trying to do here? How will we do
it, and what resources and means will we employ in doing it? The four answers
give rise to one’s strategy. Ideally, one’s tactics will then follow from them—that
is, this is who we are, this is the outcome we wish to achieve, this is how we aim to
do it, and this is what we will use to do it. But addressing the questions well can
be surprisingly difficult, and if the answers are incorrect or incomplete, or the
goals listed not reachable, then the consequences can be disastrous.

Why would the United States invade Iraq without a genuine strategy in hand?
Part of the answer lies in the personality and character of Gen. Franks. The inside
word in the U.S. military long had been that Franks didn’t think strategically. For
example, when the general held an off-the-record session with officers studying
at the Naval War College in Newport, Rhode Island, in the spring of 2002, not
long after the biggest battle of the Afghan war, Operation Anaconda, one student
posed the classic Clausewitzian question: What is the nature of the war you are
fighting in Afghanistan? “That’s a great question for historians,” Franks side-
stepped, recalled another officer who was there. “Let me tell you what we are do-
ing” Franks proceeded to discuss how U.S. troops cleared cave complexes in
Afghanistan. It was the most tactical answer possible, quite remote from what the
officer had asked. It would have been a fine reply for a sergeant to offer, but not a
senior general. “He really was comfortable at the tactical level,” this officer re-
called with dismay.

Franks’s plan for making war in Iraq was built around U.S. technological and
mechanical advantages. “Speed kills,” the general insisted to his subordinates as
they wrote and rewrote the massive plan. It sounded good—Ilike a tough-minded
way of slicing through all the bureaucratic nonsense. But it reflected the larger

misconception of the war at hand. Speed didn’t kill the enemy—it bypassed him.
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It won the campaign, but it didn’t win the war, because the war plan was built on
the mistaken strategic goal of capturing Baghdad, and it confused removing
Irag’s regime with the far more difficult task of changing the entire country. The
result was that the U.S. effort resembled a banana republic coup d’état more than
a full-scale war plan that reflected the ambition of a great power to alter the pol-
itics of a crucial region of the world.

So where Franks’s plan should have been grounded in a wide-ranging strat-
egy, it instead was built on a series of operational assumptions, many of which
proved incorrect. Probably the single most startling passage in his memoir is his
description of “nine slices representing Iraqi centers of gravity in Irag,” which is
an abuse of Clausewitz’s definition of the key target in war. He relates how in
December 2001 he sketched a “working matrix” of targets in Irag—leadership,
internal security, and so on—along with the tools he intended to use against
them—“operational fires,” “operational maneuver,” “SOF operations,” and so on.
This was, as the names of those tools indicate, a relentlessly operational approach,
a collection of tactics—nothing more, nothing less, and certainly not a strategic
formulation for what he wanted Iraq ultimately to look like and how he planned
to achieve that end. When he showed this chart to Gen. Renuart, he said proudly,
“This is what you call your basic grand strategy.” It was an amazingly wrong as-
sertion. The chart had little of strategy in it. In the way Franks used the term,
there were so many centers that they added up to nothing, no one real center of
gravity. In describing these numerous centers of gravity, Franks inadvertently
underscored his lack of strategic understanding.

Col. Agoglia, the Central Command planner, argued that Franks is more thought-
ful than the general’s own account makes him seem. In his view, Franks had come
to the unhappy realization that his civilian bosses—Rumsfeld, Wolfowitz, Feith,
and others in OSD—simply lacked the capability to discuss Iraq usefully in mili-
tary terms. “There was no use discussing ‘centers of gravity’ with people in OSD
who didn’t understand centers of gravity. Franks knew what a center of gravity is.
OSD didn’t” The centers of gravity matrix, Agoglia insisted, was “looked upon as
a way of explaining to OSD what we were thinking.” Franks didn’t trust his civil-
ian overseers at the Pentagon. “He had an ability to translate to the folks at OSD,
who weren’t very brilliant, the intent of the plan. But Franks also had to play close
hold with them, because they were always pushing him for less.” This was espe-
cially true of Wolfowitz, Agoglia said, who suffered from a “complete and total
lack of understanding” of what was needed to invade Iraq. For example, “We

knew we needed more troops to consolidate than to get there”’—a position
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Wolfowitz would repeatedly reject in the spring of 2003, before, during, and even
after the invasion.

There is no doubt that Franks executed the mission given him. As a military
professional, he should have done more to question that mission and point out its
incomplete nature. Ultimately, however, the fault for the lapse in the planning
must lie with Rumsfeld, the man in charge. In either case, it is difficult to overstate
what a key misstep this lack of strategic direction was—probably the single most
significant miscalculation of the entire effort. In war, strategy is the searchlight
that illuminates the way ahead. In its absence, the U.S military would fight hard
and well but blindly, and the noble sacrifices of soldiers would be undercut by the
lack of thoughtful leadership at the top that soberly assessed the realities of the

situation and constructed a response.

From Saigon to Baghdad

Franks was a product of his Army, and his faults reflected those of that insti-
tution. The Army went into Iraq with a considerable amount of hubris, a circum-
stance notably different from that of the first Gulf War, whose leaders had been
the junior officers of the Vietnam War and had gone to the Mideast determined
not to go down in defeat again. Gen. McCaffrey recalled that his assistant com-
mander, then Brig. Gen. Terry Scott, said as that war began, “I hope we don’t fuck
this up like we did Vietnam—1I'd rather die than go through twenty years of that
again.” In contrast to McCaffrey and Scott, the commanders of the 2003 war had
known mainly success—in Panama in 1989, in Kuwait in 1991, in Haiti in 1994,
in Bosnia in 1996, in Kosovo in 1999, in Afghanistan in 2001. The one exception
was Somalia, which they tended to count as a tactical success that then was un-
dermined by the missteps of the Clinton administration.

Franks’s war plan combined aspects of many of those post-Vietnam opera-
tions: the armored fist of the tank-heavy thrust into Kuwait, the speed of the
overnight takedown of Panama, the precision bombing of the campaign in
Afghanistan. The Army would go into Iraq harboring few doubts about its
abilities. “Information dominance” and “information superiority” were popular
phrases in the military. “I think these guys were overconfident,” going into Iraq,
said Danielle Pletka, the former foreign policy adviser to Sen. Jesse Helms and
longtime Iraq hawk. “We entrusted far too much political responsibility in Iraq to
our military commanders. I don’t think they knew anything about the politics of
the region.”
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An invasion plan that focused too much on the fall of Baghdad to the exclu-
sion of other tasks necessary to securing the victory had some of its intellectual
roots in the fall of another Asian city nearly thirty years earlier: Saigon.

Every military strength contains the seeds of its own weakness. Make a weapons
system too strong and it will be slow or will consume so much energy in moving
that it requires a burdensome supply chain to keep it fueled. Make it too light and
fast and it will be dangerously vulnerable when it breaks down, which is inevitable.
Make it too successful and commanders will stick with it too long, until its weak-
nesses are revealed by the enemy. Likewise, the flaws of the 2003 plan for the U.S.
invasion of Iraq arguably had their roots in one of the great success stories of the
U.S. military, its impressive recovery—physical, spiritual, and intellectual—in the
fifteen years after the end of the Vietnam War. Open the memoirs of any modern
Army general, from Schwarzkopf to Franks, and there is likely to be a major sec-
tion devoted to the Vietnam War and the galvanizing effect it had had on the
writer.

The modern U.S. Army was born in the ashes of that war. A new generation of
weaponry—the Apache attack helicopter, the Bradley fighting vehicle, the M-1
Abrams tank—was introduced. Army training was revamped at the National
Training Center (NTC), out in the high Mojave Desert near the California-
Nevada border. Rampant drug abuse and pervasive indiscipline were dealt with
effectively. Also, those who stayed tended to be persistent, tough, determined, and
devoted to the Army. Like Gen. Shinseki or Colin Powell, they could be stubborn,
even dogged and single-minded, in defending the institution they had spent their
lives rebuilding.

But the most significant post-Vietnam fix may have been doctrinal—that is,
in how the Army thinks about how it fights. Arguably, the rebuilding began on
the Golan Heights in 1973, as the Army’s leaders, trying to figure out the path be-
yond Vietnam, watched the Arab-Israeli Ramadan War, or Yom Kippur War, with
astonishment. Shocked by surprise attacks from Syria and Egypt, the Israelis
quickly rallied and launched a counteroffensive, losing only 250 tanks and 772
troops as they destroyed 1,150 tanks and killed 3,500 of the enemy. Among those
tracking this was Gen. William DePuy, the first chief of the U.S. Army’s new
Training and Doctrine Command, which was created in July 1973. DePuy, who in
Vietnam had held the key position of operations officer for Gen. William West-
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moreland, and also had commanded the 1st Infantry Division, developed “an in-
tense interest in the reform of tactics and training, in line with tactical lessons
drawn from the 1973 Arab-Israeli War,” wrote John Romjue in an official history
of the evolution of modern Army doctrine. Three years later the Army revised for
the first time since 1968 its core statement on how to fight, titled “Operations,”
but in those days more commonly referred to as Field Manual 100-5 (FM 100-5).

The 1976 version of this capstone doctrinal statement warned that the Army
must aim to “win the first battle of the next war.” That ultimately led the Army’s
thinkers to focus too much only on that first fight. During World War 1II, tanks
had opened fire at an average range of 750 yards, but in the 1973 Yom Kippur
War, Israeli tanks engaged at two thousand yards and more. This changed the
shape of the battlefield and meant fighting in-depth, rather than just on a front,
observed retired Army Maj. Gen. Robert Scales, a former commandant of the
Army War College and later coauthor of an account of the spring 2003 invasion.
“It doesn’t matter how much you put on the front line, because the lethality of
weaponry is such that you can’t just fight on the front line, you have to fight all
echelons at once, in depth,” Scales said.

Ultimately, that long view across the battlefield meant focusing on the opera-
tional level of war—that is, looking beyond tactics to the entire area in which
fighting is occurring. When the Army next revised FM 100-5, in 1982, it made
that concept official doctrine. “Between tactics and strategy, the manual inserts
the intermediate level traditionally recognized by the German and other armies
as the operational level of large units,” Romjue wrote. This operational level was
defined as going after the enemy’s center of gravity, whatever it was that made the
foe most able to keep on fighting.

This new emphasis also was meant to address what the Army had decided was
a major failing during the Vietnam War. Retired Army Col. Harry Summers, Jr.,
began On Strategy: A Critical Analysis of the Vietnam War, perhaps the most influ-
ential book to come out of that conflict, by recounting an exchange he had had in
Hanoi on April 25, 1975, with a North Vietnamese colonel.

“You know, you never defeated us on the battlefield,” Summers said.

The North Vietnamese officer considered this assertion for a moment, and
then responded, “That may be so, but it is also irrelevant.” Hanoi’s center of grav-
ity had not been on the battlefield.

The new focus on the operational level of war was meant to fix this discon-

nect, in which tactical success had failed to lead to an overall strategic victory.
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The Army learned the lesson well—perhaps too well, Scales said. The new doc-
trine, the new weaponry, and the new attitude of the Army all came together at
the National Training Center. During the 1980s, the Army radically improved its
combat abilities by providing tough realistic training there. It also used after-
action reviews—a kind of U.S. military version of Maoist self-criticism, enforced
by carefully collected data—to make commanders address their weaknesses and
mistakes. The lessons learned during mock battles at NTC were credited with
paving the way for the swift victory the U.S. military achieved in Kuwait in 1991,
just sixteen years after the fall of Saigon. The 1991 war had the unfortunate side
effect, though, of reinforcing the changes the Army had made—which made it an
unchallenged force for short, blitzkrieg-style warfare against other states, but
badly positioned for protracted ground combat, especially of an irregular or un-
conventional nature.

So for all the good it did, the NTC also planted some of the seeds of the flawed
plan of 2003. In making performance at the NTC the measure of an officer, the
Army tended to fall into thinking, mistakenly, that what makes a good battalion
commander is what makes a good general. But the trainers at the NTC taught
commanders how to win battles, not how to win wars. What came after the battle
became someone else’s business. By that point, the Army commander was fo-
cused on packing up his force and redeploying home, which is fine for a battalion
commander but not for the top commander.

In learning how to be more operational, Scales said, the Army may have lost
its hold on both the higher, strategic lessons of generals such as Eisenhower, as
well as on the lower, tactical lessons of counterinsurgency that it had learned in
Southeast Asia. Rather, it devoted its attention and effort to that midlevel of
war—the operational art, as it came to be called. The NTC’s scope covered only
the fighting—defeating the enemy force, not figuring out what would follow. The
plan for the spring 2003 invasion of Iraq reflected that view of war, emphasizing
what it would take to get to Baghdad with little regard for what would follow. It
was an operational plan, strategically deficient.

In an essay examining this issue, Army Lt. Col. Antulio Echevarria II con-
cluded that Franks and other U.S. military commanders in 2003 had confused
winning the battle of Baghdad with winning the war for Iraq. Today’s command-
ers tend to see battles as an end in themselves, rather than properly as a means to
a political outcome, he wrote. Echevarria was not just any Army officer but the
director of national security affairs at the Army War College’s Strategic Studies
Institute. This issue was at the core of his specialty. The result, he warned, was a
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military built and trained for the wrong job. “Its underlying concepts—a polyglot
of information-centric theories such as network-centric warfare, rapid decisive
operations, and shock and awe—center on ‘taking down’ an opponent quickly,
rather than finding ways to apply military force in the pursuit of broader politi-
cal aims,” he concluded. “The characteristics of the U.S. style of warfare—speed,
jointness, knowledge, and precision—are better suited for strike operations than
for translating such operations into strategic successes.”

That conceptual flaw, that lack of understanding of how to complete the job,
may be the reason that after both the 1991 war and the 2003 invasion the U.S.
military seemed to fall asleep at the wheel. After the end of the 1991 war, noted
Rick Atkinson in Crusade, his history of that conflict, there was a “postwar Amer-
ican passivity, a policy of drift and inaction.” A similar period of American drift
would follow the fall of Baghdad in 2003.

The doctrinal revamping of the Army in the mid-1970s had another long-
term effect on the Army. After it came home from Vietnam, the Army threw away
virtually everything it had learned there, slowly and painfully, about how to wage
a counterinsurgency campaign. Under Gen. DePuy, noted Army Lt. Col. John
Nagl, who in the 1990s wrote a study of the Army and counterinsurgency and
then a few years later fought an insurgency in western Iraq, “the post-Vietnam
army intentionally turned away from the painful memories of its Vietnam expe-
rience.” In his study Learning to Eat Soup with a Knife: Counterinsurgency Lessons
from Malaya and Vietnam, Nagl pointedly noted that the 1976 edition of FM 100-5,
the Army’s core document, “did not mention counterinsurgency.’

So the Army that went to war in Iraq in March 2003 was well aware of its strengths,
but like Franks, seemed blind to many of the conceptual weaknesses it was bring-
ing to the fight.

Regime removal

Two images marked the fall of Saddam Hussein’s government.

One was the Iraqgi information minister, Mohammed Saeed Sahhaf, insisting
at loony press conferences that U.S. forces were being hurled back into the desert
where early graves awaited them—even as the U.S. Army was setting up camp a
few miles to the west at the Baghdad airport and the Marine Corps was approach-
ing from the southeast. “There is not any American presence or troops in the
heart of the capital, at all,” Sahhaf said at a press conference at the Palestine Hotel

on April 7. “The soldiers of Saddam Hussein gave them a great lesson that history
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will not forget.” The next day he told reporters that U.S. soldiers approaching the
city center “are going to surrender or be burned in their tanks.” It was a bravura
performance, his last before being taken into captivity for questioning by U.S.
military authorities.

One little noted oddity of this is that U.S. intelligence concluded that Sahhaf,
or Baghdad Bob, as soldiers dubbed him, actually thought that what he was say-
ing was the truth. At the time, the Iraqi military was claiming that it had counter-
attacked the U.S. invasion force and destroyed about eighty tanks and other
vehicles, killed four hundred U.S. soldiers, and taken two hundred prisoners.
He said later that his information came “from authentic sources, many authentic
sources.”

“We believe he believed what he was reporting,” Army Col. Steve Boltz, the
deputy chief of intelligence for V Corps, later said. Saddam Hussein’s Iraq ran on
fear, and bearers of bad news tended to suffer for what they delivered. “No one
would want to tell him the truth, so they lied to him.” Iraqi officers so feared the
consequences of conveying negative news up the chain of command that they
“fell into telling the high command they were all okay,” Boltz concluded. One re-
sult of this systemic self-deception within the Iraqi hierarchy was that when a
3rd Infantry Division unit entering the capital captured an Iraqi general, the sur-
prised officer said in an interrogation that “he had no idea that U.S. troops were
so close to Baghdad,” according to the division’s official history.

The invasion’s second memorable image was the fall of the statue of Saddam
Hussein in a square in downtown Baghdad on April 9. The few days that followed
were “as good as it got, the high-water mark of the invasion,” observed Rick
Atkinson, the military historian who embedded with the 101st Airborne Division
during the 2003 invasion.

This moment also brought one of the highest points in George W. Bush’s pop-
ularity as president. The first big jump in his polls numbers came after 9/11, when
his approval level shot from 55 percent to a stratospheric 92 percent. That slowly
settled back down into the high 50s, but spiked back up to 77 percent with the fall
of Baghdad.

Yet even as the enemy capital fell, there was a quiet chorus of concern, espe-
cially from seasoned Army officers. “The hard part is yet to come,” retired Col.
Johnny Brooks, an old infantryman, warned on the day Baghdad fell. “We can
easily win the fight but lose the peace.” The United States needed to move quickly
to restore electricity and other basic services. “If we do not give the people posi-

tive signals, and soon, that Iraq is getting better rapidly, and that they have hope,
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then the gunmen will start appearing and taking shots at U.S. military. Then the
suicide bombers will appear.”

Retired Army Col. Robert Killebrew, another infantryman, was even more spe-
cific about how things might go wrong. “We should not lose sight of the fact that,
from the opposing point of view, the war isn’t over,” he told a group of defense-
minded friends on April 18. “I suspect that serious people somewhere—probably
hiding out in Syria—are planning the counterattack, which I suspect will take the
shape of popular demonstrations against U.S. occupation, feyadeen attacks on coali-
tion troops and Iragis who cooperate with efforts to establish a new government,
and general operations to destabilize and deny U.S. efforts to move to a secure and
reformed Iraq” That would prove to be an extraordinarily accurate summary of
the enemy concept of operations that would emerge in the following months.

Intelligence officials also were sending up rockets of warning. “It is premature
to be doing victory laps,” a senior military intelligence expert on the Middle East
said at the time. “The hard part is going to be occupation. The Israelis won in six
days—but have been fighting ever since—for thirty years.”

Jeffrey White, a former analyst of Middle Eastern affairs at the Defense Intel-
ligence Agency, added, “My worry is that we could see the beginning of some
kind of resistance based on regime diehards, nationalists, disaffected tribal ele-
ments, etc.”

But in the view of Franks and other military commanders, the assigned job
had been completed. “We designed success in negative terms—getting rid of the
regime, instead of establishing a democratic regime,” said Army Reserve Maj.
Michael Eisenstadt, an intelligence officer and specialist in Middle Eastern secu-
rity issues who worked in Central Command during the run-up to the war.
“When President Bush landed on that carrier with the ‘Mission Accomplished’
banner, it was right: The mission, as defined for the military as getting rid of the

regime, had indeed been accomplished.”

Rumsfeld dismisses the looting

As U.S. forces triumphed, Iraqis rose up and expressed their hatred for Sad-
dam Hussein’s regime in an extraordinary wave of vandalism. Mobs attacked
government buildings across the country, carting off not just valuables but every-
thing that could be pried off walls and floors. During this period it wasn’t uncom-
mon to see a pickup truck carrying doors, window frames, and piping from

government offices.
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“Stuff happens!” Defense Secretary Rumsfeld exclaimed at a Pentagon brief-
ing on April 11, 2003, when asked about the looting. “But in terms of what’s go-
ing on in that country, it is a fundamental misunderstanding to see those images
over, and over, and over again of some boy walking out with a vase and say, ‘Oh,
my goodness, you didn’t have a plan.’ That’s nonsense. They know what they’re
doing, and they’re doing a terrific job. And it’s untidy, and freedom’s untidy, and
free people are free to make mistakes and commit crimes and do bad things.
They're also free to live their lives and do wonderful things, and that’s what’s
going to happen here.”

But that’s not the way the looting felt to many of those on the ground in Iraq.
During this period, the U.S. military was perceptibly losing its recent gains; it gave
the sense that it really didn’t know what to do next and was waiting to pass the
mission to someone else. “A finite supply of goodwill toward the Americans evap-
orated with the passing of each anarchic day,” Lt. Nathaniel Fick, an elite force re-
con Marine officer, wrote of being in Baghdad during this time.

“There wasn’t any plan,” recalled a Special Operations officer who was in
Baghdad at the time. “Everyone was just kind of waiting around. Everybody
thought they’d be going home soon.” Looking back on the period, he recalled it as
a slow loss of momentum. “It wasn’t like all hell broke loose. It was more like the
situation eroded.”

Rumsfeld’s fundamental misunderstanding of the looting of Iraq, and the ca-
sual manner in which he expressed it, not only set back U.S. forces tactically, but
also damaged the strategic standing of the United States, commented Fred Ikle,
who had been the Pentagon’s policy chief during the Reagan administration.
“Some senior officials in Washington chuckled about a ‘new spirit of freedom’
that had suddenly sprouted . . . among ‘grateful; liberated Iragis,” he wrote. “Amer-
ica lost most of its prestige and respect in that episode. To pacify a conquered
country, the victor’s prestige and dignity is absolutely critical.” This criticism was
leveled by a man who not only had impeccable credentials in conservative na-
tional security circles, but actually had brought Wolfowitz to Washington from
Yale during the Nixon administration.

The message sent to Iraqis was far more troubling than Americans under-
stood. It was that the U.S. government didn’t care—or, even more troubling for
the future security of Iraq, that it did care but was incapable of acting effectively.
In either event, the U.S. government response to the looting undercut the begin-
ning of the U.S. occupation.

Watching the situation unfolding from his perch as a defense consultant in
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Washington, Gary Anderson was beginning to get worried. He had war-gamed
this scenario, and he knew just how vulnerable the U.S. position was if it faced an
intelligent and adaptive enemy. Anderson is a retired Marine officer, of whom
there sometimes seem to be two main types: big guys who resemble offensive
linemen in football, and more compact, wiry sorts who look more like knife
fighters. Small, bandy-legged, and gravelly voiced, Anderson fit well in the second
category. A life spent figuring out how to take down foes bigger than himself pre-
pared the retired colonel well for his post-Marine specialty: acting the role of the
enemy in military exercises, in what the Pentagon calls red teaming. In the
sprawling U.S. defense establishment, there is a small but steady market for such
faux foes, and it became nearly a full-time job for Anderson.

He had spent much of early 2003 figuring out how to best combat U.S. forces
operating in urban environments. Where were the American military’s vulnera-
bilities? What were the seams in the U.S. approach? How could such a high-tech
force, wielding an overwhelming arsenal, operating freely on the ground, in the
air, and far overhead in space, be countered by an enemy lacking secure commu-
nications and possessing just explosives and light infantry weapons, such as AK-
47s and rocket-propelled grenades? Those were the questions Anderson was paid
to address.

As he watched the U.S. advance into Baghdad early in April, he began to
worry. He had played a very similar scenario just eight weeks earlier. “We're
fucked,” he had said to his “enemy” staff as he contemplated a U.S. attack on his
conventional forces. “We can slow them down, but they’re coming to Baghdad.”
What he meant in that barracks shorthand was that it was clear that there was no
way a regular military force could stand up to the U.S. onslaught. So, he said, the
first step was to slow the advance and make as much trouble for the Americans as
possible. Second, his career officers and intelligence officials would take off their
uniforms and disappear into the neighborhoods, stay in contact with some key
subordinates, and “tell our people to keep their weapons oiled.”

In late March he began to fear that Saddam Hussein’s Baathist functionaries
were following just that course. “Phase I assumes eventual defeat in a conven-
tional war,” he wrote in a prescient opinion article published in the Washington
Post. “The second phase would be a protracted guerrilla war against the ‘occupa-
tion.”” Anderson suggested that the U.S. military needed to “be prepared to react
to an enemy game plan that may be different from our own.” It was an oddly pes-
simistic article to write as U.S. forces moved toward triumph. But it caught the at-

tention of senior officials at the Pentagon. A few weeks later, a secretary in
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Wolfowitz’s office called Anderson. Would he be willing, she asked, to come in for
a chat with the deputy defense secretary?

Though only a few inside observers like Anderson suspected it, the victory
was already beginning to unravel. Publicly, at least, as late as April 28, Wolfowitz
continued to minimize the need for U.S. troops. “We’re not going to need as many
people to do peacekeeping as we needed to fight the war,” he told the Washington
Times that day, when there were 135,000 U.S. troops in Irag. Even as Wolfowitz
spoke, Iraq was heating up.

A fuse is lit in Fallujah

In late April U.S. commanders were growing concerned about activity in
Fallujah and Ramadi, two conservative Sunni towns an hour to the west of Bagh-
dad, on the western fringe of the land between the rivers. The area generally had
been neglected in the war planning, which had focused on Baghdad. The only
attention paid to al Anbar province was an effort to stop Scud launches against
Israel from the remote western part of the province. The rest of it—far closer to
Baghdad and able to influence events in the capital—seems to have been ignored.
This is inexplicable, even for a war plan built around the narrow aim of knocking
off Saddam Hussein’s regime, because Fallujah was home to an estimated forty
thousand former Baathist Party operatives, intelligence officials, and Iraqi army
officers who should have been expected to defend their interests vigorously.

Central Command’s planning for the postwar period, never good, was partic-
ularly inaccurate in predicting the likely state of the Sunni heartland north and
northwest of Baghdad. “Continued armed opposition to coalition forces unlikely
once Saddam flees or is captured/killed,” stated a classified Central Command
briefing on Phase IV issues. The briefing notes attached in the PowerPoint are
even more optimistic: “Reporting indicates a growing sense of fatalism, and ac-
cepting their fate, among Sunnis. There may be a small group of diehard support-
ers that is willing to rally in the regime’s heartland near Tikrit—but they won’t
last long without support.”

“This part of the Sunni Triangle was never assessed properly in the plan,” Maj.
Gen. Charles Swannack, Jr., the commander of the 82nd Airborne Division, re-
called later in an e-mail.

Writing about operating in this part of Iraq during World War II, Field Mar-
shal Sir William Slim, one of the greatest British generals of his time, remarked
that Iraq is “a cruel, hard, desolate land.” The Americans were about to find out
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why. On April 27 in Ramadi, Swannack recalled, a hand grenade was thrown from
a crowd at 82nd Airborne soldiers, severely wounding two.

The next day there was an incident in which a number of Iraqis—between six
and seventeen—were shot dead by U.S. troops. The event did much to poison re-
lations in the town, ultimately leading the following year to two major battles
there in which thousands of fighters died and well over a hundred thousand civil-
ians were displaced. The facts of the April 28 incident are in dispute, as is often
the case with such situations. Army officers from three different units offered dif-
ferent accounts, and an investigation by Human Rights Watch found discrepan-
cies not only among the U.S. military accounts but also among the versions
offered by different Iragis. The most likely explanation of what happened is that
Iraqi provocateurs took advantage of the demonstrations to shoot at U.S. troops
and trick them into firing into the crowds.

As Swannack recalled it, on April 28, part of the division was based in a school
in downtown Fallujah. The 82nd had been operating in Fallujah for five days. The
Americans thought their presence was reassuring. “We came in to show presence
just so the average citizen would feel safe,” Col. Arnold Bray, commander of the
82nd brigade in the area, told Human Rights Watch. But the people of the city—
known for their cultural conservativism and a xenophobia considered intense
even by other Iraqis—found the patrols unsettling and an insult to their personal
dignity, perhaps the core value of Iraqi culture. April 28 also was the birthday of
Saddam Hussein, and so a natural day for his loyalists to reassert themselves.

“Several Iraqis instigated a crowd and approached this school,” Swannack

wrote. He continued:

5-6 instigators from within the crowd and on the roof of an adjacent building
fired AK-47s at our soldiers within the school grounds. Our troopers returned
very accurate and precise fires killing/wounding these 56 instigators. The crowd
withdrew with the killed and wounded—AK-47 shell casings were found on the
adjacent rooftop and from within the area where the crowd stood. A check of hos-

pitals and morgue produced only these 6 killed as I remember.

The leader of the platoon of Charlie Company that was responsible for se-
curity in the school when the demonstration began, 2nd Lt. Wesley Davidson,
said, “The bullets started coming at us, shooting over our heads, breaking win-
dows. It was coming from the street, the guys behind the taxicab and some in the

street.”
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Some Iraqi demonstrators told Human Rights Watch that people not near the
school were firing rifles in the air, and they claimed that the demonstrators had
no weapons. “They suddenly started shooting at us,” said Falah Nawaar Dhahir,
whose brother was killed.

Others said that there was no firing at all until the American soldiers opened
up. “There was no shooting and they suddenly started shooting at us,” said Mutaz
Fahd al-Dulaimi.

The Americans said that six Iraqis died that day. The director of Fallujah’s
hospital, Dr. Ahmad Ghanim al-Ali, told Human Rights Watch that thirteen peo-
ple were killed at the scene and seventy-five were wounded, with four of those dy-
ing in the following days. As with many such incidents, the differing accounts

remain irreconcilable.

Round two in Fallujab

The 82nd, said Lt. Col. David Poirier, had “the itchy trigger finger.” Poirier was
about to lead an MP battalion into Fallujah a few days later, in early May, when he
was taken aside by Col. David Teeples, the commander of the 3rd Armored Cav-
alry Regiment, to whom he temporarily reported. “Let me just pass on to you
what happened when we did a RIP [relief in place] with 2nd Brigade, 82nd Air-
borne,” Teeples began, Poirier later recalled.

Teeples had been in Fallujah because the 3rd ACR was temporarily taking
control of the city from Col. Bray’s brigade. He said he was standing alongside
Bray on the roof of a building in downtown Fallujah on April 30, watching a con-
voy of Bray’s troops begin moving west to east on Highway 10, the main road,
when the convoy encountered about one hundred demonstrators in front of a
government building.

“The lead vehicle fires a warning shot to get them out of the way,” Teeples later
recounted to Poirier. “A gunner in one of the rear vehicles puts his head down and
opens up with a fifty cal, just opens up, and lays down seven people.” (A .50 caliber
is a heavy machine gun, its rounds capable of penetrating many armored vehicles.
When those big rounds hit the human body they can sever limbs and explode
skulls. More than one American soldier described the fire as coming from a
.50 caliber; Bray later said emphatically that it was a lighter M-240.) Teeples was
very clear, Poirier said in an interview, that “it was unaimed fire,” and “some in-
nocent people died.”

Teeples declined to be interviewed for this book. But Lt. Col. Tobin Green, a
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3rd ACR officer who was standing next to him atop the Baath Party headquarters
building, said the convoy was attacked by the demonstrators. “I witnessed sol-
diers from the 82nd come under attack from Iraqis throwing rocks and bricks at
exposed men with complete force at distances of no less than three feet. The col-
umn came under fire from enemy riflemen on the edge of the crowd,” he said by
e-mail.

Another 3rd ACR officer who was an eyewitness that day came down between

Swannack’s and Poirier’s accounts.

The demonstration was approximately 200 persons. . . . [SJome shots were fired
from AK-47 assault rifles from the rear of the demonstration. Generally, these shots
were not aimed, sometimes they were. The Humvee gunner from their D Co. (Anti-
Tank Company), did fire a burst of .50 cal. The Iraqi who was killed I remember
the most was an elderly man who took a .50 cal round to the head at short range.

Given that I was not in that soldier’s position, I cannot say he made a bad call.

The Fallujah hospital director told Human Rights Watch that three people
were killed that day, and sixteen wounded.

Bray argued credibly that his unit behaved well and honorably in both inci-
dents. He noted that both before and after Fallujah, it handled difficult situations
well. His one regret, he said, is that some soldiers used automatic weapons to re-
turn fire when it would have been better to respond with single shots. But at the
same time, he recalled the Black Hawk Down incident in Mogadishu, Somalia, in
October 1993, in which eighteen American soldiers had died. “I didn’t want my
soldiers cut off and isolated,” and so didn’t want them to second-guess themselves
about responding when threatened.

The key to the events in Fallujah, Bray said, isn’t the behavior of his soldiers
but the malignant character of some people in the town. By April 25, the sole po-
liceman there who had been helping U.S. troops operate a checkpoint was shot in
front of his house, and the word “Traitor” was written on his forehead. “There
was something evil in that town,” Bray recalled. In his view, Human Rights Watch
overestimated the casualties in the first incident because it collected statistics that
reflected violence all the way from Ramadi to Baghdad for a three-day period. As
for the criticism by fellow American soldiers, he said it came from units fresh to
Iraq and unfamiliar with the situation. “Dave [Teeples] doesn’t quite understand
what is happening” that day in Fallujah. “This is the first fight for him and his
guys. [ tell them, “The war’s not over.” Earlier that day he had seen a 3rd ACR sol-
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dier standing on a balcony in Fallujah without any body armor on. “I told him,
‘Son, you don’t know where you are.””

The incidents of April 28 and 30 became a cause célebre for the people of
Fallujah, who would raise them repeatedly in negotiations with U.S. forces over
the next year. “It continually comes up,” said a U.S. military intelligence official
who sometimes dealt directly with insurgents there.

Added Col. John Toolan, commander of the Marines who would fight a battle
in Fallujah a year later, “They used it against us all the time”

Frances “Bing” West, the embedded defense analyst and author who has spent
more time studying U.S. military operations in al Anbar province than any other
unofficial observer, concluded that the Sunnis—and especially the people of Fallu-
jah and the rest of al Anbar province—had never been defeated in the spring inva-
sion. In that sense, the April incidents may have been not so much a cause of later
troubles as a reflection of an existing problem: The Sunnis still wanted to slug it out.

At any rate, Fallujah would continue to be the victim of U.S. military absent-
mindedness, with its problems underestimated and a variety of different Army
units deployed to it in stopgap moves. “In Fallujah, they didn’t trust us,” recalled
Capt. Lesley Kipling, the MP officer. “Units were constantly rotating through
there. I think that is one of the biggest reasons that place never calmed down.”
Over the course of a few months, the city was patrolled by parts of 82nd Air-
borne, then by Poirier’s MP-led task force, then by the 3rd Armored Cavalry Reg-
iment, then by part of the 3rd Infantry Division, and then by the 82nd Airborne
when it returned later in 2003. Finally it would be turned over to the Marines,
with a battle following soon after. “Fallujah had five different units handling it be-
tween April ‘03 and April ’04,” said one Army intelligence officer who served in al
Anbar province. “This is exactly the wrong way to prosecute a counterinsurgency
fight”

The 4th Infantry Division vs. the Marine Corps

At the northern end of the Sunni Triangle, another Army division made a
similarly belligerent entrance. In mid-April the Marines briefly occupied Saddam
Hussein’s hometown of Tikrit, and were preparing to turn it over to the Army’s
4th Infantry Division. Unusual for an officially produced document, the official
history produced by the 1st Division of the Marine Corps is disapproving, even

contemptuous, of what it calls the 4th Infantry Division’s “very aggressive” pos-

ture as that unit came into Iraq. “The lead elements of this division began to ar-
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rive in Tikrit on the 19th [of April], and were given a thorough orientation to the
peaceful situation in town, and the continuing exercise in self-governance being
worked with local leaders,” stated the draft of the 1st Marine Division history of
its time in Iraq in 2003. Despite that, it continued,

[t]he arriving staff of the 4th Infantry Division had a sterner perspective on the
situation. They characterized their recent road march to Tikrit from Kuwait as an
“attack,” and remained convinced that the situation in Tikrit required a very
aggressive military enforcement posture. The dichotomy between the two peace-
keeping strategies was unsettling for the Marines, and many winced when Army
Apache attack helicopters swooped into the division battlespace without coordi-
nation and began to strafe abandoned enemy equipment indiscriminately, often in

close proximity to Marine forces or innocent civilians.

Strikingly, the draft of the Marine history became even more pointed when it
was revised. The final version noted that the Marines threw a farewell dinner to
cement relationships with local tribal leaders. “The design was to use this oppor-
tunity to pass down relationships based on trust and mutual respect,” the history
stated. “The meeting was successfully concluded, with plans for future contact
with the northern tribes established.” Then, it goes on to say, somewhat omi-
nously, “the meeting might have been even more productive had senior officers
from 4th Infantry Division been willing to attend.”

The history dryly notes that the Marines, “despite some misgivings,” turned
over the area to the 4th Infantry Division and departed on April 21. “Stores that
had re-opened quickly closed back up as the people once again evacuated the
streets, adjusting to the new security tactics,” the final draft of the history re-
ported. “A budding cooperative environment between the citizens and American
forces was quickly snuffed out. The new adversarial relationship would become a
major source of trouble in the coming months.”

The Army perspective was quite different. Lt. Col. Gian Gentile, who was exec-
utive officer of the Army brigade relieving the Marines in Tikrit, later argued, “The
Marines’ velvet glove covered some dangerous problems that we were soon to face.”
When the Army sent out a night patrol, which he said the Marines hadn’t done, it
encountered looters carrying off rocket-propelled grenades and mortar rounds.

Maj. Gen. Raymond Odierno, the 4th ID commander, later said that he was “very
confused” by the Marines’ criticism. “It was such a short period of time” that
the two services overlapped in Tikrit, he said. At any rate, he knew of only one
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instance of an Army Apache helicopter firing without needed clearance from the
Marines.

But it wasn’t just Marines who were taken aback by the 4th ID’s aggressive
stance. Unlike most Army divisions, it hadn’t been deployed for decades, missing
out on Panama, the 1991 Gulf War, Somalia, Bosnia, Kosovo, and Afghanistan. At
its home base of Fort Hood, Texas, it sometimes was mocked as the second team,
taking a backseat to its neighbor, the 1st Cavalry Division. Then it was assigned
the role of invading Iraq from the north in the spring 2003 attack, only to be pre-
vented from executing that mission when the Turkish government declined to
permit the movement of U.S. troops through its territory.

It is remarkable how consistently other soldiers were put off by the 4th Divi-
sion’s stance during its early days in Iraq. “We slowly drove past 4th Infantry guys
looking mean and ugly,” recalled Sgt. Kayla Williams, then a military intelligence
specialist in the 101st Airborne. “They stood on top of their trucks, their weapons
pointed directly at civilians. . . . What could these locals possibly have done? Why
was this intimidation necessary? No one explained anything, but it looked weird
and felt wrong.” Her gut sense would be borne out in the coming months, as the
4th ID would commit more than its share of abuses of Iraqis.

On April 19, as Pentagon officials continued to insist that there were enough
troops to do the job and that commanders on the ground agreed with them, Maj.
Gen. Mattis, one of the senior U.S. military commanders in Irag, noted in an in-
ternal message that the incoming Army occupation force lacked sufficient num-
bers of troops. “The lack of Army dismounts [regular infantry] is creating a void
in personal contact and public perception of our civil-military ops,” Mattis wrote.

At month’s end, despite the concerns about the lack of troops, the Marines were
told to execute previously existing plans to pull out and head home. “Most of us
were flabbergasted to be told to leave Baghdad at the end of April,” recalled Marine
Col. John Toolan. “I turned over my sector, which was east Baghdad, to 2nd ACR [Ar-
mored Cavalry Regiment], which had about one-fifth the capability of my regiment.”

Even before he left Iraq, Toolan recalled, Mattis, his commander, took him
aside and said he thought that the situation was deteriorating and that the
Marines would be pulled back into Iraq eventually. “Don’t lose sight of what
you've learned,” he recalled Mattis telling him, “because you're going to need to
get your guys ready to come back.” Off the top of his head, Mattis picked Novem-
ber 10~an easily remembered date because it is the Marine Corps’s birthday—as
the target date by which he wanted his troops to be ready to head back to Iraq. In

fact, the deployment order would arrive on November 7.
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“Mission accomplished”

Publicly, at least, all was going well.

One of the roles of a president is to provide strategic context—to explain
how the public, and especially how subordinate officials, should think about a
situation. On May 1, 2003, President Bush ostentatiously flew in a Navy combat
aircraft to the USS Abraham Lincoln, an aircraft carrier steaming off the coast of
southern California. The day is remembered, somewhat unfairly, as the occasion of
Bush’s Mission Accomplished speech. Bush never used that phrase, which was hang-
ing prominently on a huge banner displayed on the ship’s island—the tower where
the captain and the flight controllers operate—so that television cameras focused
on the president would pick it up. But his comments were in line with that theme.
“Major combat operations in Iraq have ended,” he began, standing on the ship’s
flight deck. “In the battle of Iraq, the United States and our allies have prevailed”

He did nod toward the operations that remained, which he seemed to charac-
terize as a mop-up job. “We have difficult work to do in Iraq. We’re bringing or-
der to parts of that country that remain dangerous. We’re pursuing and finding
leaders of the old regime, who will be held to account for their crimes. We’ve be-
gun the search for hidden chemical and biological weapons and already know of
hundreds of sites that will be investigated.” Doing all this, and establishing
democracy, “will take time, but it is worth every effort.” And, as he often would do
in discussing Iraq in public, he circled back to the 9/11 attacks, clearly his starting
point on the road to Baghdad. “The battle of Iraq is one victory in a war on ter-
ror that began on September the eleventh, 2001,” he said.

In both image and word that day, what Bush did was tear down the
goalposts at halftime in the game. But even as he spoke it was becoming clear
on the ground that contrary to official expectation the stockpiles of WMD
weren’t going to be found. The poor intelligence on WMD would continue to
haunt troops in the field—and, arguably, helped arm and protect the insur-
gency that would emerge in the following months. In bunkers across Iraq there
were tens of thousands of tons of conventional weaponry—mortar shells, RPGs,
rifle ammunition, explosives, and so on. One estimate, cited by Christopher
Hileman, a U.S. intelligence analyst for Mideast matters, was “more than a
million metric tons.” Yet U.S. commanders rolling into Iraq refrained from
detonating those bunkers for fear that they also contained stockpiles of poison
gas or other weaponry that might be blown into the air and kill U.S. soldiers
or Iraqi civilians. The COBRA II invasion plan unambiguously stated, “The
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Iragi Ministry of Defense will use WMD early but not often. The probability
for their use of WMD increases exponentially as Saddam Hussein senses the
imminent collapse of his regime.”

Such certitude made American commanders wary of destroying weapons
bunkers. “You never knew which one was WMD, okay?” said one regretful Marine
battalion commander. So the bunkers often were bypassed and left undisturbed
by an invasion force that already was stretched thin—and the insurgents were
able to arm themselves at leisure.

The U.S. focus on WMD also provided a kind of smokescreen that uninten-
tionally protected the insurgents during the spring of 2004. One senior military
intelligence officer recalled arguing that a good roadmap of the nascent opposi-
tion in Fallujah could be developed simply by translating the roster of residents
of that city—that the U.S. military possessed—who had volunteered for suicide
missions against Israel. Then, he recommended, map their houses and visit each
one-—as soon as possible. But he couldn’t “get it translated—all the assets were fo-
cused on WMD.” Thousands of weapons experts, translators, and other special-
ists, along with all their support personnel, were working to find unconventional
weapons that didn’t exist, and soon were being attacked with conventional
weapons that did but that had been ignored by U.S. officials.

The United States loses the initiative

When top Pentagon officials refused to acknowledge the realities of Iraq, the
opportunity to take hold of the situation slipped between the fingers of
the Americans. In military terms, in April and May, the U.S. military lost the
initiative—that is, it stopped being the side in the conflict that was driving events,
acting at the time and place of its choosing. “When the statue came down, that
moment, we could have done some great things,” Zinni said, looking back. “The
problem is, we had insufficient forces to secure and freeze the situation and capi-
talize on that moment.”

A vyear later, a formal Pentagon review, led by two former secretaries of de-
fense, James Schlesinger and Harold Brown, came to a similar conclusion about
the lack of mental agility at the Pentagon. “In Iraq, there was not only a failure to
plan for a major insurgency, but also to quickly and adequately adapt to the in-
surgency that followed after major combat operations,” they wrote, along with
two other members of the panel appointed to review the military establishment’s
handling of Iraq during the summer and fall of 2003. “The October 2002 Cent-
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com war plan presupposed that relatively benign stability and security operations
would precede a handover to Iraq’s authorities.”

When those rosy assumptions weren’t borne out, the Pentagon’s leadership
failed to adjust, most notably by sending more troops. Keith Mines, a State De-
partment diplomat assigned by the CPA to al Anbar province in 2003, later wrote
an analysis of how what he called “the minimalist force structure” undercut the
occupation in the summer of 2003. He was uniquely placed to do so: A former
Special Forces officer, he had a solid understanding of both military and political
tactics and a feeling especially for how they interact. “First,” he wrote, “a larger
force could have stopped the looting,” which tainted the occupation and de-
stroyed necessary infrastructure. For lack of troops, the border was left largely
open, a particular problem in western Iraq, where he operated, and where ji-
hadists could move freely across from Syria. In addition, there weren’t enough
soldiers to train Iraqis, and so contractors were used, but their “timeline stretched
into 2006 before the new force would begin to deploy.” But the worst effect may
have been the lack of adequate troops to manage detainees—a problem top com-
manders in Iraq wouldn’t recognize until 2004, after it had led to a scandal that
damaged the American image globally. The oddity, Mines concluded, was that
there were two known models for successful counterinsurgency operations, and
the U.S. had managed to avoid both. One was El Salvador in the 1980s, where a
tiny group of just fifty-five U.S. military advisers had worked with local military
units. The other was postwar Germany, where a large and overwhelming force
was garrisoned. But in Iraq “we have worked the middle ground, with just
enough forces to elicit a strong response from Iraqi nationalists but inadequate
forces to make the transition work.”

Maj. Gen. John Batiste, who would command the 1st Infantry Division in Iraq
for a year, said that the initial U.S. approach helped create the mess that followed.
“We set ourselves up for what happened when we violated two principles that are
absolutely fundamental for success. One is unity of command. The other is
mass.” In other words, he argued, the U.S. approach failed to heed two of the most
basic rules of military operations: First, have everybody working toward the same
goal, with one person in charge. Second, have enough people and machines to get
the job done. Together these flaws “led directly to Abu Ghraib,” because inade-
quate leaders and overstrapped units were given tasks far beyond their limited
abilities and resources.

Col. Teddy Spain, from his front-row seat as chief of U.S. military police forces

in Baghdad, came to agree with that assessment. In April, Spain made his first
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foray into Baghdad, conducting a reconnaissance mission before moving his
headquarters north to the capital. He was surprised by what he saw. “The first
time I went into Baghdad, they were breaking into ministries and burning build-
ings, but I didn’t have the assets—all my people were down south guarding sup-
ply routes and EPWs,” or enemy prisoners of war.

With those troops, he said later, he might have been able to bring security to
Baghdad. If he had had those MP units that had been dropped from the invasion
plan months earlier, “I think we could have taken control of the streets much bet-
ter. I think Baghdad would have been different. I just didn’t have the assets.” He
would prove not to be alone in these bitter regrets.
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SPRING AND SUMMER 2003

y soldiers are starting to lose their positive attitudes and are constantly
asking when we will go home,” Capt. Lesley Kipling, the MP officer, wrote
to her boyfriend on May 9.

The feeling of postwar impatience was the same at the Pentagon, recalled an
officer who was on the Joint Staff at that time: “There was a mind-set by the first
part of May: Major combat operations are over, let’s think about drawing down
the force.”

From late spring to midsummer 2003 was a time of meandering and drift for
the U.S. occupation of Iraq. It took months for incorrect assumptions to begin to
be discarded and for commanders to recognize that large numbers of U.S. troops
were going to be in Iraq for some time. “In the two to three months of ambigu-
ous transition, U.S. forces slowly lost the momentum and the initiative they had
gained over an off-balance enemy,” Maj. Isaiah Wilson later wrote. “During this
calm before the next storm, the U.S. Army has its eyes turned toward the ports,
while Former Regime Loyalists (FRL) and budding insurgents had their eyes
turned toward the people. The United States, its Army, and its coalition of the

willing have been playing catch-up ever since.”
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As the situation turned violent, some U.S. soldiers began to question why they
were in Iraq. “Motivation was not a problem during the initial stages, however
once we transitioned into SASO [stability and support operations, the U.S. mili-
tary term for peacekeeping] it became a problem,” one Army lieutenant observed
that summer on an Internet discussion board for young officers. “It didn’t take
much time before I realized that they were lacking any sense of purpose. . . . They
didn’t know why they weren’t going home, why they couldn’t see their first child
born, and why we were helping an ungrateful and hostile populace.”

Added an intelligence officer who was attached to a Navy SEAL unit at the

time, “The air went out of the tires almost overnight.”

Watching sofas go by

Baghdad was falling apart in front of the eyes of the U.S. military, with build-
ings being looted and parents afraid to let their children outside, but no one had
orders to do anything about it. Looking back several years later, Col. Alan King,
the head of civil affairs for the 3rd Infantry Division, spoke of April 2003 with a
slow, chilled tone of horror in his voice. “I got to Baghdad and was told, ‘You've
got twenty-four hours to come up with a Phase IV plan. . . . On the night of April 8,
Col. [John] Sterling, the chief of staff of the 3rd ID, came to me and said, ‘I just
got off the phone with the corps chief of staff, and I asked him for the reconstruc-
tion plan, and he said there isn’t one. So you’ve got twenty-four hours to come up
with one.” King was stunned. He had been asking for months for just such a plan,
and had been told that when the time came, he would be given it.

Lacking clear orders about what to do once in Baghdad, the 3rd ID more or
less stayed in place in the capital. “You didn’t find many dismounted patrols with
the 3rd ID,” recalled Jay Garner, a retired Army general and not one to lightly crit-
icize his old peers. “They kind of stayed with their platforms”—that is, their tanks
and Bradley fighting vehicles.

On April 6, Lt. Douglas Hoyt, a platoon leader with the 3rd ID, saw looters for
the first time. “I remembered looking through the sights on my tank at people
and trying to determine if they were hostile or not,” he recalled later. He didn’t
stop them. “It was not our mission at the time.”

The division’s official after-action review states that it had no orders to do
anything else: “3RD ID transitioned into Phase IV SASO with no plan from
higher headquarters,” it reported. “There was no guidance for restoring order in

Baghdad, creating an interim government, hiring government and essential ser-
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vices employees, and ensuring that the judicial system was operational.” The re-
sult was “a power/authority vacuum created by our failure to immediately replace
key government institutions.” In a surprising criticism for an Army division to
make—especially one that had led the way in toppling an enemy government—
the 3rd ID report laid the blame for all of this at the feet of its chain of command,
leading to Franks to Rumsfeld and Bush: “The president announced that our na-
tional goal was ‘regime change.’ Yet there was no timely plan prepared for the ob-
vious consequences of a regime change.”

The report also faulted the political thinking that led American forces to be
declared liberators rather than occupiers, because that led military commanders
to operate in a hands-off way that allowed the chaos to increase in Baghdad. “As
a matter of law and fact, the United States is an occupying power in Iraq, even if
we characterize ourselves as liberators,” stated the staff judge advocate’s section of
the division report. “Because of the refusal to acknowledge occupier status, com-
manders did not initially take measures available to occupying powers, such as
imposing curfews, directing civilians to return to work, and controlling the local
governments and populace. The failure to act after we displaced the regime cre-
ated a power vacuum, which others immediately tried to fill.”

“No one had talked about what would happen when we got there,” said Capt.
David Chasteen, a 3rd ID officer. “There was no plan for that. They literally told us
once we got there they’d pull us back out, take us home. Once we got there it was
a clusterfuck, just trying to figure out what to do.” Normally the division’s officer for
coordinating defenses against nuclear, biological, and chemical attacks, Chasteen
was assigned in Baghdad to work at the city’s international airport, which had be-
come a giant U.S. military base. “I was customs, immigration, looking at people’s
passports, I had no idea what I was doing. Such a nicely planned operation that
went so well, why didn’t anyone think about what the next step would be?”

It wasn’t just a lack of planning or guidance from civilians that led to the U.S.
inertia, it also was a lack of understanding or interest among senior military com-
manders. “The civilian leadership did not foresee the need for extensive Phase IV
operations, and thus did little planning beyond near-term relief,” said one Penta-
gon official who was involved in war-gaming the invasion plan, and who later
quietly analyzed its failures. “This was fine with the military, which had tradition-
ally focused on Phase III operations, did not want to do Phase IV operations, and
figured that someone else would step in.”

Brig. Gen. David Fastabend told the story of reading an article in which a
fellow Army general was quoted as saying that Army doctrine hadn’t prepared
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him for what he faced in Iraq during the late spring of 2003. When he met this of-
ficer, Fastabend, who was involved in developing doctrine—that is, how to think
about how to fight and operate—questioned him about that statement. “I don’t
understand why you said that,” Fastabend said. “Look, in 1993 we introduced
‘military operations other than war, and then we introduced the idea of ‘full-
spectrum operations. From *97 to 2001 we introduced the idea that operations are
a seamless combination of offense, defense, stability, and support. How could you
say that your doctrine didn’t prepare you for what you experienced in Baghdad?”
“Yeah, Dave, I know,” this officer responded. “I read all that stuff. Read it many
times, and thought about it. But I can remember quite clearly, I was on a street
corner in Baghdad, smoking a cigar, watching some guys carry a sofa by—and it
never occurred to me that I was going to be the guy to go get that sofa back.”

The pacification of Ar Rutbah

One of the notable exceptions to this sense of drift was in areas where Army
Special Forces operated, in far northern and western Iraq. Those soldiers were
much more accustomed to living and working with foreign populations.

The experience of Army Maj. Jim Gavrilis showed the road that unfortunately
was not taken by the overwhelming majority of the U.S. military in Iraq. At six
o’clock on the morning of April 9, the career Special Forces officer drove into Ar
Rutbah, the only town of any size in far western Iraq. His troops had come under
intense fire from this town of about twenty-five thousand people, but he didn’t
enter it in a hostile fashion. “I understood that this was a war of liberation and
therefore the people were ultimately the center of gravity,” he later wrote, in a
simple sentence of great insight. “As a result, it was natural for us to focus on the
people and build positive relationships with them.”

He drank tea with Bedouins in the desert, smoked cigarettes with farmers
near the towns, and broke bread with police chiefs, and even with Iragi army of-
ficers. He listened. He ate with his fingers, as they did. He emphasized that it was
their country and that he was a guest who hoped to help. “Our behavior sent the
clearest message,” he later wrote. “We showed we cared more about the people of
Ar Rutbah than did the Saddam Fedayeen.” This was a classic counterinsurgency
move, implemented at the most opportune time—before there was an insurgency.

Along the same lines, Gavrilis moved quickly to empower the locals. By the
time the calls rang out from the minarets for noon prayers on the day he arrived,

he had named an interim mayor. He also took steps to integrate the local police
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into his checkpoints. “This allowed the Iraqis to do their part and increased their
comfort with us,” he recalled. And, “in practical terms, the police knew who was
from the city and who had legitimate business.”

He co-opted the existing power structure. When some sheikhs came to com-
plain about looting, he knew some of them were behind those acts, he said. So he
put those very sheikhs in charge of a neighborhood-watch program—and held
them accountable for any continued looting, with U.S. troops monitoring the sit-
uation in random patrols. “The stealing dropped to almost nothing.” He also gave
relief food supplies to the sheikhs and imams, because he realized that they knew
who really needed it. To help the rest of the population obtain food, he lent his
satellite phone to local merchants so they could contact business partners in Jor-
dan. “In a day, the market had fresh fruit and vegetables, and fresh fish and meat
for the first time in months.”

One hallmark of his approach was a humility about his role and his limited
ability to alter a culture whose roots reached back to the days of Abraham and
Ezekiel. “The laws and values of their society and culture were just fine,” he wrote.
“All we needed to do was enforce them.” Emphasizing this attitude of restraint, he
lived simply, not moving into any palaces, as conventional U.S. forces were doing
elsewhere in Iraq.

He also took a gentle approach to de-Baathification. First he offered to turn
the Baath Party headquarters—“the nicest building in the city”—into a hospital.
He also developed a renunciation form in which people who were becoming part
of the interim government repudiated the party and pledged to serve and protect
the people of the new Iraq. Signing the form wasn’t done punitively. “It was more
of a commencement where we congratulated each person for their courage in
turning this new leaf,” he wrote. Those who wanted to sign the form in private
were allowed to do so. “Simply put, de-Baathifcation meant political change, not
political purge.”

At any rate, he preferred a functioning city administered in part by some for-
mer Baathists to a stricken one stripped of them. “By quickly establishing an
effective Iraqi alternative to the regime and not alienating anyone, we made re-
sistance irrelevant,” he said.

The one area in which Gavrilis took a hard line was on violence. No one but
U.S. forces were permitted to carry a weapon. “I made it very clear . . . that I re-
tained the monopoly on the use of force.”

In sum, he treated Iragis as partners. Rather than seek to break the structure

of an ancient society, he sought to use it to achieve his ends. But he was careful in
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establishing those goals and realistic in seeking to achieve them, acting with both
humility and common sense. In other words, he took almost the opposite course
that the U.S. occupation authorities based in Baghdad would dictate in the fol-
lowing months. He left Ar Rutbah on April 23. By midsummer, the atmosphere
in those towns in the province, from Ar Rutbah east to Fallujah, would be far

more hostile.

Garner’s troubled tenure

In Baghdad, meanwhile, Garner was off to an uneven start. His initial moves
were making Ahmed Chalabi uneasy—and the Iraqi exile had better contacts in
the U.S. government and in the media than the retired general did. Garner found
that he had a particularly difficult relationship with Chalabi as well. “Very tense,”
he said. “He didn’t like me.” The reason for the mutual unease, Garner believed,
was that Chalabi thought that control of Iraq would be turned over to him. “I
think he’d been led to believe that by Perle and Feith,” Garner said later. And Gar-
ner didn’t like that idea. “I thought he was a thug, very sleazy” When he heard a
year later that Chalabi allegedly had been passing intelligence to the Iranian gov-
ernment, “I thought, ‘No shit.”

Chalabi, for his part, was doing his best during this period to undercut Garner.
“The problem with Garner was that he was employing Baathists in senior posi-
tions, and the U.S. press got hold of that,” Chalabi later said. “They went ahead
and put in the New York Times that Baathists were being made to run the univer-
sity, Ministry of Health. . .. That created a big fuss with the United States, be-
cause the U.S. policy was de-Baathification.” Chalabi acknowledged that he was
pushing this view “very hard” at the time.

Also, even as it occupied Baghdad, the U.S. government was still undecided on
the basics of what it planned to do there. Most notably, officials went back and
forth on the issue of whether to maintain the Iragi military. The U.S. military
generally advocated keeping the Iraqi forces relatively intact. “We’d been briefing,
‘Keep the Iraqi army,” said a military intelligence officer. “It is solid, it has struc-
ture and discipline, and credibility inside Iraq”

In mid-April, Abizaid “strongly recommended” to the Pentagon that a sub-
stantial Iragi army be established immediately, according to an internal summary
of a secure video teleconference. This interim force would have three divisions—
the U.S. Army at the time had just ten, for the entire world—and would “take over
internal security functions as quickly as possible,” the document stated. A subse-



HOW TO CREATE AN INSURGENCY (I) 155

quent memo noted that there was an “urgent need to maintain order, suppress
various militias, put an Iraqi face on security and relieve burden on Coalition
military” Wolfowitz, who participated in the video teleconference, expressed con-
cern about having the Iragi army perform internal security missions. But he and
Abizaid concluded by agreeing to start up a force and worry later about its mission.

By month’s end, Central Command staffers were hard at work on this New
Iraqi Corps, which they inevitably acronymized as the NIC—not knowing that
that sound was Arabic slang for “fuck” When, several weeks later, this was
pointed out to U.S. officials, the planned organization was renamed the New Iraqi
Army. Garner’s team began to work toward the goal of assembling Iraqi army
units—talking to former officers and getting their advice about how to go
about it.

At the same time, there was growing unease back in Washington with Garner’s
performance. Rice was told that “Garner just isn’t pulling things together,” re-
called Franklin Miller, the National Security Council’s staff director for defense
issues.

On the night of April 24, Garner was standing in the looted mess of Saddam
Hussein’s main palace downtown, broken glass under his shoes, when Rumsfeld
called to tell him that a retired diplomat named L. Paul Bremer III would be com-
ing in as a presidential envoy. “He asked me to stay on under Bremer, but I said

that wouldn’t work. He asked me to stay on for a transition, and I said I would.”

American leadership goes MIA

One of the unexplained oddities of this time was the absence of much of the
nation’s top military leadership: Just as the situation in Iraq was deteriorating,
there was a series of retirements and replacements among the top commanders
handling it. The changes would occur just as Garner was succeeded by Bremer,
with il effect.

At the top of the chain of command for operations in Iraq, Gen. Franks
seemed quickly to have detached from Iraq issues. Some of those who worked
with him found him remote and even out of touch in the weeks after the fall of
Baghdad. Franks was getting ready to retire, while Abizaid was not yet confirmed
by Congress to succeed him as the top U.S. military commander for Iraq and the
rest of the Mideast. A Pentagon official said that top officials got wind at one
point that Franks planned to fly from the Mideast to Tampa, pick up his wife, and

take a long weekend, maybe in the Bahamas. Franks ultimately was ordered not



156 FIASCO

to. He “put his pack down early,” said a former senior administration official. “He
couldn’t even be found a lot of the times.”

“Franks was strangely absent” in May and June of 2003, agreed Army Col.
Gregory Gardner, who was serving at the CPA. “He blew into Baghdad once,
signed the freedom order, and left. It was like, ‘T've done it, I did the offensive op-
erations. I really felt he was disengaged.”

Franks, who declined to be interviewed for this book, wrote in his own that
“Phase IV was actually going about as I had expected”—which, if it were indeed
true, would make his decision to retire from the battlefield all the more inexplica-
ble. Even more bizarrely, Gen. Franks later would blame journalists for the lack of
an adequate U.S. military response to the situation. “I remember a time long
about the 9th, 10th, 11th of April of last year where there was a lot of media cov-
erage of the fact that Saddam’s statue came down in Baghdad,” he said in Wash-
ington late in 2004. “And then pretty soon there was created—and I would not
take credit as the guy who created an expectation, I will just say that all of the re-
porting, and none of it was evil—but the reporting we all saw kind of created an
expectation, ‘Well probably peace is going to break out very, very quickly.” This
attempt by a top commander to shift responsibility to the media for poor military
leadership and a flawed understanding of the strategic situation is unbecoming—
especially because it was uttered not in the heat of the moment but almost eigh-
teen months after the fact.

Gen. Shinseki, the chief of the U.S. Army, left the stage at about the same time.
Neither Defense Secretary Rumsfeld nor Deputy Defense Secretary Wolfowitz at-
tended the scorned general’s retirement ceremony. Wolfowitz asked to come but
Shinseki declined to invite him. It was an extraordinary situation: While the na-
tion was at war and American soldiers were dying, the Pentagon’s top civilians
were estranged from the Army’s leadership. What’s more, it was the second bitter
departure of an Army four-star general under Rumsfeld: Gen. Henry “Hugh”
Shelton, the chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, had retired in 2001, just weeks
after 9/11, disgusted with Rumsfeld and feeling he had recklessly disregarded
sound military advice.

Shinseki struck two dissonant themes in his farewell address that warm June
day. First, there was a difference between being a boss and being a leader. “Mis-
trust and arrogance are antithetical to inspired and inspiring leadership,” he said
in reference to the contumely of his civilian leaders. (This was “a subtle rebuke to
Secretary Rumsfeld,” according to a biographical pamphlet by veteran journalist

Richard Halloran that was written with Shinseki’s cooperation and published by
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the Hawaii Army Museum Society.) His second theme was even more sensitive.
Looking at Iraq as his Army career ended, Shinseki said, he was reminded of the
war where his career had begun, Vietnam, where he had been wounded three
times, the last time losing half his right foot to a land mine. It was striking that the
chief of the Army was the first major public figure to draw this analogy, only two
months into the occupation. “The current war brings me full circle to where I be-
gan my journey as a soldier,” he said. “The lessons I learned in Vietnam are always
with me.” One of his warnings was that the Army needed to be big enough for the
missions assigned it. “Beware the twelve-division strategy for a ten-division Army,”
he cautioned. Then he retired and all but disappeared from public view, a samurai
ashamed of the behavior of his shogun. Over the next couple of years he would
surface only a few times in low-profile speeches far from Washington—in Geor-
gia, California, and Hawaii.

After Gen. Keane declined the job of succeeding Shinseki, Rumsfeld, in an un-
usual move, passed over all the Army’s active-duty three- and four-star generals—
normally the ones who would be considered—to appoint as chief a retired general
named Peter Schoomaker. When Rumsfeld’s aides first contacted Schoomaker,
they reached him on his cell phone in his pickup truck near rural Hico, Texas, a
bit north of Fort Hood. The retired general thought he might be getting a prank
call from the rancher he’d just left. Furthering the Army’s isolation, Schoomaker
was an outsider. He had spent most of his career in Special Operations, which
often acts—and is treated—as if it were a separate service from the Army.

On the ground in Iragq, the structure of U.S. forces also was in flux. After be-
ing told for two weeks that both the 1st Cavalry Division and 1st Armored Division
would be deploying, Col. Agoglia was told on April 30 that the 1st Cav wouldn’t
be coming after all—and that the 3rd ID would be leaving after the 1st AD arrived.
“So we have a net gain of zero,” he calculated to himself. “You’re kiddin’ me!”

In addition, instead of having Iraq run by Gen. McKiernan and his staff at
CFLCC, the headquarters for the ground invasion force, the staff of V Corps, a
smaller group, was going to be put in charge. This meant that an experienced
team that had worked for months on Iraq issues was being replaced by a smaller,
less capable, and less seasoned staff. McKiernan’s headquarters was especially at-
tuned to the tribal structure of Iraqi society, an intelligence officer recalled: “They
were sent home, and that expertise and capability went with them. We spent from
May 03 to December ’03 trying to rebuild that capability.”

What’s more, a general named Ricardo Sanchez was going to take over V Corps

at the same time. “So now you have the most junior headquarters in theater, with
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the most junior commander in theater, taking over,” Agoglia recalled. “You've got
the entire military chain of command changing.” Agoglia also moved, rewarded
for his two years of nonstop work in the frying pan of planning wars for Gen.
Franks by being thrown into the fire as the military liaison between the CPA and
Central Command.

Bremer’s opening blunders

Bremer headed for Iraq in early May, determined to show that there was a new
sheriff in town. In a memo to the Pentagon’s general counsel written just before
his departure, he noted his desire “that my arrival in Iraq be marked by clear, pub-
lic and decisive steps” to “reassure Iraqis that we are determined to eradicate Sad-
damism.” One of those steps, he decided, would be the total dissolution of the
Iraqgi army. He attached the draft of an order to that end that, he said, “Walt Slo-
combe has suggested that I issue . . . immediately after my arrival.” (Slocombe was
a former Pentagon official who had agreed to be Bremer’s adviser on defense issues.)

On May 12, 2003, Bremer arrived in Baghdad aboard a Special Operations
MC-130 Combat Talon aircraft. He and Garner overlapped for just a few weeks.
Garner had told Rumsfeld he would stay as late as early July, but soon found that
his views weren’t particularly welcome. “Bremer didn’t want my advice. . . . He’s
a hardworking guy, twenty hours a day. But he cut me out the first day, didn’t have
me to any of his meetings. So on the third day he was there, I said, ‘Jerry, I'm go-
ing home. We just didn’t get along.”

For his own part, Bremer, a veteran diplomat who had gone on to work as a
consultant, was taken aback by the situation on the ground. “I found a city that
was on fire, not from the war, but from the looting,” he later said. “I found a city
where there was virtually no traffic except for American military vehicles or coali-
tion tanks and Humvees, a city where there was a lot of gunfire still going on.”

In mid-May, Bremer quickly made three moves that radically altered the Amer-
ican approach to Iraq and went a long way toward creating support for an anti-
American insurgency. Oddly, these early moves contradicted the decisions made
by President Bush on March 10 and 12 at briefings on postwar Iraq, according to an
administration official who participated in both. “They were not the decisions that
the administration had reached,” Richard Armitage confirmed in an interview.

One of the first things Bremer did after arriving in Iraq was show Garner the
order he intended to issue to rid Iraq of Baathist leadership. “Senior Party Mem-
bers,” it stated, “are hereby removed from their positions and banned from future
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employment in the public sector.” In addition, anyone holding a position in the
top three management layers of any ministry, government-run corporation, uni-
versity, or hospital and who was a party member—even of a junior rank—would
be deemed to be a senior Baathist and so would be fired. What’s more, those sus-
pected of crimes would be investigated and, if deemed a flight risk, would be de-
tained or placed under house arrest.

Garner was appalled. This went far beyond what he had planned for months
and, in fact, had briefed for Rumsfeld and President Bush. The message Garner
had given his subordinates, recalled his strategy chief, Col. Paul Hughes, was, “Let
them sort out their own de-Baathification—either kill them or force them to leave.”

If issued as written, the order Bremer was carrying would lead to disaster,
Garner thought. He went to see the CIA station chief, whom Garner had seen
work well with the military. “This is too hard,” Garner told the CIA officer, who
read it and agreed. The two allies went back to Bremer.

“Give us an hour or so to redo this,” Garner asked.

“Absolutely not,” Bremer responded. “I have my instructions, and I am going
to issue this.”

The CIA station chief urged Bremer to reconsider. These are the people who
know where the levers of the infrastructure are, from electricity to water to trans-
portation, he said. Take them out of the equation and you undercut the operation
of this country, he warned.

No, said Bremer.

Okay, the veteran CIA man responded. Do this, he said, but understand one
thing: “By nightfall, you’ll have driven 30,000 to 50,000 Baathists underground.
And in six months, you’ll really regret this.” (The U.S. intelligence estimate was
that the party had a total membership of 600,000 to 700,000, of which between
15,000 and 40,000 were senior members, depending on how one counted.)

Bremer looked at the two. “I have my instructions,” he repeated, according to
Garner, though it isn’t clear that he really did, as the policy he was implementing
wasn’t what had been briefed to the president. A few months later, the veteran
CIA man would leave Baghdad, replaced by a far more junior officer. In the fall of
2005 he would resign from government service.

The next day, Bremer met in his conference room—the only big room in the
palace with working air conditioners—with his senior CPA staff members. He
showed them the de-Baathification order. “They went nuts and said, ‘You can’t do
this,” recalled Gardner, the Army colonel assigned to CPA. “It just cleaned out the

3

ministries. The guys said, ‘We can’t run our ministries now.”
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“I was extremely vocal with the people who were coming in that that was a
huge mistake, that it really did not reflect the experience of these kinds of situa-
tions for the past twenty years,” agreed David Nummy, a former assistant treasury
secretary who is an expert on the financial systems of transitioning and develop-
ing countries. He called on his knowledge of Ukraine, Bosnia, and Kosovo to ar-
gue that Iraq “was not the first totalitarian system we had engaged with, not the
first one-party state that we had worked with, and that there was absolutely no
experience in any country that said that being a member of the dominant politi-
cal party meant you were a bad guy.”

Bremer again refused to budge. His response, said Gardner, was that he wasn’t
bringing up the issue for discussion but rather just to inform them of what was
going to happen. It appears that with this move, Chalabi, operating behind the
scenes, had won a major victory. Army Lt. Gen. Joseph Kellogg, Jr., then on the
staff of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, recalled that Chalabi had been a strong backer of
the radical de-Baathification plan Bremer brought with him. “He was calling for
total de-Baathification, which was extreme.”

“I think the world of Jerry Bremer,” said Kellogg, who sat across from Bremer
on the Special Operations C-130 aircraft that took them into Iraq. “He is person-
ally courageous, and a good guy.” But his management style didn’t work well. “If
you went up to him and said, ‘You gotta do this, because your way is wrong, he’d
blow you off. So you'd have to work the sides. We’d kind of work around him.”

On May 16, De-Baathification of Iraq Society was issued over Bremer’s signature
as Coalition Provisional Authority Order Number 1. It purged tens of thousands
of members of the Baath Party—perhaps as many as eighty-five thousand. Ulti-
mately, nine thousand would seek and be granted exemptions permitting them to
go back to work. “I did that because I thought it was absolutely essential to make
it clear that the Baathist ideology, which had been responsible for so many of the
human-rights abuses and mistreatment of the people in the country over the last
forty years, had to be extirpated finally and completely from society, much as the
American government decided to completely extirpate Nazism from Germany at
the end of the Second World War,” Bremer said later.

Ultimately, the U.S. military in Iraq came to have a mixed view of the purge.
Maj. Gen. Swannack spoke for many when he later said, “I was not very happy
from day one with the de-Baathification program.”

A 101st Airborne Division summary of issues for a meeting at the CPA later
that year listed the “Big Five” concerns of the division commander, Maj. Gen.
David Petraeus: “Arbitrary de-Baathification” was at the top of the list. One of
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Petraeus’s brigade commanders, Col. Joe Anderson, later summarized the effect
of Bremer’s order: “All of a sudden you say, “These guys are not part of society. . . .
These were guys and gals in the doctor arena, in the professor arena, that you
can’t do without” in running a society.

But not everyone agreed. Brig. Gen. Martin Dempsey, who commanded the
1st Armored Division in Baghdad—and so had more top Baathists in his area of
operations—said that in retrospect, Bremer’s radical de-Baathification was the
right move to make for changing Iraq, albeit a somewhat difficult one. If it hadn’t
been done, he said, “it would have gone easier for us in the near term, but less well

for the Iraqi population in the long term.”

Bremer dissolves the Iraqi armed forces

Next came the dissolution of the Iraqi army and national police force.

“We didn’t disband the army,” Walter Slocombe would later contend. “The
army disbanded itself”

That’s not the way many others remember what happened. “We were working
with the army when we were told to disband them,” recalled Marine Maj. Gen.
Mattis.

Col. Hughes discussed the moment he learned about this order with the same
passion that he recounted the events of 9/11, when his side of the Pentagon was
hit by a fuel-laden jet. He was on leave in the United States, staying at a hotel in
Boston for his daughter’s graduation from Emerson College. One day just before
leaving town, he idly turned on the hotel room’s television to check the news.
“They were saying on Channel Four that the Iraq army was being abolished.” In-
credulous, Hughes spoke to the television. “What?” The report made no sense to
him. At Garner’s behest he had spent the previous several weeks working on the
future of the Iraqi military. Before going on leave he had been meeting every day
with a group of Iraqi generals, and with them had developed a list of 125,000
former Iraqi soldiers.

This decision was another significant departure from what Garner had dis-
cussed with Rumsfeld and others before leaving Washington for Iraq. “One of our
goals is to take a good portion of the Iraqi regular army” and put them to work
in reconstruction, Garner had told reporters at the Pentagon in March. “The reg-
ular army has the skill sets to match the work that needs to be done.” On Febru-
ary 19, Garner had briefed Rice, the national security adviser, on his plans for the

Iraqi army. “Cannot immediately demobilize . . . 300K—400K unemployed,” his
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briefing slide stated. “Take advantage of ready labor force . . . Reconstruction is
labor-intensive.” According to notes he prepared for that meeting, he told her of
his preparations for “Iraq Regular Army: Plan for Rapid Reorganization.” His
plan was to use $1.2 billion in frozen assets to pay the military, police, and key
civil servants for a few months. Garner had been so determined to stand up the
Iragi military quickly that he had demanded that the job of retraining not be
given to the U.S. Army, which he had felt would move too slowly, but to contrac-
tors. In response, MPRI, a military consulting firm, had drawn up a detailed plan
to use up to one hundred thousand Iraqi troops as the low-tech end of recon-
struction projects. “Start with short, simple tasks (clear garbage, remove debris,
improve drainage), then longer and more complex tasks,” the company’s plan
stated.

“We planned to bring it back,” Garner said in an interview. “I'd briefed the
president on it.” Having an operating Iraqi army was a key element of U.S. mili-
tary planning. “Abizaid was all for it, Tommy Franks, McKiernan,” the three top
U.S. Army commanders in the region. Lt. Gen. David McKiernan, in particular,
Garner said, “beat me up every day, saying, ‘When are you going to get the army
back?’” In addition, Prince Bandar bin Sultan, the Saudi Arabian ambassador to
the United States, had strongly suggested to the U.S. government that it find a way
to keep together some remnant of the Iraqi military, recalled Maj. Gen. Renuart,
the operations director for Central Command.

As late as May 15, a CPA Web site stated that thirty thousand former members
of the Iraqi army had registered for emergency payments, of which nine thou-
sand were sergeants and enlisted men. The Web site said that the CPA goal was to
bring them back to active duty.

But on May 23, Bremer issued CPA Order Number 2, Dissolution of Iraqi En-
tities, formally doing away with several groups: the Iraqi armed forces, which ac-
counted for 385,000 people; the staff of the Ministry of the Interior, which
amounted to a surprisingly high 285,000 people, because it included police and
domestic security forces; and the presidential security units, a force of some
50,000. “Abruptly terminating the livelihoods of these men created a vast pool of
humiliated, antagonized, and politicized men,” noted Faleh Jabar, an expert on
the Baathist Party who was a senior fellow at the U.S Institute of Peace. Many of
these men were armed.

In addition, Bremer’s order clarified his de-Baathification standard, saying
that “any person holding the rank under the former regime of Col. or above, or

its equivalent, will be deemed a Senior Party Member”—and so would not be el-
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igible for any pension payments. This cut off tens of thousands of influential
Iraqis, some of them wrongly, because it mistakenly assumed that one couldn’t be
a senior officer without being a party member. Only later did the CPA learn that
even some top Iraqi generals were not in the party, a former CPA official recalled.

Central Command was taken aback by the announcement. “We were sur-
prised at the dissolution of the army,” said Maj. Gen. Renuart, adding mildly,
“so that gave us a challenge.” It is a verbal tic of the U.S. military that officers tend
to say challenge when they mean problem. Agoglia, working as the military liai-
son to Bremer, told his boss, “You guys just blindsided Centcom.” That was the
day, he recalled, “that we snatched defeat from the jaws of victory and created an
insurgency.”

Likewise, another planner, Col. Kevin Benson, said that Bremer’s move under-
cut the entire postwar plan: “We expected to be able to recall the Iraqi army. Once
CPA took the decision to disband the Iragi army and start again, our assumptions
for the plan became invalid.”

Rumsfeld was surprised by Bremer’s move, said a general who spoke fre-
quently with the defense secretary at this time. The Joint Staff was informed sim-
ply by a written note, said Col. Hughes. There was also some concern inside
Feith’s office. Abram Shulsky, an intelligence expert and former classmate of Wol-
fowitz at Cornell University and the University of Chicago, weighed in, writing a
note to the Pentagon’s general counsel raising concerns about the plan. “I'm not
certain I like this,” he wrote. “It seems to me we could accomplish the same effect
if we said that the regular army . . . weren’t dissolved, but would be thoroughly
vetted and reformed.”

Together, Bremer’s two orders threw out of work more than half a million peo-
ple and alienated many more dependent on those lost incomes. Just as important,
in a country riven by sectarian and ethnic fault lines—Sunni versus Shiite versus
Kurd—and possessing few unifying national institutions, Bremer had done away
with two of the most important ones. Moreover, the moves undercut the fragile
remnants of the police structure. “The CPA decision to cleanse the political sys-
tem of Hussein sympathizers—notably, the ‘de-Baathification’ effort—effectively
decapitated the IPS,” or Iraqi police services, a joint study by the inspectors gen-
eral of the Pentagon and State Department would find two years later.

Zinni believed Chalabi had maneuvered Bremer and his subordinates into
the moves. “I think the de-Baathification and the dissolution of the army was at
Chalabi’s insistence,” he said. “Because Chalabi wanted to replace the Baathists at

every level with his people. Iraqis told me this, Iraqis from inside during the war
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said that Chalabi was pushing Bremer to get rid of all of the Baathists because he
wanted to put his people in those positions, he could control them. And I think,
obviously, he saw the army as a threat to him. If the army stayed intact, he wouldn’t
have control of the security forces.”

The move also resulted from Bremer’s lack of experience in the region, Zinni
speculated. “Bremer comes in, he doesn’t know the planning. We had spent a
decade psyopsing the Iragi army, telling them we would take care of those who
didn’t fight. And he disbands it.”

The move also worried some soldiers on the ground. When Maj. Jeffrey
Madison, a finance officer working for the 1st Armored Division, heard about it,
he wrote that night to his wife, “This is going to be a problem. This is going to
come back and haunt us”

Col. King saw and heard the reaction close-up on the hot streets of Baghdad.
“When Bremer did that, the insurgency went crazy. May was the turning point”
for the U.S. occupation, he said later. “When they disbanded the military, and an-
nounced we were occupiers—that was it. Every moderate, every person that had
leaned toward us, was furious. One Iraqi who had saved my life in an ambush said
to me, ‘I can’t be your friend anymore.”

At the end of May and in early June, dismissed ministry workers and former
Iraqi army soldiers held a series of demonstrations. Some vowed they would vio-
lently oppose the U.S. decisions. “All of us will become suicide bombers,” former
officer Khairi Jassim told Reuters. The wire service article was distributed at the
CPA with that quotation highlighted.

“The only thing left for me is to blow myself up in the face of tyrants,” another
officer told Al Jazeera.

Bremer insisted he wouldn’t be moved. “We are not going to be blackmailed
into producing programs because of threats of terrorism,” he said at a press con-
ference in early June.

The protests continued. On June 18 an estimated two thousand Iraqi soldiers
gathered outside the Green Zone to denounce the dissolution decision. Some car-
ried signs that said, PLEASE KEEP YOUR PROMISES. Others threw rocks. “We will take
up arms,” Tahseen Ali Hussein vowed in a speech to the demonstrators, according
to an account by Agence France Presse. “We are all very well-trained soldiers and
we are armed. We will start ambushes, bombings and even suicide bombings. We
will not let the Americans rule us in such a humiliating way.” U.S. soldiers fired
into the crowd, killing two.
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In the weeks after that, U.S. commanders grew increasingly concerned by the
unrest the order caused. At about this time, Gen. Sanchez was formally promoted
from commander of the 1st Armored Division to commander of V Corps, the
headquarters for all U.S. military operations in Iraq. At the reception after the
change-of-command ceremony, Maj. Gen. Petraeus confronted Walt Slocombe.
The failure to pay ex-officers was getting U.S. troops hurt, he warned Slocombe.
And the longer the demobilized Iraqi soldiers were left hanging, the more danger-
ous they would become. “They are really tinder out there just waiting for a spark,”
Petraeus told him, who then promised to press the issue. A few days later Rums-
feld approved the payment, and the officers’ protests ended.

In early July, after those demonstrations stopped, the J-2—the top U.S. mili-
tary intelligence staff in the country—discontinued its reporting on the former
Iraqi army officers, citing the end of the protests, according to an officer who re-
ceived an order related to that decision.

Perhaps just as significant as those two controversial moves of Bremer’s was
his third major decision: There wouldn’t be an Iraqi government anytime soon,
despite Garner’s plan to set one up. “It simply was not possible,” he later said.

He also soon began pursuing a program aimed at moving Iraq toward a free-
market economy, beginning by shutting down unprofitable state-run industries.
This had the political effect of further alienating the middle class, which already
had been hit by de-Baathification, and which was full of managers from those

inefficient industries.

The combination of all these moves—a prolonged foreign occupation that was
built on de-Baathification, dissolution of the military, and economic upheaval—
radically undercut social stability and built opposition to the American presence.
“What we have done over the last six months in al Anbar has been a recipe for in-
stability,” Keith Mines would write in a November memo. “Through aggressive
de-Baathification, the demobilization of the army, and the closing of factories the
coalition has left tens of thousands of individuals outside the economic and po-
litical life of the country.”

Taken together, Bremer’s approach had for many Iraqis a punitive feel, a result
that was a key misstep, Wolfowitz’s old mentor Fred Ikle would later observe.
“Democracies that have achieved a military victory ought to refrain from seeking

revenge,” Ikle wrote.
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Taking revenge is a Neanderthal strategy. Instead of giving priority to a policy that
can transform the defeated enemy into an ally, the revenger helps the hawks on the
enemy’s side to recruit angry fighters who will undermine the peace settlement.
During the critical weeks following the collapse of Saddam Hussein’s rule in Bagh-
dad, the emphasis on punishment and revenge clearly harmed America’s long-term
objectives. . . . Obsessed with a desire to punish and revenge, the U.S. managers of
Iraq’s occupation delayed this [taking a conciliatory] approach for more than a
year, at which time the United States was confronted by an organized, hostile in-

surgency.

The occupation takes hold

It didn’t take long for Iraqi resentment to become palpable. Maj. Christopher
Varhola, a reservist trained as an anthropologist, recalled being at a meeting in
the Green Zone in late May 2003 between Ambassador Hume Horan, a senior
CPA official, and a group of about 270 tribal leaders. The general mood was one
of impatience with the American effort and a suspicion that it was intentionally
slow, Varhola recalled. Sheikh Munthr Abood of Amara began by thanking Horan
for the removal of Saddam Hussein. But, he continued, he needed to know if the
United States believed itself to be an occupier or a liberator. Horan, an honest man,
replied that he believed the U.S. was somewhere “in between” those two approaches.

If America was a liberator, then Americans were welcome as guests, the sheikh
responded, according to notes of the meeting. “He stated however that if we were
occupiers, then he and his descendants would ‘die resisting us.’ This met with en-
ergetic applause from the audience.” Then about one quarter of those present—
about sixty-five of the Iragis at the meeting—stood and walked out.

Late in the spring of 2003 an Army officer filling an intelligence position in
Baghdad began using some of the Iraqi exiles assigned to him to conduct a quiet
survey of what was being said in mosques on Fridays. He was worried that there
was little unbiased, systematic reporting of Iraqi public sentiment, which he
thought needed tracking. In addition, he thought it was important to get a han-
dle on the structure of the clergy and of the alliances between them. Wanting to
share his results, he went over one day and mentioned his reporting system to the
communications people at CPA. They weren’t interested, and told him, “That’s
tactical, take it to the Army.” So he sought out an Army colonel, who read the re-
ports eagerly and focused on anti-American comments made in one sermon. The

colonel told the officer that the offending cleric must be arrested. The officer



HOW TO CREATE AN INSURGENCY (1) 167

protested—all the religious leaders were anti-American, at least in their rhetoric.
“You can’t survive as a cleric if you don’t denounce the Americans,” the officer ex-
plained. The key, he thought, was to distinguish between those clerics who settled
for using only words and those who advocated violence. Worried that additional
reporting could provoke more arrest orders, as well as endanger the Iraqis gath-
ering the information, the intelligence officer shut down his collection network.

Garner heads home

In early June Garner made his exit, driving across southern Iraq to Kuwait and
then flying home on a one-way ticket. The journey could hardly have been more
of a comedown. In Baghdad he had been treated by Iraqis as the virtual ruler of
the country. Now, as an anonymous air traveler leaving the Mideast for the U.S.
on a one-way ticket, which made him an instant subject of suspicion in the post-
9/11 world, he was subjected to searches at every stop along the way, from Kuwait
to Dubai to Paris to Washington’s Dulles airport.

Before heading home to Florida, Garner went to the White House and the
Pentagon. “I told the president, you made a good choice on Jerry Bremer—he’s a
good, hardworking guy,” said the old, white-haired general, ever the loyal team
player.

Bush responded, “Hell, I didn’t choose him, Rumsfeld chose him, just like he
chose you.”

Garner then crossed the Potomac to visit the defense secretary. “I sat down
with Rumsfeld and said what I thought had gone wrong,” he later said. He listed
three errors. “The first was, de-Baathification went too deep. The second was: not
bringing along the Iraqi army fast enough.” Third was Bremer’s capricious dis-
missal of a group of Iraqgi political leaders that Garner had assembled.

Rumsfeld wasn’t interested in his critique. The defense secretary said, Garner
recalled, “Well, we are where we are, there’s no need to discuss it.” It was classic
Rumsfeld, brisk but seemingly unable to deal with mistakes made on his watch.

A Pentagon official who met frequently with Rumsfeld and Feith at this time
recalled it almost as a time of stagnation. For weeks during May and June 2003,
the same outstanding issues on the agenda for their morning meeting never
seemed to change, this official said.

“Feith ought to be drawn, quartered, and hung,” said a Bush administration
official who worked with him frequently. “He’s a sonofabitch who agitated for

war in Iraq, but once the decision is made to do it, he disengages. It was clear there
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were problems across the board—with electricity, with de-Baathification, with
translators, with training the Iraqi police—and he just had nothing to do with it.
I’m furious about it, still.”

Later, as the extent of the chaos in Iraq would become evident, Bush adminis-
tration officials would begin blaming each other. Feith, for his part, pointed at
Franks and Bremer. He told the New Yorker in the spring of 2005 that he had sent
a memo to Franks at Central Command before the war, warning him about “ma-
jor law-and-order problems after the war.” As for postwar planning, he said,
“what people don’t understand is that we had all kinds of plans. But when Bremer
went over there, he was given autonomy over all kinds of plans that he didn’t im-
plement.”

Back in Baghdad, Chalabi commented, “Jay Garner was a nice man.” It wasn’t

clear that he meant that as praise.

Rumsfeld vs. reality

The root cause of the occupation’s paralysis may have been the cloud of cog-
nitive dissonance that seems to have fogged in Rumsfeld and other senior Penta-
gon officials at this time. They were not finding what they had expected: namely,
strong evidence of intensive efforts to develop and stockpile chemical and biolog-
ical weapons, and even some work to develop nuclear bombs. Meanwhile, they
were finding what they had not expected: violent and widespread opposition to
the U.S. military presence. There were no big battles, just a string of bombings
and snipings that were killing U.S. troops in ones and twos, and also intimidating
the Iraqgi population.

But U.S. officials continued to speak about Iraq with unwarranted certainty,
both in terms of WMD and the situation on the ground there. “There is abso-
lutely no doubt in my mind that we will find the weapons of mass destruction,”
Marine Gen. Peter Pace, the vice chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, said as
Baghdad fell.

For weeks in the late spring and early summer, Rumsfeld and other officials
declined to say that they were facing a continuing war in Iraq. His exchanges with
reporters during this period underscored what one defense expert termed the
“institutional resistance to thinking seriously” about the situation. Rumsfeld’s re-
fusal to say he was facing war sent a signal downward across the military estab-
lishment, that most hierarchical of institutions, built to act on the words and

views of those at the top.
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More than at any other time in the painful history of the U.S. intervention in
Iraq, even more than during the formulation of the war plan, that late spring was
the point at which Rumsfeld might have made a decisive difference. Some in the
military saw Rumsfeld as a strong leader, while others disparaged him as a bully.
In either case, it was at this point that his strong personality could have been use-
ful in forcing the U.S. military to understand that it was caught in a counterinsur-
gency campaign and would need to make wrenching adjustments to win, just as
other conventional militaries had in similar situations.

Instead, Rumsfeld’s self-confident stubbornness made him a big part of
the problem. The defense secretary’s vulnerability wasn’t that he made errors, it was
that he seemed unable to recognize them and make adjustments. Andrew Rathmell,

a British defense expert who served as a strategic planner at the CPA, later wrote:

The fact that pre-war planning assumptions proved to be badly flawed is not a sign
of a systemic problem in itself—mistakes happen and the weakness of the Iragi
state surprised many observers. The systemic problem was that these assumptions
could not be effectively challenged in the coalition political-military planning pro-
cess. This unwillingness to challenge assumptions and question established plans
persisted during the course of the occupation, giving rise to the ironic refrain among
disgruntled coalition planners that “optimism is not a plan” This failure was com-
pounded by a persistent tendency in both the military and civilian chains to avoid

reporting bad news and not to plan for worst case, or other case, contingencies.

As Baghdad was looted, the defense secretary seemed to freeze. Rumsfeld was
having difficulty recognizing the reality of what was happening in Iraq, and in-
stead was arguing powerfully for his mistaken point of view. “Donald Rumsfeld is
a remarkably complex study, with huge reservoirs of talent and intelligence,
marred by towering hubris,” retired Army Col. Lloyd Matthews, a former editor
of Parameters, the Army’s premier journal, commented that summer. “He’s up,
he’s down, and he’ll continue in this sine wave pattern throughout his public
career, and very likely be down at the end, because he fails to realize that despite
his gifts, he is in a business where defeats are inevitable, where all victories are
fleeting, and where one’s best defense is the homely quality of grace and humility
which he so sorely lacks.”

On June 19, Rumsfeld appeared at the Pentagon briefing room, Garner stand-
ing by his side. He wouldn’t call the situation in Iraq a war: “There’s no question
but that in those regions where pockets of dead-enders are trying to reconstitute,



170 FIASCO

General Franks and his team are rooting them out.” He also engaged in a verbal
sleight of hand about the forty-two U.S. soldiers who had died in Iraq in the pre-
vious six weeks, since Bush’s declaration that the war was over. “Look, you've got
to remember that if Washington, D.C., were the size of Baghdad, we would be
having something like 215 murders a month,” he said. “There’s going to be vio-
lence in a big city. It’s five and a half million people.” In fact, there probably were
many more murders than that in the chaos of Baghdad. It wasn’t unusual at that
time to see cars swerving around a dead body lying in morning traffic. What
Rumsfeld was looking at were the statistics on the deaths of U.S. troops—that
is, the people trying to bring security to the area. So the equivalent would not be
the murder rate in the general population but among law enforcement personnel.
If 215 police officers were being killed monthly in Washington, D.C., it would be
regarded as a major crisis—as indeed was the case in Baghdad at the time, despite
Rumsfeld’s anodyne insistence that “the coalition is making good progress.”

On the same day, Wolfowitz, testifying on Capitol Hill, portrayed the nascent
insurgency as “remnants of the old regime.” He told the House Armed Services
Committee, “I think these people are the last remnants of a dying cause.”

At the time, Wolfowitz also was arguing that the situation in Iraq didn’t qual-
ify to be considered a war. “I think it is worth emphasizing that these guys lack the
two classical ingredients in a so-called guerrilla war, if that’s what you want to say
they are conducting,” he said. “They lack the sympathy of the population, and
they lack any serious source of external support.” In retrospect, it appears that
Wolfowitz was wrong on both counts: Iraqi sympathy for anti-American forces
was growing, and external support was coalescing, because many top Iraqi
Baathists had taken refuge in Syria, from where they were able to send in money
and fighters, and also to where they could begin receiving aid from supporters in
Saudi Arabia, the Gulf states, and elsewhere in the Arab world.

To be fair, Rumsfeld and Wolfowitz were reflecting what they were hearing from
some subordinate commanders. On June 18, Maj. Gen. Raymond Odierno, com-
mander of the 4th Infantry Division, which had taken over in Tikrit, emphatically
rejected the idea that he was facing an insurrectionary movement. “This is not
guerrilla warfare,” he told reporters. “It is not close to guerrilla warfare because
it’s not coordinated, it’s not organized, and it’s not led. The soldiers that are con-
ducting these operations don’t even have the willpower. We find that a majority

of the time they’ll fire a shot, and they’ll drop the weapon, and they’ll give up
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right away. They do not have the will. And, in most cases, I'm not sure they really
believe in what they’re doing.”

Odierno launched a series of operations—Peninsula Strike, Desert Scorpion,
Sidewinder, and Ivy Serpent—that were portrayed as efforts to mop up bits and
pieces of the Iraqi military and the Baathist Party leadership. Looking back on
that time over a year later, he said, “I didn’t believe it was an insurgency until
about July. What we really thought was, remnant.” After the first and second op-
erations, “I thought that would be the end of it.” But while Odierno’s mistaken as-
sessment may explain why Rumsfeld and Wolfowitz spoke as they did, it doesn’t
excuse them. One of the most important responsibilities of senior leaders is to as-
sess a given situation and set the strategic response.

By month’s end, the media was baiting Bush administration officials, asking
them at every opportunity whether they were willing to admit they were in a war
in Iraq. Isn’t it accurate to call it a guerrilla war? a reporter asked Rumsfeld as the
defense secretary emerged from a closed meeting with senators on Capitol Hill.
“I don’t know that I would use the word,” Rumsfeld said. Rather, he said there was
“no question” that criminals and “leftover remnants of the Saddam Hussein
regime” were being unhelpful.

Three days later, Rumsfeld was pressed on the issue once again by reporters at
a Pentagon briefing. “Can you remind us again why this isn’t a quagmire?” asked
CNN’s Jamie Mclntyre, a veteran of over a decade on the Pentagon beat. “And can
you tell us why you're so reluctant to say that what’s going on in Iraq now is a
guerrilla war?”

“I guess the reason I don’t use the phrase ‘guerrilla war’ is because there isn’t
one, and it would be a misunderstanding and a miscommunication to you and to
the people of the country and the world,” Rumsfeld responded.

MclIntyre’s easygoing persona often obscures the toughness of his reporting.
He persisted, reading aloud to Rumsfeld the official Defense Department defini-
tion of guerrilla war: “military and paramilitary operations conducted in enemy-
held or hostile territory by irregular ground indigenous forces.”

“This seems to fit a lot of what’s going on in Iraq,” McIntyre noted.

Rumsfeld brushed aside his assertion. “It really doesn’t,” he said.

The chairman of the Joint Chiefs, who always seemed to make his top prior-
ity staying in step with Rumsfeld, also insisted that the situation was better than
it looked—or than the media was reporting. “There’s been a lot of work done,” Gen.
Myers said in early July. “A lot of the country is relatively stable.” Over the next
year, Myers would make similar comments, repeatedly insisting that the situation
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was better than it looked, even as Iraq descended into guerrilla war and hundreds
of U.S. troops died. This pattern of fatuity raises the question of whether Myers
provided in private the blunt advice that Rumsfeld and other senior officials
needed to hear.

Behind closed doors, some were telling Rumsfeld and Myers to think again.
Gen. Jack Keane, the Army’s number-two officer, who had taken over many func-
tions of the top job as Shinseki’s term waned, including many contacts with
Rumsfeld, insisted in a meeting of the Joint Chiefs that it was essential to under-
stand the nature of the war in Iraq. It was, he said, according to an officer who was
there, “a low-level insurgency that has the potential to grow.” Keane warned that
it was time to come to grips with that fact.

President Bush’s response to the growing violence in Iraq was even more
painfully wrong than Rumsfeld’s. The defense secretary was mistaken in under-
standing the situation, but the president’s comments may have actually exacer-
bated it. On July 2, Bush took the unusual step of taunting Iraqis and others
violently opposed to the U.S. presence in Iraq. “There are some who feel that the
conditions are such that they can attack us there,” he said. “My answer is: Bring
’em on. We've got the force necessary to deal with the security situation.” The
president’s words were reported and remembered in Iraq and across the Middle
East. A year later, the Islamic Jihad Army would issue a communiqué that point-
edly inquired, “Have you another challenge?”

Lt. Gen. Ricardo Sanchez

In mid-May the 1st Armored Division moved into Iraq, and at month’s end it
took over as the leading edge of the occupation in the capital. Its commander was
Army Maj. Gen. Ricardo Sanchez, who soon would be promoted and given command
of the U.S. ground effort in Iraq. If there is any tragic figure at the top of the Amer-
ican effort in Iraq, it is Sanchez. He was by all accounts a good man, somewhat gruff,
but hardworking, dedicated, and doing what he was trained to do. But there are few
people who contend that he was the man for the job, or that he succeeded in Iraq.

Sanchez was an American success story, a dirt-poor Mexican American kid
from the Rio Grande Valley who became the first in his family to go to college and
then rose to become a senior commander in the U.S. Army. He joined the Army,
he said in an interview at the Baghdad airport on the day the 1st Armored Divi-
sion took responsibility for the capital, because “I saw that as a means of escaping

poverty”
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He explained: “We lived on welfare, in a single-parent home. When you grow up
like that, the military looks pretty darn good.” In the Army he had studied systems
analysis, had led a battalion under Gen. McCaffrey in the 1991 Gulf War, had been
director of operations at Southern Command (the U.S. military headquarters for
operations in South America), and commanded the peacekeeping force in Kosovo.

“Rick Sanchez is a great guy given a really, really hard job,” said Maj. Gen.
Renuart, who worked closely with him. “I think he’s a smart thinker, intuitive. . . .
I'm not sure anyone could have been totally successful in that environment.”

There was, and is, much to respect about Sanchez, even if one thinks that he
failed as a commander in Iraq. “I think there are some really admirable qualities,”
said Maj. Gen. Petraeus, who reported to him for a year. “A degree of patience,
stoicism, indefatigability, capacity to deal with enormous pressure and demands,
requests from above and below, impatience from above and below, probably a
lack of understanding from above and below. An appreciation of the complexity
of the issues with which he was dealing, and yet he essentially maintained his cool
through all of this, which is really something quite extraordinary.”

Even so, the methodical Sanchez often appeared overwhelmed by the situa-
tion, with little grasp of the strategic problems he faced. The opinion of many of
his peers was that he was a fine battalion commander who never should have
commanded a division, let alone a corps or a nationwide occupation mission.
“He was in over his head,” said Lt. Col. Christopher Holshek, who served in Iraq
in 2003. “He was a fulfillment of the Peter Principle,” which holds that people
working in hierarchies such as the U.S. Army are promoted until they reach their
level of incompetence, at which point they tend to fail spectacularly.

“It was my view after seeing him that Rick Sanchez was exactly in the wrong
place,” said Richard Armitage, the former number-two official at the State De- -
partment, who is blunter when speaking on the record than most Washington of-
ficials are when speaking on a background, not for quotation basis. “He was
much too secretive. He and Bremer, if they didn’t hate each other, they could
barely tolerate each other, let’s put it that way. And when you look in retrospect, a
lot has improved since Rick went out. . . . [ came away from my first meeting with
him saying that this guy didn’t get it.”

Sanchez’s most visible failing was his relentless focus on minutiae. He was
aware that subordinates criticized him for that. “I am very comfortable with a macro
look at things—unless I see we have issues,” he said one day in his headquarters at
the Baghdad airport. When he saw a troubled area, he said, he was determined to
dive into it. “When I see we are not paying attention to detail, I get into that,” he
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said. “It is the deep, penetrating questions that embarrass people. I can be pretty
rough and penetrating, and sometimes that can get embarrassing if you don’t
know what you’re talking about.”

But what Sanchez saw as incisive leadership, some around him saw as trivially
minded distraction. “All trees, no forest,” said one State Department official. “A
great logistician, but what’s he doing commanding American forces in that part
of the world? Not a strategic or political thought.”

On top of that, Sanchez was placed in the middle of an extraordinarily diffi-
cult and tangled command situation. In other U.S. occupations, the commander
had been a four-star general, such as Douglas MacArthur in postwar Japan and
Lucius Clay at the same time in Germany. Sanchez was a three-star—that is, a
lieutenant general—and in fact the most junior one in the U.S. Army. He jumped
from commanding a division of fewer than 20,000 troops to leading a combined
U.S. and allied force of about 180,000 men and women. And in doing so he was
woefully undersupported—the Pentagon calculated that he needed a headquar-
ters staff of 1,400 but during 2003 he was given a fraction of that, at one point hit-
ting a low of just 495.

“The whole staffing of CJTF-7 {the new name for Sanchez’s command, the
top U.S. military headquarters in Iraq] at the time was completely inadequate,”
said an Army colonel who worked with it in Iraq and later, while at the Army War
College, studied its troubles. “Putting a division commander in charge of a corps
[a group of divisions, support units, and staffs], then giving him responsibility
for a whole country in the throes of insurgency, multinational forces, an army
corps, a MEF [Marine Expeditionary Force, similar to reinforced Army division],
et cetera, with the staff for a single corps was too broad a mandate. No com-
mander with Sanchez’s experience level and resources should have been saddled
with this responsibility.”

That understaffing was symptomatic of a far larger problem: Sanchez was
working for a chain of command that was laboring under a series of false as-
sumptions about postwar Iraq, and that didn’t understand the situation it was
facing, and so it was consistently underestimating the difficulties it faced and the
resources it would need to devote to the problem. On top of that, he was bur-
dened by a jerry-rigged command structure, in which there was no one American
official, civilian or military, on the ground in Iraq in charge of the overall Ameri-
can effort. Rather, both Sanchez and Bremer reported up to Secretary Rumsfeld,

who was at the Pentagon, some seven thousand miles away. “Unity of command
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is a universal principle” in military operations, noted Army Reserve Maj. Michael
Eisenstadt, who served as an intelligence officer on the staff of Central Com-
mand,; it is especially important in putting down an insurgency, he said, because
“you need to integrate your political, economic, and military activities.”

Even within the military effort, confusion reigned, especially in the ambigu-
ous but crucial area where military operations supported the functions of the
civilian occupation authority. Most crucially, the detention of prisoners was sup-
posed to be an Iraqi function—but because there was no Iraqi government, it be-
came the task of CPA. And because the CPA lacked the personnel, resources, or
inclination to handle that job, it had the military do it, even though military com-
manders didn’t report to the CPA. This was one reason the situation at the Abu
Ghraib prison would get out of hand in the following months: No one was really
in charge of overseeing it.

So it was natural that Sanchez would struggle in the following months. Sub-
ordinates report that he tried to focus on achieving victory through quantifying
progress, rather than by looking at hazier but perhaps better indicators, such as
the quality of the Iraqi police or the polls about what concerned the average Iragi.
“I don’t think he ever understood the people aspect, that he had to win the will of
the Iraqi people,” said one subordinate who speaks Arabic and so paid more at-
tention to Iraqi life than most officers.

In personal interactions he also could be difficult. He tended to strike other
officers as remote. Lt. Gen. Thomas Metz, his fellow lieutenant general in Iraq,
later described him in a legal statement that grew out of the Abu Ghraib situation
as “pretty introverted.”

People who worked directly for him are less forgiving. “He would rip generals
apart on the tacsat”—the military’s tactical, satellite-based communications
network—“with everybody in the country listening,” said one officer who served
under Sanchez on the V Corps staff. This was a violation of a fundamental rule of
good U.S. military commanders: praise in public, chastise in private.

The result, said Capt. Kipling, was that “Sanchez was not a popular com-
mander.” She, too, had heard tales from friends in his headquarters, located not
far from hers, that “he liked to tear people down in public.”

Nor were Iraqis spared his temper. “I didn’t like the way he talked to the Iraqi
Governing Council,” said one of Sanchez’s subordinates. “I mean, these guys are
on our side—show a little respect!” It struck this officer that Sanchez, unlike some

other Americans, always went into their chambers in the Green Zone armed.
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“There is no reason he had to. We were surrounded by his bodyguards, their
bodyguards, and a contracted company of Gurkhas and a platoon of tanks. . . . It
was like he didn’t trust them. It was clear to them.”

With groups perceived by U.S. officials as potential rivals for control, Sanchez
was even rougher. “He was never conciliatory,” this officer recalled. During the
summer of 2003, he remembered, U.S. forces raided an office of SCIRI—the
Supreme Council for the Islamic Revolution in Iraq, the main Shiite group that
had opposed Saddam Hussein, but that also had close ties to the Iranian govern-
ment. The soldiers took cash, weapons, and printing presses. SCIRI officials
protested, saying that the office was a newspaper and that both the presses and
weaponry were legal. The SCIRI officials also stated that they had provided the
location of the office to the U.S. Army. Upon investigation, that claim was
verified—it turned out that they had told a Special Forces captain who hadn’t
passed on the information. “They had been within their rights to have printing
materials and some AK-47s, but Sanchez wouldn’t apologize,” the officer recalled.
SCIRI never got back its machines, weapons, or money.

In midsummer the insurgency began to erupt, with a series of bombings in
Baghdad and widespread small-arms attacks on U.S. patrols. Sanchez responded by
descending into minutiae. “The more he got snowed under, the more he focused on
what he could do, instead of what he should do,” the same officer remembered.

He tended to pepper his staff and subordinate commanders with questions
about logistics and “metrics”—how to measure progress—rather than strategy.
“His style was hard edged and prosecutorial,” recalled another Army officer who
worked with him. That approach didn’t serve him well, because it discouraged
the delivery of bad news. “He didn’t realize he wasn’t getting good, strong advice,

because people would just roll over.”

The occupation at the tipping point

During this time in mid-2003 it was possible, moving around Baghdad, to
sense the occupation teetering on the edge. A walk with an Army patrol through
a middle-class neighborhood in western Baghdad brought home the deepening
misunderstanding that characterized this period. At about 10:20 A.M., it was
98 degrees when the patrol moved out through the concertina wire that protected
their outpost and past two Bradley fighting vehicles parked out front. The patrol
was configured so that one fire team of four soldiers was in front, and another in
the back. In the middle, leading the patrol, was Staff Sgt. Nathaniel Haumschild,
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of Stillwater, Minnesota, accompanied by a medic. Haumschild’s evaluation was
that “maybe ten percent are hostile. About fifty percent friendly. About forty per-
cent are indifferent.”

“Everybody likes us,” Spec. Stephen Harris, a twenty-one-year-old from
Lafayette, Louisiana, said, as the patrol moved through streets drenched in sun.
He thought the people wanted the U.S. troops to stay. “Oh, yeah,” he said, taking
a slug from his canteen. His assessment of the neighborhood: “I’d say ninety-five
percent friendly”

Residents gave different estimates—at best, 50-50, and at worst, a significant
majority holding hostile views. Sentiments often broke down along the religious
cleavages that mark the country. Shiite residents hailed the Americans for ending
Hussein’s rule, which was particularly brutal toward their sect. “An American dog
is better than Saddam and his gangs,” said Alaa Rudeini, as he chatted with a
friend on the sidewalk. Awatif Faraj Salih, whose eight-year-old daughter Rasul
was among the children at the nearby Nablus Elementary School, feared what
would happen if they departed. “If the Americans left,” she said, a white scarf
draped over her head, “massacres would happen in Irag—between the tribes, be-
tween the parties, and between the Sunnis and Shiites, of course.”

To Mohammed Abdullah, standing on the sidewalk as the ten-man patrol
passed his gated house, their presence was “despicable.” In a white dishdasha, a
long Arab robe, the thirty-four-year-old winced as the soldiers moved along
his street, automatic weapons slung across their chests. “We’re against the occu-
pation, we refuse the occupation—not one hundred percent, but one thousand
percent,” he said. “They’re walking over my heart. I feel like they’re crushing my
heart.”

To the Americans, this was Sector 37 North, frequently marked as hostile on
U.S. military maps of Baghdad, in part because it was a stronghold of Baath Party
loyalists. The airport highway that ran along the southern side of the neighbor-
hood was fast becoming one of the most dangerous roads in the world, with daily
mine and RPG attacks on U.S. convoys. But soldiers on the patrol said they did
not feel particularly threatened. “Basically, people are pretty friendly,” said Lt.
Paul Clark, a Bravo Company officer from Baltimore.

To residents this was Yarmuk, a western Baghdad neighborhood of proud
professionals living in two-story, adobe-style houses that would fit nicely into a
wealthier corner of Albuquerque or Santa Fe, New Mexico, the walls enlivened by
palm trees and red bougainvillea.

At 11:03 and 100 degrees, Pfc. Kasey Keeling, of Denton, Texas, was walking
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second in the patrol, carrying the big M-249 squad automatic weapon, a machine
gun. Behind his sunglasses he looked back and forth, up and down. “I scan the
windows, rooftops, heavy brush, looking for anything out of the ordinary,” he
said. The most alarming indicator of danger? An absence of children. “There are
always kids around,” he said. “No kids, you start to wonder.”

There were no children on Yarmuk’s Fourth Street, a Sunni area where senti-
ments were distinctly uneasy. Mohammed Abdullah, standing with his neigh-
bors, insisted he would fight the Americans. “They said they came to liberate us.
Liberate us from what? They came and said they would free us. Free us from
what?” he asked. “We have traditions, morals, and customs. We are Arabs. We're
different from the West.” As he watched Keeling and the others pass, he called
Baghdad a fallen city, a hint of humiliation in his words. It was akin, he said, to
the invasion in 1258 of Hulagu, the grandson of Genghis Khan, whose destruc-
tion of Baghdad ended its centuries of glory. The Americans, he said, let the Na-
tional Library burn and permitted looters to ransack the National Museum of
Antiquities. “Baghdad is the mother of Arab culture,” he said, “and they want to
wipe out our culture, absolutely.”

At 11:30, it was 103 degrees as the patrol arrived at the Rami Institute for
Autistic and Slow Learners, a house on a side street with a big lime tree shading
its walled front yard. They left their weapons outside, under a guard. In the small
school, they knelt and talked gently with the children, encouraging them to re-
spond. Sgt. Michael Callan, of Dumfries, Virginia, put his helmet on one child’s
head. He visited all five classrooms. The soldiers lingered for more than half an
hour. When they emerged they looked pleased with themselves. They liked helping
the school. They admired its teachers, and their hearts went out to the children.

But outside, neighbors took a very different view of the troops’ visit to the
women who run the school. Saif Din and his friend, Mohammed Ahmed, said
they suspected the American soldiers were having sex with the female teachers in-
side. “Only God knows,” Ahmed said. “I haven’t seen it with my own eyes. But I've
heard about things.”

“We don’t like it,” said Din, wagging his finger. “We don’t like it.”

At 12:40 the patrol passed the two green Bradleys and stepped through the
Army base’s concertina wire. A soldier greeted them with cold cans of strawberry
and cola soda. They stripped off their helmets, flak jackets, and the uniform jack-
ets called blouses and set down their weapons. “They love us,” concluded Spec.
Seneca Ratledge, the medic, a soldier of Cherokee heritage from Riceville, Ten-

nessee.
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A tangled chain of command

One day in the summer of 2003, Col. Teddy Spain, the MP commander in
Baghdad, turned to the general to whom he reported, the 1st Armored Division’s
Martin Dempsey, and said, “Sir, who the hell is in charge?” Dempsey was too dis-
ciplined to say it—instead he just urged Spain to hang in there, Spain recalled
later—but the real answer was: no one. Or at least, not anyone who understood
the situation on the ground.

Confusion about the U.S. chain of command in Iraq began on the ground in
Iraq and extended all the way back to Washington, D.C. The first question was
the ambiguous nature of the CPA itself. Was it a federal agency, part of the U.S.
government, most likely the Defense Department? On the one hand, Bremer re-
ported to Rumsfeld, and was himself paid by the U.S. Army, according to a subse-
quent study by the Congressional Research Service. Yet the CPA’s Web sites ended
in .com, not the .gov used by the U.S. government. And when a Turkish mobile
telephone company protested the award of a CPA contract, the report noted, the
U.S. Army Legal Services Agency flatly stated, “The CPA is not a federal agency.”

The congressional report concluded, “No explicit, unambiguous and author-
itative statement has been provided that declares how CPA was established, under
what authority, and by whom, and that clarifies the seeming inconsistencies
among alternative explanations for how CPA was created.”

On top of that, the relationship between the civilian and military wings of the
occupation—the CPA and Sanchez’s headquarters—was murky. Officially, Bre-
mer and Sanchez had the same ultimate boss: Sanchez reported to Abizaid, who
reported to Rumsfeld at the Pentagon, while Bremer reported directly to Rums-
feld. Bremer refused to talk to Feith and often wouldn’t respond to Wolfowitz.
“He ignored my suggestions,” Wolfowitz said later. “He ignored Rumsfeld’s in-
structions.” But Rumsfeld was seven thousand miles away and frequently busy
with overseeing other aspects of the U.S. military establishment. “The postcom-
bat phase was pretty fuzzy on who was in control, what the command relation-
ships would be,” said a general who was involved in some of that planning at the
Pentagon. “It was not well thought out” At any rate, Bremer left subordinates
with the impression that he really believed he reported to the president.

Again, the effect was that the U.S. occupation in its very nature violated the fun-
damental military principle of unity of command-——that is, having one person in
charge of the effort, so that all hands have a common goal and work together

toward it. The need for such unity is especially pronounced in a counterinsurgency
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campaign, which is more difficult to oversee than conventional operations, and in
which military actions must always be judged by their political effects. “Chain of
command—of all the problems in Iraq, this was the biggest problem,” said one
former senior CPA official. “You’ve got to hold one guy responsible. Otherwise, a
guy looks at a problem and he can say, ‘That’s not mine’”

Another general, a specialist returning from a visit to Iraq, was similarly puz-
zled. “If you held a gun to my head and told me, ‘Tell me what the chain of com-
mand is for your people in Baghdad!’-—well, I'd just be babbling,” he said.

Even at the time, people in the CPA were aware that the system setup wasn’t
working. On October 1, 2003, Keith Mines, the CPA representative in al Anbar
province, wrote in his weekly memo to Bremer, “It would be beneficial to all if
there were an integrated national plan that took account of the divergent efforts
by CJTF-7 and CPA and attempted to blend a functional [Iraqi security] force
from them.” Instead, he continued, what he saw was a “refusal by these two par-
ties to join in a common effort.”

Sometimes difficult command situations can be resolved through what Gen.
Zinni during 1991’s Operation Provide Comfort called handcon—that is, coop-
eration ensured through goodwill and symbolized by a handshake. But no such
generosity of spirit seemed to exist between Sanchez and Bremer. “When I at-
tended Sanchez’s morning meetings, it was clear to me that they didn’t connect,”
said Army Col. Lloyd Sammons, a Special Forces reservist who served in the CPA
in 2003—4. “I felt there was more than just a division of their professional posi-
tions. They didn’t communicate.”

Every month Bremer and his top officials met in the Green Zone with the se-
nior military commanders—Gen. Sanchez, the division commanders, and the
commanders of the separate brigades—at what the Army called the monthly
commanders’ meeting. At the meeting on November 4, 2003, three CPA officials
and a general who was there recalled, senior Army officers lashed out at the CPA’s
free market and de-Baathification policies for throwing people out of work and
alienating a large part of the population. They also were openly unhappy with the
lack of consultation between the CPA and commanders in the field. “It was quite
a spat,” recalled one of the CPA officials.

Maj. Gen. Petraeus said he was “astonished” that the CPA’s plans had been de-
veloped without discussion with affected U.S. commanders, according to the ver-
batim notes taken at the meeting by a CPA official. “We have huge staffs that can
participate,” the 101st Division commander added. “It is a mistake to have plan-
ning isolated in Baghdad.”
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Maj. Gen. Odierno supported this protest. “Yes, the campaign plan has to be
worked out at all levels,” he said. “Frankly my sense is you want to cut us out.
Every day we’re getting less resources. We’ve lost momentum in the last forty-five
to sixty days.”

Some CPA officials maintained that it was the military’s fault that the gener-
als had been kept in the dark. They had told Sanchez’s military headquarters in
Baghdad about their plans, and the word simply wasn’t passed along from there.
Yet not even everyone in the CPA thought that Bremer’s radical privatization was
the right course. “Employment is key issue,” Keith Mines wrote two weeks later to
CPA headquarters. What his province needed was more “Maslow” (a reference
to the famed psychologist’s hierarchy of human needs) and less “Friedman” (a
reference to the influential free-market economist). He argued for a reversal of
CPA economic policy, which should instead be built around “a large-scale pub-
lic sector jobs program” akin to President Franklin Roosevelt’s Depression-era
efforts.

The friction between the CPA and the military extended even to lower levels.
“As a tactical commander, I never understood his [ Bremer’s] role, his relationship
with Sanchez, what the role of the State Department was versus the Defense De-
partment,” said Col. Spain. “None of us understood it.” That confusion was par-
ticularly difficult for Spain, who effectively was serving as the police chief of
Baghdad for most of 2003, and so spanned both worlds. “Sometimes I'd be told
that CPA wants the Iraqi police to do A, and then I'd be told that CJTF-7 wants
the Iraqi police to do B”

Wolfowitz, asked several months later about the chain of command, blithely
insisted that if anything, the problem was the opposite case. “Most of the complaints
on that are that there is too much unity of command, with both Bremer and
Abizaid reporting to the same guy”—that is, Rumsfeld—he said in an interview.

But even at the top of the reporting pyramid there appears to have been con-
fusion. In a meeting in the White House situation room one day, there was a lot
of “grousing” about Bremer, a senior administration official who was there re-
called. As the meeting was breaking up, Rice, the national security adviser, re-
minded Rumsfeld that Bremer reported to him. “He works for you, Don,” Rice
said, according to this official.

“No, he doesn’t,” Rumsfeld responded—incorrectly—this official recalled.
“He’s been talking to the NSC, he works for the NSC.”

Bremer relates a similar anecdote in his memoir, saying that Rumsfeld told him

later in 2003 that he was “bowing out of the political process,” which apparently
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meant he was detaching from dealing with Irag—a breathtaking step for the de-
fense secretary to take after years of elbowing aside the State Department and

staffers on the National Security Council.

Col. Spain vs. the Baghdad police

On a hot May day in downtown Baghdad, Col. Spain met with the senior po-
lice officers of Baghdad. They had the look of hard men. Just two months earlier
they had been the sworn enemies of the American officers now summoning them
to meetings.

He sat at a round table with them in a meeting room at the National Police
Academy as flies buzzed in and out the open windows. It was 96 degrees. Spain
talked about fuel, cars, pistols, radios, and patrols—the mundane issues that make
policing work and bring security to a community. The police officials, some of
them longtime Baathists, every one wearing the Saddam-like facial hair of a full
black moustache and a shaved chin, seemed instead to be sizing him up. They said
there was good reason the police weren’t on the streets: They lacked weapons and
were afraid of being attacked by both Iraqis and U.S. forces. “One of the traffic
policemen was on his motorcycle this morning and was shot,” said Maj. Gen. Kais
Mohammed Naief, the head of traffic police. “This is the reason they don’t feel safe.”

Another official chimed in, “If he had a pistol, maybe they wouldn’t have
shot him!”

“Let’s move on,” Spain said. “I accept that there are cultural differences between
the Iraqi police and the U.S. police. But I also think there are certain basic princi-
ples. One of them is that you must be out walking the streets, riding the streets.”

An Iraqi looked back at him across the table, coldly. “But that is in normal
times,” he said.

After the meeting Spain strolled along the sidewalk of a middle-class western
Baghdad neighborhood, trailed by a couple of MPs. A year later, that would be a
risky act, but in May 2003, Spain was able to stop and chat with shopowners, who
said they wanted more security and more electricity. “America is so powerful, why
can’t it bring back the electricity?” asked Nahrawan Mahdi, a doctor at a women’s
clinic.

“Things are going to get better,” Spain promised a furniture storekeeper.

Spain oversaw a big brigade—all told, including staff and support units, some
7,100 soldiers, as big as many German divisions in World War II. But he would
say much later, after a tough year in Iraq, that he never really had the troops he
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needed. He ultimately received about twenty companies of MPs—but by then his
mission required about fifty. He shrugged. “You can just sit around and wring
your hands, or you can do the best you can with what you got.” Over the next year
Teddy Spain’s MPs would be attacked 395 times and lose a total of 13 soldiers.

Abizaid calls it a war

In July, Gen. Abizaid took over Central Command from Franks and instantly
injected a note of realism, telling members of Congress and reporters alike that
America was going to be dealing with Iraq for a long time.

As he took over, Abizaid was the Great Arab American Hope of the Army,
widely seen as one of its smartest commanders, and also able to bring an in-depth
knowledge of the Mideast. In their 1973 yearbook his West Point classmates de-
scribed the Lebanese American cadet, who was raised in rural California, as “an
Arabian Vince Lombardi. . . . He just couldn’t accept second place.” Later in the
1970s he studied in Jordan, and when the university was shut down by a student
strike, he trained with Jordanian Special Forces. He also earned a master’s degree
in Middle Eastern studies at Harvard.

He also was known as a good troop leader. As a Ranger company commander
during the 1983 invasion of Grenada, he needed to attack a Cuban-manned
bunker, so he ordered one of his sergeants to drive a bulldozer toward it, and then
had his men advance behind its cover. That improvised moment was memorial-
ized in the climax of Clint Eastwood’s 1986 movie Heartbreak Ridge—although
Eastwood changed it to a Marine action because the Corps was more cooperative
in helping him film. In Provide Comfort in 1991, Abizaid maneuvered his battal-
ion aggressively yet deftly in northern Iraq.

As a general Abizaid quickly earned a reputation as a bright thinker and a
competent, low-key manager. At the Pentagon in the early 2000s, he was one of
the few in the military who seemed to be able to handle Rumsfeld. As director of
Joint Staff, a key inside slot, he was one of two senior officers who led the way in
easing the tense relationship between Rumsfeld’s office and the uniformed mili-
tary. The question after he took over Central Command was whether he would
live up to the high expectations people had of him.

Abizaid faced some formidable tasks: Fight a war in Iraq; prosecute an offen-
sive against terror in Saudi Arabia, Pakistan, Yemen, Afghanistan, and the rest of
the region; and also help bridge the gap between the Rumsfeld/Wolfowitz civilian
leadership of the Pentagon and the estranged Army.
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At the Pentagon in July, he used his first press conference as chief of Central
Command to make a major course correction. Yes, he announced, we are indeed
in a war in Iraq. “What is the situation in Iraq?” Abizaid said, addressing reporters
at the Pentagon after meeting with Rumsfeld. Opponents of the U.S. presence, he
said, speaking with precision, “are conducting what I would describe as a classical
guerrilla-type campaign against us.” He then went on to use the word the Bush
administration had been dancing around for weeks: “It’s war, however you de-
scribe it.” This went a long way toward clearing up the strategic confusion about
what the U.S. military was doing in Iraq, and how it was doing it.

Asked to explain why he was calling it a war after weeks of hesitancy by Bush
administration officials to do so, Abizaid said bluntly, “Well, I think that, you
know, all of us have to be very clear in what we’re seeing.” In that seemingly off-
hand comment, Abizaid was making an essential point about strategy and mili-
tary operations. Abizaid knew that it matters very much whether the nation
thinks it is at war, especially to the soldiers on the ground and their commanders.
“The first, the supreme, the most far-reaching act of judgment that the statesman
and commander have to make is to establish . . . the kind of war on which they
are embarking; neither mistaking it for, nor trying to turn it into, something that
is alien to its nature,” Clausewitz famously wrote. “This is the first of all strategic
questions and the most comprehensive.”

Strategy, correctly formulated, shapes tactics. But tactics uninformed by strat-
egy, or misinformed by an incorrect strategy, are like a car without a steering
wheel: It may get somewhere, but probably not where its driver wants it to go.
“In Irag, we fought the war we wanted to fight, not the war that was,” said Bruce
Hoffman, a Rand Corp. terrorism expert who consulted with the CPA. “We belat-
edly recognized it as a large insurgency, after dismissing it as ‘dead-enders.” This
lapse gave the enemy breathing space in which to organize and look for vulnera-
bilities in the U.S. military.

After Abizaid spoke, Pentagon spokesman Lawrence Di Rita, standing at his
side in the Pentagon briefing room, jumped in to attempt to undercut the crucial
point the general had just made. “The discussion about what type of conflict this
is, is—like so many other discussions we’re having within the context of Iraq—is
almost beside the point,” the spokesman told the reporters. The issue to remem-
ber, he insisted, was that the fighters wanted to restore Saddam Hussein’s regime.
“So it’s worth remembering that as we kind of have this almost kind of, you know,

academic discussion, is it this or is it that.” Di Rita appeared to be brushing aside



HOW TO CREATE AN INSURGENCY (1) 185

the considered opinion of one of the Army’s top generals, the senior commander
for Iraq and the rest of the Mideast—who knew more about the area and about
war than Di Rita did.

It was a moment that captured in a nutshell the weakness at the core of the
Bush administration’s national security team: Strategy was seen as something
vague and intellectual, at best a secondary issue, when in fact it was the core of the
task they faced. It was the same sort of limited thinking that had led the Bush
team first to focus in 2002 and early 2003 almost exclusively on its plan of attack
for Iraq, rather than on the more difficult but crucial consolidation of that vic-
tory, and that also led it to make wildly unrealistic assumptions about postin-
vasion Iraq, and then to fail to develop operational plans as a fallback if its
assumptions proved incorrect.

By failing to adequately consider strategic questions, Rumsfeld, Franks, and
other top leaders arguably crippled the beginning of the U.S. mission to trans-
form Iraq. An “overly simplistic conception of the war led to a cascading under-
cutting of the war effort: too few troops, too little coordination with civilian and
governmental/non-governmental agencies (U.S. State Department, as one exam-
ple) and too little allotted time to achieve success,” concluded Maj. Isaiah Wilson.

A lieutenant killed by confusion

A confused strategy can be every bit as lethal as a bullet. If a soldier fighting in
Iraq is told that he isn’t at war, that he is just conducting a peacekeeping opera-
tion, then his every thought and action will be different—his mind-set as he goes
out the front gate, as he conducts a patrol, as he apprehends an Iragi. On the
evening of July 30, Army Lt. Leif Nott, a member of Alpha Troop of the Ist
Squadron of the 10th Cavalry Regiment in the 4th Infantry Division, was killed in
the eastern town of Balad Ruz at least in part by a lack of understanding of the sit-
uation in Iraq.

The action began ominously. Sgt. Brian Beem, in one patrol, saw an animal
moving toward him out of the darkness. “The dog got louder and started coming
forward, so I shot it,” he told an Army investigator. “It was hurt and running
in circles. I could not leave it like that so I shot it again. The dog died. We kept
moving.”

The patrol heard a mortar shell impact, then small-arms fire. Beem saw some

people, apparently armed, walking toward his patrol. “I was concerned that they
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were suicide bombers,” he wrote. “Why did they line up like they were and walk
toward a U.S. building?” He fired a warning shot and yelled at the people to get
down. It occurred to him only in retrospect that they couldn’t hear his shout over
the jet-engine-like roar of the engines of two nearby Bradley fighting vehicles.

In fact, he was shouting at another group of four American soldiers, led by
Nott, bringing three Iraqis into an Army outpost for questioning. But Beem’s pa-
trol didn’t know that. In a posture that seemed more like a cop’s than a soldier’s,
“Nott was walking down the middle of Balad Ruz’s main street with the Iraqgi
prisoners,” the Washington Post’s Jefferson Morley later wrote in detailing the in-
cident. Adding to the confusion, Sgt. Mickey Anderson, a member of Nott’s
group, was carrying a AK-47, making him look like an Iragi attacker to the sol-
diers in the Bradleys.

“Nobody indicated any friendly personnel were on the ground,” Lt. Chris
Amaguer told the Army investigator. “There were shadows and silhouettes with
an AK-47 identified.”

“The senior scout told me to ‘get those dismounts,” Sgt. Christopher Creech
stated, using Army jargon for a dismounted soldier, or infantryman. “There was
not a question that these dismounts were enemy.”

A machine gun on one of the Bradleys opened up on the approaching group.
Several other soldiers followed suit with their rifles, as did a .50-caliber gunner
aboard a tank. “Then I heard ‘Oh God’ from a person on the ground,” Beem
wrote. “In English. ‘Oh my God. English again, and this time I knew the voice. It
was Sergeant Anderson. He’s been my best friend for four and half years. I walked
over to see him lying there with wounds on his legs and his left ankle was wrong.”
Nott was dead, shot in the chest.

The official conclusion of Maj. David Chase, the investigating officer, was that
the fratricidal death of Capt. Nott was “primarily the result of inadequate situa-
tional awareness.”

Arguably, Nott was a victim of strategic confusion in miniature. He had
acted as if he were operating in near peacetime conditions, dealing with a few
dead-enders—just as the secretary of defense had said. Also, if senior officials had
understood that U.S. forces were indeed at war, they might have acted with more
alacrity to provide soldiers such as Nott with body armor. “There was also a sig-
nificant shortage of Individual Body Armored Systems (IBAS) available to the
Troop,” Maj. Chase wrote in his report. In fact, at the time, he wrote, there
were just 9 sets of body armor to go around for 134 soldiers in Alpha Troop. “This
deficiency was corrected shortly after the incident.”
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“This is not Vietnam!”

When Gary Anderson, the retired Marine colonel, went to see Wolfowitz
about his op-ed piece in the Post warning that the United States might be facing
a guerrilla war in Irag, he found the deputy secretary more worried than his pub-
lic comments indicated. “The way things are going, it looks like your diagnosis of
the situation is correct,” Wolfowitz said to him, he recalled later. “Having identi-
fied the problem, what do you recommend we do about it?”

“We’re in the early stages of an insurgency,” Anderson replied. “We have to nip
it in the bud.” The danger, he said, was that Baathists not soon countered would
begin to intimidate the Iragi population. The problem was the sort of force
needed to confront them, he said. U.S. troops aren’t trained to wage counterin-
surgency campaigns, while the Iraqi army wasn’t going to be positioned to do
it, and the task was well beyond the capabilities of the Iraqi police, he said. “So,”
Anderson said, “you need a native constabulary force, something like what the
U.S. did in the Philippines and Haiti” in campaigns in those countries early in the
twentieth century.

Wolfowitz liked the idea. “I think he tried to sell it to General Franks, but
Franks didn’t seem to think it was needed,” Anderson recalled. A few weeks later,
Wolfowitz asked Anderson if he would go out to Baghdad and pitch the idea to
Bremer.

Anderson’s employer, a defense consultant, wasn’t wildly enthusiastic, but
permitted him to become an unpaid adviser in Iraq. Anderson’s own worry was
that if he were killed there his family wouldn’t get an insurance payment. “If you
get yourself greased, your family is in bad shape,” he warned himself.

The meeting with Bremer, in early July, didn’t go well. “Bremer’s a talker, not
alistener,” Anderson soon noticed. A flurry of questions from the career diplomat
threw Anderson off his train of thought. It became clear that Bremer hadn’t
thought much about the issue of having a counterinsurgency militia, or that he
thought this interloper from Washington had much to offer. “It was obvious
that Bremer saw me as a creature of Wolfowitz,” Anderson recalled. “Bremer and
Wolfowitz didn’t have the greatest relationship, even then.”

“Mr. Ambassador, here are some programs that worked in Vietnam,” Ander-
son said, trying to redirect the conversation. He had in mind the popular forces
that had been used successfully as village militias in South Vietnam.

It was the wrong word to put in front of Bremer. “Vietnam?” Bremer exploded.

“Vietnam! I don’t want to talk about Vietnam. This is not Vietnam. This is Iraq!”
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“That was pretty much the end of the meeting,” Anderson recalled

He came away thinking that the top U.S. officials in Iraq really didn’t
fathom the nature of the conflict they faced. “I don’t think he—or Sanchez—
ever fully grasped the danger of it.” The U.S. occupation stood at the edge of a
precipice its leaders didn’t see.
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SUMMER AND FALL 2003

ritish Lt. Gen. Aylmer Haldane concluded his memoir of his suppression of
Bthe Iraqi uprising of 1920 by noting somberly that the fight had been a near-
run thing. “From the beginning of July until well into October, . . . we lived on
the edge of a precipice where the least slip might have led to a catastrophe,” the
commander of the British counterinsurgency campaign wrote in The Insurrection
in Mesopotamia, 1920. By luck, pluck, and courage—and the timely arrival of
reinforcements—he said, the British force avoided sliding over the cliff into a
long and agonizing guerrilla war.

In the spring of 2003, U.S. commanders had fought the war they wanted to
fight—lightning fast, relatively bloodless, and generally predictable. But in the
summer and fall of 2003, from the beginning of July into October, they slipped
over the precipice Haldane had avoided and fell into the war their Iraqi enemies
sought. The vulnerabilities that had plagued Haldane returned to haunt this new
occupation force—most notably, insufficient troops and supply lines that were
dangerously long and exposed to attack. Haldane also had faced insurgents who
appeared to be led by former Iraqi officers, and he too had watched his Iraqi
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police officers desert as fighting intensified. In a comment that foreshadows the
haphazard nature of the U.S. occupation authority, the British in 1920, Haldane
wrote, were hampered by having a “scratch and somewhat incongruous team” of
administrators, with the majority possessing “little exact knowledge of the people
they were called upon to govern.”

But unlike Haldane, the United States wasn’t able to put down the insurgency
quickly. In the summer of 2003, the enemy brought it on, as President Bush had
taunted them to do, and the U.S. military found itself enmeshed in a guerrilla war
for the first time since the Vietnam War. In early summer it was still safe for an
American to jog along the east bank of the Tigris in the morning, to lunch on
chicken cordon bleu at a nice restaurant in western Baghdad’s heavily Baathist
Mansur district, and even to walk out at night to visit nearby friends. By late fall
of 2003 such actions would still be possible but a bit foolhardy. Two years after
that they would be absolutely suicidal, an invitation to being kidnapped or shot
on the spot.

Arming, financing, and recruiting the insurgents

It isn’t clear that a large and persistent insurgency was inevitable. There is
some evidence that Saddam Hussein’s government knew it couldn’t prevail con-
ventionally, and some captured documents indicate that it may have intended
some sort of subversion campaign against occupation. The distribution of arms
caches, the revolutionary roots of the Baathist Party, and the movement of money
and people to Syria either before or during the war all argue for some advance
planning for an insurgency. “I believe Saddam Hussein always intended to fight
an insurgency should Iraq fall,” Maj. Gen. Swannack, Jr., said in November 2003.
“That’s why you see so many of these arms caches out there in significant num-
bers all over the country” But the U.S. approach, both in occupation policy and
military tactics, helped spur the insurgency and made it broader than it might
have been.

Every insurgency faces three basic challenges as it begins: arming, financing,
and recruiting. A peculiarity of the war in Iraq is that the Iraqi insurgency ap-
pears to have had little difficulty in any of these areas, in part because of U.S. pol-
icy blunders. The missteps made in 2003 appear to be a major reason that the
anti-U.S. forces burgeoned despite their narrow appeal, both geographically and
ideologically.
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In the first area, arms, the unusual situation in Iraq favored the enemy. It was
a land awash in weaponry and explosives, both in small collections distributed by
Saddam Hussein’s government before the U.S. invasion, and in huge dumps,
some of them the size of small cities. In this area, policy decisions made at the
Pentagon aided the nascent insurgency, because U.S. forces lacked the manpower
to monitor the big dumps, let alone unearth the far-flung caches. Had the Iraqi
military not been disbanded, it might have been used to cordon off those large
caches. There certainly would have been some leakage, but less than occurred
with no guards whatsoever in most places.

Finance is a murkier area, but here too U.S. decisions appear to have unwit-
tingly aided the enemy. Before and during the U.S. invasion, intelligence surveil-
lance observed convoys of trucks and cars heading from Baghdad to Syria. At the
time there was some speculation that these were carrying weapons of mass de-
struction or manuals and other technical knowledge related to their manufac-
ture. In retrospect, it appears that many of those convoys actually were carrying
top Baathists and their families, and their cash, gold, and other valuables, some of
which later would be used to support the insurgency from outside the country.
Yet about a year would pass before the U.S. military would launch a serious effort
to gain control of Iraq’s borders—a step that is a prerequisite to mounting an ef-
fective counterinsurgency campaign.

But it was in the third area, recruiting, that the U.S. effort inadvertently gave
the insurgency its biggest boost. Finding new members is usually the most diffi-
cult of tasks for the insurgent cause, especially in its first growth, because it re-
quires its members to expose themselves somewhat to the public and to the
police. U.S. policies—both military and civilian—helped solve that problem. The
de-Baathification order created a class of disenfranchised, threatened leaders.
(Also, the Baath Party likely was more comfortable with its fugitive status than
many a deposed ruling party would have been. “The Baathist Party was born in
an insurgency and continued to operate like one,” even when in power, noted one
Special Forces officer who served in Iraq. “You joined a cell, and reported to the
cell leader.”) But those leaders still needed rank-and-file members. The dissolu-
tion of the army gave them a manpower pool of tens of thousands of angry, un-
employed soldiers. “When we disbanded the Iraqi army, we created a significant
part of the Iragi insurgency,” said Col. Paul Hughes, who worked for Bremer on
strategy issues. On top of that, the lack of U.S. drive and the sense of drift at the
CPA gave the Baathists a much needed breather.
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A professionally unprepared army

The U.S. Army in Irag—incorrect in its assumptions, lacking a workable con-
cept of operations, and bereft of an overarching strategy—completed the job of
creating the insurgency. Based on its experience in Bosnia and Kosovo, the Army
thought it could prevail through “presence”—that is, soldiers demonstrating to
the local population that they are in the area, mainly by patrolling. “We’ve got
that habit that carries over from the Balkans,” said one Army general. Back then,
patrols were conducted so frequently that some officers called the mission there
DABing, for Driving Around Bosnia.

The flaw in this approach, wrote Lt. Col. Christopher Holshek, a civil affairs of-
ficer, was that after the public opinion began to turn against the Americans and see
them as occupiers, “then the presence of troops . . . becomes counterproductive.”

The U.S. military jargon for this was boots on the ground, or, more officially,
the presence mission. There was no formal doctrinal basis for this in the Army
manuals and training that prepare the military for its operations, but the notion
crept into the vocabularies of senior officers. For example, in May 2003, as the 1st
Armored Division prepared to move from Kuwait to Baghdad, Col. Jackson
Flake, the division chief of staff, said its task there would be to provide a safe and
secure environment. To achieve that, he explained, “We’ve got to conduct patrols
to give these citizens a sense of security,” and also to work with civilian authori-
ties to get the infrastructure up and running. A briefing by the division’s engi-
neering brigade stated that one of its major missions would be “presence patrols.”

“Flood your zone, get out there, and figure it out,” Sanchez ordered one of his
brigade commanders at a meeting in a dusty command tent outside a palace in
the Green Zone later that May. And he wanted the troops to get out there on foot,
he added: “Mounted patrols tell me we are zipping through neighborhoods.
I want American soldiers on the ground talking to people. . . . Your business is to
ensure that the presence of the American soldier is felt, and it’s not just Ameri-
cans zipping by”

But what if this approach creates problems rather than solves them? In the
spring and summer of 2003, few U.S. soldiers seemed to understand the central-
ity of Iraqi pride, and the humiliation Iraqi men felt to be occupied by this West-
ern army. Foot patrols in Baghdad were greeted during this time with solemn
waves from old men and cheers from children, but with baleful stares from many

young Iraqi men.
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The push for intelligence

U.S. commanders tended to blame their troubles, at least in public, on their
lack of good intelligence about their foe. Who was the enemy? How many were
there? What were their motivations? How did they operate? Where did their fi-
nancing come from? Who controlled them? Were they independent cells or did
they have a central control? What were their links to Saddam Hussein’s regime?
What was the relationship between former regime members and their old enemies
in the fundamentalist Islamic groups? There were surprisingly few good answers
to those questions, then or now.

More than most large organizations, the U.S. Army generally tries to confront
and remedy its shortcomings. Newspapers, for example, rarely pause after cover-
ing major crises to figure out what they did right, what they did wrong, and what
they should remember the next time they face a similar incident. The Army, to its
credit, routinely tries to learn from such encounters, in part because of the lethal-
ity of mistakes in its line of work. It calls this the lessons learned process, and
incorporates the efforts in its major training maneuvers. For example, after each
major step in operations at the National Training Center, the Army’s premier large
unit training facility, commanders pause to critique their own moves. “Observer-
controllers” stand by to provide factual data and so ensure that the critique is
more than just a barroom quarrel about who did their job best. This process even
has its own office, the Center for Army Lessons Learned, or CALL, based at Fort
Leavenworth, Kansas, an old cavalry post perched on a bluff overlooking the Mis-
souri River, on the eastern edge of the Great Plains.

In the summer of 2003 CALL sent a team to Iraq to review intelligence-
gathering efforts in Iraq. The team found a series of wide-ranging problems in
using technology and in training and managing intelligence specialists. Younger
officers and enlisted soldiers were unprepared for their assignments, “did not un-
derstand the targeting process,” and possessed “very little to no analytical skills,”
the CALL team found. It said that there were 69 “tactical human intelligence”
(HUMINT) teams working in Iraq, and that they should have been producing at
least 120 reports a day, but instead were delivering a total average of 30. Overall,
it said, the teams lacked “guidance and focus.” They also were overwhelmed, and
at least 15 more teams were needed. Nor did combat leaders understand how to
use their intelligence specialists. “HUMINT teams and MI [military intelligence]

commanders who were frustrated at the misuse of HUMINT assets by maneuver
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commanders . . . believed that combat arms officers did not understand the man-
agement and capabilities of HUMINT assets,” the report said. Also, operations
across Iraq were impeded by the lack of competent interpreters; those they had
were “working to the point of burnout,” and also were being misused. “We can no
longer afford to send interpreters in ‘support’ of units to buy chickens and soft
drinks”

Other insiders noticed additional problems. The U.S. military intelligence
apparatus tended to overfocus on the role of foreign fighters, a senior Army offi-
cial later noted, because those fighters tended to use telephones, e-mail, and the
Internet—and thus could be monitored by signals interception. So long sessions
with top commanders would focus on the movements of four Saudi Arabian cit-
izens while entire tribes in the Sunni Triangle were emerging unnoticed as centers
of the insurgency. “The real guys weren’t using phones or the Internet,” he said.
“They were based on human relationships,” and so operated below the radar
screen of U.S. military intelligence.

In the late summer and early fall of 2003 top commanders launched an ex-
traordinary push to improve the performance of the lackluster military intelli-
gence operation in Iraq. “Actionable intelligence is the key to countering the
insurgency,” Gen. Abizaid said later, looking back at this time. “All of us were
looking for actionable intelligence that would lead us to unlock the leadership of
the insurgency” He was especially frustrated that good information gathered at
the battalion and brigade levels wasn’t making it up the chain of command to the
division and corps intelligence operations, where it could be “brought into an
overarching theater understanding of the problem.” What was the enemy? How
was it organized, peopled, trained, and indoctrinated? What did it want, if any-
thing, besides expelling the U.S. forces?

Militaries, like all big organizations, tend to do what they know how to do,
rather than what they might need to do differently to address the situation they
face. As French counterinsurgency expert Bernard Fall said in a 1964 speech to a
U.S. military audience about flaws in the U.S. approach in Vietnam, “Everybody
likes to fight the war that he knows best; this is very obvious. But in Vietnam
we fight a war that we don’t ‘know best.’ The sooner this is realized the better it is
going to be”

It took many years for the Army to adjust in Vietnam, and it would take
time—though less than in Vietnam—to do so in Iraq as well. “When it is this

huge, this heavy a conventional presence, you're going to get the institutional



HOW TO CREATE AN INSURGENCY (I1) 195

response,” said one general, himself an unconventional thinker from the conven-
tional side of the Army. “They’re going to do what they’re trained to do.”

That unimaginative reaction is hardly a new phenomenon. Field Marshal Saxe,
an innovative eighteenth-century French general, complained that “very few men
occupy themselves with the higher problems of war,” so that “when they arrive at
the command of armies they are totally ignorant, and, in default of knowing what
should be done, they do what they know” The U.S. mission in Iraq was over-
whelmingly made up of regular combat units, rather than smaller, lower profile,
Special Forces troops, and in 2003 most conventional commanders did what they
knew how to do: send out large numbers of troops and vehicles on conventional
combat missions.

“You had to do operations to drive intelligence,” said a senior military intelli-
gence official who was in the middle of this drive. In retrospect, he said, “We were
not sophisticated or calibrated in our approach. You know the old saying, ‘If all
you have is a hammer, everything looks like a nail’?”

In the late summer of 2003, senior U.S. commanders tried to counter the in-
surgency with indiscriminate cordon-and-sweep operations that involved detain-
ing thousands of Iraqis. This involved “grabbing whole villages, because combat
soldiers [were] unable to figure out who was of value and who was not,” accord-
ing to a subsequent investigation of the 4th Infantry Division’s operations by the
Army inspector general’s office. On top of that, Army commanders failed to en-
sure they had a system to process thousands of people. At first, prisoners were
held on U.S. bases, but by late summer they were shipped to Abu Ghraib prison
to be held by a small unit of demoralized MPs there. By the fall of 2003 this ap-
proach would swamp the system and undercut the aim of improving intelligence,
because there weren’t enough interrogators on hand to detect the genuine adver-
saries among the thousands of innocent or neutral Iraqis caught up in the sweeps.

It is important to bear in mind the lack of a coherent counterinsurgency strat-
egy at the top. Had there been one, commanders likely wouldn’t have used such
self-defeating tactics. “When you’re facing a counterinsurgency war, if you get the
strategy right, you can get the tactics wrong, and eventually you’ll get the tactics
right,” said retired Army Col. Robert Killebrew, a veteran of Special Forces in the
Vietnam War. “If you get the strategy wrong and the tactics right at the start, you
can refine the tactics forever but you still lose the war. That’s basically what we did
in Vietnam.” For the first twenty months or more of the American occupation in

Iraq, it was what the U.S. military would do there as well.
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Iraq in midsummer 2003

Paul Wolfowitz was worried about Iraq. Bremer didn’t tell him much, so he
worked the military channels relentlessly, with a Churchillian drive for informa-
tion. “There is no limit to the level of detail the DEPSECDEF requests,” an official
at Central Command griped in an e-mail to a military lawyer on July 7, 2003.
Wolfowitz traveled to Iraq that month to rally support. Privately, he may have
been worried that Gary Anderson was right about a growing insurgency, but pub-
licly he would argue that steady progress was being made. At lunch one day at the
al Rasheed Hotel, which was inside the checkpoints of the Green Zone and had
been turned into a CPA dormitory, the deputy defense secretary was relentlessly
upbeat. He had with him a handpicked group of reporters and columnists, jour-
nalists whose articles had displayed a sympathy to his views, among them the
Washington Post’s Jim Hoagland, the Wall Street Journal’s Paul Gigot, and Vanity
Fair’s Christopher Hitchens. “The judicial system is functioning at a rudimentary
level,” he began that hot July day. “Neighborhood councils are stood up. The po-
lice force is at sixty percent of requirements.” He saw similarly good trends in ed-
ucation and medicine. “It is pretty amazing,” he insisted as waiters brought more
seltzer water. He was dismissive of the Middle Eastern—area experts who were
warning that Iraq was in a dangerous position, and that security was deteriorat-
ing. “The great majority seem astonishingly pessimistic,” he said.

Abizaid, also at the lunch table, loyally supported his boss’s views. “The impa-
tience of the press is always of some interest to me,” he said. “The progress here is
quite remarkable, actually.” Looking over the white tablecloth set with cande-
labras to the buffet of lamb, rice, and vegetables at the end of the room, swaddled
in the tight security of the Green Zone, it was almost possible for a moment to be-
lieve they were correct.

To a degree, Wolfowitz was reflecting what he was hearing from top com-
manders. Even in the Sunni Triangle, U.S. officers were surprisingly optimistic at
the time. They weren’t over the hump, but they were close, some said. After lunch
Abizaid headed up the Tigris Valley in a swift Black Hawk helicopter, flying low
and escorted by two Apache attack helicopters. Palm groves, vineyards, and gar-
dens of eggplants, peppers, and tomatoes flashed by underneath his aircraft. At
a meeting that afternoon in Tikrit, one brigade commander in the 4th Infantry
Division reassured him, “My read, sir, is we’re on the tail end of this.”

“Our analysis says attacks are going down,” added another 4th ID commander.

“Sir, he’s getting weaker,” said a third officer. “We’re breaking his back.”
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“The gloves are coming off”

The insurgency didn’t begin with an announcement or a major event. Rather,
it was like a change in the weather. “In three towns that summer—Hit, Fallujah
and Khaldiya—1I would hear an Iraqi proverb repeated over and over as the occu-
pation lurched on, violence of all kinds escalated, and more Iragis were killed,”
Anthony Shadid later wrote. ““The mud is getting wetter, people said. Things are
getting worse, it meant.”

As the Iragi mud moistened, the American gloves were removed. The U.S.
military escalation occurred consciously. On August 4, 2003, U.S. authorities
reopened the prison west of Baghdad called Abu Ghraib, which was notorious
since it had been used to punish the enemies of Saddam Hussein. And at
around two o’clock on the morning on August 14, Capt. William Ponce, an
officer in the Human Intelligence Effects Coordination Cell at Sanchez’s head-
quarters, sent out a memo to subordinate commands. “The gloves are coming
off regarding these detainees,” he told them. His e-mail, and the responses it
provoked from members of the Army intelligence community across Iraq, are
sadly illuminating about the mind-set of the U.S. military during this period.
They suggest that the U.S. military was moving in the direction of institu-
tionalized abuse.

Capt. Ponce stated that Col. Steve Boltz, the second highest ranking military
intelligence officer in Iraq, “has made it clear that we want these individuals
broken”—intelligence jargon for getting someone to abandon his cover and re-
late the truth as he knows it. Ponce then went on to wave the bloody shirt, a move
that would raise eyebrows among some of his e-mail’s recipients. “Casualties are
mounting and we need to start gathering info to help protect our fellow soldiers
from any further attacks,” he wrote. So, Ponce ordered them, “Provide interroga-
tion techniques ‘wish list’ by 17 auG 03.”

Some of the responses to his solicitation were enthusiastic. “I spent several
months in Afghanistan interrogating the Taliban and al Qaeda,” a soldier attached
to the 3rd Armored Cavalry Regiment, operating in western Iraq, responded
just fourteen hours later, according to the time stamp on his e-mail. “I firmly
agree that the gloves need to come off.” With clinical precision, he recommended
permitting “open-handed facial slaps from a distance of no more than about
two feet and back-handed blows to the midsection from a distance of about
18 inches. . . . I also believe that this should be a minimum baseline.” He also re-

ported that “fear of dogs and snakes appear to work nicely.”
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The 4th Infantry Division’s intelligence operation responded three days later
with suggestions that captives be hit with closed fists and also subjected to “low-
voltage electrocution.”

But not everyone was so sanguine as those two units’ operations. “We need
to take a deep breath and remember who we are,” cautioned a major with the
501st Military Intelligence Battalion, which supported the operations of the 1st
Armored Division in Iraq. (The officer’s name was deleted in official documents
released by the Army, as were those of other writers in this e-mail exchange.) “It
comes down to standards of right and wrong—something we cannot just put
aside when we find it inconvenient, any more than we can declare that we will
‘take no prisoners’ and therefore shoot those who surrender to us simply because
we find prisoners inconvenient.” This officer also took issue with the reference to
rising U.S. casualties. “We have taken casualties in every war we have ever
fought—that is part of the very nature of war. . . . That in no way justifies letting
go of our standards. . . . Casualties are part of war—if you cannot take casualties
then you cannot engage in war. Period” The “BOTTOM LINE,” he wrote emphati-
cally in conclusion, was, “We are American soldiers, heirs of a long tradition of stay-
ing on the high ground. We need to stay there.” His signature block ended with a
reference to “Psalm 24: 3-8,” which begins with the admonition, “Who shall as-
cend into the hill of the Lord? Or who shall stand in his holy place? He that hath
clean hands, and a pure heart.” But this lucid and passionate response was a voice
in the wilderness. The major was arguing against embarking on a course that the
Army had already chosen to take.

Brig. Gen. Janis Karpinski, the commander of all prisons in Iraq, was growing
concerned about conditions at Abu Ghraib, she said later in a sworn statement.
On August 16, insurgents mortared the prison, killing six Iraqi prisoners and
wounding at least forty-seven others. At that point the prison held Iraqis brought
in under the old regime or as criminals, but not suspected insurgents caught by
U.S. raids. In the wake of that incident Karpinski went to see Maj. Gen. Walter
Wojdakowski, Sanchez’s deputy commander, to ask for help.

“They’re prisoners, Janis,” Wojdakowski dismissively said to her, she later
recounted. “Did you lose any soldiers?”

“I could have,” she recalled telling him.

“They didn’t care,” she said, according to her statement, in which she also said
that “Sanchez didn’t care until two MI soldiers were killed” a month later.

In the following weeks and months, she added, “the divisions kept giving

us more prisoners. ‘Well, increase capacity. Where would you like me to
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increase capacity?” The answer, she said, was “‘Cram some more tents into the
compound.”

About ten days later, the first suspected insurgents captured by the United
States arrived at Abu Ghraib, Karpinski later recalled. It was the middle of the
night when helicopters arrived carrying thirty-five of them. “My battalion com-
mander is calling me frantically, saying, ‘Do you know anything about this? Why
are we getting these people?””

On August 31, Maj. Gen. Geoffrey Miller, commander of the detainee operation
at Guantdnamo Bay, Cuba, where 660 suspected al Qaeda and Taliban members
were held and interrogated, arrived in Iraq to help U.S. commanders improve
their intelligence operation, or as his subsequent report put it, “to rapidly exploit
internees for actionable intelligence.” His team of seventeen experts didn’t always
get a warm reception. “There was a great deal of animosity on the part of the Abu
Ghraib personnel,” a subsequent investigation by Army Maj. Gen. George Fay found.

One of the core conclusions Gen. Miller reached during his ten-day visit
was that Abu Ghraib should be operated more like the prison he had run on
Guantdnamo, most notably by using the conditions of detention to soften up
prisoners for questioning. “[T]he detention operations function must act as an
enabler for interrogation,” Miller stated in his own report, which bore the classi-
fication “secret/noforn,” meaning that it wasn’t to be shared with foreign allies.

His recommendation failed to take into account the vast difference between
the U.S. base on Cuba’s eastern end—a secure and remote area, completely under
U.S. military control—and the chaos that surrounded Abu Ghraib, perched in the
no-man’s-land between Baghdad and Fallujah, a combat zone profoundly hostile
to the foreign military presence in its midst. What’s more, the ratio of guards to
prisoners at peaceful Guantinamo was about 1.4 to 1, while at Abu Ghraib, which
was regularly being mortared, the guards were heavily outnumbered, with a ratio
of about 1 for every 10 prisoners. As more detainees flooded in, the ratio wors-
ened to 1 to 20, according to Karpinski.

Over the next several months, hundreds of raids were conducted and over ten
thousand Iraqis were detained, many of them hauled away from their families in
the middle of the night and held without any notification to those families for
weeks. All told, in the first eighteen months of the occupation, some thirty thou-
sand to forty thousand Iragis would pass through U.S. detention facilities, ac-
cording to a legal statement given by Gen. Sanchez.

By the end of September, Abu Ghraib held more than 3,500 prisoners. A
month later that number had almost doubled—but there were still only 360 MPs
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to guard them, Karpinski said. The huge effort in the late summer and fall of 2003
led directly to the widespread abuses of prisoners that came to be known, far too
narrowly, as “the Abu Ghraib scandal” Those thousands of prisoners eventually
would overwhelm the undermanned, undertrained, underequipped, undersu-
pervised, and incompetent Army Reserve unit running the prison. And the tactics
used in the push for intelligence aided the insurgency it was aiming to crush by
alienating large segments of the Iraqi population.

The old prison was growing so crowded that the original purpose of detain-
ing insurgents was being undercut by the sheer number being held. Col. Teeples,
who commanded the 3rd Armored Cavalry Regiment, which is smaller than a di-
vision and lacked its own seasoned interrogators, said later in sworn testimony,
“Several times when we had detainees, . . . they were really bad guys, and we’d try
to get them moved to Abu Ghraib, [but] there was no room.”

During this crucial period, the U.S. military seemed more concerned about its
own well-being than about Iragis, said Lt. Col. Holshek, who during the summer
of 2003 was based at Tallil air base in southern Iraq. “We had all this hardware, all
these riches at hand, yet we didn’t do anything to help,” he said of that time. An
extraordinary part of the U.S. military effort was devoted to providing for itself,
with a huge push to build showers, mess halls, and coffee bars, and to install
amenities such as satellite television and Internet cafés. “At Tallil there were eleven
thousand people, hundreds of millions of dollars being spent, and not a goddamn
thing being done for the people downtown. so we looked like an occupation
power. And we were—we behaved like one. The message we were sending was, we
didn’t care much about the Iraqis, because we didn’t do what we needed to do on

things like electricity. And we also looked incompetent.”

War comes calling

Lt. Brendan O’Hern, a platoon leader in the 82nd Airborne Division, found
out he was at war in a very hard way, in a short action on a scorching hot summer
day in Baghdad when his unit was guarding a weapons amnesty collection point.
“It was 120 degrees out and there was no relief from the sun,” he wrote in a memoir
posted on companycommand.com, a semiofficial Web site for younger Army
leaders.

At about 3:00 P.M., a volley of rocket-propelled grenades flew at his unit from

a nearby house, leaving their signature trail of blue-gray smoke. Several soldiers
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were blown into the air. One of the rockets, still burning, lodged in a leg of Cpl.
Hilario Bermanis, and another soldier pulled it out with his bare hands. Another
hit Spec. Gavin Neighbor, a twenty-year-old from Somerset, Ohio, who having
finished his guard turn was resting in a nearby bus.

Back at their base, “[e]veryone was in complete shock as we had no injuries
prior to all this, over almost three months of combat ops, including some pretty
heavy stuff in the early days of the war,” O’'Hern wrote. It turned worse when his
company commander told him a few hours later that Spec. Neighbor was dead.
“I was blown away,” he recalled. He gathered his men and told them the news.
“We just stood there together for along time, with guys crying or in shock. Neigh-
bor was honestly one of the best soldiers in the platoon, if not the best. He really
meant a lot to everyone, and guys took it pretty hard.”

O’Hern told the soldiers to make sure to talk to work through their grief,
rather than to try to ignore it. Over the next couple of days he found that convers-
ing with them when they were alone worked best. “We’d talk about whatever felt
right, whether it was joking about the two guys or talking about what people did
during and after the attack, or just something to distract the guy,” he wrote.

But O’Hern neglected himself. “I tried to be hard and be the rock the guys
could lean on.” But he later decided that that was the wrong approach, because he
wound up feeling “a tremendous amount of guilt,” and he plunged into a severe
depression. “I did not really eat or sleep for six or seven days, but just lay around
blaming myself in private and focusing on the platoon, outwardly,” he wrote.
“Eventually I hit a very low point and realized I'd better get some help or I would
be in trouble.” A talk with Neighbor’s squad leader helped, especially because it
developed that the other man was having a similarly difficult time.

O’Hern learned from the grim experience. “Up until that day, what we did was
little more than a live-action video game,” he concluded. After it, “[e]very move I
make, every plan that I put together, is now scrutinized from every angle. I have
realized that I must be prepared at all times, and that the attack will come when I
least expect it. There is a voice inside that senses when something’s not right, and
I am steadily training myself to always listen to it.”

Later that summer, Lt. Col. Poirier, the MP battalion commander who had been
in Fallujah and then moved to Tikrit, had his own wake-up call from the insur-
gency. It came at about eleven o’clock at night, when he was convoying back up to
Tikrit—about a three-hour Humvee drive from Baghdad—after a “useless” meet-

ing at Camp Victory, near the Baghdad airport, on police issues. He had been notic-



202 FIASCO

ing flares arcing in the sky to the west of the highway, and was beginning to suspect
that someone was tracking his convoy’s movement. A bit south of Samarra, he was
out of radio range from his headquarters, so the issue was up to him, as the com-
mander.

“I was trying to figure out a plan—go west?—when all hell broke loose—
mortars, machine guns, RPGs,” he recalled. One deadly RPG cut diagonally
through the cab of his Humvee, passing before his face and behind his driver’s
head. Two thoughts immediately passed through his mind. First was, “Oh, shit,
we got caught flat-footed. The next thought was, If T survive this, I will hunt down
every guy doing this.”

The convoy sped up and escaped without losing anyone. The next morning,
Poirier woke up in Tikrit determined to do better. He began putting his troops
through rehearsals for better responses to ambushes, most of them based on us-
ing armored vehicles to flank and kill the enemy. “This was a turning point for
me,” he recalled. A few weeks later another unit was hit in the same spot by a
bomb and RPGs, killing Command Sgt. Maj. James Blankenbecler, a forty-year-
old senior NCO from Alexandria, Virginia, who had recently arrived in Iraq on
assignment as the new top enlisted soldier in the 1st Battalion, 44th Air Defense
Artillery Regiment, based at Fort Hood, Texas.

When Bremer flew home to Washington for quick consultations at the end of
July 2003, his message was that the situation was far better than it appeared in
news coverage. “When I got to Washington this was confirmed—that the people
in the United States were not getting an accurate picture of the progress we had
made here, the really very substantial progress we have made here,” he said later
that summer in Baghdad. “They were distracted, understandably, by the trickle of
casualties coming in almost every day from Iraq, and not getting the stories, the
other two hundred good news stories, about schools reopening, hospitals open-
ing, health clinics opening, the lowest cholera rate in a decade this year in the
south, in Basra. . . . Those stories were not getting through.” In fact, the U.S. oc-
cupation was about to be confronted by a full-blown counterinsurgency. But as
the United States entered its first sustained ground combat in three decades, this

was his story, and he and the entire Bush administration stuck to it.
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THE CPA: “CAN'T
PRODUCE ANYTHING”

went to ORHA today to meet with their commo people,” Capt. Kipling wrote

to her boyfriend in early June, referring to the Coalition Provisional Authority
by the acronym of its original name, the Office of Reconstruction and Humani-
tarian Assistance. “They were not very helpful”

She was far from alone in that conclusion. The U.S. civilian occupation orga-
nization was a house built on sand and inhabited by the wrong sort of people,
according to many who worked there. “No clear strategy, very little detailed plan-
ning, poor communications, high personnel turnover, lots of young and inexpe-
rienced political appointees, no well-established business processes,” concluded
retired Army Col. Ralph Hallenbeck, who worked at the CPA as a civilian contrac-
tor dealing with the Iraqi communications infrastructure. Personnel was an espe-
cially nettlesome issue. Hallenbeck said that in addition to being young and
inexperienced, most of the young CPA people he met during his work as a con-
tractor were ideologically minded Republicans whose only professional experi-
ence was working on election campaigns back in the United States. It was, as
Zinni later commented, “a pickup team.” Scott Erwin, a former intern for Vice
President Cheney who worked on the budget for security forces, reported that his
favorite job before that was “my time as an ice cream truck driver.”
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“The tour length for most civilians was initially a mere three months,” the
British diplomat Hilary Synnott later recalled. “This was far too brief to be effec-
tive.” Capt. Kipling also noticed this personnel problem on her forays into the
Green Zone. “Their turnover rate was too high to be effective,” she said. “They’d
get good people in, they’d get motivated, and then there would be a big bomb,
and they’d all leave.”

It was more serious for Brig. Gen. Karpinski. She was regaling her superior
with a list of all the problems she was having one day when, she recalled, “he
threw his pen down on the desk, and he said, ‘We’re running a prison system for
an entire country by the seat of our pants. What’s CPA doing?””

She responded: “There’s two experts there, and they’re leaving in about
thirty days.”

The view from inside the zone was that of a small and beleaguered band, un-
derstaffed and underresourced. “We all worked seventeen hours a day, seven days
a week, for a year,” recalled Sherri Kraham, who was deputy director of the CPA
budget office. To some it felt like trying to build and furnish a house while parts
of it were on fire—and all the time getting advice and orders from officials thou-
sands of miles away in Washington and London.

“The CPA was always a work in progress,” observed Andrew Rathmell, the
British defense intellectual who served as a strategist for Bremer and later wrote a
clear-eyed assessment of his time there. “Badly flawed pre-war assumptions,
which were not effectively challenged, left the coalition unprepared and under-
resourced for the task it faced. . .. The CPA ended up creating nation-building
institutions on the run, governing Iraq at all levels, supporting a counter-
insurgency campaign, reconstructing and reforming Iraqi state institutions and
implementing democratic and economic transformation.”

Yet it was far from clear what all that hard work was leading to. “One of the
things that struck me in the summer of 2003 was how hard people were working,
but how little effect it was having,” said Gary Anderson.

By mid-August, when she left the CPA, recalled Ambassador Robin Raphel, a
career foreign service officer, “it was very obvious to me that we couldn’t do this,
we could not run a country that we did not understand. . . . It was very much am-
ateur hour to me, with all respect.”

In another end-of-tour report, one colonel assigned to the CPA summarized
his office’s work: “pasting feathers together, hoping for a duck.”

It didn’t take long to see what poor shape the organization was in, said Col.
Sammons, the Special Forces officer attached to the CPA. “I soon knew what CPA
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meant—Can’t Produce Anything.” That became a standard gag among military
officers dealing with the occupation authority.
By the time the CPA was done away with a year later, the U.S. effort in Iraq had

suffered a severe and perhaps crippling setback.

CPA administrator L. Paul Bremer 111

Presiding over this mess was Bremer, by all accounts a smart and diligent man,
but not the right person for the job—that is, someone who could provide strate-
gic leadership to inspire a diverse collection of people suddenly brought together
to handle an ill-defined, difficult, and expanding mission. Hallenbeck said it was
his impression that Bremer was “reclusive” and wasn’t comfortable with anyone.
He recalled that on July 4, 2003, there was a pool party to celebrate the American
independence day. Looking for lunch, he walked out to the party and saw people
clustering at one end of the pool around a visiting Army general, who was asking
about their work on morale. Bremer appeared a half hour later. “He looked totally
alone—like he didn’t recognize anybody. Alone.” Eventually, Bremer’s spokesman,
Dan Senor, took Bremer around to introduce him to people. “That was Bremer’s
style,” Hallenbeck said.

Nor did Bremer lead his people in such a way as to help them confront the or-
ganization’s flaws. His morning meetings in the summer and fall of 2003, as Iraq
descended into guerrilla war, “were bizarre,” recalled Gardner, one of the Army
colonels at the CPA. “You'd go around the table. He’d say, ‘Anybody got anything?’
Most of the time it was ‘nope, ‘nope, ‘got nothing.”

His own work style also tied their hands. “He chose to micromanage,” said
Dov Zakheim. “Nothing could be done without his okay” This was the biggest
single problem in the financial pipeline from Washington, D.C., to Iraqg, he said.
“Bremer wanted to control the expenditure of money in the field, but he didn’t
have the people in the field to expend it.”

The very structure of the CPA also hurt Bremer, giving him great responsibil-
ity without commensurate power. Bremer was understaffed and underbudgeted.
He was in the frustrating position of having authority over every aspect of the oc-
cupation except for security—the one essential element that was arguably the
prerequisite for everything else. “We had a proconsul model, but we didn’t give
Bremer the power to go with it,” said one State Department official, referring to
the wide authority that the ancient Roman system gave to the governors of its

provinces.
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Life in the zone

The CPA existed in a never-never land in Saddam’s old palace complex behind
high walls in downtown Baghdad. There was a sharp disconnect between its cool,
quiet Green Zone and the real world beyond the miles of tall concrete Jersey se-
curity barriers that ringed the zone. Some in the U.S. military called the CPA’s
slice of central Baghdad Oz. To many within the CPA, the rest of Iraq was the Red
Zone.

At first, life in the newly created American sector was rough. “We were work-
ing 120-hour weeks in Baghdad,” recalled Hallenbeck. “It wasn’t like we could go
home on the weekends.” Lacking rooms, he and his colleagues were sleeping on
the palace lawn and living on MREs—the military’s subsistence-level packaged
rations. In the middle of all this, Pentagon auditors appeared and asked to see his
company’s timecards. But within a few weeks, the quality of life improved notably
in the zone—in sharp contrast to the rest of Iraq, where conditions generally were
deteriorating. It was a four-square-mile area that felt very different from the rest
of Iraq, a novel mix of palm trees and third-rate Iraqi palaces interspersed with
Bradley fighting vehicles and a few bombed-out buildings. It was isolated from
the city’s giant traffic jams and shaded by many more trees than grew elsewhere
in Baghdad. It also was attuned to different realities than prevailed beyond its
blast walls. Inside the zone, the telephones had a 914 area code, from New York’s
Westchester County, where the phone system was based. On one visit to the CPA’s
Office of Strategic Communications, all the televisions but one were tuned to Fox
News. “It’s almost like being at Walt Disney’s version of Arabian Nights,” said
Army Reserve Maj. Jay Bachar, who spent a year working on civil affairs issues in
the zone. “I lived in a villa that was originally owned by a Republican Guard
colonel” It featured six bedrooms, a hot tub on a balcony, and three Iraqi maids.
“We lived very large.”

The zone was at the center of one of the most important cities in the Arab
world, but inside CPA headquarters the food resembled that of an American high
school. Busy staffers would line up at lunchtime for paper plates of hot dogs and
baked beans, and would wash them down with cold cans of Coca-Cola. Oddly for
being in a Muslim country, “it seemed like seventy-five percent of the entrées
were pork, or pork based—pork rings, pork chops, fish-shaped pork, I guess. Pork
in our salads, pork stew,” said Alex Dehgan, who worked on a special nonprolif-
eration project aimed at gainfully employing Iraqi weapons scientists. “I think
Halliburton must have gotten a great deal on pork somewhere.”
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Nighttime offered just a few choices—more work, exercise, or drinking. “Time
off for me was going to the gym,” recalled Larry Diamond, who worked for the
CPA a few months later, when it was better established. The gym, he wrote, was “a
state-of-the-art facility with dozens of weight machines, free weights, floor mats,
running machines, bikes, and elliptical trainers, packed almost constantly with
sweating civilians and trim, muscular soldiers.”

Another evening pursuit was television. “Television in the Green Zone had
some of the strangest TV channels,” said Dehgan. Out of just fifteen channels, two
were dedicated to fashion, and another after 11:00 at night showed only Germans
playing video games.

Then there was alcohol. Eventually the zone boasted seven bars, including one
for security contractors and another, more exclusive one operated by the CIA
called the Babylon. The biggest one was the disco at the al Rasheed Hotel, which
was, Dehgan said, “mainly staffed with intoxicated security contractors. . ..
There were maybe four hundred intoxicated men and three women in the middle
of it”

Soldiers arriving from austere, dusty bases elsewhere in Iraq sometimes were
shocked by what they saw in the zone, recalled one officer. Thursday and Friday
nights in the zone’s bars, he said, had a wide-open feel to them. “Everyone was
drunk, and the mission was to hook up. Military guys would walk in there, and
their eyes would get big.”

Nor were some of the zone’s inhabitants much connected to the country they
were ostensibly remaking. “There was just a level of ignorance” that was surpris-
ing, Hallenbeck said. “There were maybe seven thousand people in the Green
Zone, and very few spoke Arabic or ever got out.” Even if they had wanted to get
outside the confines of their protected area, CPA rules made it difficult: “If you
had to go outside the Green Zone, you'd have to have two military vehicles and
four armed guys. You'd go in and apply for that, and get your name on the list for
escort support. You'd go in at eleven at night and make sure you were good to go,
and come back in the morning and find you had been superseded by a higher pri-
ority project.”

The isolation deepened as the security situation worsened in the summer and
fall of 2003. “A lot of people in the Green Zone, in the bubble, never got out to
speak with Iraqis,” recalled Peter Khalil, an Australian who worked at the CPA on
national security policy. “It was easier at first, but then a fortress mentality devel-
oped.” This was the political effect of the rise of the insurgency: It was driving a
wedge between the occupation authority and the Iraqi people.
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The result was that all some CPA officials knew of Iraq was what they saw
on TV or heard in the mess hall. As a State Department official put it, “You
had this odd situation where the journalists knew more about the situation than
the briefers did, because the journalists moved around and the briefers generally
didn’t get out of the Green Zone much.”

Richard Armitage said that the State Department grew increasingly worried
by the tone of life inside the zone. “I defined it as the bar scene from Star Wars,”
he said in 2005. “The people running to and fro, young people in very heady po-
sitions, they didn’t have a clue what they were doing.” State was so alarmed that
one of the orders given to John Negroponte and his aides when they were sent out
to replace Bremer in 2004 was, “Clean up that goddamn Green Zone.” Armitage’s
instructions to Ambassador James Jeffrey, the number-two American diplomat in
Iraq, were, “I don’t want to see people running around with arms out there drink-
ing beer; I don’t want to see people I don’t know who they are carrying weapons;

clean up this freaking place; send people home.”

The CPA vs. the media

Relations between the occupation authority and the foreign press corps rap-
idly deteriorated. By the summer of 2003, Pamela Hess, a veteran defense reporter
for the UPI wire service, recalled, “The media operation at CPA was abominable.
The mechanics of it were ridiculous” Requests for interviews were filed on
slips of paper to a military office, which would then deliver them to the CPA.
Arriving in Baghdad for a one-month reporting tour, Hess submitted a series
of requests in writing on her first day in the city. “Four weeks later, when [ left
Baghdad, my requests had never even been formally acknowledged—although a
CPA spokesman confirmed they had been received—and none were ever acted
upon.”

The CPA press office seemed to see itself more as a monitor of the media than
as a provider of information. One opportunity the CPA offered up was covering
the new garbage collection service in Baghdad. For lack of any other story one
August day, Carol Williams of the Los Angeles Times dutifully decided to do it. As
frequently happens in journalism, she found more than she’d expected: Many of
the trash crews were small children who were being shaken down by their bosses
for a third of their wages, which amounted to three dollars a day. Iraqis she inter-
viewed were upset by the situation and eager to discuss it, in part because the le-

gal minimum age for such work was supposed to be fifteen.
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CPA officials weren’t pleased by her coverage. The next time Williams was at a
press briefing, she checked in with a press officer about another article she was
pursuing on the provision of clean water—there was a local angle for her paper
because some of the engineers were from California. She was informed that inter-
views she had been promised might not occur because of her handling of the
trash story. In fact, she recalled, “I never did get access to the water engineers.”

In Hess’s view, the CPA’s relationship with the press soured fundamentally
because of the insistence by officials that all was going well, and the consequent
determination of reporters to disprove that contention. “Had they been more
willing to admit that things were bad instead of putting lipstick on the pig, I think
reporters would have been kinder,” she said. “I think we felt compelled to rub
their noses in it, to try to make them admit it, and maybe do something about it.”

Meanwhile, the CPA ceded the playing field in other, more important ways.
Charles Krohn, a veteran of Army public affairs, was surprised when he served in
Baghdad to see that the CPA early on lifted the ban on TV satellite receivers, but
failed to begin satellite broadcasting until months later, in January 2004, leaving
a gap in which Iragis got all their news from Arab stations essentially hostile to the
U.S. presence. “What this means is that for the first nine months, we essentially

forfeited the contest for hearts and minds to the competition,” he wrote later.

The CPA vs. the U.S. military

Underneath the poor image was a poor reality: The CPA was ineptly orga-
nized and frequently incompetent, working badly not only with Iragis and the
media, but even with the U.S. military, its partner in the occupation. There are
different points of view on almost any issue in Irag, but there is surprising una-
nimity, from both sides of the fence, that the relationship between the CPA and
the military began badly and deteriorated further with time.

Sherri Kraham said the CPA-military relationship was “very poor.” She ex-
plained, “I don’t think we spoke the same language.”

“The CPA—what a dysfunctional arrangement that was!” exclaimed Maj.
Gen. John Batiste, who commanded the 1st Infantry Division in Iraq in 2004-5.
“It was nuts!”

“We would have been better off if CPA hadn’t shown up,” said Col. Clarke
Lethin, the chief of operations for the st Marine Division, which fought in Iraq
first in the 2003 invasion and then in the 2004 occupation. “We just built friction

into the system.”
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A general who served in Iraq went even further, saying that the occupation
authority “was the single greatest asset the enemy had”

Fundamentally, the CPA and the military had different conceptions of what
the United States was doing in Iraq. The civilians, more in line with Bush admin-
istration thinking about transforming Iraq and the region, implemented policies
that set out to change the politics, economy, and even the culture of Iraq. The mil-
itary, less culturally sympathetic to the administration’s revolutionary goals,
thought of its mission as almost the opposite, calling it “stability and security op-
erations.” “The military was there to win the conflict, find Saddam and then keep
the peace,” retired Rear Adm. David Oliver, a veteran submarine officer and an as-
tute analyst of the politics of defense, wrote later in a short memoir of his time
devising the CPA’s budget. After the war, the military sought to keep the popula-
tion quiet, while the CPA “focused on change,” which meant that it was bound to
provoke vocal and violent reactions from some Iragis opposed to those changes.
For example, Oliver noted, as the CPA was seeking to normalize commerce by
opening banks, which would reassure merchants that they could conduct busi-
ness without fear of being robbed of the cash they had to keep on hand, some U.S.
commanders were walking into banks and demanding piles of cash from govern-
ment payrolls to pay for local cleanup projects.

CPA officials were aware of the military’s pervasive unhappiness with them. “The
101st and 4th ID are beginning to get frustrated by the lack of progress in key recon-
struction work,” stated the occupation authority’s internal situation report of
June 18, 2003. “Recent negative developments in Mosul indicate growing frustra-
tions over perceived inaction by CPA over re-employment of former military
officers.”

Outfitting Iraqi police was another of those points of friction that emerged in
the following weeks. “They were useless,” Lt. Col. Poirier, who was trying to set up
police forces in Tikrit and Samarra, recalled. “The guidance from them changed
daily—‘Get the police white uniforms, then, ‘No, get blue uniforms.””

In al Anbar province, Gen. Swannack was growing increasingly frustrated as he
tried to get local police outfitted. In August he put in a requisition request for flak
vests, communications equipment, and vehicles for the Iraq security forces work-
ing with his troops. There was a clear and pressing requirement, he said: “You need
the comms so they can call you when they got in trouble. You need vehicles to
get to the battle. You need flak vests so you can fight.” First he was told the gear
would be delivered by November 1. Then he was told it would be delayed until

December. When that month came and went, he called on january 1 to inquire
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again, only to be told that the CPA official in charge of that contract had gone
home on Christmas vacation and had decided not to return. In February he fi-
nally went public with his frustration, mentioning it at a press conference—and
then the equipment began to arrive.

The CPA and the military also diverged on the PR campaign. In October 2003,
as the White House was launching a public relations campaign to emphasize how
well things were going in Iraq, Sanchez began to go out of his way in briefings to
warn that there would be more insurgent attacks that could inflict many casual-
ties on U.S. forces. For example, on October 2, Rumsfeld and Myers used a Penta-
gon news conference to chastise the media for not covering all the good news out
of Iraq. “Today is D plus 198 in Operation Iraqi Freedom, and while there is no
question we have faced some challenges and we’ve got some ahead of us, we have
really achieved numerous successes and expect the situation to continue to im-
prove,” said Myers, always one to accentuate the positive.

Rumsfeld even hinted at troop drawdowns, saying that his message to Con-
gress at this time was that he needed supplemental funds to “finish the job in Iraq
and Afghanistan, so that we’re able to bring the U.S. forces back.”

A few days later, President Bush offered a similarly upbeat assessment. “Lis-
ten, we’re making good progress in Iraq. Sometimes it’s hard to tell it when you
listen to the filter,” he said at a news conference. “The situation is improving
on a daily basis inside Irag. People are freer, the security situation is getting
better.”

During this same period, Sanchez’s public statements were decidedly darker
than those of Bush, Rumsfeld, and Myers. “The enemy has evolved,” he said at his
own October 2 press conference. “It is a little bit more lethal, little bit more com-
plex, little bit more sophisticated, and, in some cases, a little bit more tenacious.”
And, he added, “as long as we are here, the coalition needs to be prepared to take
casualties.” He also said that it would be “a few years” before the security situation
in Iraq stabilized sufficiently to permit a major drawdown of U.S. troops.

Such statements reflected a fundamental disagreement over communications
strategy. “The military guys said that their key audience was Iraq, and emanating
out from there,” said a public affairs officer at the CPA. “The CPA view was that
the center of gravity was the U.S. public.”

The CPA public affairs operation also underwhelmed some colleagues. At one
meeting, “I was awestruck by the superficiality of the insights that they brought
to the table, absolutely awestruck,” recalled Larry Crandall, a CPA official involved

in reconstruction financing.
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The military’s discord with the CPA even reached down to the small unit level.
“My relationship with the CPA as an infantry commander has been tenuous at
best,” one company commander in the 101st Airborne wrote in his response to an
official Army survey. “First, their guidance has been contradictory at times with
the military and definitely not well coordinated.” Also, he said, the civilian ad-
ministrators violated the basic principle of unity of effort. “CPA officials arrived
in our AO [area of operations] and conducted meetings in conferences, made
promises to local officials that were contradictory to past military-to—local offi-
cial meetings and/or agreements.”

With the passage of time, the CPA and the U.S. military acted less like partners
and more like adversaries. “Soldiers . . . blamed civilians for not rebuilding the
country quickly enough to pacify the country, while civilians . . . blamed the mil-
itary for not providing enough security to enable the rebuilding,” the Washington
Post’s Rajiv Chandrasekaran would later write in summarizing this unhappy
relationship.

Much later, a study issued in May 2004 by the Center for Army Lessons
Learned analyzed the problem. It amounted to an obituary for the failure
of the U.S. occupation effort in Irag—albeit from a distinctly military point

of view.

The common perception throughout the theater is that a roadmap for the rebuild-
ing of Iraq does not exist. There is not a plan that outlines priorities with short,
medium and long-term objectives. If such a national plan exists with the CPA, it
has not been communicated adequately to Coalition forces. Task force staffs at all
levels of command have reiterated that there is no clear guidance coming from
Baghdad. The inability to develop or articulate a plan contributes to a lack of unity
of effort between the Coalition and CPA. . . . Coalition commanders and staff view
the CPA as understaffed, sluggish, hesitant to make a decision, and often detached
from the true situation on the ground. With CPA officials on 90-day rotations,
much time is required for replacements to become knowledgeable with the spe-
cific issues and players they are facing. Nine months after the declared end to ma-
jor military action, CPA staffs in the center portions of the country are estimated
at 20% strength. Whether rooted in the lack of staffing or to security concerns,
there appears to be an inability of CPA Headquarters (Baghdad) to get the needed
“eyes on” what is happening. Subsequently, CPA directives appear to be out of

synch with the current situation.
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A growing gap between Iraqis and Americans

The backdrop to that tension in Iraq was a larger, strategic disconnect that was
even more troubling. The Bush administration had extraordinary ambitions for
Iraq, and indeed for the entire Mideast, but it declined for months to provide the
resources needed to fulfill that vision—partly because Wolfowitz and others had
said that Iraqi reconstruction would be largely self-financing. By the end of the
summer, it was clear that the reconstruction effort was stalling and that restarting
it would take far more money than had been contemplated by the U.S. govern-
ment. On Bremer’s desk was a sign that nobly stated, SUCCESS HAS A THOUSAND
FATHERS. Sir Jeremy Greenstock, the veteran diplomat who was Bremer’s top
British aide, later commented that he should have replaced it with the message,
“SECURITY AND JOBS, STUPID.” The Bush administration would come to agree with
that sentiment in private, and asked Congress for a huge supplemental spending
bill—$87 billion—to get the effort going. But even then, the wheels of the CPA
bureaucracy turned so slowly that it took months to get basic equipment such as
flak jackets to Iraqi security forces being trained by the U.S. government.

The cumulative result of this incompetence was that by the late fall of 2003,
the U.S. occupation of Iraq began to lose its claim on the lukewarm middle of
Iraqi public opinion. In a poll of 1,167 Iraqis conducted for the CPA in five cities
in November and December 2003, 62 percent said that security was the most ur-
gent issue facing them. “U.S. has Credibility Problem” reported one slide on the
survey, because 59 percent of those polled said the United States would leave Iraq
“only when forced to.” The United States hadn’t yet lost Iraq, but the trends were
heading that way.



11.

GETTING TOUGH

SUMMER AND FALL 2003

cross the board, U.S. tactics toughened in the fall of 2003. This was natural,
Aeven reasonable, coming in response to the increased attacks on U.S. forces
and a series of suicide bombing attacks. But it also appears to have undercut the
long-term strategy of the U.S. government. “What you are seeing here is an un-
conventional war fought conventionally,” a Special Forces lieutenant colonel re-
marked gloomily one day in Baghdad as the violence intensified. Asked later what
he meant by that, this officer said that having the U.S. military out in patrols—
that is, the presence mission—wasn’t in and of itself necessarily stabilizing the sit-
uation. And the tactics that the regular troops used, he added, sometimes subverted
American strategy.

In other words, U.S. forces were fighting hard, and might even be able eventu-
ally to claw their way to victory, but they were working far harder and less produc-
tively than necessary. They were following their training, performing according
to doctrine, and busting their hearts to do the right thing—and frequently were
sweating and bleeding in ways that didn’t help them move toward their strategic
goal. They were pounding the square peg of the U.S. Army into the round hole of

Iraq, a difficult situation that was hardly their fault. Civilian leaders and top mil-
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itary commanders had failed to define what kind of war was being fought, and
publicly had insisted that it was something other than what it was. Seen in this
light, the abuses that occurred later in 2003 at the Abu Ghraib prison weren’t an
anomalous incident but rather the logical and predictable outcome of a series of
panicky decisions made by senior commanders, which in turn had resulted from
the divided, troop-poor approach devised months earlier by Secretary Rumsfeld

and Gen. Franks.

The insurgency erupts

After months of maneuvering, the real war in Irag—the one to determine the
future of the country—began on August 7, 2003, when a car bomb exploded out-
side the Jordanian embassy, killing eleven and wounding more than fifty. The
next day, with remarkable timing, the CPA released a public relations document
that touted one hundred indicators of how well things were going in Iraq. “Most
of Iraq is calm and progress on the road to democracy and freedom not experi-
enced in decades continues,” the document, posted on the White House’s Web
site, blithely asserted in a section titled “10 Signs of Better Security.” “Only in iso-
lated areas are there still attacks.” In fact, the insurgency was emerging into deadly
bloom. While U.S. civilian and military leaders had dithered, letting their policy
and posture drift, the enemy had been busy.

The initial focus of insurgent attacks wasn’t the U.S. military but allies of the
U.S. effort, such as other members of the coalition and international organiza-
tions, that were perceived as legitimizing the occupation. Beginning in midsum-
mer, Gen. Sanchez found himself fighting a very different war from that waged by
the U.S. military in the invasion months earlier. “As time went on, it became very
clear by the fall, by the November timeframe . . . that they had, as best we could
tell, a strategy of attacking the different elements of cohesiveness within the coali-
tion,” Sanchez said in a subsequent statement in a legal proceeding. He saw four
major thrusts of enemy attacks: “They were doing direct action against us. They
were attacking the Iraqi security forces as they existed at the time. They were at-
tacking politicians. They were attacking the international community, which was
a strike on the Italians, the United Nations, and they were looking to split the
coalition.” In other words, the insurgents were systematically hitting allies of the
U.S.-led effort, turning away from difficult U.S. military targets in favor of softer
foreign targets, and in doing so, seeking to peel off support and isolate the U.S.

occupation.
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On August 19, a cement truck laden with artillery shells and other explosives
crashed into the outer wall of the headquarters of the United Nations in Irag, on
the Canal Road in eastern Baghdad. The blast was so powerful that windows in
the camp of the 2nd Armored Cavalry Regiment, about half a mile way, were
blown in. It destroyed a corner of the three-story UN building, killing twenty-two
people and wounding another seventy. One of the dead was Brazilian diplomat
Sergio Vieira de Mello, the chief of the UN mission, who survived the blast but
was trapped inside the rubble and died before he could be freed.

The effect on the United Nations was devastating. In the attack’s wake, the UN
began to cut its presence, from eight hundred international staffers to fifteen.
This was significant, because the UN had served as a bridge for the Americans to
important Shiite leaders, such as Grand Ayatollah Ali Sistani, who wouldn’t meet
directly with U.S. occupation officials. The act was successful in that it “convinced
the organization that continuing to operate in Iraq would be too costly,” Col. T. X.
Hammes, the Marine expert on counterinsurgency who worked for the CPA on
the training of Iraqis in the winter of 2003—4, later wrote in assessing the insur-
gents’ strategy. Other international organizations, such as the World Bank, the In-
ternational Monetary Fund, and the British relief agency Oxfam, began to pull
out in the following weeks. After the UN was hit again, with a smaller bomb a
month later, more staffers and other agencies, such as Save the Children (UK), left
Iraq. “That was a brilliant campaign,” said Hammes. “They hit the UN, the Red
Cross, the Jordanian embassy, and the Iraqi police. And we were calling them
‘dead-enders’? Who do you think is disorganized at that point?”

Out in Anbar province, Keith Mines also felt the increasing heat. “The level of
animosity toward the coalition appears to be rising in al Anbar province, as both
quantitatively there is an increasing rage on the streets, and qualitatively the at-
tacks are growing more sophisticated and bolder,” he wrote in his weekly report
of September 24. “Only a small minority of al Anbarians are taking up arms
against the coalition, but the vast middle ground does nothing to stop them and
to date does not see it in their interest to help us corner them. And the trends are
moving in the wrong direction.” Mines also wrote to his family that he was wor-
ried about the volatile combination he saw brewing in his province: “hordes of
mad young men with too much time on their hands and too many weapons read-
ily available.” Some of them were learning how to make and deliver bombs. The
enemy may not have had a public face but he certainly was developing a distinc-

tive mode of attack.
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The war of the roadside bomb

Each war produces its own artifacts—its distinctive phrases, garments, or
technological innovations. The memorable piece of clothing from World War I
was the trench coat, which captures a key aspect of that mired conflict. The clas-
sic abbreviation of World War II was “snafu”—situation normal, all fucked up.

More than anything else, war is about destruction, and so it is weaponry that
most often captures the feel of a given conflict. The cold soul of the limited 1991
Gulf War was the precision-guided “smart bomb,” which distilled to one lethal
device the technological leap the U.S. military had taken since the end of the Viet-
nam War just sixteen years earlier.

The emblematic weapon of the new Iraq war was quite the opposite: the inex-
pensive, low-tech roadside bomb. The U.S. military called it the IED, for impro-
vised explosive device. In unhappy contrast to the earlier U.S. war with Iraq, this
weapon was used not by but against U.S. forces. It quickly became the single
greatest threat to them: About one third of U.S. troops killed in the first year of
the insurgency were victims of these bombs, as were about two thirds of those
wounded severely enough to require medical evacuation out of Iraq. Support
troops, such as mechanics and supply specialists, were most vulnerable, account-
ing for three quarters of those killed by the bombs in the summer of 2003.

Even these fairly primitive devices had their own evolution. At first, during the
summer of 2003, almost all were hardwired—that is, attached by the lines used
to detonate them. U.S. forces learned to look for the wire and kill the person wait-
ing at the other end. By the following winter, about half the bombs were remote-
controlled, frequently set off using cellular telephones, car alarm transmitters, or
toy car controllers. For charges, insurgents usually used 155 millimeter artillery
shells and a variety of mortar rounds, and occasionally TNT or a plastic explosive.

The bombs at first were concealed under rocks or piles of trash, which were
everywhere along Baghdad streets, as social services failed to resume after the war.
Others were hidden in the carcasses of dead dogs, which in the humid summer
heat of Iraq produced a putrid smell that would deter all but the most dedicated
soldier from probing for bombs.

Early on, one favored tactic was to block the road with a truck or bus that
would appear to be stalled or broken down—and then plant a series of bombs be-
hind the vehicle in the area along the road where the U.S. convoy would be forced

to stop. U.S. troops responded by driving up on the sidewalk or in the incoming
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lane of traffic, which got them out of the trap but inadvertently served the insur-
gents’ secondary purpose, of angering and alienating Iraqis who had to scramble
out of the way of the careening convoy.

As the insurgency was heating up in the Sunni Triangle, Lt. Col. Steve Russell,
based in its northern part in the town of Tikrit, was dealing with a wave of attacks
in which bombers were using the transmitters from radio-controlled toy cars.
They would take the electronic guts of the cars, wrap them in C-4 plastic explo-
sive, and attach a blasting cap, then detonate them by remote control. So Russell,
who commanded an infantry battalion, mounted one of the toy-car controllers
on the dashboard of his Humvee and taped down the levers. Because all the toy
cars operated on the same frequency, this would detonate any similar bomb
about one hundred yards before his Humvee got to the spot. This “poor man’s
anti-explosive device [was] risky perhaps,” Russell wrote in a fifty-eight-page
summary of his unit’s time in Iraq, but better than the alternative of leaving the
detonation to the bombers.

The most effective counterbomb tactic turned out to be the low-tech sniper.
U.S. troops learned to hide and spy on spots, such as traffic circles, where bombs
were likely to be emplaced. “Anyone who comes out in the middle of the night to
plant an IED dies,” a senior Central Command official reported.

As U.S. troops became more sophisticated in countering the devices, the in-
surgents invented new tactics. Enemy fighters observed that American troops
were being trained to stop about two hundred meters short when they spotted a
bomb. They adapted by planting a bomb in the open in a highly visible location,
and then hiding several more two hundred meters farther up the road, next to
where the troops would halt.

The typical IED cell, American intelligence analysts concluded, usually con-
sisted of six to eight people. It was led by a planner/financier. Next came the
bomb maker, who handled the construction of the device but not its delivery. The
third specialist was the emplacer, who would plant the bomb by pretending to fix
a flat tire or, in some customized vehicles, would drop the bomb through a hole
cut in the floor of a car. In addition, the cell had a triggerman, who would deto-
nate the bomb, and perhaps a spotter or two to provide security for the rest of the
team. Many cells had someone in an additional role: cameraman. According to
U.S. intelligence, the majority of bomb attacks were videotaped by the bomb cell,
in part as a learning device to improve attacks, in part for propaganda and re-
cruiting purposes. This reliance on video cameras was one reason that U.S. troops

became so antagonistic toward television news cameramen, especially those of



GETTING TOUGH 219

Arab ethnicity, who the troops tended to assume were in league with the insur-
gents. “There is an element—and I am not saying this applies everywhere—but
some of the local hires of some of the local media organizations do their agencies
a disservice, because they’ve got links to insurgents and terrorist organizations,”
said Army Gen. George Casey, who took over command in mid-2004. “We have
not found that rampantly, but we know it’s true in a few cases.”

Most of the U.S. responses to the bomb attacks were reactive. About half the
attacks during the summer of 2003 were against soft-skinned Humvees, which
were lacking any armor. During the fall and winter of 20034, the Army empha-
sized adding armor to vehicles. But partly because it kept underestimating the
depth and breadth of the insurgency, it struggled for over a year to get its people
into better protected vehicles. It also studied the frequencies on which car alarm
transmitters and other devices operated, and began to jam them with mobile
electronic gear.

Despite these steps, the toll from the bombs increased with the passage of
time. During 2003 there was only one month—November, when the insurgency
took off with a Ramadan offensive—in which more than twenty U.S. personnel
were lost to roadside bombs and similar land mines, according to a mortality
analysis by the office of the Armed Forces Medical Examiner. But from January
through November 2004, more than twenty troops were killed that way in every
month but two. November 2004 was the worst of all, with more than forty sol-
diers lost to the bombs. What those numbers disguise is that the toll would have
been higher were it not for the improvements in armor defenses, because the
number of bomb attacks increased steadily in 2004. “IEDs are my number one
threat,” Gen. Abizaid stated in a memorandum sent in June of that year to the
chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff.

But they were hardly ubiquitous. Most of the bombings occurred along major
routes in a surprisingly small area—along about a total of 250 miles of roadway
in Baghdad and leading from the capital city to the west, north, and northeast.
Every day, hundreds of U.S. convoys traveled these main supply routes, becoming
targets that were hit with surprising frequency.

For every military tactic there is a countermeasure. As one Army general
noted, military operations are a giant, lethal version of the children’s game of
rock/paper/scissors. Adding armor to U.S. military vehicles inevitably led to new
moves by the bombers. In the winter of 2004-5, they began concealing IEDs
among overhanging branches and leaves—Iraq between the Euphrates and Tigris

rivers is quite lush—or hanging them from light poles. The purpose of this, said
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one Army engineer studying the problem in Baghdad, appeared to be to move the
bomb blast above the armored doors, so that the effect shattered the windshields
and side windows inward, and also to hit the soldiers manning the guns mounted
atop many vehicles.

Vehicle-borne IEDs, or car bombs, also became popular in the fall and winter
of 2003. Troops soon were taught to be on the lookout for a new set of telltale
signs, such as the jalopy so overladen that it sat low on its springs. Another was
fresh tires on an old car: “This is a one-way trip, driver wants no flats,” a 2004
briefing explained.

Bomb explosions frequently were experienced as overwhelming waves of
light. “It just happened in a flash,” recalled Sgt. 1st Class Erick Macher, in a typi-
cal comment. “You hear it. The blast smashes everything in the vehicle.”

Spec. James King, a combat lifesaver—an infantryman trained also as a kind of
part-time medic—recalled being in a convoy bombed near Baghdad in late 2004.
He went to the Humvee behind his, the one that was hit. “A guy is lying on the
seat, feet on the other seat, head hanging low out the door. I don’t recognize him.”

The soldier’s head was hugely swollen, his eyes clouded. King was struck: “I
realize I know this guy.” He took off the soldier’s helmet, but there was something
coming with it—the top of the soldier’s head. “I see his brain.”

Another soldier stepped out of the Humvee and fell to the ground. King con-
tinued to work on the first one. “He gurgles in air and blood—he exhales blood. He
gets still again. I yell his name. He gurgles in air and blood—he exhales blood.
Again and again.”

At one point someone suggested an intravenous injection to replace lost
blood. King reached for his IV. A full-time medic who had arrived looked at King.
“No,” the medic ordered. “He’s dead.”

King picked up his machine gun and his medical kit, then walked back to his
own Humvee. “No anger. No remorse. Just sudden clarity and emptiness,” he wrote.

“Are you OK to drive?” someone asked him.

“I'm fine,” he responded. It was not true, he noted later.

As they treated bomb injuries Army doctors began to notice a new pattern of
problems in soldiers that resulted from brains being rattled around in the skull by
the blasts. In 2003 and 2004, hundreds of soldiers were diagnosed as suffering
some form of damage from such incidents. Even seasoned surgeons were sur-
prised by the extent of it. Army Reserve Maj. Donald Robinson was a trauma spe-
cialist in inner-city Camden, New Jersey, before deploying to Iraq, but he was
surprised by what he found in the war. “When I got there I was taken aback,” he
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said. “This was penetrating trauma to the nth degree. It was massive. The tissue
destruction was like nothing I'd ever seen before. . . . Imagine shards of metal go-
ing everywhere. . . . Add the percussion from the blast. Then put someone inside
a Bradley fighting vehicle and add fire to it and burning flesh. A person inhales

and [suffers] inhalation injury”

But in an insurgency, it is the political result that is always paramount. Though
devastating physically, the most significant effect of roadside bombs was that they
made U.S. troops wary of operating among the people. The fact that insurgents
were able to place so many bombs, often repeatedly along the same stretches of
road, also made a political statement, because it meant that the locals weren’t re-
porting on them. “Coalition forces are forced to interact with the Iraqi populace
from a defensive posture, effectively driving a psychological wedge between the
people and their protectors,” Maj. Gen. Peter Chiarelli, who commanded the 1st
Cavalry Division in Iraq in 2004, observed. That sort of insight, built on an un-
derstanding of the nature of conducting a counterinsurgency campaign, had

been rare among Army commanders in Iraq during the summer of 2003.

The U.S. Army cracks down

The Army’s original plan was to conduct a force withdrawal beginning in
midsummer 2003, bringing its presence down to about 30,000 troops by late
summer. Instead, late summer was when the situation in Iraq really began to feel
like a war for many of the 130,000 American soldiers in the country.

August 29 brought the third major car bombing of the month, as insurgents
hit another ally of the U.S. effort, Shiite political leader Ayatollah Mohammed
Bakir Hakim. The leader of SCIRI—the Supreme Council for the Islamic Revolu-
tion in Irag—Hakim had been one of the most important political figures in Iraq,
and the most influential religious figure to have openly supported the U.S. occu-
pation. The car bomb that killed him soon after Friday prayers in the holy city of
Najaf also murdered more than ninety others. The message was that the United
States, for all its firepower, couldn’t protect its Iraqi allies.

During late July and August, Generals Abizaid and Sanchez discussed with
their division commanders and other top officers three possible responses to the
insurgency, recalled Maj. Gen. Renuart. One was tactical withdrawal from trouble

spots. “Take a city like Ramadi or Fallujah, and tell them to police it and run it
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themselves,” he said. “The second was, use small elements, like SF [Special Forces]
teams, to do raids in a surgical application of power. The third was, you are pres-
ent in cities, and you are intimidating enough to create security by presence.”
Ultimately, “we decided all three had a place.” One reason for that was that
Abizaid didn’t want to limit the choices available to the division commanders. “If
you need to use a scalpel, here’s a scalpel,” was the thinking, Renuart said. “If you
need to use a mallet, I don’t want to take that away from you.”

But there were many more sledgehammers than scalpels in the U.S. Army in-
ventory, both physically and mentally. The war in Iraq isn’t the Vietnam War.
There are more differences than similarities between the two. Yet in one respect,
the initial response of the Army, they were eerily alike. Lt. Col. John Nagl’s ac-

count of how the Army approached Vietnam was echoed in Iraq.

The American Army’s involvement in the Second Indochina War from 1950 to
1972 demonstrates the triumph of the institutional culture of an organization
over attempts at doctrinal innovation and the diminution of the effectiveness of
the organization at accomplishing national objectives. The United States Army
had become reliant on firepower and technological superiority in its history of an-
nihilating enemy forces. . .. The concept that success in counterinsurgency con-
sisted of separating the insurgents from popular support never took hold. The U.S.
Army proceeded with its historical role of destroying the enemy army—even if it
had a hard time finding it. The United States Army entered the Vietnam War with
a doctrine well suited to fighting conventional war in Europe, but worse than use-

less for the counterinsurgency it was about to combat.

Even the short-term successes of the U.S. Army in Iraq seem to have long-term
costs that went unrecognized at the time. The story of how intelligence operations
were revamped in the fall of 2003 illustrates this sad pattern. All summer long,
commanders had fretted about the poor quality of their intelligence. Several
months into the war, they had no idea who the enemy really was. Nor did they know
much about what Iraqis thought of them—especially the views of those beyond
the narrow world of Iraqgis, such as interpreters, who were on the U.S. payroll.

Such ignorance was neither inevitable nor helpful. “American forces are oper-
ating in a relative vacuum of Iraqi sentiments,” a study by the Center for Army
Lessons Learned reported several months later. “This contrasts with the British,
who have developed a 20-question survey that is continually administered through-

out their area of operations.”
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Recognizing their profound lack of understanding, American commanders
launched a major effort in the fall of 2003 to improve U.S. intelligence gathering
and analysis. On October 1, Abizaid issued an order to reorganize intelligence op-
erations in Iraq, so that all the data gathered would pour into one new Intelli-
gence Fusion Center. In this new organization, analysts would work side by side
with interrogators and the CIA would cooperate with military intelligence. Until
the fall, the CIA, the Special Operations units, and the divisions all had separate
databases. Now a new database would be created to try to ensure, for example,
that someone detained and released in Ramadi would trigger an alert when he
was caught a week later in Mosul with traces of explosives on his hands. Most im-
portant, networks would be delineated, so that the U.S. effort would go after not
just the front-line deliverymen of roadside bombs, but also some of the com-
manders running the bomb factories, the keepers of safe houses in villages on the
outskirts of Baghdad, the financiers sending in new funds and supplies, and the
recruiters training people and sending them in across the Syrian border. In
the fall, Centcom spent $11 million to create an intelligence architecture for this,
a senior official in that headquarters said.

These steps were seen inside the Army as a major success story, and they were
portrayed as such to journalists. Yet it was not so, even though it felt that way to
many officers, probably to the majority of those involved. “In insurgencies, lots of
things are counterintuitive,” one expert who consulted with U.S. military intelli-
gence in Iraq said later. That is, the move that seems reasonable may not actually
be the wise one. For example, getting better intelligence was a laudable tactical
goal, but launching an all-out offensive that used combat methods against the
population to obtain it wasn’t, because it undercut the larger strategic goal.

Sanchez later recalled in a legal statement growing out of the Abu Ghraib case,
“I was having multiple intel updates, understanding that. .. our effectiveness
against the insurgency was going to come from our ability to harvest human in-
telligence.” This was a comment typical of commanders in Iraq, reflecting the
view that U.S. forces were adept at executing strategy and tactics, and only needed
better intelligence to act upon. “The only way you're going to get yourself inside
of their decision cycle and their operating system is by getting individuals to talk,”
Sanchez said.

The problem was that the U.S. military, having assumed it would be operating
in a relatively benign environment, wasn’t set up for a massive effort that called
on it to apprehend, detain, and interrogate Iraqis, to analyze the information

gleaned, and then to act on it. “As commanders at all levels sought operational
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intelligence, it became apparent that the intelligence structure was undermanned,
under-equipped and inappropriately organized for counter-insurgency opera-
tions,” Lt. Gen. Anthony Jones wrote in an official Army report a year later.

One person in particular was squeezed between the heavy demands and the
unprepared military: Brig. Gen. Barbara Fast, the top Army intelligence officer in
Iraq. She was under huge pressure to revamp and improve her operation. In ef-
fect, she was being told that she was the weakest link. We are in a war, the feeling
grew among commanders, and while our troops and tactics are doing a great job,
and our commanders are great guys, still we are in trouble—so it must be because
we have lousy intelligence.

The Army’s recent history with female generals also complicated Fast’s posi-
tion. In 1997, Lt. Gen. Claudia Kennedy had been named chief of Army intelli-
gence in what was seen by some subordinates as a gender promotion—that is, a
marginally competent officer given her high position because the Army, in a po-
litical act, wanted to catch up with other services, which at that point were giving
female officers three-star positions for the first time. Kennedy’s major mark on
the Army was made in 2000, when she became the first general ever to accuse an-
other of sexually harassing her. In retirement she became politically active, and
she toyed for a time with running for senator from Virginia, eventually deciding
against it. She endorsed John Kerry in 2004 and appeared at the Democratic con-
vention in Boston, along with some other retired generals. Fast, by contrast, was
seen by peers as a smart operator who had earned her position. “She’s one of the
few people who was there under Sanchez who understood what was going on,”
said an intelligence officer who served under her, and who also found that she was
willing to back up subordinates who took unpopular positions or delivered un-
welcome news. “She clearly is better than anyone else in [the intelligence branch
in] the general officer ranks of the Army.”

The key to actionable intelligence was seen by many U.S. commanders as con-
ducting huge sweeps to detain and question Iragis. Sometimes units acted on
tips, but sometimes they just detained all able-bodied males of combat age in
areas known to be anti-American. The 4th Infantry Division, operating in the
northern and northeastern parts of the Sunni Triangle, soon attracted attention
among other commanders for its eager embrace of such tactics. Other command-
ers were more discriminating. The 82nd Airborne’s Swannack said his division
detained thirty-eight hundred people between August 2003 and March 2004, but
screened them, and ultimately shipped only seven hundred of them to Abu
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Ghraib. His staff was wary of the operation at the prison, he recalled: “They saw
all these folks going into there, and it was hell to get them out of there. I had to
personally intervene to get people out of there—they’d just get scarfed up.”

Divided conquerors: the major U.S. unit commanders

Paradoxically, after focusing too much on the operational level in its invasion
plan, the Army focused too little on it during its subsequent occupation, said re-
tired Maj. Gen. Robert Scales, one of the Army’s most insightful senior officers.
Its battlefield orientation didn’t prepare it to discern what the operational level
was in a counterinsurgency. “The operational level of war in Iraq was dealing
with Iraqis, with nongovernmental organizations, with the media, with the rest of
the world,” he said. “The center of gravity was the will of the people.”

Again and again, the jobs that the Army failed to handle in Iraq in the summer
and fall of 2003 would be in that crucial but neglected operational area of counter-
insurgency, which simply means that no one was connecting all the dots. Supply
convoys raced across the countryside to stock big U.S. bases, undercutting the
larger effort, as drivers—worried U.S. troops or Third World contractors—shot
at Iraqi civilians to make them keep their distance. Personal security details for
CPA officials rocketed through Baghdad, forcing Iraqi cars onto sidewalks, need-
lessly alienating the capital’s population. Frustrated combat troops used force
first, violating a lesson of every successful modern counterinsurgency campaign:
Violence is the tool of last resort, especially for troops foreign to the local popu-
lation. Civil affairs officers, whose job it is to work with local populations, clashed
frequently with the commanders of units they were supposed to support because
of the different imperatives they faced, with little direction from higher levels of
command.

All of these disparate areas were strands that should have been pulled together
and coordinated by Gen. Sanchez, the commander with oversight of operations
across Iraq. But he failed to do that. U.S. Army divisions operated like fingers
without an operational hand or a strategic arm to guide them. Sanchez took a dis-
tant stance that gave each division commander leeway to handle the situation in
his own area. Normally such decentralization would be welcome, but it works
only if guided by a larger strategy that coordinates each unit’s actions. In military
shorthand, that direction is called the commander’s intent. Sanchez didn’t pro-

vide it. “I'm not sure that General Sanchez had any impact at all,” said Hammes,
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who served with the CPA, one of his last posts before retiring. “I never got a clear
commander’s intent” statement from the commanding general.

Indeed, Sanchez’s headquarters spent weeks debating a draft campaign plan
but never issued one during his time there. One Army intelligence officer who
served in Iraq in 2004 was even more emphatic. “For the first year of the war . . .
there was no campaign plan issued to military personnel by CJTF-7 to deal with
reconstruction of Iraq and to deal with the growing insurgency,” he recalled.
“Various units subordinate to CJTF-7 essentially did what they thought was the
right thing to do, but their efforts were not coordinated by any clear, overarching
campaign plan” The result, he said, was that “the divisions were kind of left out
there to dry,” by themselves.

Andrew Rathmell came to a similar conclusion. “The military leadership . ..
did not do a good job of conceptualizing the campaign as an integrated political-
military effort; sometimes failing to put tactical ‘kinetic’ operations in the broader
political context.” This meant that tactical successes never added up and rein-
forced each other, but rather tended to peter out by themselves.

In addition, the Army, having forgotten almost everything it had learned in
the Vietnam War about counterinsurgency, hadn’t taught its commanders in such
a way that they would arrive at similar and reinforcing answers to the tactical
problems they faced. When Maj. Gregory Peterson studied the issue a few months
later at Fort Leavenworth’s School of Advanced Military Studies, an elite course
that trains military planners and strategists, he found the American experience in
Iraq in 2003—4 remarkably similar to the French war in Algeria in the 1950s. Both
involved Western powers exercising sovereignty in Arab states, both powers were
opposed by insurgencies contesting that sovereignty, and both wars were contro-
versial back home. Most significant for Peterson’s analysis, he found both the
French and U.S. militaries woefully unprepared for the task at hand. “Currently,
the U.S. military does not have a viable counterinsurgency doctrine, understood
by all soldiers, or taught at service schools,” he concluded.

The result was that each sector felt like a separate war, with different ap-
proaches and rules, showing a lack of coordination that runs against the repeated
findings of theorists and practitioners of counterinsurgency. French Col. Roger
Trinquier’s 1961 commentary on the lessons of Algeria is frequently disturbing,
especially in its unabashed endorsement of torture in interrogation and its gen-
eral embrace of terrorist methods to fight terrorism. But the veteran paratroop
commander is more persuasive when he echoes other experts in his discussion of

the absolute necessity of strategic coordination in putting down an insurgency.
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The struggle against the guerrilla is not, as one might suppose, a war of lieutenants
and captains. The number of troops that must be put into action, the vast areas
over which they will be led to do battle, the necessity of coordinating diverse ac-
tions over these vast areas, the politico-military measures to be taken regarding
the populace, the necessarily close cooperation with various branches of the civil
administration—all this requires that operations against the guerrilla be conducted
according to a plan, established at a very high command level. [Trinquier adds in a

footnote: In principle, that of the commander of the theater of operations.]

It was common for observers of U.S. military operations in 20034 to note
that each division’s area of operations felt like a different war. In the north,
Petraeus’s 101st Airborne conducted what was generally seen as a thorough and
effective operation, balancing war fighting and nation building. Just to the south,
in the Sunni Triangle, there was an increasingly tough little war, especially in the
area to the north and west of Baghdad where the 4th Infantry Division was based.
The 82nd Airborne and the 3rd Armored Cavalry Regiment, operating to the
west of Baghdad, posted a mixed record, with some successes and fewer mass de-
tentions, but also with Fallujah, Ramadi, and the upper Euphrates Valley turning
into increasingly tough problems. At the country’s center, Baghdad became an
area for a series of terrorist bombings.

“The good side of Rick Sanchez is, because all the division areas were differ-
ent, he . . . kind of left us to figure out what he needed to do, and how to do it,”
said Swannack, who commanded the 82nd Airborne Division in Iraq twice—first
in the invasion in the spring of 2003, and then in the fall and winter of 2003—4.
Sanchez didn’t offer much strategic guidance, he said. “It was pretty much, ‘You
do what you need to do, and I'll give you the resources’” He would try to raise
tough issues with Sanchez by e-mail, but sometimes never received a response.
“I don’t know why. Responsiveness to division commanders’ issues was weak.”

“I never got a visit from anyone from CJTF-7 staff)” concurred Maj. Gen.
Odierno, who commanded the 4th Infantry Division in the northern Sunni
Triangle. “Sanchez visited me once,” he added, holding up a lone index finger.

Arguably, that hands-off approach made some sense, because conditions dif-
fered so radically in the north and south, and compared to the Sunni belt across
the center of the country. But it also led to a kind of incoherence in the effort, and
worse still, to the use of tactics that undercut long-term goals. “Failing to define at
the strategic levels the kind of war we were actually fighting—and in various lo-

cales, battles civilian and military forces were actually winning—unintentionally
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left many of those local efforts without a higher, guiding, and legitimizing pur-

pose,” Maj. Isaiah Wilson later commented.

Petraeus jumps through a window of opportunity

Mosul, the biggest city in northern Iraq, could have erupted at any moment in
2003. As a U.S. military intelligence analysis warned at the outset of the invasion,
Mosul came with a ready-made civil war, hosting some 110,000 former Iragi army
soldiers and 20,000 Kurdish militiamen happy to fight them. It also was the home
base of the Iraqi Islamic Party, which had survived Saddam’s efforts to crush it.
The city overflowed with potential enemies of the U.S. occupation, so much so
that Saddam Hussein’s sons, Uday and Qusay, chose it as their hiding place.

Despite that troublesome lineup, of all the divisions occupying Iraq in
20034, it was the 101st Airborne, commanded by Maj. Gen. David Petraeus and
headquartered in Mosul, that was most successful in launching an effective coun-
terinsurgency campaign. “The 101st under Maj. Gen. Petraeus is considered most
successful in terms of jump-starting the economy and the political process,”
concluded a 2004 Army War College study.

Mosul and northern Iraq under Petraeus in 2003 offer a glimpse of how the
occupation of Iraq might have been conducted more effectively, and in such a
way that the hopes of bringing home most U.S. troops relatively soon might have
been realized. There was no postinvasion pause in the north. Because the pace of
U.S. operations never sagged, there was no breather in which the adversary could
gain the initiative. “The eerie silence and absence of U.S. military operational ac-
tivity that defined the immediate weeks and months of transition . . . [were] not
present in the northern provinces. There was no hiatus (no ‘cease fire’) in the
north,” commented Wilson, who served in Iraq first as an Army historian and
then as a strategist for Petraeus.

Petraeus had more education about counterinsurgency operations than any
other division commander in Iraq. During the 1980s he had earned a Ph.D. in
international relations at Princeton, where his dissertation subject had been the
effect of the Vietnam War on U.S. military thinking about the use of force. In the
course of his research he had read deeply into the French experience in Indo-
china. While the French didn’t win there or in Algeria, the vanquished often learn
more from a war than do the victors. “Counterinsurgency operations, in particu-
lar, require close civil-military cooperation,” Petraeus wrote in his study. He

warned against U.S. military attitudes that impeded “the crucial integration of
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political and military strategies.” Also, he noted that the use of force may be nec-
essary, but by itself “it is seldom sufficient.”

Petraeus also took quiet steps to ensure unity of command in his area—a fun-
damental military principle, to be sure, but something that the U.S. effort overall
didn’t enjoy. Unity was particularly important in the intelligence arena, where he
had his chief of staff, Col. James Laufenburg, pull together several divergent intel-
ligence elements by creating a joint interagency task force for counterterrorism—
an effort made easier because the CIA officer in Mosul was a former subordinate
of Petraeus’s with whom he had kept in touch. To ensure that all worked together,
Petraeus also fired a warning shot across the bow of the “black” Special Operators
in the 101st’s area. “We’re delighted to have you with us,” he told them, “but if you
conduct operations without first getting our approval, I'll request your removal
from our area of operations.” He took pride in conducting targeted raids with a
minimum of violence. In one, 101st troops and a Special Operations unit went
after thirty-five suspects simultaneously in Mosul at 2:00 A.M. and caught twenty-
three of those they were after, with only a single shot fired.

Petraeus said that his role was “a combination of being the president and the
pope.” Others saw his role as somewhat less elevated. “Petraeus, up north, was like
a politician-—he bought everyone off,” said Kellogg, the retired Army general who
served as a senior CPA official.

“Plainly stated, the 101st Airborne waged a different war in the north than
was waged in other parts of the country,” Maj. Wilson wrote. “Winning the hearts
and minds of the Iragi people was the guiding purpose of all civil-military actions
in the north” While other divisions conducted “anti-insurgency” operations,
aimed at killing the enemy, he concluded, the 101st waged a “counter-insurgency”
campaign, meant to undercut support for the enemy.

Petraeus’s campaign began pretty much as did those of other division com-
manders. “When we arrived in Mosul, it was chaotic,” he said. “I mean, there was
no order. There was no police on the street, they were looting, they were looting
everything they could put their hands on. The province governate building was
completely sacked. We went into Mosul with real force, huge, sixteen hundred
soldiers in a single lift, I think the longest air assault in history, [and] established
really overwhelming force in the city.” The first week saw a spate of small fire-
fights. But by the end of that time the 101st “had established a position of real
dominance.” He was determined to capitalize on that position. “We had, in a
sense, almost a degree of omnipotence, and you had to exploit that—the window

of opportunity is there, you had to jump through it.”
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He and his planners knew that they were in “a race against time. We were very
conscious that any army of liberation has a half-life connected to it, where it turns
into an army of occupation. And what we wanted to do, of course, was to extend
that half-life as long as we possibly could, by good deeds and by getting the word
out on those good deeds.”

The story that Petraeus tells with some pride about this period involves not a
firefight or a raid but how he ensured that government employees were paid. The
101st had picked up a rumor that the manager of a major bank in Mosul had
saved a huge amount of Iraqi government money from being looted. The cash
was in an underground vault that had been purposely flooded to protect it, with
the stacks of currency sealed in plastic. Petraeus had the manager brought to him
and sat across a table from him. “I understand you were able to safeguard some
mone.y,” he began.

The Iraqi leaned forward and said softly, “Yes, I did.”

“I understand you have enough to pay the salaries of the government work-
ers,” Petraeus said.

“Yes, we do,” the banker confirmed.

Great, thought the general. “Let’s go ahead and do it,” he said, “let’s pay the
workers.”

The banker shrugged. “I'd love to, but I don’t have the authority,” he replied.

“Who has the authority?” Petraeus asked.

“Baghdad, the minister of finance,” the Iraqi said.

“Well, sorry to inform you, I was just down in Baghdad, and there really is no
ministry of finance functioning at this point,” Petraeus said.

“Yes, that’s too bad,” the banker sadly agreed.

“Well, what are we going to do?” Petraeus politely asked. It was an insightful
question to pose. Had he had wanted to, Petraeus simply could have ordered his
combat engineers to blow the door off the safe and take the money. But, thinking
strategically, he was searching for Iraqi solutions to the problems he encountered.

“Well, you have the authority,” the banker finally said.

“You’re right,” Petraeus agreed. He had learned what the banker needed. So
Petraeus pulled out a sheet of his stationery, which stated on its letterhead that he
was “Commanding General, 101st Airborne Division (Air Assault),” and wrote
out an order telling the banker to meet the government payroll.

The banker read over the order, then looked up, a mite skeptical. “What, no
seal?” he asked. The Americans hadn’t known that Iraqi officials always applied

official seals to documents. The next day Petraeus sent an aide to find an Iraqi
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shop to make an official seal of the Commanding General, 101st Airborne, replete
with the two stars of a major general.

Petraeus and his subordinate commanders and staff devised a strategy based
on three principles. First, “this is a race against time.” Second, “the real goal is to
create as many Iraqis as possible who feel they have a stake in the new Iraq,” which
created a yardstick by which to measure any proposed move: Will it give Iraqis a
stake? The third principle governed the division’s tactics: “Will this operation
produce more bad guys than it takes off the street by the way it’s conducted?”
Understanding this, one of the 101st’s company commanders, Capt. Daniel Mor-
gan, recalled that he decided to handle detainees differently than they were
treated elsewhere. “My company did not blindfold our detainees. We did upon
arrival into Mosul, but we realized within a month—June 2003—that this was of
no significance, and hurt us.”

Petraeus also decided that cordon and sweep operations, in which every
military-age male in a given area was rousted, were pointless. He thought most
Iragi men, even insurgents, so valued their household privacy that they would
surrender peacefully rather than subject their families to intrusive nighttime
searches. So he had the 101st conduct cordon and knock searches, in which sus-
pects were surrounded and then invited to turn themselves in. In addition, he
said, there were so many phony tips passed by Iragis feuding with each other that
this softer approach helped sort out those tips without unnecessarily insulting
Iraqi dignity.

During the summer of 2003, a common rumor among Iragis was that the
night-vision goggles used by American troops could enable them to peer through
the clothes of women. When a brigade commander in the 101st, Col. Ben Hodges,
heard this from sheikhs in his area, rather than just tell them it was false, he de-
cided to show them by putting on an exhibition where a variety of U.S. military
observation and imaging devices would be laid out for them to examine and use.
The 101st staff laughingly referred to this as the First Annual Tigris River Valley
Sheikhfest—and then was pleasantly surprised to see the meeting repeated and
evolve into a formal Tigris River Valley Commission in which regional issues
could be discussed every month.

A summary written by the staff of the 101st Airborne noted that by January of
2004, the north of Iraq appeared in remarkably good shape. There was an average
of just five “hostile contacts”—bombs, ambushes, drive-by shootings—a day in the
division’s operating area. That figure included attacks not just on U.S. troops but

also on Iraqi security forces. By contrast, there were about twenty-five meetings a
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day between commanders in the division and local Iraqi leaders or managers of
key facilities.

But the city would encounter far more trouble after the 101st went home
in the spring of 2004 and was replaced by a far smaller, less effective unit. Not
all officers thought that Petraeus was blameless for that. “He had eighteen thou-
sand soldiers up there, and the enemy was just biding its time and building
capacity, waiting him out,” argued one skeptical military intelligence officer. That
view seems unfair: Mosul was quiet while Petraeus was there, and likely would
have remained so had his successor had as many troops as he had—and as much
understanding of counterinsurgency techniques. Also, it is notable that the
population-oriented approach Petraeus took in Mosul in 2003 would be the one

the entire U.S. Army in Iraq was trying to adopt in 2006.

Divisions go their own way

To the west of Baghdad, Maj. Gen. Charles Swannack got mixed reviews for
being aggressive but “very selective,” recalled Keith Mines. “They didn’t just go
bouncing around.” But, he told his family at the time in an e-mail, “their answer
to everything is more firepower, while my answer to most everything is to get
them back in their barracks and send me out with a suitcase of money”

In the capital itself, the 1st Armored Division was led by Brig. Gen. Martin
Dempsey, who generally was seen as handling a difficult job well, under the global
spotlight of Baghdad.

North of Baghdad, Odierno’s 4th Infantry Division operated in the northern
part of the Sunni Triangle. His unit proved to be almost the opposite of Petraeus’s
101st Airborne. As the Marines had suspected when turning over the area north
of Baghdad, Odierno and his division would take a combative posture in Iraq.
“Odierno, he hammered everyone,” said Kellogg, the retired Army general who
was at CPA. Odierno’s brigades and battalions earned a reputation for being
overly aggressive. Again and again, internal Army reports and commanders in in-
terviews said that this unit—a heavy armored division, despite its name—used
ham-fisted approaches that may have appeared to pacify its area in the short
term, but in the process alienated large parts of the population.

“The 4th ID was bad,” said one Army intelligence officer who worked with
them. “These guys are looking for a fight,” he remembered thinking. “I saw so
many instances of abuses of civilians, intimidating civilians, our jaws dropped.”

“Fourth ID fueled the insurgency,” added an Army psychological operations of-



GETTING TOUGH 233

ficer. He said that it frequently was manipulated by the insurgents into firing at in-
nocent civilians. “Guys would co